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Preface

Sometime around 4500 BCE in what is now southeastern Louisiana, a group of unknown Native Americans built the two earliest-known large earthen mounds in the United States. They were followed in 3500 BCE by the people who lived at Watson Brake on the Ouachita River in northern Louisiana. This culture constructed a nine-hundred-foot-wide ring of eleven irregularly shaped earthen mounds ranging from three to twenty-five feet in height. These mounds, as all future mounds would be, were built by heaping into large piles dirt and clay brought in baskets and tamping it down until it was solid and hard. The project took five hundred years to complete, and these large structures were standing in their solemn glory five centuries before the Egyptians raised their pyramids. By 1500 BCE, at Poverty Point, Louisiana, now a national monument fifteen miles from the Mississippi River, Native groups worked for nearly a thousand years to form six concentric semicircles of raised earthen mounds for a purpose that archaeologists do not yet understand. The Bird Mound at the site, located at its center, was built in 1450 BCE and was the second most massive mound ever constructed in America. For twenty-five hundred years it was the largest structure in what is now the continental United States.

Poverty Point was a hub in an extensive trade network that spread not just goods but also ideas throughout the Mississippi River drainage area and beyond. Under its influence, the building of earthen mounds spread throughout the eastern United States. In some places, these mounds were used as cemeteries. In others, they were used as platforms for temples or elite houses. In the spectacular example of the Adena culture of Ohio from around 1000 BCE and the Hopewell culture that succeeded it, mounds were built in geometric or even animal forms and may have been aligned to religiously significant stars in the night sky. More than ten thousand were built in the Ohio Valley alone.

Mound building reached its height under the Mississippians, a widespread and advanced Native American culture responsible for mound sites scattered across the Mississippi Valley and the southern United States. From 800 to 1500 CE, the Mississippians constructed large and elaborate ceremonial centers, and their widespread and far-flung trade network spread mound building as far afield as Florida, Virginia, and even upstate New York. The Mississippians’ largest settlement, Cahokia, was in its day the most populous city north of Mexico. A rival to medieval London or Paris, it had perhaps as many as twenty thousand residents, a number unequaled until colonial Philadelphia and New York reached those levels in the mid-1700s. The city was home to 120 earthen mounds spread over six square miles. And at the heart of the city stood Monks Mound—one hundred feet tall, with a base as vast as that of the Great Pyramid of Egypt. Made of dirt, clay, and sod transported in woven baskets from far afield, it outdid its Poverty Point predecessor and, around 1100 CE, after two hundred years of construction, became America’s largest earthen mound.

Monks Mound was the center of a city that had peaked. In the 1300s, parts of the massive and unstable mound were slumping, and they were no longer being repaired. By 1400 the Mississippian urban culture of Cahokia had collapsed, and gradually the great mound centers of the United States were abandoned, often in response to the devastation caused by contact with Europeans and especially their diseases following Columbus’s arrival. Mounds were still built, though they were much, much smaller and typically consisted of just one or two to a village. The great age of mound building had passed, and as the first Spanish explorer north of Mexico, Hernando de Soto, traveled through the Mississippian territory in 1539–42, he witnessed only vestiges of its former glory.

To the succeeding European Americans this vast diversity of peoples and cultures became known under a single collective name: the Mound Builders.
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Prologue

The Cross and the Mound

On Monday March 29, 1540, the day after Easter, the six hundred Spanish and Portuguese volunteers of Hernando de Soto’s exploratory army were cold and wet and miserable. Several of their number had already died from illness or clashes with Native Americans, and more than a few had become convinced that death awaited them too.1 They had been tramping for nearly eleven months across the damp expanses of what is today the southeastern United States, tracing a jagged northward course from Espíritu Santo, now known as Shaws Point, in southern Florida, dragging in tow more than two hundred horses, upward of two hundred pigs (though some say as few at ten or twelve), and sundry other livestock. They were largely young men, most barely in their twenties, many only just established in their chosen professions—craftsmen and priests, farmers and merchants. All had come with the promise of gold, glory, and God. A few had brought their families with them, imagining wealthy fresh lives in the New World. But things were not going well.

Already some of the lean, long-legged Alentejano, or Black Iberian, pigs had gotten loose, a few here and there, as the ragtag caravan had marched slowly across woods and plains and streams. The pigs had vanished into the dark, unending expanses of primeval forests, but they were not gone for good. These pigs would grow wild and mean and one day come back out of the forest as feral razorback hogs. But first, in the woods, they would give the deer and turkeys a host of European diseases to which the Indigenous peoples of North America had no immunity. When the Native Americans hunted and ate the deer and turkeys, their chief game, they grew sick, and many died. None of De Soto’s men would live to see razorbacks, but the pigs became a kind of cameo of the expedition as a whole, a symbol of European arrogance grown into something angry and dangerous.

Worse, the expedition had failed in its first objective. They had recovered none of the vast reserves of gold that De Soto, whom they all called “the Governor,” for he was by royal appointment the Spanish ruler of Cuba, had promised they would find hidden among the temples and tombs of the Native Americans, treasures every bit as fabulous as the immense wealth of Peru that had made De Soto one of Spain’s wealthiest men. A decade before, the Governor had aided the bloodthirsty and illiterate Francisco Pizarro in conquering and enslaving the vast Incan empire far to the south. Pizarro had held the Inca emperor, Atahualpa, ransom for a room full of gold, and, after he received it, he killed Atahualpa anyway. De Soto, untroubled by this, gladly received his share of the ransom. The nearly limitless gold and silver of the Incas had made Spain’s monarch, King Carlos I, better known by his other title, the Holy Roman Emperor Charles V, the wealthiest man in the world. Surely if Charles V and Hernando De Soto promised a life of wealth in a new, Catholic colony, the gold must be there. So they had traveled from Spain to Cuba to stage a massive expedition to the uncharted mainland in the north. For most, this would be their first trip outside their native villages in Iberia. The search across Florida turned up little gold in its first months. In the winter of 1539–40, De Soto heard rumors that the gold he sought could be found where the sun rose, and so they marched north and east.

It was now spring, and there was still no gold. In more than a thousand miles of walking from one miserable Native village to the next, the hundreds of Spaniards and Portuguese had found little more than wood and maize—endless fields of yellow maize, the closest thing to fields of gold any would see on this trek. An idol of a rooster or chicken atop a temple they had visited the preceding June had gilded eyes, but this was a far cry from the temples that De Soto had seen in Cuzco, temples whose walls dripped with gold. The only similarity between the golden Inca land and this wretched wooden village with its pagan rooster idol, if one could call it a similarity, was the large earthen mound, which a later chronicler would describe as “a very high mount made by hand for defense,” on which the chief’s house stood.2 If De Soto saw a similarity between the earthen mounds that his army came across with disturbing regularity in Native villages and the great stone platform temples he had witnessed in Peru, the chroniclers did not record it. So far as the Catholic priests in the Governor’s retinue were concerned, the whole sorry mess was the work of the devil. One can only imagine what they made of the temple topped with a statue of a chicken. The only wealth worth mentioning in that village was some burned pearls they found while ransacking and razing the town, a cache like one they would later find in a South Carolina village, in the tombs of dead chiefs that they unearthed in their greed.

This day, however, De Soto’s group stood on the banks of a small stream, soaked to the skin in the midst of a driving rain. The stream was rising rapidly in the downpour, and De Soto’s personal secretary, Rodrigo Ranjel, noted in his journal that the ensuing flood conditions threatened the entire company of men and animals, prompting them to hasten across the river into the territory called Ichisi, a Native chiefdom on the Ocmulgee River in what is today Georgia. Four days earlier, dignitaries from the Ichisi people had met with De Soto and asked three questions: “Who are you, what do you want, where are you going?”3 De Soto told them that he was the representative of the king of Spain and had come to convert them to Christianity, and they needed to submit to the supreme pontiff at Rome and the emperor-king in Madrid at once. Ranjel did not record the Ichisi leaders’ response. Now, on the other side of the river, the Ichisi people greeted the Spanish with great hospitality, as was Native custom, presenting them with corn cakes and young onions. Ranjel found the food especially welcome since the large group had been perpetually in want of food and under orders from De Soto to ration provisions carefully. Ranjel recorded in his journal that the onions, whether eaten boiled, roasted, or raw, “were a great refreshment, for they are very good.”4

The next day they rested in a small Ichisi village, eating the villagers’ food. The hundreds of young European men must have consumed far more than the small village could reasonably have afforded to spare. The villagers must have also shuddered to see the vast caravan of white men dragging with them many Native slaves captured en route. On Wednesday, the Governor and his men crossed the “Great River,” probably the Ocmulgee, in a fleet of canoes appropriated from the local people.5 Then they arrived at a village overseen by a one-eyed ruler, who welcomed them with hospitality, offering food and the service of fifteen porters to the visiting army. De Soto’s army could not have known that, as they crossed the river, they and their animals brought with them anthrax, tuberculosis, trichinosis, influenza, and sundry other illnesses to which they had a degree of immunity but to which the Native Americans did not.

Through the services of the guide traveling with De Soto and a villager De Soto had enslaved, the chief told the Governor that the Spaniard’s horses caused much astonishment, being unknown in that country, and were “things so altogether new as to strike awe and terror to our hearts.” The chief pledged his resources to De Soto, begging that “with my person, my country, and my vassals, you will do as with your own things.”6 At least that was the story the Portuguese chronicler of the expedition presented. The chief also asked the identity of his distinguished guest, and the Portuguese chronicler says that De Soto made it known that he was the son of the sun god. There is no record of whether the Ichisi leader believed him, but when De Soto tried the same trick again after crossing the Mississippi, the Natchez people told him they would believe him only when he caused the great river to run dry.

This submission of the Ichisi village was apparently a surprise to De Soto, for Ranjel reported that this one-eyed chief was the first who had greeted them peacefully. The Governor, Ranjel said, as a reward, “did not wish to burden him overmuch.”7 This translated into the army refraining from razing the village and cutting down all its maize. The king’s agent on the expedition, Luys Hernandez de Biedma, gave a slightly different account, more plausibly stating that the town submitted in order to bargain for the release of their friends and relatives, whom De Soto had captured and enslaved from the neighboring town.8 Sometime that night, the first bacteria would have moved from their European hosts to some of the Ichisi people.

On the morning of Thursday, April 1, the Governor and his men surveyed the relatively large village, which Ranjel said was the regional capital, taking note of the two large earthen mounds that formed its most important feature. Like many villages in the region, the people were in the habit of building large mounds, as their ancestors had for centuries, and as other peoples of North America had been doing for thousands of years. These particular mounds were not impressive enough for the Spanish secretary Ranjel to make much note of. He recorded only one mound at the site, and in the later memory of the Portuguese chronicler even this mound vanished altogether, becoming little more than the town square.

Today most historians believe this place was the Lamar site at the Ocmulgee National Monument, home to two large earthen mounds on either side of a broad open court. The village was surrounded by a wooden palisade thirty-five hundred feet long. One of its two mounds was rectangular, and the other was round, with a spiral ramp leading up to its summit. Both survive today. The whole site, however, was nestled on a ridge surrounded by swamp not far from an even larger collection of mounds—the older, more mysterious remnants of an ancient population today called Mississippian that, so far as the Ichisi people knew, were lost to the sands of time. They had all died out centuries before, around 1050, and only the two small Ichisi mounds, built around 1350, preserved the memory of their ancient culture. Nobody went to the old mounds anymore, and they were overgrown with shrubs and trees. The Governor and his men may not have even known the old mounds in the woods were anything but hills.

That Thursday the Governor had a large wooden cross nailed together and brought up to the top of one of the Ichisi village’s mounds, and the expedition’s priests preached to the Ichisi people the gospel of Jesus Christ. But the expedition was in a hurry to get moving, so De Soto ordered the priests to cut the Bible lesson short. According to the Portuguese chronicler, “As time did not allow more to be done, the Indians were instructed that it [a cross] was put there to commemorate the suffering of Christ, who was God and man; that he had created the skies and the earth, and had suffered for the salvation of all, and therefore, that they should revere that sign.”9 Ranjel records that “they received it and worshipped it devoutly to all appearances.”10 It was not as though they had a choice.

De Soto and his six hundred companions moved on, leaving behind the wooden cross atop an Ichisi mound and a host of diseases that entered the villagers as invisibly, but more potently, than the Holy Ghost. Many among the villagers must have grown sick, though we can never know if they blamed the cross for the illnesses that caused many of the tribe to waste away and die. Within a generation, the Ichisi chiefdom had crumbled; its population collapsed. With no people to grow food, agriculture fell into abeyance, and without food there was no labor to maintain the village mounds. The great mound-building project launched more than two millennia earlier ground to halt, and this story was repeated in villages across what is now the southern United States. A regional population that once numbered in the hundreds of thousands dwindled to just tens of thousands within a century. Mounds were still being built here and there into the 1600s, but by 1700, the Mound Builders were no more.

Erecting and leaving the cross on the Ichisi mound ended the official interest of Hernando de Soto, illustrious governor of Cuba and adelentado of Florida, in the mounds of the territory of Florida. The Spanish Crown would not trouble itself with the mounds again. De Soto would die in 1542. His followers weighted his body and sank it into the Mississippi to hide it from the Native Americans in an attempt to preserve the illusion that he was the immortal sun god. After the 311 survivors of the expedition entered Mexico and some returned to Europe to record their adventures, all they had to say about the mounds of North America was that they were built of earth and used as platforms for temples and chiefs’ houses.

The Portuguese chronicler traveling with De Soto had made plain that such mounds were built “by hand” by the Native peoples. Fifty years later the writer Garcilasco de la Vega, who wrote an account of De Soto’s expedition, witnessed one such mound being built in Florida by packing earth into a large pile until the mound was tall enough and wide enough to hold houses or temples. Several French explorers in the 1600s saw the same thing. But in time this would be forgotten.

The devastation caused by the diseases De Soto and his fellow conquistadors had introduced into North America had by the eighteenth century left the mounds desolate and abandoned. Radically smaller Native populations moved about the country in response to European colonization. Tribes combined; cultures adapted or vanished. Eventually even the Native people themselves forgot who had built the mounds or why. When American explorers asked after the origin of mounds near St. Louis in the nineteenth century, the Native peoples told them that they had no legends or traditions of the mounds; they knew nothing of them and considered them mysterious and possibly supernatural.11 In what is now South Dakota, the Maha people would tell Lewis and Clark that Spirit Mound was the secret home of a race of miniature leprechaun-like demons.12 The Choctaws, the first tribe forced from the southeastern United States to Oklahoma under the 1830 Indian Removal Act, were heavily influenced by Christianity and remembered the mounds of their ancestors only as the biblical tower of Babel.13

By that point most educated Euro-Americans believed the mounds were the remains of a lost white civilization whose lands America had a duty to reclaim from “the red man.” Exactly how that happened is itself an epic tale.


1

Jefferson’s Mound

In the early autumn of 1783, Thomas Jefferson, former governor of Virginia, author of the Declaration of Independence, and newly appointed Virginia delegate to the Congress of the Confederation, rode downhill from his home at Monticello—not yet the neoclassical temple it is today—past Charlottesville to a spot not far from the southern bank of the south fork of the Rivanna River.1 There, on land patented by Thomas Moorman in 1735, stood an earthen mound known locally as “the Indian Grave.” One of a cluster of thirteen in the region dating from 900 to 1700 CE, this mound was roughly round in shape, about forty feet in diameter, and had originally stood perhaps a dozen feet high at its peak. At least that’s how Jefferson remembered it from his childhood living in the Jefferson family home at Shadwell when he had, from time to time, observed what he called “the barrow,” then covered in trees a foot in diameter. He had inherited half of the Shadwell land as Monticello upon his father’s death; the rest went to Jefferson’s brother Randolph. Unfortunately, a decade earlier the mound had been stripped of its trees and leveled off at around seven and a half feet, and it had then been used as a platform to grow crops. Jefferson remembered as a child seeing a group of local Monacans, among the last living in the region, make a pilgrimage to the tree-covered mound back when it was still whole. The small group “went through the woods directly to it, without any instructions or enquiry, and having staid about it some time, with expressions which were construed to be those of sorrow, they returned to the high road, which they had left about a dozen miles to pay this visit, and pursued their journey.”2 Such pilgrimages would continue off and on into the early nineteenth century, with an ever-dwindling number of Monacans traveling to the mound to pay homage to the dead and dance around fires on or beside the mound.3

Sorrow must have been on Jefferson’s mind as he made his way to the mound. His wife Martha had died almost exactly a year earlier, and here he was about to tear open an ancient grave and rifle through the dusty bones.

Jefferson had tried and failed that spring to take up an appointment to a European court and returned home disappointed when the plan fell through. He had been at Monticello since May 15 and would not leave to attend Congress in Annapolis, the new temporary capital, until October 16. In the months before his departure, he had some time for writing. In the summer, he completed a draft of the massive study of his home state that would in time become Notes on the State of Virginia (1785). After finishing the draft, he thought it worthwhile to add a bit more about the Native mounds around his home. Since the Indian Grave had already been partially destroyed, it seemed a good candidate for Jefferson to explore to determine exactly for what purpose the local Monacan people had constructed such edifices—whether the mound was meant as a general cemetery, a royal tomb, or a mass grave for war dead. To determine this, he would help invent a new science—archaeology. But at no point did he ever doubt that the Native people of North America were responsible for the mound’s construction.

The opinion that America’s mounds were the work of Native people was not terribly controversial prior to the Revolutionary War. Among men of science, it was a fact so well-established that it required neither explanation nor defense. The colonial-era Pennsylvania botanist John Bartram, one of the best-known scientists of his time and a man in close contact with the giants of European science like Carl Linnaeus, thought the matter so self-evident that he included it as uncontested fact in the journal he kept during his great ten-month expedition through the Carolinas, Georgia, and Florida between July 1765 and April 1766. On January 25, 1766, while making his way through the territory of Florida recently ceded to Britain by Spain, Bartram reached a site he named Mount Royal, an abandoned Timuca village forty miles south of the Spanish settlement of St. Augustine.4 There he wrote:

Fine pleasant morning, although a little frost in the pine-lands; saw several flocks of pigeons flying about both yesterday and to-day: About noon we landed at Mount-Royal, and went to an Indian tumulus, which was about 100 yards in diameter, nearly round, and near 20 foot high, found some bones scattered on it, it must be very ancient, as live-oaks are growing upon it three foot in diameter; what a prodigious multitude of Indians must have laboured to raise it? to what height we can’t say, as it must have settled much in such a number of years.5

Bartram was right, of course. The mound, which stands with its oaks to this very day at the Mount Royal national historic site, was built in phases between 1250 and 1500 CE. It would not be excavated until the 1890s, at which point the archaeologists digging at the site discovered a copper plate within quite similar to one found in Ohio, proving the extent of Native trade networks in the pre-Columbian era. But that was more than a century in the future. In the eighteenth century it was just another in an interesting collection of earthen mounds that serious men knew were the work of Native Americans and therefore not really worth thinking much about.

On an earlier tour of Virginia in 1739, Bartram had met with Isham Randolph, Thomas Jefferson’s maternal grandfather, around the time of the wedding of Jefferson’s parents, to bring Randolph a letter from Europe about botany. In the Victorian era, it was assumed that Bartram and Jefferson’s father must have met. Bartram must have taken note of the Monacan mounds in the area surrounding Randolph’s home, perhaps even the one known as the Indian Grave. Bartram was more interested in botany than geography, however, and eventually served as the royal botanist to King George III.

Bartram’s son, William, then just twenty-seven, accompanied his father on his trip through Florida and would one day write a book of his own about the territory. He would become a friend of Thomas Jefferson in 1793 when the two were neighbors at Gray’s Ferry, and they may have discussed Native mounds. Jefferson had long owned William Stork’s A Description of East-Florida (1769), in which the elder Bartram’s description of the Florida mound appeared, and Jefferson would have read and agreed with Bartram’s account of such constructions as the work of Native Americans.

In 1780, Jefferson was elected to the American Philosophical Society, which John Bartram had cofounded with Benjamin Franklin in 1743.6 On April 18, 1781, Jefferson accepted a prestigious position as counsellor of the organization. It was in these months that Jefferson had received an inquiry from the secretary of the French legation, the eighteenth-century version of an embassy, François Barbé-Marbois. This gentleman, eventually raised to the rank of marquis, was then in the process of being elected an honorary foreign member of the American Academy of Sciences, and like Jefferson he had a great interest in government and science. Something of a political chameleon, he attained positions of honor in all of France’s many governments of his era. Marbois would go on to a distinguished career under the First Republic, Napoleon I, Louis XVIII, and Louis-Philippe. It would be Marbois who negotiated for Napoleon the sale of Louisiana to Jefferson in 1803.

As legation secretary, Marbois served under the Chevalier de la Luzerne, a distinguished veteran of the Seven Years’ War who had only recently guaranteed a personal loan to the nascent United States to provide desperately needed money for food to feed the country’s revolutionary troops. This money came at price, however. Luzerne demanded a guarantee that the new nation would ratify no treaty of peace with Great Britain until Great Britain made peace with France. After the war, Jefferson, as secretary of state, would write the U.S. government’s official letter of thanks to Luzerne for the services he had rendered to the young country.

In 1780, while residing in Philadelphia, Marbois somehow found time apart from his official duties to chronicle the treason of Benedict Arnold in a long manuscript later published in 1816. As one of his official duties, during the fall of 1780, Marbois wrote a questionnaire for the Continental Congress on behalf of the government of Louis XVI, inquiring into the natural resources, geography, history, and institutions of government of each of the thirteen states of the new United States. The government of France had a great interest in learning more about the land to which they had committed blood and treasure in its uprising against France’s ancient enemy, and the questions were designed to help France determine how best to engage in commerce with a country that had previously been largely closed to it under Britain’s imperial trade rules. Marbois dispatched copies of his letter to representatives of each of the thirteen states at the Continental Congress, individuals also resident in Philadelphia. Some of the letters asked twenty-two questions and others just sixteen; it seems that during the fall he revised his questionnaire and removed some redundant questions, though this is not certain.7 His twenty-two questions on the Commonwealth of Virginia landed on the desk of Virginia’s delegate to the Continental Congress, Joseph Jones, in October. Jones wrote out the questions in his own hand and sent them on to Governor Thomas Jefferson, then in his second and last one-year term of office.

Marbois asked after the charter and constitution of Virginia; its borders; its laws and customs; its inhabitants, finances, and economy; and its mines “and other subterranean riches.” His twenty-second question inquired after the Native peoples of the state and would eventually prompt Jefferson to address the issue of America’s mounds. Its request: “A description of the Indians established in the State before the European settlements, and of those who are still remaining. An indication of the Indian monuments discovered in that State.”8

As Jefferson read through the questionnaire, he naturally felt that he owed Marbois a response not just from his government but also from his own hand. In November, Jefferson told the Chevalier d’Anmours that he was busy working on Marbois’s questions and confessed that they were intellectually stimulating. He said that he needed to thank Marbois for inspiring him to learn more about Virginia that he ever would have done on his own.9 On March 4, 1781, Jefferson sent Marbois a reply, promising “to do myself the honor of answering.” He informed Marbois that he had already collected some material on Virginia but wrote, “My present occupations [being a wartime governor] disable me from completing [the study].”

I mean however shortly to be in a condition which will leave me quite at leisure to take them up when it shall certainly be one of my first undertakings to give you as full information as I shall be able to do on such of the subjects as are within the sphere of my acquaintance. On some of them however I trust Mr. Jones will engage abler hands. Those in particular which relate to the Commerce of the state, a subject with which I am wholly unacquainted, and which is probably the most important in your plan.10

Saying that his “present occupations” momentarily prevented him from completing the study was an understatement considering that he was then on the run from the British. Only a year earlier, on April 18, Jefferson had moved the capital of the state from Williamsburg to the more centralized and defensible city of Richmond to keep the state government safe from British attack. But the treasonous Benedict Arnold, the subject of the manuscript Marbois was writing in Philadelphia, had raided Richmond at the head of a British army on January 4, 1781, burning the city and forcing Jefferson to flee the capital for Charlottesville and Monticello. The British eventually forced him even from his beloved Monticello, where they nearly captured him on June 4. Nevertheless, life moved more slowly in the eighteenth century, and Jefferson eventually had time to reply carefully to the French legation’s questions of geography and history. Jefferson produced his answers largely from his own memory and experience, while hiding from the British at his plantation of Poplar Forest deep in western Virginia in June and July 1781. He had fallen from his horse and was laid up on the farm with little to do but write while under investigation by the Virginia House of Delegates for dereliction of duty for fleeing the British forces. Jefferson was not completely satisfied with his response to the questionnaire but saw enough potential that he asked Charles Thomson, his colleague at the American Philosophical Society, if the society would be interested in a presentation of his answers. Thomson was enthusiastic. Jefferson would revise and expand his answers for his and his friends’ enjoyment for the following three winters.11

Jefferson sent his reply to Marbois in December 1781 and apologized for the delay. In a letter dated March 24, 1782, Jefferson apologized a second time to Marbois for his delay in answering, this time confessing that he had been “obliged by the movements of the enemy” to flee Monticello until August 1781, leaving little time for literary endeavors, but assuring Marbois that after leaving office in June and returning to Richmond in December, he and other representatives of Virginia had been able to produce a satisfactory response. On April 22, Marbois thanked Jefferson (in French) for his answers, which Marbois had sent back to France on a merchant ship from Philadelphia on April 1: “I cannot express how grateful I am for the trouble you have taken to write detailed responses to the questions that I had taken the liberty of sending to you.”12

Unfortunately the text of Jefferson’s description of Virginia sent to Marbois does not survive, and its exact contents are unknown. Jefferson, though, continued to work on the materials he had gathered for his reply to Marbois with the intent of presenting them to the American Philosophical Society, which he would do in 1784. In the meantime, Great Britain had surrendered, and the Revolution drew to its close. A new government was established under the Articles of Confederation. Jefferson was appointed a delegate to the Congress of the Confederation in 1783 and the next year would resign that post to become the U.S. minister to France. Before taking up these posts, Jefferson had a final addition to make to his ever-growing manuscript on the history and geography of Virginia.

In the earliest surviving drafts of Jefferson’s manuscript for Notes on the State of Virginia, a passage later pasted over with inserted text gives a fair representation of what he must have sent to Marbois about the two Monacan mounds he recalled from the area around Monticello,

the one in the lowgrounds of the South branch of Shenando, where it is crossed by the road leading from the Rockfish gap to Staunton: the other on the lowground of the Rivanna near its principal fork above the mountains, these as well as I recollect them are spherical hillocks [or mounds?] of about 10. feet height & 40 feet diameter at the base, round the base was a large excavation of about 5 feet depth & width from whence the earth was taken of which the mound was formed, digging a few inches into them human bones are found, and in some places they stick out from the surface, the mounds having been often superficially disturbed by the curiosity of those who have visited them, they have generally been considered as being the bones of those who have fallen in battles fought on the spot of interment, but this supposition is disproved if [stricken word] it be true, as I have heard, that the bones of infants have been sometimes taken out.13

Clearly, in writing to Marbois, Jefferson was merely reporting what he could dredge from memory (“as I recollect”). His last sentence shows that he had not yet excavated the mound. Confined to a farmhouse in rural Virginia he had had little choice, being without access to the actual mounds or to his manuscripts or his books, which had been sent to Augusta County to keep them from the British. But two years later, in revising the responses for his friends, especially his European scientific colleagues, Jefferson must have realized that such a nebulous description was out of place with the careful, scientific cast of his discussions of the state’s geography and wildlife. Happily, with several weeks remaining before he had to leave for Philadelphia, and the Indian Grave mound relatively near, along the Rivanna River, he would be able to enhance this sketchy passage in his manuscript with more specific details.

In order to excavate Indian Grave mound, Jefferson would have to invent a new science, anticipating by more than a century the methodology of archaeology. In the eighteenth century, there was no such thing as archaeology as we know it today. Instead, those who sought to study objects and remains from the past were known first as “antiquaries” and later as “antiquarians.” Antiquarians tended to be interested in objects as objects, not particularly for their role in understanding the past. That job belonged to historians, who in turn preferred to deal with chronicles and records, with elite culture, rather than the material culture of daily life. History was a prized profession, one that reached the apex of its art with the publication of the second and third volumes of Edward Gibbon’s The History of the Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire in 1781, with three more volumes still in the works. Grand and grandiose, the Decline was the epitome of what history could be, but it manifestly relied heavily on the written accounts of classical authors over any physical remains of the Roman Empire and its peoples. Such methods might work in Europe, but in America, where there were no written histories of life before Columbus, such a refined approach to the past could not be duplicated.

When it came to physical remains of the past, a few men of the Renaissance, like the Italian humanist Ciriaco de’ Pizzicolli, who studied ancient monuments, and Robert le Prévôt de Cocherel, who wrote the first archaeological site report, had made stabs at exploring ruins in something like a scientific way, but overall the approach of most educated men of the Enlightenment was to dig a hole and pull out whatever treasures they found.14 And if a gentleman should happen to be interested in detritus of the past not made up of fine art or precious metals, then he was scarcely worth considering at all. The occupation of antiquary was viewed with something between derision and scorn, as the British editors of The Antiquarian Repertory noted in 1779: “It has long been the fashion to laugh at the study of Antiquities, and to consider it as the idle amusement of a few humdrum, plodding fellows, who, wanting genius for nobler studies, busied themselves in heaping up illegible Manuscripts, mutilated Statues, obliterated Coins, and broken Pipkins!”15

When it came to antiquities, then, there were two classes. The “obliterated coins and broken pipkins” were the domain of the reclusive antiquary, but great works of classical art and treasures of precious metals—these were the antiquities of kings, who competed to amass the greatest collections of the same. This was the case in the Kingdom of Naples, where excavations were being carried out at the buried Roman cities of Herculaneum and Pompeii at the same time Jefferson was opening Indian Grave. In 1738, while digging the foundations for a new palace for the king of Naples, Spanish engineer Rocque Joaquín de Alcubierre had by accident discovered the remains of Herculaneum, a town buried by the eruption of Mount Vesuvius in 79 CE. The sculptures and murals removed from the buried city were a sensation, and in 1748 King Carlos III of Spain, in his capacity as King Charles I of Naples, commissioned Alcubierre to begin digging up Herculaneum’s buried sister city, Pompeii. This town was still richer in treasure than Herculaneum. Alcubierre continued to remove treasures from Pompeii until his death in 1780, treasures that Charles collected and displayed in his royal palace of Caserta in nearby Naples. The statues of Pompeii would adorn Charles’s three hundred acres of gardens as glorified lawn gnomes, exposed to the elements, eroding in Naples’s forty inches of annual rain.

Nothing could be further from Gibbon’s approach to ancient history, but neither method was appropriate for exploring the history of America’s mounds. The limits of the documentary approach were obvious to antiquarians. Herculaneum was all but absent from the ancient chronicles, and consequently everyone missed it until King Charles decided he wanted a new palace. The antiquarians’ methods were equally obviously flawed to historians. To get at Pompeii’s treasures, Alcubierre essentially destroyed everything around them, breaking through walls and discarding pottery shards and the detritus of daily life in his quest for art. This may have filled Charles’s gardens, but it told science almost nothing about the Roman past.

Alcubierre’s assistant, Karl Weber, had recognized that this method was not conducive to understanding much about ancient Rome and done his best to mitigate the damage by making maps and recording in what rooms of the unearthed villas each treasure was found. Weber had died in 1764, but fortunately his successor, Francesco La Vega, followed Weber’s example when he took over from Alcubierre in 1780. As Jefferson began his dig in Virginia, Vega was publishing in Naples a description of his own latest find at Pompeii, a trapetum, or oil mill—a piece of daily life not typically of interest to the cultural and intellectual elite who shared Gibbon’s taste for politics over oil presses.16 Vega shared something else in common with Jefferson. He was the first to recognize that the archaeology of Pompeii would be of interest to educated people outside Naples. Just as Jefferson wanted to share his excavation with his European scientific friends by writing up the results, Vega thought to share his own work by encouraging European gentlemen to make Pompeii a stop on their Grand Tours as part of their scientific and historical education.

Jefferson shared the European idea of the refined gentleman of scientific and historical interests, and in this capacity he went to Indian Grave to satisfy scientific curiosity. Though he never says as much in his Notes on the State of Virginia, Jefferson must have brought from Monticello at least a few of his hundreds of slaves to do the heavy work of digging. This was not the sort of detail a gentleman would think worth mentioning. Jefferson, after all, had just finished writing in his draft of the Notes that African Americans were inferior in beauty to whites, possessed of a “disagreeable odour,” sexually uncontrollable, given over to “sensation rather than reflection,” and “in reason much inferior.” At least the Indians, Jefferson asserted, had a sort of rude intelligence and inherent gift for art; African-Americans, however, were unable to use metaphors, make poetry, or paint pictures. Jefferson not only believed that African-Americans were “naturally” inferior in both body and mind, he thought they might even be “different species of the same genus, or varieties of the same species.” But “in music they are more generally gifted than the whites,” he wrote.17 At any rate, they needed to be kept separate to avoid “staining” white blood with their inferior traits.18 Despite these views, Jefferson had also written of the evils of slavery and looked forward to the end of the institution.

Before he began digging into Indian Grave, Jefferson composed a list of the explanations he had heard offered for the mound. As he had told Marbois, he knew that many of the mounds in Virginia had been disturbed and human remains found within. One, located near Woods Gap in the Blue Ridge Mountains, Jefferson knew had already been “opened and found to contain human bones, as the others do.”19 This meant that unlike the temple platform mounds seen by the Spanish, these mounds were first and foremost graves. This fact was “obvious to all,” he would later write. From there, opinions differed:

Some have thought they [the Natives] covered the bones of those who have fallen in battles fought on the spot of interment. Some ascribed them to the custom, said to prevail among the Indians, of collecting, at certain periods, the bones of all their dead, wheresoever deposited at the time of death. Others again supposed them the general sepulchres for towns, conjectured to have been on or near these grounds; and this opinion was supported by the quality of the lands in which they are found, (those constructed of earth being generally in the softest and most fertile meadow-grounds on river sides) and by a tradition, said to be handed down from the Aboriginal Indians, that, when they settled in a town, the first person who died was placed erect, and earth put about him, so as to cover and support him; that, when another died, a narrow passage was dug to the first, the second reclined against him, and the cover of earth replaced, and so on.20

In more modern terms, Jefferson sought to determine whether the mounds were mass graves for war dead, secondary burial sites for fleshed bones collected at intervals, or general cemeteries of upright graves in continuous use. It is perhaps telling that Jefferson merely discusses traditional explanations “said to be handed down” from the Native Americans rather than inquiring of the Natives themselves. Surely Jefferson must have realized that if groups walked miles out of their way to pay respects to Indian Grave, as he had himself witnessed, they must have had some sort of tradition about their construction and use. Even so, Jefferson was also acutely aware that the Monacan people who once claimed most of Virginia as their own were then largely gone. Some had ventured north to New York, joining the Cayugas in the Iroquois Confederation. Others had fled to North Carolina or the deep woods of western Virginia. In any case, they had gone away in response to European-American encroachment on their territory and the gradual loss of their lands to colonial towns and plantations, including Jefferson’s own Monticello. Jefferson, in fact, had openly advocated the forced removal of extant tribes to the other side of the Mississippi River as the only way to protect them from American expansion. Of course, there was no question about asking any Natives for permission to dig up their ancestors’ graves. This had not been a consideration when the mound was leveled for farming, and it would be of no consideration for Jefferson.

Jefferson recognized that if he were to understand the contents of the mound, he would need to examine it in a logical, scientific way. It would not do to simply dig wildly through its dirt to see what turned up. In order to distinguish between the three hypotheses about the mound’s purpose, Jefferson needed to know exactly what bones rested within the mound and, just as importantly, how they were arranged, for it was the arrangement of bones that would determine how graves were dug and in what sequence. Therefore, he reasoned, he needed to start at the top of the mound and work his way down level by level, examining each layer of the mound in sequence, from the youngest at the top to the oldest at the bottom. It stood to reason that mounds could not be built from the top down; therefore, the oldest layers of the mound had to be at the bottom, along with whatever was first buried there.

This was a major basis for what would become the science of archaeology. The recognition that excavations should be conducted layer by layer, and that these layers could speak to changes through time, was something new in understanding the past. Halfway around the world, in Pompeii, excavators were digging out buildings preserved just as they were when Vesuvius buried them in 79 CE. Scholars there did not consider the idea of change through time, much less that the very dirt would hold any record of such changes. This realization would dawn across European science only with William Smith’s geological maps and treatises on strata beginning in 1799 and Charles Lyell’s Principles of Geology (1830), which popularized the notion that the strata of rocks and soils could tell the story of change through time, younger layers superimposed atop older layers, back and back. This would become, in due time, the foundational principle for nineteenth-century archaeologists. But that would not be for nearly a century; in the meantime, Jefferson worked alone.

Jefferson’s first step was to make what he called “superficial” holes in the mound to see what turned up. He found groupings of human remains at depths ranging from six inches to three feet below the mound’s surface.

These were lying in the utmost confusion, some vertical, some oblique, some horizontal, and directed to every point of the compass, entangled, and held together in clusters by the earth. Bones of the most distant parts were found together, as, for instance, the small bones of the foot in the hollow of a scull, many sculls would sometimes be in contact, lying on the face, on the side, on the back, top or bottom, so as, on the whole, to give the idea of bones emptied promiscuously from a bag or basket, and covered over with earth, without any attention to their order.21

Jefferson then cataloged the types of bones he pulled from the mound. Most prominent were skulls, mandibles, and teeth—though the skulls were so fragile that they crumbled before they could be removed. Arm and leg bones were also found in abundance, along with hands and feet. Ribs and vertebrae were more poorly represented, and he found but one sacrum, the triangular bone that forms the base of the spine. He then tried to take measurements of the bones to determine the age of the deceased. “There were some teeth which were judged to be smaller than those of an adult; a scull, which, on a slight view, appeared to be that of an infant, but it fell to pieces on being taken out, so as to prevent satisfactory examination; a rib, and a fragment of the under-jaw of a person about half grown; another rib of an infant; and part of the jaw of a child, which had not yet cut its teeth.”22 He paid special attention to the jawbone and compared it carefully to a full-grown adult mandible, noting how much smaller it was. This, he said, furnished “satisfactory” proof of child burial and therefore discounted any claim that the mound marked the resting place of war dead. He concluded, correctly, that the relatively small number of infant bones in the mound could probably be attributed to their relatively rapid decay due to being smaller and “softer” than adult bones.

In another stroke of genius, Jefferson decided to open the mound by cutting a trench into it so he could view the stratification of the interior. By doing so, he would be able to see the mound in cross-section and therefore determine the method of its construction. This is the way archaeologists today examine sites, but in his era it was a dramatic difference from the random tunneling and wholesale destruction common to most “scientific” excavations. In the Old World, excavation had hardly advanced from when Caliph al-Mā’mūn “excavated” the Great Pyramid of Egypt in 832 CE by forcing a hole straight through the masonry until he hit upon an internal passage. For example, at the earthen barrows of England and Scotland, Bronze Age tumuli superficially similar to the Indian Grave mound but three millennia older, antiquarians simply dug holes into the tops of the tumuli and rooted around until they determined whether any golden grave goods lay within. Even today many of these tumuli are crowned with saucer shaped depressions, the remains of antiquarian treasure hunts.

Jefferson’s trench stretched from about three feet from the mound’s center out to its edge, and it was between two and three feet wide—wide enough for Jefferson to walk into. The trench walls were perfectly vertical and perpendicular to the ground to ensure that the walls would be a perfect cross-section. Jefferson was able to examine the flat slabs of the mound’s interior. What he saw laid out the site’s history like a mural, telling its past chronologically from ground to sky.

At ground level were bones covered over in a layer of stones carried to the mound from the river bank, an eighth of a mile away, and a cliff a quarter mile distant. The rocks lay below a layer of dirt, on which sat another layer of bones and rock, followed by still more dirt. On one wall of the trench, Jefferson found three layers of bones and on the other four. Presumably, the mound had either not been built evenly, or else one layer had been destroyed in leveling the mound for farming. Jefferson noted that the bones at the topmost layer were freshest and least decayed, while those at the bottom were in poorer state of preservation. Again, he understood the principle of superposition that Europeans would only formalize after Lyell—that the oldest layers of an archaeological site are found beneath the most recent.

Jefferson examined the bones poking out from the walls of his trench and noted that he could find none that showed any damage from bullet, arrow, or sword. Therefore, the hypothesis that the mound covered those who had fallen in a great battle was additionally proved false. The jumbled nature of the bones demonstrated that they were not deposited standing upright as another hypothesis had it. After counting the bones and doing some calculations, he estimated that the mound probably contained a thousand bodies. There could be but one conclusion:

Appearances certainly indicate that it has derived both origin and growth from the accustomary collection of bones, and deposition of them together; that the first collection had been deposited on the common surface of the earth, a few stones put over it, and then a covering of earth, that the second had been laid on this, had covered more or less of it in proportion to the number of bones, and was then also covered with earth; and so on. The following are the particular circumstances which give it this aspect. 1. The number of bones. 2. Their confused position. 3. Their being in different strata. 4. The strata in one part having no correspondence with those in another. 5. The different states of decay in these strata, which seem to indicate a difference in the time of inhumation. 6. The existence of infant bones among them.23

Jefferson, in short, had realized that the mound had been built in stages—a small mound covering the first deposit of bones, atop which successive waves of burials had been deposited and covered with a new layer of dirt. Thus, over time, the Indian Grave mound had grown in size up to the form it had when Jefferson had first seen it as a child. Though Jefferson could not have known it at the time, this was the method by which most of America’s mounds, including the largest ever built, Monks Mound at Cahokia near St. Louis, had been built, as had the yet-undiscovered Maya pyramids of Mexico.

Having thus ascertained the origin and purpose of the mound, Jefferson was satisfied with his work. He collected whatever notes he made and rode home. There is no record of whether he filled in the hole he had cut or if he left the grave open to the sky, but he probably filled it back in, if only so it could be used for farming again next season. Indian Grave mound afterward became known as Jefferson’s Mound, and it gradually eroded away in the periodic floods that came down the Rivanna River and filled the lowlands where it stood. By June 1911 there was nearly nothing left to see when David I. Bushnell went looking for it on behalf of the Smithsonian Institution’s Bureau of American Ethnology.24 Nevertheless, for a century afterward, arrowheads, stone tools, and bits of bone would turn up in the soil, some from the mound and others from the long-abandoned Monacan town on whose edge the mound had once stood. Archaeologists would examine the site off and on into the twenty-first century, and no one ever found anything that called into question Jefferson’s careful conclusions about the mound.

Jefferson seems not to have written up his investigation into the mound right away. He left for Congress in Annapolis in October 1783, and he took with him his draft of Notes on the State of Virginia that he had completed back in June. This he shared with his close friend Charles Thomson, who in the spring of 1784 wrote a critical commentary on the draft. Thomson noted that Jefferson’s draft presented only the opinion that the mounds were the mass graves of war dead, marking particular battles. Thomson knew from experience that Native groups gathered bones at intervals and buried them collectively in communal cemeteries, and he referred Jefferson to the current practices and customs of Native groups. Jefferson read Thomson’s notes carefully, including sections critiquing his description of the mounds, and recognized that he needed to include a description of his mound excavation in the Notes to avoid any incorrect or unsubstantiated information from appearing therein. He had proven the battle-grave hypothesis false, after all. Only at this point, about six months after the dig, did Jefferson write out an account of what he had done at Indian Grave. He placed his description on a long tab of paper that he carefully pasted into his draft copy of the Notes, covering his earlier and incomplete description of the mound from 1781.25

By this point, Jefferson’s friends and colleagues both in America and in Europe had expressed great interest in seeing his Notes on the State of Virginia. At first he had considered having manuscript copies written out, but he quickly realized that this would be unnecessarily laborious. Therefore, he told the Marquis de Chastellux, he intended to privately print twenty copies to distribute. However, printing prices were far too high in the United States, so upon taking up his new position as America’s minister plenipotentiary to France, the equivalent of a modern ambassador, Jefferson had private copies printed in Paris by Philippe-Denis Pierres on May 10, 1784, at a quarter of the cost. By this point, his print order had grown from twenty copies to two hundred to satisfy demand. He sent some copies to his European friends and most back across the Atlantic to the United States.

Notes on the State of Virginia was a sensation. One of the copies remaining in France fell in 1786 into the hands of publisher Louis François Barrois, who recognized its potential and quickly prepared to publish an unauthorized translation. Barrois told Jefferson that he would print the book with or without Jefferson’s permission but offered that the American could correct the translation before printing. This Jefferson chose to do since the translator, Abbé François Morellet, had made a mess of it, conflating his own opinions with those of Jefferson. The latter would write,

I never had seen so wretched an attempt at translation. Interverted, abridged, mutilated, and often reversing the sense of the original, I found it a blotch of errors from beginning to end. I corrected some of the most material, and in that form it was printed in French. A London bookseller, on seeing the translation, requested me to permit him to print the English original. I thought it best to do so to let the world see that it was not really so bad as the French translation had made it appear.26

That London publisher was John Stockdale, from whose press came the first publicly available English edition of Notes in 1787, which was widely read and heavily praised. The section that most interested readers was almost always Jefferson’s description of the mound excavation. Jefferson’s description of the burial mound proved so useful and interesting that the editors of the Encyclopædia Britannica inserted Jefferson’s description whole into their article on “Barrows” in the very first edition published after Jefferson’s Notes, the third edition of 1797, drawing an implicit—and retrospectively ominous—comparison between the barrows, or grave mounds, of Britain’s prehistoric Celtic peoples and the Native American mounds.27 Jefferson’s text would remain in Britannica through the sixth edition of 1823 and in abbreviated form down to the eighth edition in 1854.28 Makers of encyclopedias on both sides of the Atlantic would quickly follow suit, usually by reproducing the Britannica whole in pirated editions.

Despite the widespread fame of Jefferson’s mound and its scientific excavation, no antiquarian in Europe or America decided to follow Jefferson’s lead and excavate scientifically. Indeed, the opinions of most educated observers of mounds were starting to shift away from Jefferson’s views and away from science altogether. Despite Jefferson’s best efforts, educated men at the highest levels of American and European science, government, and society had begun arguing that the mounds of the United States were not Native American constructions at all but rather the work of ancient—and white—Europeans. In its famed 1875–89 ninth edition, published a century after Jefferson’s excavation, Britannica would omit Jefferson’s definitive description of America’s mounds. In so doing, its editors reversed Jefferson’s judgment and highlighted an imagined affinity between European and American barrows, going so far as to falsely claim that all the mounds were graves, when in fact many were temple platforms. The new “Scholar’s Edition” of Britannica told readers that America’s ancient “mound builders” were more advanced in aesthetics and the arts than modern Native Americans, who they falsely claimed knew nothing of these constructions—clearly suggesting that the mounds were not the work of Native Americans.29 One of the earliest advocates of this opinion—or so many would come to believe—was Thomas Jefferson’s friend and fellow American Philosophical Society member Benjamin Franklin.
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A New Country, a New Past

In 1784, when Thomas Jefferson arrived in Paris to take up his post as minister plenipotentiary, with his draft of Notes on the State of Virginia in tow, he came to replace his predecessor, Benjamin Franklin, who had been the American representative to the court of Louis XVI since 1776. With Jefferson now residing in Paris, Franklin, who had also been America’s representative to Sweden without ever having visited that country, returned to the United States in 1785. Jefferson entrusted a copy of his privately printed Notes to Franklin to ensure its safe delivery to Francis Hopkinson, a signer of the Declaration of Independence and a Pennsylvania judge.1 Franklin carried the book with him on the long sail from Europe to America, which then took several weeks. On October 18 that year, the Supreme Executive Council of Pennsylvania held a special session to unanimously appoint Franklin the president of Pennsylvania, the equivalent of a modern governor, two weeks before the scheduled October 29 election, which Franklin also won. He went on to serve two more terms as governor, holding office until 1788.

Between May and September 1787, the eighty-one-year-old Franklin attended the Constitutional Convention, helping to shape the future American government. If the testimony of one French-American writer were to be believed, Franklin also devoted a few minutes that year to discussing the origins of the Mound Builders. Franklin had obviously had the time to become familiar with Jefferson’s investigation of the Monacan mound near Monticello, though this excavation appeared to play no role in shaping Franklin’s views about the Mound Builder question. But author Michel Guillaume Jean de Crèvecoeur, Louis XVI’s consul in New York City and a friend of Thomas Jefferson, was not entirely honest in writing about an adventure that historians have in equal measure defended as “probable” or declared “a pleasant fiction” designed to honor the sickly and aging Franklin.2 Early opinion favored truth; the weight of opinion today falls on the side of fiction, especially since records clearly show Franklin in Philadelphia throughout 1787.

Crèvecoeur was born in France but moved to the British colony of New York, where he became a naturalized citizen under the name John Hector St. John. He found literary success with his Letters from an American Farmer (1782), a volume that ranks alongside Jefferson’s Notes on the State of Virginia as a testament to the ideals and potential of the United States. Crèvecoeur praised America’s ethos of self-determination, its “spirit of industry,” and the great effort that raised America from a wilderness to a settled country in a mere century. Crèvecoeur wanted to show Europe that America was every bit the equal to the Old World he had left behind—if not better.

But life did not treat Crèvecoeur well. After a time in Europe, he returned to America to find his farm destroyed by the Revolution, his wife dead, and his children in the custody of neighbors. Perhaps not worse, but more significant for history, his literary career faded away. He returned to France and found himself caught up in the French Revolution. Jefferson’s replacement in Paris by this time, James Monroe, denied him entry papers to the United States, and he remained in France until the end of his life. In 1801 Crèvecoeur tried to make money by scraping together a three-volume sequel of sorts to his Letters, to be called Voyage dans la Haute-Pensylvanie et dans l’état de New-York (Travels in Upper Pennsylvania and the State of New York). But as Crèvecoeur worked, he came to rely increasingly on a very nasty habit, one that had surfaced as early as his days as consul in New York: Crèvecoeur was a plagiarist. He collected chapters of books, rewrote them, and then passed them along as the sage wisdom of unrelated authorities whose views he felt mirrored those works. In 1789 he plagiarized a description of Georgia’s mounds from the travel volume of John Bartram’s son William for a letter to the Duc de la Rochefoucauld, attributing the facts to an American congressman.3

Another victim was Benjamin Franklin, to whom he attributed rewritten sections of an earlier work by Gilbert Imlay, mixing together, into a single discussion, observations from Imlay, Imlay’s editor, and above all Jonathan Heart, whose speculations were included in Imlay’s volume.4 To this Crèvecoeur added his own wild speculation and opinion. Not a word of it belonged to Franklin, as best anyone can tell. Nevertheless, these views became associated with Franklin through widespread scholarly acceptance of Crèvecoeur’s testimony, and as such they were believed genuine into the twentieth century, lending spurious support to the growing Mound Builder myth.

In his Voyage, Crèvecoeur wrote that he had accompanied Franklin to Lancaster, Pennsylvania, in 1787 on a trip to lay the foundation stone for the new Franklin College, which the president of Pennsylvania had supported with £200 of his own money—hence its name. The college, chartered in a splendid interfaith procession through Lancaster on June 6, would serve both the English-speaking and German-speaking communities of this ethnically diverse area of the state.5 Teaching men and women in both English and German, Franklin College was America’s first coeducational and bilingual school. In the evening, after the stone-laying ceremony had concluded, Crèvecoeur reported, he and Franklin got to talking about the Native peoples of North America, a subject that piqued Crèvecoeur’s scientific curiosity. Crèvecoeur wrote that he asked Franklin about their origins and whether he had heard about the “fortifications and tombs”—the mounds—recently seen across the Appalachians in the territory of Spanish Louisiana, the vast expanse of the western United States that was a onetime colony of France.

Franklin (or, rather, a fictitious version of Franklin constructed from parts of a plagiarized Heart) replied that the Inuit peoples of the north, whom he called Eskimos, had fair skin and light eyes and therefore were originally white men from Scandinavia. The peoples of America’s southern tier—the Spanish territories of Louisiana (ceded by France in 1764) and Florida (returned to Spanish control in 1783)—were immigrants from Mexico. In the words of Crèvecoeur:

As to the other nations of this continent, it seems difficult to imagine from what stock they can be descended. To assign them an Asiatic and Tartar origin, to assert that they crossed Behring Straits, and spread themselves over this continent, shocks all our notions of probability. How, indeed, can we conceive that men almost naked, armed with bows and arrows, could have undertaken a journey of a thousand leagues through thick forests or impenetrable marshes, accompanied by their wives and children, with no means of subsistence, save what they derived from hunting? What could have been the motives of such an emigration?6

Crèvecoeur, writing as the false Franklin, thought correctly that human beings must have sprung forth from warm climates, though he confessed that he had no idea how they came to populate the New World, New Zealand, and other locations remote from Europe. Indeed, in the fictitious meeting “Franklin” told Crèvecoeur that he was certain that human beings would never be able to answer such questions. Citing the Greek poet Hesiod’s idea of the succession of ages through time—the gold, silver, and bronze ages—Franklin was said to have implied that unknown civilizations might have existed in the past, though nothing was known of them. This, Crèvecoeur had Franklin he claim, was probably due to collisions with comets and meteors, which could wipe out entire civilizations with nary a trace by altering the earth’s climate: “The near approach or contact of one of those globes whose elliptical and mysterious courses are perhaps the agents of our destinies, some variation in its annual or diurnal rotation, in the inclination of its axis or the equilibrium of the seas, might change its climate, and render it long uninhabitable.”7 How this imagined Franklin would have loved to know about the meteor that ended the dinosaurs’ reign!

Such prehistoric civilizations, “Franklin” said, had come and gone; the mounds of the United States bore witness to this. These mounds were ancient, as proved by the fossilization of the bones found within (which he called “conversion into calcaresous matter”), as well as the layers of decayed foliage rotting atop them from centuries of successive autumns. The false Franklin told Crèvecoeur that the Native Americans had no traditions about who had built the mounds, a clear indication that they were not the responsible party. In fact, members of the American Philosophical Society had listened to presentations from no fewer than four men—two generals and two captains—stating as much. “Franklin” called the mounds “parapets” after the language used by the military men who described them to him. He saw them as the remains of fortifications, though he recognized that at least some were also cemeteries. He was likely thinking about the geometric mounds of the Adena and Hopewell, which sometimes took shapes roughly equivalent to the ground plan of a military fortification, if only because both were rectangular.

“Franklin” also told Crèvecoeur that the parapets bore close resemblance to the ancient barrows of Scotland and the cemetery mounds of Asia, and he returned again to the fact that the Cherokees claimed not only that they knew nothing of the massive pyramid mounds of the southern United States but also that the people they had driven from the land two hundred years earlier knew nothing of their construction. “Can we conceive that nations sufficiently powerful to have raised such considerable fortifications, and who buried their dead with such religious care, can have been destroyed and replaced by the ignorant and barbarous horde we see about us at the present day?” “Franklin” then asked the essential question: “Are our Indians the descendants of that ancient people?”8

“Franklin” finished his discussion by speculating on the culture of the vanished people who built what he persisted in seeing as defensive fortifications. They must have had chiefs to impose order for building the mounds and impressing the commoners to work. They must have had agriculture to feed the workforce. He also took the whole of the mound-building cultures as one unified lost civilization, one that was simultaneously and across the continent engaged in populating the fortifications with soldiers. “This people must therefore have been much further advanced in civilization than our Indians.”9 Crèvecoeur (as Franklin) finished with a prescient observation, tinged with an accidentally truthful explanation of the appeal of the lost civilization hypothesis:

When the population of the United States shall have spread over every part of that vast and beautiful region, our posterity, aided by new discoveries, may then perhaps form more satisfactory conjectures. What a field for reflection! A new continent, which, at some unknown period, appears to have been inhabited by agricultural and warlike nations! Were it not for my advanced age, I would myself cross the mountains to examine those old military works. Perhaps a careful and minute inspection would give rise to conjectures which now elude all the combinations of the mind.10

The imagined Franklin had made clear that he was doubtful that the mounds had been the work of Native Americans and strongly implied that some unknown race was responsible for their construction. In describing the excitement he felt at contemplating such possibilities, he revealed one of the most important intellectual preoccupations underlying it. The United States was a new nation, and it needed a new history. Europe and Asia had their ancient peoples, and the United States needed people every bit their equals. “Franklin” lamented to Crèvecoeur that the New World seemed mired in “ignorance and barbarism,” while ancient Europe had flourished with civilization for “thousands of ages.” The “lost race” theory solved the problem at a single stroke. It excused the existence of “savages” as interlopers and created a history for America as old as Europe’s, with people as puissant and warlike as the Romans and as architecturally ambitious as the Egyptians.

Surely it was no coincidence that such a theory appealed to Crèvecoeur at a time when America seemed to be the great hope, for which he had so much respect and affection, a Republic that retained its egalitarian excellence at a time when France had descended into the monarchical tyranny of Napoleon’s Empire. America needed a new history to match its new government, and Crèvecoeur placed this desire in the mouth of the unimpeachable Benjamin Franklin. Franklin’s actual view of the mounds was that they had been built by Hernando de Soto and his men while traveling through the United States from 1539 to 1542, an idea he presented to Yale University president Ezra Stiles, who countered with the view that the mounds were the work of Native Americans who had descended from the Lost Tribes of Israel around the time of Joshua.11

The view of “Franklin”—that is, those of Crèvecoeur via Heart and Imlay—on the Native American and Mound Builder questions could not have been more different from the views of Jefferson. Crèvecoeur had read Jefferson’s discussion of the topic and had corresponded with Jefferson about it in 1789, several years before he sat down to forge Franklin’s views. Crèvecoeur had made Franklin, a Founder of equal stature to Jefferson, argue the opposing position, speculating—admittedly speculating—without evidence, about the possibility of meteors having wiped out a lost race, quite possibly white Europeans, leaving behind only the earthen remains of their ancient forts. It is difficult to imagine how Crèvecoeur could have read Jefferson’s account of his excavation without impact on his own views—unless these views were, if subconsciously, emotional and political rather than scientific and rational.

If the views Crèvecoeur attributed to Franklin were not Franklin’s own, they were, however, a fair representation of a strain of early American thought in marked contrast to Jefferson’s scientific approach to the Mound Builder question. Both views grew out of more pressing questions: who exactly were the Native Americans, and did they have a legitimate claim to the lands on which they lived?

As Crèvecoeur selected among many books to plagiarize for his various endeavors, he would have been familiar with the controversy over the peopling of the Americas that played directly into the question of the origin of the country’s ancient earthworks. As an educated aristocrat, Crèvecoeur would have received a good education in both the Greco-Roman classics and religious literature. Consequently, he would have known that ancient literature made no explicit mention of the New World, for the ancients knew of only three continents: Europe, Asia, and Africa. These three continents were peopled, the Church taught, by descendants of the three sons of Noah following the Great Flood: the sons of Japheth (mainly in Anatolia and Europe), the sons of Shem (primarily in Arabia and Asia), and the sons of Ham (in Canaan and Africa), following Genesis 13:14: “Lift up now thine eyes, and look from the place where thou art northward, and southward, and eastward, and westward” (King James Version). It was up to Flavius Josephus to marry this to the Greco-Roman tripartite division of the world.

The existence of new peoples in a New World posed a significant challenge to this view after 1492. The land, not being mentioned in the Bible, was a mystery. Some wondered if the whole of the New World had risen up from the sea sometime between the Resurrection and Columbus, thus accounting for its absence from the Bible. Others wondered if it was the Atlantis of Plato, a theme that would recur time and again in the historiography of the Mound Builders. This was the view of the Spanish historian Francisco López de Gómara but one denied by the French essayist Montaigne. Gómara wrote in his Historia general de las Indias (1552) a sentence pregnant with omens for future Mound Builder mythographers: “But there is no dispute or doubt what was the island of Atlantis, for the discovery and conquest of the Indies simply clarify what Plato wrote of those lands, and in Mexico they call water atl, a word that seems to be from the island, though it may no longer exist.”12 Later Spanish historians would champion the Atlantis theory for decades, and it would be revived, in a different form, in America during the latter-nineteenth-century height of the Mound Builder myth. It was in Spain that the first foundation was laid down seeking to connect America and Atlantis by spurious similarity. Gómara also suggested that the pyramids of Mexico and South America were built by the sea-going peoples of the ancient Mediterranean, another recurring theory.

Early Spanish missionaries often wondered if the peoples of the Americas were created by Satan and given false religions as an affront to God. Officially, the Catholic Church held that Native Americans were in thrall to the Devil and needed to be saved but were part of the same creation as the rest of the world’s people. Some, like Montaigne, speculated that Native Americans were a separate creation, others that they were the remains of a population that existed before Adam. Some speculated that the Native Americans came from Europe via Greenland and Labrador, others that they had come from Asia via the Bering Strait. A fanciful early-seventeenth-century notion that the Monacans—builders of Jefferson’s mound—spoke a language that sounded like Welsh eventually gave rise to the idea that Native Americans descended from the followers of the Welsh prince Madoc, who was alleged to have traveled on a great sea around 1170 CE. This voyage, some thought, went to America, where he built the mounds of Ohio. More sober claims were put forward for first Japheth, then Ham, and finally Shem as the ancestor of the Native Americans, and eventually Shem won out over his brothers, animals, and the Devil himself.

In the sixteenth century the seed planted by the idea that Native Americans had descended from Shem yielded a weedy vine that would eventually produce bitter fruit. Shem had been the ancestor of the Semites, the people of Israel, and it was well-known that of the Twelve Tribes (the descendants of Jacob’s twelve sons) that comprised the Jewish Kingdom of Israel in the reign of David, only two continued in the Levant after the Assyrians destroyed Israel in the eighth century BCE. Early explorers, attempting to fit the Natives into their understanding of the world’s peoples, speculated that the Native Americans were surviving descendants of the Ten Lost Tribes. In the seventeenth century this view received an important boost from Portuguese rabbi Menasseh ben Israel’s The Hope of Israel (1650), which spoke of Jews in America, and most influentially from the work an English cleric, Thomas Thorowgood, in a widely read 1649 study, Jewes in America; or, The Probabilities That the Americans Are of That Race.

Thorowgood attempted to prove, just as Spanish writers had been doing for a century, the descent of all the American peoples, from Canada to Tierra del Fuego, from the Jews, by comparing their practices and myths, showing them to be similar. Both Jews and Aztecs, he claimed, imagined the sun, moon, and stars as living beings. Both Jews and Natives considered women to be unclean “in their feminine seasons,” and both believed that a single god made the heavens and the earth. Further, the Jews and Native Americans both wore jewelry, delighted in dancing, showed hospitality to strangers, and had lunar calendars. Both groups also employed messengers and had the death penalty for crimes. They spoke languages in which Thorowgood imagined they held words in common; and he felt that the “fact” that the Natives had no specific name for God was a reflection of the unpronounceable Tetragrammaton, and he viewed scattered Native myths of a world flood as a remembrance of the Flood of Noah. If he noticed the irony that Europeans from Spain to Scotland expended enormous energy searching for Jews in the Americas while expelling and oppressing the Jews at home, he remained silent.

The cleric also reported the claims of the sixteenth-century Brazilian colonist Nicolas Durand de Villegaignon that the Natives had received the Gospel from the Apostles no later than 150 CE and ignored it, but he doubted this was true. Instead he thought that the Americans had never received Christ and on account of this suffered, as did all Jews, the tribulations visited upon them by God for putting Christ to death. Thorowgood believed, as all Christians did in those days, that Jews had murdered Christ and thus earned the opprobrium of Christendom. The Spanish, in this view, were merely God’s instrument for carrying out the punishment that the Romans had visited upon Judea’s Jews.

“And now if all these parallels will not amount to a probability,” Thorowgood wrote, “one thing more shall be added, which is the dispersion of the Jewes.”13 Since it was a known fact that the Jews were exiled from Judea, certainly it had to be true that at least some of them had ventured to America where they became the Jewish Indians. The obvious conclusion was that the Native Americans might be Jewish by blood but not by faith and therefore had degenerated from the Mosaic faith and needed conversion to Christianity. And if they had decayed in faith, then it stood to reason that in the past they must have been more perfect and greater. This view fed directly into the Mound Builder myth.

Crèvecoeur would have understood that this was the intellectual baggage educated colonists brought with them from England when they arrived on American shores and began to explore the mounds. Steeped in classical and ecclesiastical education, many hoped to find ruins equivalent to the Celtic, Greek, and Roman ruins that littered Europe. The minor mounds of the East Coast must have been disappointing. As explorers and settlers moved west and began to encounter a few, then hundreds, then thousands, and then tens of thousands of mounds in a dazzling array of shapes and sizes they largely failed to notice much or care. Diseases brought by De Soto and other European explorers had left much of the middle of the continent abandoned, and explorers passed by many mounds assuming the vacant cities were nothing more than hills. French explorers’ accounts of explorations in the Mississippi and Ohio Valleys made only the briefest passing mention of the mounds, allowing Crèvecoeur to claim that in 1787 their discovery was “recent” despite two centuries of exploration.

A fellow Frenchman, Antoine-Simon Le Page du Pratz, resided with the Natchez in what is now Mississippi in the early 1700s and made a rare record of them building a mound. He concluded that the Americans were the descendants of Europeans, specifically Carthaginians or Phoenicians, who had been blown off course and ended up on American shores, citing as proof the large island west of Africa reported in Greek historian Diodorus Siculus’s Historical Library.14 After Le Page du Pratz left the Natchez, they revolted against French colonial intrusions and in 1729 killed all the local colony’s two hundred men and enslaved three hundred French women and children. France responded with a counteroffensive in 1731 that led to a regional war between France and a coalition of Natchez and Chickasaws, ending in the defeat and subjugation of the Natives.

It was not an opportune time for the French rulers of the Louisiana Territory to care about Native history, and when France ceded Louisiana to Spain after losing the Seven Years’ War, the Spanish remained indifferent to the mounds. The European powers saw no political gain from granting a noble history to people they saw as savages and with whom they were at war. Migrants from the United States had begun settling the loosely controlled Spanish territory, and, as Crèvecoeur knew, some of these explorers finally had begun reporting the existence of the mounds. A few missionaries made reports of the Ohio mounds in the 1770s, and the occasional traveler noted the existence of the structures in Ohio and along the Mississippi. But a true effort to discuss and explain the mounds began only in the late 1770s and in the 1780s, mostly following Jefferson’s excavation—the same time that Americans began striving in earnest to create a history for the country independent of the traditions of the Old World.

Crèvecoeur would also have remembered a controversy that had broken out over the mounds a decade before he wrote his Voyage and that informed his views. On April 27, 1786, three years after Jefferson’s excavation, the Harvard-educated judge of the Supreme Court of the Northwest Territory, Maj. Gen. Samuel H. Parsons, sent Yale president Ezra Stiles some bones and a large tooth belonging to a wooly mammoth, a creature then unknown and unclassified. In an accompanying letter, Parsons told Stiles that the bones had been found along the Muskingum River, a tributary of the Ohio, where stood earthen mounds that he viewed as fortifications.

The numerous Remains of Fortifications in that Country, (a Draft of One at the Mouth of Muskingum I also send you) and pieces of earthern Vessels & brick dug up from considerable Depths in the Earth; the numerous Mounds of Earth erected in conical forms, some to the Height of 70 or 80 feet, containing the Bones of the Dead, are proofs of this Country having been peopled heretofore by those who have some Knowledge of the Arts; and the Trees grown up in those fortresses are of a Size which leaves little Room to doubt that the Works were abandoned long before this Country was discoverd by Europeans. The present Inhabitants having no Knowledge of the Arts or Tradition respecting the fortifications leaves a Doubt whither the former Inhabitants were Ancestors of the present.

Parsons then told Stiles that he would leave Stiles and “other learn’d Men to form your Opinions.”15 Stiles sent the letter to Thomas Jefferson in Paris.

The discovery of large mounds at Muskingum, now known to be Hopewell constructions from the first millennium BCE, excited the curiosity of both Stiles and future lexicographer Noah Webster, then serving as the editor of American Magazine, published in New York City. Webster published three letters to Stiles on the discovery in the issues of December 1787, January 1788, and February 1788. In his first two letters, Webster speculated that the mounds were built by De Soto’s army, because Webster had mistaken the Spanish word Chicaça—i.e., Chickasaw—for Chicaca, without the cedilla, allowing him to claim that the word represented a detour to Muskingum. The Chickasaws hailed from the southern United States, along De Soto’s route. Ohio was not on it.

By 1790 Webster had modified his position. “But how shall we account for the mounts, caves, graves, &c. and for the contents, which evince the existence of the custom of burning the dead or their bones,” he wrote. “Can these be ascribed to the Spaniards?” At first he did ascribe them to the Spaniards, but after his acquaintance Francis Hopkinson produced a lengthy rebuttal in the September 1788 edition of the Columbian Magazine, Webster changed his mind, retracting his views in November. Webster had read Jefferson’s account of mound-building and was satisfied, on the strength of Jefferson’s evidence, that the small mounds were the work of Native Americans, but he felt that the larger earthworks could not have been built by Native Americans and must have had a European origin. He returned to the familiar refrain that the mounds bore a distinct resemblance to the barrows and tumuli of Bronze Age Scotland. Webster felt these resemblances were so close that they could not be attributed to coincidence born of a similar state of material development. “But as all primitiv inhabitants of the west of Europe were evidently of the same stock,” he wrote, “it is natural to suppose they might pass from Norway to Iceland, from Iceland to Greenland, and from thence to Labrador; and thus the North American savages may claim a common origin with the primitiv Britons and Celts.”16

Webster was shocked and embarrassed to discover that Mathew Carey, an Irish journalist forced from the British Isles in a libel scandal, had republished Webster’s repudiated letters about the De Soto claim in 1789 in his American Museum, the first commercially successful American magazine, financed by none other than the Marquis de Lafayette, the French hero of the American Revolution. This was especially humiliating because the Museum was not only a respected publication—it was the first to publish the proposed Constitution in 1787—but also one whose readership was composed of more than a thousand of the country’s intellectual elite, including Franklin, Jefferson, James Madison, George Washington, high church officials, and a number of foreign consuls, including the new French consul in New York, M. de la Tombe, Crèvecoeur’s replacement.17 Many of these men now thought Webster was still advocating a position that made little logical sense. Webster was forced to retract the letters anew in a letter to Carey in 1789. But, in doing so, he suggested again that the mounds were the work of ancient Europeans, this time ancient Mediterranean peoples who had been extinguished by the Native Americans:

What will the public say of the following opinions, that the Southern Indians, in Mexico and Peru, are descended from the Carthaginians or other Mediterranean nations, who found their way to the continent at a very early period, and spread themselves over North as well as South America—that these nations had become more civilized, than the present northern Indians, tho’ not acquainted with the use of iron—that at a late period of time, perhaps four or five centuries ago, the Siberian Tartars found their way to the North West parts of this country, and pushed their settlements till they met the southern and more ancient settlers—that, accustomed to a colder climate and more active and hardy life, they were the Goths and Vandals of North America, and drove the more ancient settlers from their territory—that in the contest between these different tribes or races of men, were constituted the numerous fortifications discovered on the Ohio, the northern lomes [sic], and in all parts of the western country. What facts may be found to support this idea, must be left to further investigation.18

This paragraph would form the seed that would one day bear fruit as the Book of Mormon.

The controversy piqued the interest of many a subscriber to the Museum. In 1788, just before taking up his post as the first U.S. president, Gen. George Washington wrote that he wished that the mysterious mounds would surrender their secrets.19 Washington had explored a mound in 1753, at the age of twenty-one, near Pittsburgh when scouting for defensive locations in the area for the Virginia militia, and he had seen many mounds in Virginia while serving as a surveyor for Lord Fairfax in his youth, including the Hopewell mound located in Pearsall’s Flats, now Romney, West Virginia. The articles in the Museum must have brought back memories.

Washington was not the only military man to take an interest in the mound controversy. Reading the Museum, the Revolutionary War hero and correspondent of Thomas Jefferson, Gen. George Rogers Clark, read Webster’s letters and was shocked and appalled, so much so that he felt compelled to write a long response based on his own firsthand explorations of the Ohio mounds that Webster had theorized about from secondhand sources. Clark had quite a bit of time on his hands for writing. After Great Britain ceded the Northwest Territory to the United States in 1783 but maintained garrisons and soldiers there, George Washington ordered the American army, beginning in 1785, to assert U.S. sovereignty over the territory by intervening in the widespread skirmishes along the Ohio River between settlers and Native Americans, an action that would become known as the Northwest Indian War. By treaty, settlers were to stay south of the Ohio, in the region of Virginia now known as Kentucky, but increasingly they were pushing north. Clark led a militia twelve-hundred-strong in an early battle on the Wabash River in 1786, but the push against the Native Americans failed. Three hundred of Clark’s men mutinied, and Clark was forced into a humiliating cease-fire with the Native Americans, who had killed more than one thousand settlers encroaching on their lands in Ohio since the cession of the territory in 1783. Rumors swirled that the general had been drunk during the advance, and he was forced from his post. His chief accuser, oddly enough, was crafty double-agent James Wilkinson, a friend and colleague of Gilbert Imlay, whose words would eventually be plagiarized and attributed to Benjamin Franklin. Clark’s life became a gradual downward slide into poverty and obscurity, running from the creditors he had used to finance his campaigns.

In 1788, living in Kentucky, on the other side of the Ohio River from the mounds Webster had discussed, Clark composed his reply. In full umbrage, Clark told Museum editor Mathew Carey that the world needed to be “undeceived” and that Webster was a “great stranger” to the western United States and “ought to have informed himself better before he ventured to palm his conjectures on the world.”20 Clark correctly pointed out that no ragtag Spanish exploratory group of a few hundred men could have built tens of thousands of mounds found throughout the Ohio or Mississippi Valleys, but he incorrectly assumed that the largest mounds and earthworks, especially Hopewell and Adena mounds in geometric shapes, were primarily fortifications and military structures. Smaller mounds he agreed after reading Jefferson’s Notes were burial mounds for Native dead. The large mounds, he thought, must have been manned by great armies of tens of thousands of men.

Clark told Carey that he had done something that neither Webster nor Jefferson had taken an interest in doing: he had asked the actual Native Americans of the region what they knew about the mounds. Contrary to the widespread belief that the Natives disclaimed any connection to them, Clark found well-developed traditions about the history of these structures.

They say they were the works of their forefathers; that they were as numerous as the trees in the wood; that they affronted the Great Spirit, and he made them kill one another. The works on the Mississippi near the Uaw river (Kaskaskia) are among the largest we know of. The Kaskaskia chief, BAPTIST DUCOIGN, gave me a history of this. He said that was the palace of his forefathers, when they covered the whole (country) and had large towns; that all those works we saw there, were the fortifications round the town, which must have been very considerable; that the smaller works we (saw) so far within the larger, comprehended the real palace; that the little mountain we there saw flung up with a basin on top, was a tower that contained part of the guard belonging to the prince, as from the top of that height, they could defend the king’s house with their arrows, &c.21

This curious mixture of fact and fancy correctly remembered the extent and greatness of the ancient cultures, and even the use of mounds as temple platforms and platforms for elite housing, but attributed to others a martial purpose reflecting more the current hostilities between the settlers and the Natives rather than any genuine historical memory.

Among the mounds Clark had seen were those of Cahokia, which had impressed him greatly. Clark concluded by arguing that the mounds were the work of the ancestors of the Native Americans still found living around them:

I think the world is to blame to express such great anxiety to know who it was that built those numerous and formidable works, and what hath become of that people. They will find them in the Kaskaskias, Peorias, Kahokias (now extinct), Piankashaws, Chickasaws, Cherokees, and such old nations, who say they grew out of the ground where they now live, and that they were formerly as numerous as the trees in the woods; but affronting the Great Spirit, he made war among the nations, and they destroyed each other. This is their tradition, and I see no good reason why it should not be received as good history—at least as good as a great part of ours.22

That history, Clark presciently observed, concluded with wars that had ended probably “anterior to five hundred years ago,” that is, around 1250–1300 CE, quite close to the actual end of the Mississippian culture, and he expressed his belief that investigation should be able to determine for certain when this actually occurred.

Clark’s manuscript ends without a conclusion. It is unclear whether he sent a copy to Carey in Philadelphia or not. At any rate, Carey never published Clark’s testimony, and it lay forgotten until the Bureau of Indian Affairs published it in an 1854 study of the history of Native Americans.

When Crèvecoeur was casting about in 1801 for material to plagiarize for his Voyage, there was surprisingly little to choose from if he wished to write about the mounds except for the material emerging as a result of the Webster controversy. As an admirer of the Americans, he could not help but want to contribute to the glorification of the country through the creation of an epic past equal to that of Greece and Rome. But what to do? Crèvecoeur picked up a copy of Gilbert Imlay’s Topographical Description of the Western Territory of North America, a best-seller a decade earlier, and started copying. The connection must have occurred to him because an appendix reproducing Benjamin Franklin’s views on immigration to America appeared just pages from an appendix by a soldier named Jonathan Heart speculating on the history of the ancient earthworks in the 1797 edition Crèvecoeur used.

Imlay had been a businessman in the 1780s in Kentucky, where he developed a strong sense of regional pride and an even stronger sense that he did not want to pay back the massive debts he owed. He had been a colleague and friend to Gen. James Wilkinson, known then as a Revolutionary War hero, but secretly a double agent working for Spain to foment the secession of the western part of the United States, a fact that would only come to light after his death in 1825. Wilkinson in the 1790s merely seemed to be a patriot working to establish Kentucky as a separate commonwealth from Virginia. Imlay bought into Wilkinson’s two-faced patriotism, and even after fleeing to Britain he continued to push the cause of Kentucky. To this end, he wrote Topographical Description in 1792, extolling immigration to the West and the primitive virtue of frontier life. Imlay took his primitive virtue to Revolutionary Paris the next year, where he started a relationship with the famed British feminist Mary Wollstonecraft, who had just published her Vindication of the Rights of Woman. Nine months later, Wollstonecraft bore Imlay’s love child, Fanny Imlay, the half-sister of Frankenstein author Mary Shelley. Imlay skipped town for London, leaving Mary and Fanny to fend for themselves amid the Terror.

Topographical Description was exceedingly popular among British liberal thinkers, going through three increasingly lengthy editions in 1792, 1793, and 1797. The last of these was distributed only in Britain and appears to be the edition Crèvecoeur used. Since this work was well known in its day, his plagiarism might have been caught long before it could do so much damage were it not for the fact that so few read Crèvecoeur. What must have caught Crèvecoeur’s attention was a January 5, 1791, letter included in the expanded edition of the Topographical Description from army captain Jonathan Heart describing his reaction to the Webster controversy playing out in the Columbian Magazine and the American Museum. Heart had published a description of the Muskingum mounds in the Columbian in May 1789, having viewed these constructions himself. In his 1791 letter he informed his correspondent, botanist Benjamin Smith Barton (who would become the first to argue—and then repudiate—that the Toltecs of Mexico had built the mounds), what he had heard of the region’s other mounds. He then speculated about the origins of the mounds. It was this section that Crèvecoeur plagiarized quite heavily in 1801 in constructing Franklin’s imagined speech—even having the gall to have “Franklin” in 1787 cite Heart as a source of information years before Heart had published anything about the mounds. Nearly the whole of Franklin’s speech is there—from the uncertainty whether humans could ever unravel the peopling of the Americas to the same speculation about the ethnology of the lost race. The most pregnant and important line in Heart’s letter contained his claim that “they were not constructed by the present Indians, or their predecessors; or some traditions would have remained as to their uses, and they would have retained some knowledge in constructing similar works.”23

It was as though the past two centuries of European observation of Native peoples had never happened—and for an army captain on America’s frontier, with limited access to scattered historical texts, it might just as well have never happened. Yet it was this view that would predominate among the most educated Americans going forward. Heart, at least, had the good sense to recognize that Native Americans were not Israelites, and any similarity to the Lost Tribes was merely the coincidence of peoples living close to the “state of nature.” Few would be so scrupulous in the next century.

Crèvecoeur’s passages about the ages of mankind and the role of comets appear to derive from the 1773 controversy in which French mathematician Joseph Lalande set off a panic when the French public mistakenly thought he had predicted the imminent collision of earth with a comet, prompting some clergy to begin selling dispensations to a worried public preparing for the end of days. Such a memory might have been prompted in Crèvecoeur by Heart’s discussion of the wooly mammoth, whose fossils had only recently been recognized as an extinct species distinct from the elephant. Heart strongly implied that just as the mammoth had vanished without a trace, so too might a prehistoric American culture come and gone. Crèvecoeur, in casting about for a good way to rid a continent of Mound Builders, could have done worse than a comet.

Crèvecoeur’s Voyage, composed in French, was not a commercial success. It did not sell well, and none of it was translated into English until in 1855 the passage about Benjamin Franklin was translated for the well-received and widely read Cyclopædia of American Literature.24 There the plagiarized, falsified speech sat alongside the greats of early American letters, including James Fennimore Cooper, John Winthrop, and three selections from Thomas Jefferson, as an exemplar of the new country’s best writing. It was from this publication that generations of scholars claimed Franklin as a powerful voice in favor of the “lost race” theory.

Voyage was Crèvecoeur’s last book. The man once so beloved in America that Ethan Allen named the town of St. Johnsbury, Vermont, for him remained in France in obscurity, his literary career in tatters. He lived out his life on land inherited from his father until he died in 1813. The theory he accidentally championed lived on, however, growing in popularity almost in direct proportion to Crèvecoeur’s slide into obscurity. Once confined only to a few thousand elite intellectuals, the Mound Builder controversy quickly spread to every level of American culture. The first wave hit those actively involved in creating a history for the United States.
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Inventing Prehistory

Two years after Crèvecoeur published his Voyage, the size and shape of the United States changed dramatically, and with that change came a greater public awareness of the mounds. During the years between Notes on the State of Virginia and Crèvecoeur’s Voyage, Thomas Jefferson had risen from minister to the court of Louis XVI to secretary of state under George Washington and then vice president under John Adams. On March 4, 1801, around the time Voyage was published in France, Jefferson took office as the third U.S. president. In these years, Jefferson believed that the United States would gradually absorb the territories of Spanish Louisiana piecemeal as American settlers followed Gilbert Imlay’s advice and moved ever westward into territory that the declining Native population and the weak Spanish government could not hope to hold forever. Events in Europe, however, changed this view.

In France the trapped Crèvecoeur would have seen the bloody Revolution that had overthrown Louis XVI descend into internecine strife, violence, and dictatorship. In 1799 Napoleon Bonaparte made himself the dictatorial first consul of France and set upon remaking the map of Europe. He placed great pressure on a financially desperate Spain, which agreed in secret on October 1, 1800, to return the vast Louisiana Territory to France in the Third Treaty of San Ildefonso in exchange for giving Spain de facto control over part of Italy. Napoleon sent troops to New Orleans, greatly worrying the United States, which needed the port for shipping goods down the Mississippi. Jefferson discovered the secret Franco-Spanish treaty and sent emissaries to Paris with orders to make an offer to purchase New Orleans. Napoleon could not sell the city because Spain was still to control the territory until the end of 1802. In a series of complex events, Jefferson decided to buy all of Louisiana to keep Napoleon away from America’s borders at the same time that Napoleon realized that the territory was worthless to France because it was economically unproductive. The ever-adaptable François Barbé-Marbois, who in earlier years had sparked Jefferson’s Notes with his queries on Virginia, was now Napoleon’s treasury minister and sold the whole of Louisiana to the United States for $15 million on April 30, 1803, doubling the size of the country at the bargain price of three cents per acre.

With France, Britain, and Spain now busily warring with one another in Europe over Napoleon’s efforts to conquer that continent, U.S. leaders were able to turn away from Europe and begin exploring the vast new territory they had purchased. To do so, Jefferson famously sent Meriwether Lewis and William Clark on a two-year expedition across Louisiana. En route, they saw the now well-known mounds of the Mississippi Valley. Lewis and Clark also documented the Spirit Mound of South Dakota, a natural hill 120 feet high that the local Sioux believed was actually a burial mound inhabited by violent, miniature spirit creatures. More importantly, the Louisiana Purchase encouraged Americans to push farther west, and, in so doing, increasing numbers of Americans became aware of the tens of thousands of mounds littering the former Northwest Territory and the eastern part of the Louisiana Territory. But awareness did not equal respect, and large numbers of these constructions were leveled to make way for farms and towns. As the mounds started to fall to the spade, skeletons, pottery, and stone tools came out of them.

The settlers who uncovered the mounds rejected the obvious explanation that they were the work of the Native peoples then living in the region, for this explanation did little to support the settlers’ claims to be the legitimate owners of former Native lands. Most who looked at the skeletons and pottery and stone tools imagined that they bore no relationship to the Native peoples and their arts and sciences. The bones were too big or too small, the pottery too well made. Surely Indians could not have had the wherewithal to heap soil into large mounds. That was a skill only white men could master. Clearly, a new prehistory was needed to rewrite America’s new lands in a friendlier image. Caleb Atwater would be just the man to do it. At least Atwater thought so.

Atwater was born in North Adams, Massachusetts, in 1778, but when his mother died, his father, Ebenezer Atwater, deposited Caleb with a sum of money for his upkeep in the hands of Esquire Jones, with whom he lived until reaching his majority. Jones encouraged Atwater’s desire for education and got him into Williams College before he came of age, and Atwater went on to receive an honorary master of arts degree. He spent much of his youth trying out and failing at a succession of professions. After leaving Williams, he became a schoolteacher in New York City, opening his own girls’ school. He failed in this line of work. He took up theology and served as a Presbyterian minister, but it was not long before he found this career too confining. After his wife of one year died, he suffered an emotional and physical breakdown. On the advice of his physicians, he moved to Marcellus, New York, to study law as the apprentice to a judge named Smiley, and he passed the bar and became a lawyer after only a few months’ study. But he had already grown tired of law and instead turned to business in Marcellus, but this effort too failed and quickly ended in bankruptcy. Atwater was restless and hot-headed, quick to anger and slow to forgive. He had burned his bridges in the East and no longer saw a future for himself in New York State—not one that paid, anyway. After the War of 1812 drew to its close in 1815, Atwater and his new wife Belinda moved to Circleville, Ohio, where he practiced law and got himself elected to the Ohio state legislature on a platform dedicated to promoting universal education for Ohio’s youth.1 This was not a particularly lucrative position, and his primary income came instead from his appointment as postmaster for Circleville. The year before he stood for election, he decided to try his hand at antiquarianism.

Circleville, founded in 1810, had been named for a large, circular Hopewell earthwork on the site. Atwater investigated the earthwork and others in the area and produced some of the only surviving maps of mounds and earthworks that settlers would later destroy. He carefully documented everything he was able to determine about the size, layout, and alignment of these earthworks, and he also preserved all of the information available about the artifacts and human and animal remains found in association with mounds that had been disturbed. All this he reported in a long and valuable 1820 report to the American Antiquarian Society, “A Description of the Antiquities Discovered in the State of Ohio and Other Western States.” His article had been prompted by a set of questions about the mounds sent to him from the president of the Philosophical and Literary Society of New York, DeWitt Clinton, who was working on a presentation he intended to give about the history of America’s mounds.2 Could Mr. Atwater provide information on the origins and construction of the mounds? His answer grew to more than a hundred pages.

As Atwater set about writing his report, he decided he needed to go beyond reporting the facts and offer a comprehensive theory for how these mounds came to be. Unfortunately, like Crèvecoeur before him, Atwater had trouble accurately and honestly crediting his sources. He had become extremely well-read on the subject and would have been familiar, either firsthand or secondhand, with the burgeoning literature speculating on the origins of the mounds, and he felt little compunction about appropriating this literature and passing it along to his readers as though he alone had deduced the true history of the mounds. They were the work of Hindus from India.

From Thomas Jefferson’s Notes on the State of Virginia, Atwater would have known that Mound Builder questions prior to 1783 were limited addressing to what kind of Native burial mound the constructions represented, not whether they were the work of Native Americans. That question, insofar as it was asked in any serious way, was limited to the type of speculation Jefferson had offered in Notes—namely whether the ancestors of the Native Americans were European or Asian. Jefferson’s speculations on the origins of the Native Americans, who he had proven to his own satisfaction were the Mound Builders, were, like his archaeological excavation, more than a century ahead of his time. He recognized that the Native Americans spoke a bewildering array of languages, implying they had been in the Americas for countless centuries, the time needed to diversify into so many tongues, and he recognized that the Native Americans were quite closely related to the people of easternmost Siberia.

Many educated Americans, however, followed the scientific racism of the world-renowned naturalist Georges-Louis Leclerc, Comte de Buffon. Buffon wrote in his monumental thirty-six-volume Histoire naturelle (1749–88) that Native Americans were physically degenerate because of America’s cold and wet climate. They were weak, lazy, and mentally deficient, and their men had abnormally small penises. He also felt that America’s wildlife had degenerated from that of Eurasia since America had no large mammals like Europe’s auroch or India’s elephant. Followers of Buffon in Europe took his thesis still further, claiming that white settlers immediately began degenerating upon reaching the American continent. Of course, even the most sympathetic Americans ignored this part of the theory, but Jefferson and his friend Charles Thomson disagreed vehemently with Buffon. Thomson published a rebuttal in the Columbian Magazine in 1788, and Jefferson—who, while minister to France, had dined with Buffon and argued the point with him in person—sent the count a stuffed seven-foot-tall bull moose to prove that America had large animals. Jefferson understood the dangers of the degeneracy theory. Who in Europe would take America seriously as a political force or trade partner if they thought it a backward land of inferiors? Who would immigrate to a degenerate land? This was why Jefferson devoted a lengthy section of his Notes to refuting Buffon point by point.3

Buffon eventually conceded the point after receiving the moose and agreed that America was not as markedly inferior as he had thought. However, the idea of degeneracy excited the thoughts of those like Atwater who wished to see the Native Americans as degenerate Jews or the faded remnants of a lost race of Mound Builders. These American thinkers would abandon Buffon’s theoretical scaffolding, rejecting the idea that America was an inherently degenerative environment, but they retained the core idea that a people could, in time, degenerate from high culture to barbarism—or worse, from Caucasian to a darker-skinned race.

Back in Ohio twenty years before Atwater arrived there, these arguments had not yet reached the Rev. Manasseh Cutler, who took an innovative approach to understanding the mounds he viewed in Marietta, Ohio. The ancient trees growing atop them were being felled, and Cutler counted their rings to determine the mounds’ age. One tree had 463 rings, and still other trees grew within the rotting stumps of earlier trees. Cutler concluded that the mounds had to be at least one thousand years old.4 Perhaps degenerate Jews had built them after all. That was one idea entertained by Benjamin Smith Barton, the onetime correspondent of Jonathan Heart. Barton had earlier variously attributed the mounds to the Toltecs of Mexico or even the Danes, but as the eighteenth century drew to a close, he changed his mind and attributed them instead to a lost white race. In his 1797 New View of the Origins of the Tribes and Nations of America, he wrote: “The Cheerake tell us, that when they first arrived in the country which they inhabit, they found it possessed by certain ‘moon-eyed-people,’ who could not see in the day-time. These wretches they expelled. . . . Possibly, the moon-eyed people driven away by the Cheerake, were the ancestors of the Albinos who inhabited the Isthmus of Darien.”5

Barton did not claim that these people were actual Caucasians, merely that they were albinos. (We now know that the skin color of Panama’s Darien people is a recent genetic mutation.) But others were not so careful. In 1823 John Haywood claimed that Cherokees told him of a previous race of “white people” who had forts throughout the southern United States before the Natives drove them out of the country.6 The Cherokees, he said, claimed credit for the fabulous mounds of Ohio but not for those of the southeastern United States. Those, they said, they had found in place upon their arrival, the work of the white people. Haywood believed that the “white people” brought the use of fortifications from the Old World sometime after 600 BCE, probably after the reign of the three sons of Constantine beginning in 337 CE. He claimed that a Roman coin of this era had been found in America. (Such coins, occasionally found, were likely brought by colonial settlers or in ships’ ballasts.) Further evidence, he said, could be found in the fact that ivory had been unearthed in some mounds—evidence of trade with Africa or Asia, home of the elephant, the source of ivory.7 Still more evidence could be found in the legends of the Chickasaws, whose origin myth told of “white people toward the sun-rising.”8

Atwater knew that while the Americans were by fits and starts fabricating a myth of ancient white civilization in the United States, scholars in Great Britain were on a parallel track, seeking the origins of what they called Aryan civilization in India. As the American colonies slipped from Great Britain’s grasp, the Crown turned toward new lands—especially India—to rebuild the British Empire, and the men it sent to conquer and govern the extraordinarily vast subcontinent quickly became obsessed with India and its history. The linguist Sir William Jones—who was said to have spoken forty-one languages—arrived in Calcutta in 1783 and immediate found himself entranced. The next year he founded the Asiatic Society and began a decade-long project of studying every aspect of Indian history, demography, and culture.

Europeans had noted for centuries similarities between the languages of India and those of ancient Europe, but in 1786 Jones delivered a series of influential lectures about the impressive similarities between Greek and Latin in Europe and Sanskrit in India. Though a French scholar had done much the same work two decades earlier, it was Jones who popularized the idea. But in his enthusiasm, Jones oversold Sanskrit. It was, he said, “more perfect than Greek, more copious than the Latin, and more exquisitely refined than either.” Jones thought that meant that it must be the most recent of the trio, since ancestral languages must necessarily be primitive; but this was not how the public saw it. Sanskrit was heralded as the “elder sister” of Greek and Latin, especially after the quick publication of the masterpieces of Sanskrit literature, including the Mahabharata. Jones also proposed that such a magnificent language had arrived in India because a white race, the Aryans, invaded in prehistory, bringing their superior language and blood to the dark-skinned peoples of India. Thus, the Indians appeared as dark-skinned Caucasians due to the degeneracy of an all-conquering white race. Jones would find himself cited in Atwater’s report as providing proof of the Hindu origin of the Mound Builders. Atwater felt it an amazing coincidence that Jones had discussed the importance of murex shells to both India and the Mound Builders, and he also used Jones, unwittingly, to support the notion that a clay vessel found in an Ohio mound represented the three main Hindu gods (Brahma, Vishnu, and Shiva) because the vessel depicted three faces that Atwater thought looked Asian.

Within a few years, British writers were producing all manner of historical and pseudo-historical works imagining ancient Indian origins for all manner of European cultural practices and celebrating the “profound antiquity” of the new land that had replaced America as the largest jewel in the British Crown. Thomas Maurice’s seven-volume Indian Antiquities (1793–1800), for example, suggested that elements of Greek mythology were mere memories of long-ago contact with ancient India. Maurice did not believe India to be the origin of civilization, but others he knew proffered “romantic ideas . . . of the unfathomable antiquity of the Hindoos, and of the Ark of Noah resting upon the Indian Caucasus [the Hindu Kush].”9 Some began speculating that the human race could trace its origins back to God’s creation in or near the Indus or the Ganges, where the Garden of Eden must once have stood—for did not Flavius Josephus, St. Ambrose, and St. Jerome write that the Ganges was the Phison, one of the four rivers that flowed through Eden?

Back in the United States, Americans continued to bristle at the ongoing outrages that Great Britain imposed upon the country, including the garrisons it maintained in the West, its impressment of American citizens into involuntary servitude in the Royal Navy, and restrictions on foreign trade imposed as a result of the Napoleonic Wars in Europe. Worse, Britain was fomenting insurrection by supporting Native American uprisings against the U.S. government. If Britain wished to interfere with the Natives, America’s subject peoples, then America would not long allow Britain to exercise dominion over the history of India. America too would stake a claim to a glorious and ancient Hindu history through America’s mounds, and Caleb Atwater would use the British scholars’ theories to build his own.

In the years leading up to the War of 1812, at the time that Atwater was busy failing as a businessman, a young soldier and physician named James H. McCulloh began an essay that would become the book Researches on America, in which he sought to answer questions about the origin of the Native Americans, whom he called the “aborigines.” This was not entirely idle speculation relevant only to a scholarly recluse but spoke to issues at the heart of the national interest. As McCulloh knew, in Ohio the Shawnee prophet Tenskwatawa had experienced religious visions that told him that the white Americans were children of the devil, and Tenskwatawa disclaimed any biological relationship between Natives and Euro-Americans. He established a settlement called Tippecanoe among the Native community (Prophetstown to white Americans), in which as many as three thousand Natives from many tribes came together in a religious revival and a political confederation against white settlers. They heard from Tenskwatawa that the apocalypse was nigh and supernatural powers would expel whites from Ohio and then the world. The prophet sought out and tortured people suspected of being Christian.

The confluence of a large, apocalyptic, and politically radical Native community disturbed the American forces in the region, who feared the group would retard efforts to seize Native lands. In 1806 the territorial governor and future U.S. president William Henry Harrison denounced Tenskwatawa as a fraud, but the prophet accurately predicted a solar eclipse and in so doing dramatically refuted the charge among his awed compatriots. Harrison would not forget the way Tenskwatawa humiliated him. Tenskwatawa turned to his brother Tecumseh to lead a pan-Indian confederation in a war against white Americans, seeking to push them out of Ohio. Tecumseh, who had often denounced America’s land grab at Native expense, had still grander plans and traveled throughout the Great Lakes region to win allies to the cause, envisioning a confederation stretching from the Mississippi to the Iroquois Confederacy of New York, large enough to rival the United States itself. At the 1811 Battle of Tippecanoe, over the course of two hours Harrison surrounded Prophetstown with a thousand men, killed most of the five hundred attacking Natives, and burned the town to the ground. When a major earthquake hit on December 16, the Natives felt they had received a sign that the predicted apocalypse had begun. Tecumseh and Tenskwatawa rebuilt Prophetstown and immediately launched new assaults on U.S. forces and white settlers.

Most Americans believed that the British were secretly supporting the Natives to weaken America, and American assaults on Native tribes had the effect of driving them into the arms of the British in an anti-American alliance. The outcome of Tecumseh’s War was the spark that ignited a powder keg of American hostility and caused the War of 1812 just six months after the Battle of Tippecanoe. Tecumseh and Tenskwatawa joined forces with the British to repel American advances on Canada as the war raged, and the effort needed to suppress Tecumseh prevented the United States from successfully invading British-controlled Canada. But Tecumseh was killed after the British abandoned him and his followers in the Battle of the Thames, an assault by three thousand U.S. cavalry and infantry troops in southwestern Ontario. Prophetstown was destroyed again by the end of 1812.

Far to the south, the situation was very different for another future U.S. president, Col. Andrew Jackson. The same earthquake that the northern tribes had taken for fulfillment of prophecy inspired the Red Stick faction of the Upper Creeks to join with the British in pushing back against American attempts to encroach on Native land. The Red Sticks, like the Shawnees, were outraged by American efforts to take Native land, especially the efforts of U.S. Indian Agent Benjamin Hawkins to encourage the Creeks to adopt American civilization, especially farming, and abandon their traditional culture. This was a decades-old policy and one that Thomas Jefferson had explained in a letter to Jackson and another to William Henry Harrison in February 1803. Jefferson believed that Native Americans, if induced to farm, would sell their forests to finance agriculture. Violent conflict or forced removal, Jefferson said, was only a last resort—though it was one he would use in Georgia to expel the Cherokees.

Jefferson had written to Harrison that trade and assimilation were the first order of business:

To promote this disposition to exchange lands, which they have to spare and we want, for necessaries, which we have to spare and they want, we shall push our trading uses, and be glad to see the good and influential individuals among them run in debt, because we observe that when these debts get beyond what the individuals can pay, they become willing to lop them off by a cession of lands. . . . In this way our settlements will gradually circumscribe and approach the Indians, and they will in time either incorporate with us as citizens of the United States, or remove beyond the Mississippi. The former is certainly the termination of their history most happy for themselves; but, in the whole course of this, it is essential to cultivate their love. As to their fear, we presume that our strength and their weakness is now so visible that they must see we have only to shut our hand to crush them, and that all our liberalities to them proceed from motives of pure humanity only. Should any tribe be foolhardy enough to take up the hatchet at any time, the seizing the whole country of that tribe, and driving them across the Mississippi, as the only condition of peace, would be an example to others, and a furtherance of our final consolidation.10

Ten days earlier, to Jackson, Jefferson had taken a less forceful tone:

When they shall cultivate small spots of earth, and see how useless their extensive forests are, they will sell, from time to time, to help out their personal labor in stocking their farms, and procuring clothes and comforts from our trading houses. . . . I am myself alive to the obtaining lands from the Indians by all honest and peaceable means, and I believe that the honest and peaceable means adopted by us will obtain them as fast as the expansion of our settlements, with due regard to compactness, will require.11

Jackson and Jefferson had known each other years earlier; Jefferson was vice president during Jackson’s brief first term as a U.S. senator. Though cordial with Jackson in public, Jefferson found Jackson’s passionate, vehement style distasteful. As president, Jefferson likely had no desire to incite Jackson’s passion with thoughts of war.

Just months before Tecumseh’s death in 1813, his visit to the Creeks set off a civil war among Creeks who wanted to accommodate the Americans and those—known as Red Sticks—who wanted to revitalize Native culture. Jackson joined with the Lower Creeks and the neighboring Cherokees to defeat the Red Sticks and their British supporters. He then forced the defeated Upper Creeks, along with his allies, the Lower Creeks, into a treaty in 1814 that ceded twenty-three million to the United States acres, amounting to half the territory of the state of Alabama and a quarter of Georgia. To Jackson, Creeks were Creeks, and his allies and enemies alike would suffer. It was here that Jackson began to formulate the idea that the wars against the Natives would only end if the Natives could be forced out of the eastern United States. Jefferson’s idea of a peaceful and voluntary transfer of lands would no longer do. “Driving them across the Mississippi,” as Jefferson had foreseen, would for Jackson by necessity become the “only condition of peace.”

As Jackson and the militia he headed pressed from Tennessee through Alabama, Jackson would have passed numerous mounds, which were scattered across the country in profusion. These mounds would have been similar to those he would have encountered frequently back home in the Cumberland Valley and around Nashville, where he had his plantation, the Hermitage. Three large mounds stood along the Cumberland River just east of Nashville, and another large mound stood to the west at a sulfur spring. Still others stood at Stones River and Browns Creek. He also would have heard (probably more than once) about the excavation his father-in-law, John Donelson, had conducted at Mound Bottom in Cheatham County. Jackson even went so far as to collect relics dug up from the mounds (many given to him by his father-in-law) in a cabinet of curiosities at the Hermitage. In fact, the Hermitage lay along the most important route from Washington to New Orleans in the early nineteenth century, a route that on its last leg to New Orleans passed directly beside Emerald Mound in Mississippi, the third largest mound in the United States. Much later, as president, Jackson would tell Congress that these mounds were the work of a lost civilization and thus that the Native Americans he had fought with and against across Alabama were late interlopers with no right to the land. They were squatters who deserved to be expelled.

The outbreak of war prevented McCulloh from satisfactorily researching his book since he was called up to serve, and he felt the first published version was hasty and contained many omissions and errors. Updated editions of his book appeared after the war’s conclusion, in 1817 and 1829, under different titles. McCulloh was familiar with the work of the Asiatic Society and Sir William Jones, and he thought that the revelations about the unfathomable antiquity of India could provide a powerful solution to the burgeoning question of the origin of America’s Native peoples and the strange mounds so frequently discussed in the nation’s magazines and journals over the preceding twenty years. Certainly at some level McCulloh’s views about America’s antiquities were shaped in part by the desire to deprive legitimacy from what American soldiers saw as hostile and barbarous Native Americans.

For McCulloh, the ancestors of the nineteenth-century Native Americans came from Mexico and built the mounds in the remote past. Second, these ancient peoples had originally crossed the Bering Strait from Asia. Since it was unknown how long ago that had taken place, or how old India was, many concluded that if ancient India was of unfathomable antiquity, then the Asians who walked from Siberia to America must have originated in India’s most antique kingdom. Support for this conclusion, McCulloh said, could be found in the fact that the Greeks spoke of Atlantis, the sunken island, while the Hindus of India spoke of Atala, a region destroyed by an earthquake. (He misunderstood; it was actually a region of the netherworld, not a part of Earth at all.) Buffon had long ago asserted that this was the land now represented only by the Azores, once Atlantis’s highest mountains. Further, an analogue to Atlantis also existed in the Pacific, represented only by the highpoints of an imagined sunken continent, the Pacific islands. Again, Hindu evidence sealed the argument, for Hindu myths related that great earthquakes destroyed a number of now-lost lands.

The ancient people, who shared their culture with the Hindus and other ancient peoples, were trapped in America by the sinking of Atlantis and its Pacific counterpart. And so they sat down and built mounds in the north and great pyramids in Mexico in the south. Were not the Mexican pyramids merely the most developed stage of mound-building that had begun in America? The proof, McCulloh said, could be found in an article by William Jones that reported that the Native Americans’ languages were suspiciously similar to those of the Pacific Islanders, whose tongues, in turn, were clearly dialects of Sanskrit. Thus, India was the source of the first Americans. But those first American were not dark-skinned people. McCulloh seized upon the scattered reports of a pre–Native American white race in the Americas, along with legends of white-skinned gods in Mexico and Peru.12 With these he reached a startling conclusion:

From these traditions, and from the testimony of three South American nations, who ascribe their civilization and religion to three white men . . . it appears very reasonable to believe, that a race of white men, imperfectly civilized, were the centre from whence the civilization, observable in America, has emanated;—and to this population must we refer the pyramids and fortifications of the Western country. . . . A cruel and bloody war appears to have taken place between the rude and barbarous natives, perhaps under some Attilla or Genseric, and their more refined and civilized neighbours, which ended nearly in the total destruction of the latter. The few that survived this catastrophe, fled their country, and sought happier and more peaceful climes. The Toltecas and Mexicans, copper coloured people . . . appear to owe the knowledge and refinement they possessed to these aboriginal whites.13

The breadth of this conceit was stunning, yet its synthesis flowed logically from the groundwork laid decades before and the hostile attitudes toward Native peoples engendered by Tecumseh’s War in the west. From scattered claims of an albino or white race, McCulloh had constructed an entirely new prehistory for America, stretching from the foundations of most ancient India through a great race war, whereby these ancient white people were destroyed and their superior culture hijacked by swarthy people. These aborigines were, by implication, decidedly inferior to the whites, and thus their descendants, the Native Americans of the early nineteenth century, were the degenerate offspring of an ancient white civilization.

McCulloh devoted two hundred pages to demonstrating that this story had deeply scientific roots, proceeding with terrible logic from scientific premises to clear conclusions using logic and reasoning rooted in the work of the best minds of science, ethnography, and history. But though McCulloh appealed to the values of the Enlightenment, his history instead told a deeply Romantic story, part and parcel of the same impulse toward the fantastic that in Europe yielded the morbid strain of the Gothic.

But Researches on America was not quite a best-seller, largely because later readers found its style somewhat off-putting, without the felicitous sagacity of Jefferson’s Notes or the floridness of Victorians to come. Much more popular, widely read, and influential would be Atwater’s own “Description of the Antiquities Discovered in the State of Ohio and Other Western States,” published in 1820. As Atwater began writing, he felt he needed to explain where the mounds had come from, not just what they looked like. He would have immediately dismissed the most widely read and influential—but least interesting—works on the mounds. The former president of William and Mary College, the bishop James Madison, concluded in his essay “The Supposed Fortifications of the Western Country” in the Transactions of the American Philosophical Society in 1803 that Native Americans had built the mounds. In 1805 the Rev. Thaddeus M. Harris disagreed. In his Journal of a Tour into the Territory of the Northwest of the Alleghany Mountains, he recounted his visit to Ohio earthworks around Marietta and argued that they were too complex and ingenious to be the work of Native Americans and that they had therefore been built by a lost race who moved to Mexico and became the Toltecs. Neither argument was new, but they became associated thereafter with these two clergymen’s names. Atwater would disagree with Harris’s Toltec conclusion, not in principle but only because he thought the Toltecs were really Hindus.

Atwater was probably not aware of McCulloh’s work, but he did know of another writer with remarkably similar views, and one who seemed to support the same position. Atwater turned to the work of John D. Clifford, founder of Lexington’s Episcopal Church, and Constantine Samuel Rafinesque, a self-educated professor of botany at Transylvania University, working across the Ohio River in Lexington, Kentucky. Just months earlier, Clifford had published a series of eight widely read and highly regarded letters in the Western Review and Miscellaneous Magazine, a publication funded primarily by Clifford himself, reporting the pair’s investigation of Lexington’s mounds and speculating on their origin. Clifford, like McCulloh, had concluded that the Hindus were responsible for their construction. This, he felt, was proved largely by the comparative mythology of India and the Native Americans, especially of Mexico, whose myths were largely similar. Clifford also noted that these myth cycles bore a similarity to the Mosaic account of the Bible, but he never drew the conclusion that the Mound Builders were Jews, for, so far as he knew, the Mosaic history was no religion but plain fact. The idolaters of India and America merely reacted to the same history preserved more perfectly in Genesis.

This was the answer Atwater needed, and it was the one he adopted in his “Description of the Antiquities Discovered in the State of Ohio and Other Western States.” In the third section of his report to the American Antiquarian Society, he categorized the mounds as the work of “a people far more civilized than our Indians, but far less so than Europeans.”14 The mounds had been built by a people whose works were distinct from those of the Native Americans of the time and from those of early European explorers. He considered them kin to the mounds of Europe and Asia, the tumuli and temple platforms of other cultures and peoples, but he also had the unique point of view that at least some earthworks were enclosures for sport and amusement. The perfection of their design surprised him, especially as they seemed in places to reflect knowledge of the heavens, something he could not credit Native Americans with ever possessing since he felt that they always had been ignorant of astronomy: “Having learned something of astronomy, what nation, living as our Indians have, in open air, with heavenly bodies in full view, could have forgotten such knowledge?”15 The European Dark Ages had slipped his memory.

Taking Genesis as literal truth, Clifford posited that after the Tower of Babel fell, remnants of humanity, remembering the concept, built “high places” around the world, including the pyramids of Egypt and the mounds of America. Tumuli-building people from the Indus and Ganges river valleys came to America, probably in the era of Abraham and Lot, and instituted the building of mounds. This was proved, Atwater said, by the charred bones of men and women found within, that could only be due to the Hindu custom of suttee, in which a wife immolates herself on her husband’s funeral pyre. His other evidence reduced to a litany of similarities of pottery, mythology, and sociology between Hindu practice and what he reconstructed from artifacts found in the mounds, along with claims that skeletons found in the mounds were too short and too close to Caucasian measurements to be Native bones. He denied—against all evidence—that “our present race of Indians ever buried their dead in mounds.”16 Literary accounts, like those of the Spanish, did not count, he said, because “the red man” enjoyed playing jokes on ignorant travelers.

Finally, this lost race of Hindus left the region under pressure from the Native Americans, traveling south, where they developed their mound-building art to its highest degree when building the pyramids of Mexico and South America. This, Atwater concluded, was deeply satisfying because such a theory demonstrated the truth of the Mosaic account of creation and filled an important gap in history by tying the builders of the mounds to the very creation of the world, in 4004 BCE, the date the learned bishop James Ussher had calculated in the 1650s using biblical and secular histories. “The discoveries of the Antiquarian throw a strong and steady light upon the scriptures, while the scriptures afford to the Antiquarian the means of elucidating many subjects otherwise difficult to be explained, and serve as an important guide in the prosecution of his investigations.”17 This line would later be seen as foreshadowing events in upstate New York that would soon use the mounds to birth a new religion.

Atwater was exceedingly proud of his report to the American Antiquarian Society, but C. S. Rafinesque had begun to develop doubts about the theory that Atwater and Rafinesque’s friend Clifford had developed. Rafinesque had been born in Turkey to a French father and German mother and had spent his youth in both America and Europe, where unlike Atwater he had made a fortune in business. He never attended university but nonetheless developed a formidable scientific mind. In 1815, when his son died, he set out for New York City and survived a shipwreck that unfortunately claimed all his books. He took up his post at the Transylvania University and, for better or worse, would find the rest of his life entangled with the myth of the Mound Builders. He would eventually be responsible for an astonishing Mound Builder hoax, but for a time he was a respected scientist working on a very serious question.

Rafinesque would come to believe that Native Americans had built the mounds, and he would later argue that any pretended Hindu connection stemmed from the fact that the Native Americans had migrated from Asia ages upon ages before. However, he did not wish to discredit his best friend Clifford and never formally renounced the Hindu connection. In 1820, however, Rafinesque was personally aggrieved that Atwater had not properly credited him and Clifford for theories appearing—and earning praise—under Atwater’s name. Rafinesque noticed material from around half a dozen other writers included without credit in Atwater’s report. Rafinesque published a mildly critical review of Atwater’s work anonymously in Clifford’s Western Magazine, accusing Atwater of being less than original and uninspired as a writer. He also noted several grammatical errors. Atwater quickly took offense and flew into a great rage, lashing out at “that Italian,” whom he dubbed “a pretended professor . . . the worst of imposters, in literature and science, now living in the world.”18 Atwater immediately launched a covert campaign to discredit his rival. As postmaster, Atwater had access to free postage and used it to his advantage, spreading malicious stories of Rafinesque across the country in letters filled with violent oratory and bitter rage. He sent letters to Benjamin Silliman at the two-year-old American Journal of Science in New Haven, Connecticut, and Isaiah Thomas at the American Antiquarian Society in Worcester, Massachusetts. As a result, Rafinesque was banned from the journal, and the American Antiquarian Society politely filed Rafinesque’s submissions in their archives at their newly completed library building without publishing them. Atwater even sent a bilious letter to Rafinesque’s superior, the president of Transylvania University, Horace Holley. Holley, however, asked Atwater to provide evidence in support of Atwater’s vicious attack, but none was forthcoming, and Rafinesque’s position at the university remained secure. By some accounts, Atwater was responsible for poisoning Rafinesque’s reputation in the scientific community for fifty years.19

Atwater lived for another half-century, and over that time he performed many good deeds, including a push in the legislature for public education, leading directly to the system of universal schooling that developed in Ohio. He advocated for public works, and he produced a well-regarded history of the state of Ohio. Ironically, the man who had in youth engaged in such a vicious campaign against Rafinesque would be remembered as a compassionate, gentle soul. A decade after his 1867 death it was written: “He was unselfish; labored for the benefit of others—the masses and his neighbors—and exhibited but little desire for pecuniary gain or personal advancement. His character commanded the respect, and his talents and his employment of them, the admiration, of all who, personally or by reputation, had knowledge of his life and services.”20 When this was written, Rafinesque had been dead forty years.


4

Antiquarianism and Entertainment

The mounds of the eastern United States were most numerous in the frontier territories of Ohio, the Mississippi Valley, and parts of the Deep South, but mounds could be found in an arc stretching through upstate New York. The mounds of the Finger Lakes were not impressive compared to their Mississippi cousins, but history would make them among the most important in the creation of the Mound Builder myth. On December 6, 1811, the mayor of New York City, DeWitt Clinton, came before the New-York Historical Society, which he had helped organize seven years before, to deliver a speech on the origin of New York’s mounds, which he had personally inspected. “Mr. President and Gentlemen of the Historical Society,” he began. “There is a strong propensity in the human mind to trace up our ancestry to as high and as remote a source as possible; and if our pride and our ambition cannot be gratified by a real statement of facts, fable is substituted for truth, and the imagination is taxed to supply the deficiency. This principle of our nature, although liable to great perversion and frequently the source of well-founded ridicule, may, if rightly directed, become the parent of great actions.”1

After providing an extensive summary of the Native peoples of the eastern United States, including the Shawnee prophecy that one day the Natives would expel the whites from America, Clinton (who lamented Euro-American devastation of Native populations) told the assembled dignitaries that his investigations had led him to a single conclusion, that the mounds were fortifications built by a lost race. This he argued despite the fact that he had himself noted legends from the Seneca tribe that the mounds of New York were the work of the Senecas’ own ancestors. The Senecas, he said, were liars who wanted, in their vanity, to take credit for the mounds because white people became interested in them. Clinton told the historical society that this lost race—presumably white—had come from the Arctic in the vicinity of northern Asia and had been displaced by a horde of later barbarians, the Native Americans. Clinton’s remarks were published as a small book and placed on sale at a store across the street from Trinity Church in lower Manhattan.

In 1812 Clinton narrowly lost the presidential election to James Madison, and sometime after this he began communicating with Caleb Atwater about the mounds of Ohio in order to gather information for a new paper. Atwater’s response to Clinton would form the nucleus for Atwater’s “Description of the Antiquities.” On October 17, 1817, Clinton, by this time governor of New York, read his own paper before the Literary and Philosophical Society of New York, of which he was president, amplifying and expanding his views, and in 1818 he published in Albany the same: the very brief Memoir on the Antiquities of the Western Parts of the State of New-York. In this paper, Clinton emphasized that the Natives knew nothing of the history of the mounds—having previously discounted any such testimony as lies—and argued that the mounds were military fortifications and evidence of a decidedly large population, fed by agriculture, superior to any Native civilization. Their closest analogs were the mounds built by the Britons and the Danish. Clinton attributed all of these mounds to the descendants of a single culture, the Scythians—an ancient race to which Pliny the Elder had attributed to all the northern peoples of Scandinavia and northern Asia.2 These, Clinton claimed, were destroyed by Native Americans in a great race war that saw civilization fall to savagery, evidenced by burned bones and carbonized buildings found buried around the mounds. This, he thought, proved that the invading savages had burned the white race’s cities and consigned their dead to the pyre. He concluded with a précis of the lost race theory: “I am persuaded that enough has been said to demonstrate the existence of a vast population, settled in towns, defended by forts, cultivating agriculture, and more advanced in civilization than the nations which have inhabited the same countries since the European discovery.”3 The governor of the nation’s most populous state, a man who had come close to winning the presidency, believed wholeheartedly that towns of his state, including Auburn, Canandaigua, and Manlius, stood atop the vanquished cities of a forgotten white race.

Clinton’s presentations differed from most of the earlier discussion of the mounds in that they were presented in public to relatively large audiences. Up until the second decade of the nineteenth century, debate over the Mound Builders and the peopling of the New World was largely confined to a very narrow stratum of America’s intellectual elite. In the 1780s the entire number of people concerned about the mounds might have comfortably fit in the thousand-strong subscription list of the Columbian Magazine plus a few dozen explorers and missionaries. Clinton’s lectures, well-received and widely respected, were delivered to an audience that was broader than previous Mound Builder discussions, but this audience was still limited to the upper classes of Manhattan and Albany—the political elite. The intellectual argument among factions of the political elite in Washington, Boston, and New York was slow to make its way into working-class neighborhoods, frontier communities, and isolated farms where most of the country’s more than six million citizens (and more than a million slaves) lived in 1810. Such non-elite persons, especially women and nonwhites, had literacy rates significantly lower than the middle-aged eastern white men who made up elite magazine readership. In 1800 literacy was nearly universal among elite white males, but perhaps fewer than one in three working-class men, poor women, or minorities could read.4

This very gradually began to change as literacy grew in the early nineteenth century and increasing numbers of publications sprang up to cater to the growing number of readers, including newspapers, which for as little as a penny offered working-class readers access to information formerly restricted only to the wealthy elite. Among the most popular topics of discussion was literature, and in the years around 1820 the most popular literature included the historical novels of Walter Scott, whose Ivanhoe and other Waverley novels symbolized the Romantic infatuation with the deep past. Even some in Britain had fallen under the spell of ancient America. The poet Robert Southey resurrected the story of the Welsh prince Madoc in 1805 and turned it into an epic poem about the prince’s ostensible battles with the Aztec in ancient Mexico. This poem was more eagerly received in America than among the British.

To fill the pages of the papers, editors frequently repurposed the content of more expensive magazines, and this content included discussion of the controversy over the lost race of the Mound Builders, who were a Romantic American analogue to the medieval fantasies overtaking Britain. The Palmyra Register, a small paper in upstate New York, for example, reprinted articles on the Mound Builders from the more elite North American Review and the Western Gazetteer in 1816. Between 1810 and 1820, reports about the Mound Builders proliferated, attributing their works to everyone from the Native Americans to the Lost Tribes of Israel or to DeWitt Clinton’s Scythians. These reports were published frequently in some larger cities like Cincinnati, Boston, and Albany and hardly less frequently in small towns like Palmyra, the hometown of a then-eleven-year-old boy named Joseph Smith, who would become captivated by the mound story.

Of course, Caleb Atwater and C. S. Rafinesque attempted to ride the wave of the booming newspaper and magazine interest in the topic. Mound Builders did not escape the attention of Orville Luther Holley, publisher of the two-year-old American Monthly Magazine and Critical Review in New York City. The magazine, founded in 1817, had been a sometime outlet for DeWitt Clinton, and it employed the famous Professor Rafinesque as the editor of its natural history section, “Museum of Natural Sciences.” It is likely through Rafinesque that Caleb Atwater’s “Description of the Antiquities” came to the attention of Holley, and excerpts of the not-yet-published piece appeared in the April 1819 issue, framed with Atwater’s discussion of Clinton’s letter seeking information about the mounds. It is a fair bet that more people read Atwater’s views in the magazine—especially in the bound semiannual volume sold throughout the United States—than in the scientific journal where “Description” was published in 1820. Eventually, though, the text Rafinesque had shepherded into the American Monthly caused the falling out between the two men that would tarnish Rafinesque’s career. Their feud would not affect Rafinesque’s employment at the magazine, however. Atwater’s article appeared in its last issue before the American Monthly folded.

As Atwater’s stature continued to grow, and he was heralded for his archaeology and elevated to the state legislature, Rafinesque’s star began to dim. Rafinesque decided to cut ties with his other major outlet, the Western Review, and in 1821 started his own magazine, the Western Minerva, in Lexington.5 Atwater, however, would have none of it. Partially as a result of his secret scheming, Rafineseque’s printer suppressed the Western Minerva and destroyed the printed copies of its first and only issue, which survived in only a single copy. Rafinesque wrote to Thomas Jefferson to apologize for being unable to send him a promised copy of the new magazine.

I cannot send you the Western Minerva, although the first number is printed, because this Journal is not to be published at present. It has been condamned [sic] before its appearance (upon some proof sheets) by a new kind of Western Literary Inquisition and Censorship, and forbidden to be published, to which we have been compelled to assent for peace sake. C’est une cabale nouvelle del ignorance contre les lumieres. The principal motives stated in the verbal decree of this new Inquisition were, that the Journal was too learned, that it dared inculcate political and moral Wisdom, to surmise that the Sun does not stand still and has an orbit and that the Earth therefore performs a spiral course through Space, to teach Agricultural truths, to employ mystification against ignorance and folly &c., &c. You will perhaps hardly believe that this could happen in the U[nited] St[ates] but it is a fact, and although we had 2 or 300 Subscribers, we must suppress the work, and are even forbidden or rather prevented to publish the fact in the newspapers. If I can recover some proof-sheets, I will send them to you: they will be a literary Curiosity, and you will judge whether the decree was just, timely or even excusable.6

Rafinesque had grown unhappy in Lexington and exchanged several letters with Jefferson discussing ancient history and ancient peoples, all in service of a request to join the faculty of the newly founded University of Virginia as a professor of natural history. He begged Jefferson, offering up the now-deceased John Clifford’s collection of Native American and Mound Builder artifacts as inducement. Jefferson, aware at least secondhand of the rumors about Rafinesque, politely rejected the scholar.7

Rafinesque’s job prospects grew narrower, and he failed to attain several other academic positions. Nothing, it seemed, could get him out of Kentucky. At some point Rafinesque realized that Atwater and others had attained widespread fame writing about the mounds, so perhaps he too should turn from botany to what the public apparently wanted to read about more than seeds and leaves. Beginning in 1823, Rafinesque took a year off from making any public comments as he worked to reinvent himself as an archaeologist and ethno-linguist. But his reinvention came with a price. Rafinesque seems to have decided that if others could get away with proposing outlandish theories, appropriating others’ data, and generally ignoring the principles of scholarship, he would not be held too firmly to principles either.

On February 21, 1824, Rafinesque published in the Cincinnati Literary Gazette the first of series of articles on ancient civilizations of America. The editor of the Gazette warned that Rafinesque’s ideas “might not seem as substantial” to the general public—his readers—than they did to the self-satisfied Rafinesque, who absurdly claimed to have investigated 1,830 mounds, including 150 in Ohio alone. Rafinesque, however, used a slightly legalistic phrase, stating “[the mounds] are known to me,” leaving him room to claim that he had read reports of them, not that he had visited them in person. He reported with confidence an elaborate theory, outdoing Atwater, Clifford, and DeWitt Clinton at a stroke. There was no one lost race of Mound Builders. There were three, two white and one not:

The first and most ancient came to America from the East, and sprung from five ancient North-African nations, the Atlantes, Palis, Warbars, Darans and Corans, and five ancient European Nations of the same race: the Celts, Cantabrians, Cimbrians, Pelasgians and Tubalans. . . . The second race of men, came from Asia, by the West, the Malays or Hindoos have furnished but few nations to America; the great bulk sprung from the Tulans, Assians and Istakans of the Caucasus. . . . The third race sprung in Siberia.8

Their works could be distinguished by the shape of their mounds. The European Mound Builders built round mounds; the Hindus, angular mounds; and the Siberians, crude and useless mounds. All American peoples could trace their heritage to one of these three major groups.

In short, what Caleb Atwater had stumbled on in part, C. S. Rafinesque had uncovered in full. But even after four years, Rafinesque had not forgiven Atwater, whom he increasingly blamed for the disappointments in his scientific career. So, naturally, Rafinesque took a swipe at him in print:

He was too much bent upon a peculiar system, and surprised by a few magnificent remains, to enlarge by a liberal method the bounds of science, and enter into the details of all the seats of population by a connected view of the whole.—I was once in active Correspondence with him, but having often ventured to give him some advice, to show him that he had not exhausted the subject, and particularly how absurd it was to consider all our monuments as forts, how necessary it was to consult, acknowledge, or correct previous writers, &c. I had to regret that I gave offence, although nothing was further from my intention. He has never mentioned my name in his work, although he was at last compelled to acknowledge the truth of some of my hints, and contradict himself. Having since corrected some inaccuracies of his in a Review of his labours (very different from the fulsome account of the North American Review) I have incurred his displeasure, which has shown itself in a manner rather singular and unwarrantable.9

Undoubtedly, readers of the Cincinnati Literary Gazette, in which this was published, found the simmering feud between Atwater and Rafinesque much more entertaining than either man’s description of the mounds. Unfortunately, Rafinesque was asked to leave his post Transylvania University in 1825, and after this his claims about the ancient past became increasingly detached from truth.

To the broader public, the mounds were either unknown or unimportant. Most settlers pushing west considered them little more than a nuisance, even as late as the 1810s, and the settlers plowed under a good number wherever these mounds posed a problem for the expansion of farmland. In other places, they placed forts or houses atop mounds since they formed the only high ground in many regions. These were just some of the reasons men like Atwater and Rafinesque had worked so hard to visit and document the disappearing mounds. In 1809 a group of French Trappist monks had even founded a monastery atop one of Cahokia’s many mounds and used the largest mound in all America as an elevated garden for their produce. They left in 1813 but gave their name to Cahokia’s largest construction: Monks Mound. If any of these rough and ready pioneers stopped to contemplate what they had destroyed, their speculations never congealed into a general interest in their history or even a consistent legend.

Outside of the educated elite, stories of the mounds tended to revolve around the supernatural. Many mounds attracted legends of buried treasure, and stories were frequently told of ghosts or other supernatural guardians who prevented the treasure from being found. Many settlers rooted around in mounds looking for legendary treasures, but none was ever found. This did not stop stories from being passed around that someone, somewhere had found gold and jewels in certain mounds. What they really found, however, was rarely more than some arrowheads and disarticulated bones. In June 1806 an English traveler named Thomas Ashe came to Ohio to dig into a mound in the hopes of finding “a vault filled with the riches of antiquity, and crowded with the treasures of the most ancient world.”10 He judged himself immensely disappointed after finding nothing in a mound near Marietta but the remains of a burial—bones, stones, and woven mats. As noted earlier, many mounds today still bear the indentations of early settlers’ treasure hunts One of the more colorful local mound legends sprang up in rural Virginia in the late 1700s. It concerned a small mound, about two and half feet tall and twenty feet across, in Upshur County, now part of West Virginia. The county’s first settlers believed that if a stick were inserted into the mound standing upright and left there, unearthly screams would emanate from the mound from sunset until sunrise and that this would continue each night until the stick was removed. This legend saved the mound from being plowed under, as so many of its neighbors had been leveled. The story remained widely believed into the early 1800s and was still remembered, though only as a quaint bit of folklore, in the 1880s.11

It seems that most settlers had some story to tell about their hometown mounds, and this led a former clergyman in Ohio, Solomon Spalding, to decide to start composing a historical romance about the mounds in or around 1812. Spalding had seen the growth of the popular press, and, in a speech in 1801, he praised the way “beams of literature have spread, and knowledge has generally been diffused among the citizens.”12 In time he would decide that those “beams of literature” might turn into a shower of gold, for the right book. He was a man of great imagination and a passion for history, well educated in the classics and biblical history. Further, his life seems to parallel that of Caleb Atwater to an astonishing degree. He was born in Ashford, Connecticut, in 1761. He made good progress at school and afterward tried out a variety of careers. After serving in the Revolutionary War, Spalding studied at first for a career in law but found it not to his taste and turned instead to matters religious and received a master’s degree and ordination as a Congregationalist pastor upon his graduation from Dartmouth College.13 Around this time he likely came into contact with Ethan Smith, a divinity student at Dartmouth who was even then gathering material for a book, not published until 1823, proving that the Mound Builders were the Ten Lost Tribes of Israel. Alternately, it is possible that both Smith and Spalding became interested in the Lost Tribes theory from their professor of Oriental languages, John Smith, who investigated the origins of the Native Americans but attributed them to Asian migrants, specifically Scythians.14 The Lost Tribes theory, however, seized Spalding’s imagination, and he would maintain his belief in the Lost Tribes theory for the rest of his life.

Spalding preached for a few years before tiring of this occupation, likely because he had ceased believing in the fire and brimstone of Calvinism and possibly God altogether. He moved to Cherry Valley, New York, not far from Cooperstown, and a relatively short distance (in continental terms, if not by horse) from where Caleb Atwater would take up residence in Marcellus. Like Atwater, he turned to mercantile pursuits, and also like Atwater he failed miserably as a businessman, both in Cherry Valley and Richfield, New York. Years earlier than Atwater, Spalding had already decided that failing as a lawyer, minister, and businessman required that he move to Ohio. Therefore, he packed his things and set off in 1809 for New Salem (now Conneaut), on the southern shore of Lake Erie near the Pennsylvania border. He planned to build a forge with his business partner Henry Lake, to make some money, but his health declined and this business too failed.15 Spalding found himself in debt, unable to pay the large mortgage on the property he owned in town, totaling more than $2,000.

Still, Spalding greatly enjoyed living among the mounds and earthworks near his home. He was convinced that they were the work of a Lost Tribe of Israel, and the religious angle appealed to him as a former preacher. He carefully followed any news about the mounds, and he took a great interest in whatever bones or artifacts the curious had pulled from the earthworks in their treasure-hunting explorations. And in New Salem, there was plenty of news about the material coming out of a series of small burial mounds scattered across a four-acre burial ground and a pair of tree-covered semicircular earthworks near the town. These had been explored in 1800 by the owner of the land, Aaron Wright, who had pulled from the ground skulls and bones he said were so large that they were roughly twice the size of an ordinary eighteenth-century Euro-American skull. These bones were so large that Wright was able to wear the skull as a mask and cover his own jaw with that of the deceased giant. Unfortunately, like so many relics pulled from the mounds, these bones crumbled into dust after being disturbed.16 Nevertheless, local legend maintained that these were the remains of the race of giants from the book of Genesis—or at least their cousins or allies. The King James translation of “Nephilim,” or sons of the fallen angels, as “giants” in Genesis 6:4 would not and could not be questioned in small-town Ohio in 1800.17 Perhaps importantly, when Caleb Atwater collected information about the site in 1820, he was told instead that the bones were unusually small, not large. At any rate, whatever they were, they had long since been destroyed. Nevertheless, Spalding could not have been more gleeful to discover absolute proof of the historicity and veracity of Genesis, as God told it to King James.

On August 11, 1812, Spalding and his family were forced to flee into deep woods with the rest of the townsfolk and take refuge across Conneaut Creek among the mounds and earthworks when the townspeople thought the British had been sighted on Lake Erie heading for town. As the people hurried into the woods, they made such haste that, according to Henry Nettleton writing thirty years later, the men picked up the women and children and slung them over their shoulders to hasten their escape as they forded the river. Nettleton remembered one small man who had attempted to carry his portly wife, leading to a pratfall as the pair lost their balance on a slippery rock and fell into the water. The wife, Nettleton said, was so fat that she nearly drowned her husband beneath her bulk. The people were said to have spent a wet night cowering in the ruins of the circular earthworks on Fort Hill, on high ground occupying a bend in the creek. The next morning the residents of New Salem were relieved, and probably a bit embarrassed, to discover that the British fleet was actually a set of boats belonging to an American, one Captain Dobbins of Erie, Pennsylvania.

Around this time, Spalding developed a grand idea to tell the story of the prehistoric Mound Builders in the style of the Old Testament in the King James Bible. He had read Southey’s Madoc and felt he could do better. His historical sketch would be something of a novel, though, not a poem. His widow Matilda later maintained that Spalding had hoped only that the story would be of passing interest to his neighbors, whom Matilda recalled as gathering at the Spalding home at intervals to hear him read his developing tale.18 Spalding’s brother, however, remembered this a bit differently; he said Spalding was in debt and hoped to sell his novel and use the profits to pay what he owed.19 This is the more likely story. Since Spalding was unable to pay his mortgage, he had been forced to agree in 1811 to a public auction of some of the land in the futile hope of raising the cash to pay his debts. The War of 1812 had caused his metal forge to fail, and he had little hope of making any more money in Ohio. A novel centering on the controversial Mound Builders must have seemed like his last, best chance at gaining fortune and fame. He told Henry Lake that if Lake would only pay for printing, they would make a fortune on the book. But after the failure of the forge business, Lake had no money for such an extravagance. Aaron Wright, onetime mound investigator and longtime New Salem resident, was blunter: the only muse that inspired Spalding, he said, was “the love of money.”20

Spalding wrote the story as though deciphering and transcribing words from an ancient scroll found atop Fort Hill after a long time buried in the earth. From this fictional conceit, his neighbors would inquire of Mrs. Spalding how the reverend was coming along in “deciphering” his manuscript. When the Spalding had finished “deciphering” enough of it, he would hold a reading and share his fictitious discovery with his delighted neighbors, who much enjoyed the evening’s entertainment. They recalled that Spalding used the biblical phrase “it came to pass” so often in the book that they took to calling him “Old Come to Pass,” in jest.21 His brother John, however, must have grown a bit tired of hearing Solomon read the story, called “Manuscript Found.” Mrs. Spalding reported that John had heard the whole thing read through “repeatedly.” Even the most exciting novel gets tiresome after too much repetition, and the reverend was not a particularly gifted storyteller. John, however, later remembered only that his brother had shared several passages, not read the whole book to him. According to John Spalding,

It was an historical romance of the first settlers of America, endeavoring to show that the American Indians are the descendants of the Jews, or the lost tribes. It gave a detailed account of their journey from Jerusalem, by land and sea, till they arrived in America, under the command of NEPHI and LEHI. They afterwards had quarrels and contentions, and separated into two distinct nations, one of which he denominated Nephites and the other Lamanites. Cruel and bloody wars ensued, in which great multitudes were slain. They buried their dead in large heaps, which caused the mounds so common in this country. Their arts, sciences and civilization were brought into view, in order to account for all the curious antiquities, found in various parts of North and South America.22

John Spalding was speaking years after the fact, and it is possible that some of the more specific aspects of his story—such as Nephi and Lehi—misattribute elements of the Book of Mormon to the one Solomon Spalding story extant, a text called “Manuscript Story.” For the next two centuries an argument would ensue over whether “Manuscript Story” and “Manuscript Found” were the same work or different works.23 Nevertheless, the gist of the story, that it dealt with the settlement of America by the Lost Tribes, was well remembered by Solomon Spalding’s wife as well as his friends and neighbors from New Salem. Some have even suggested that “Nephi,” if it really did appear in “Manuscript Found,” was Spalding’s fabrication from the Hebrew “Nephilim” to describe the giants that Aaron Wright had dug up in the old Native American graves.24

The War of 1812 had taken its toll, however, and Spalding no longer felt safe near the shore of Lake Erie in an area the British could easily overrun. He and his wife moved farther inland, to Pittsburgh in 1812 and Amity, Pennsylvania, in 1814. This also had the not entirely coincidental effect of letting Spalding skip town just weeks before one of his creditors would file suit at the Jefferson County courthouse seeking $3,046.11 for Spalding’s unpaid mortgage, plus interest, money he would never collect. Spalding had borrowed money from his old business partner Lake for his move to Pittsburgh and promised to repay Lake from the profits from his Mound Builder epic. “But I never heard any more from him or his writings,” Lake would recall.25 Lake never received a dime from the impecunious Spalding.

In Pittsburgh, Spalding tried to put his plan into action, submitting “Manuscript Found” to Silas Engles of R. and J. Patterson, a publishing house. Engles was impressed enough with the manuscript to offer to print it, but he had two conditions. First, Spalding needed to make such revisions as Engles felt necessary to improve the work, and, second, Spalding needed to pay the printing costs. Spalding agreed and carried his manuscript with him to Amity, where he worked hard at revising the story and operated a tavern, where he read portions aloud to amuse customers. (He had deceived them into believing that he was writing the story solely for personal pleasure.)26 Wracked with pain from an illness that limited his mobility, Spalding worked to add scenes of warriors marked with red crosses on their brows and a set piece involving the Canaanites’ wars in Palestine, and he resubmitted his manuscript to the Patterson firm. But, as had been Spalding’s lifelong pattern, he lacked the money to pay for the printing. The manuscript would sit unpublished at the printers gathering dust until Spalding’s death in 1816. Spalding did, however, hear that his manuscript had gone missing from the printers for a few weeks. This seemed mysterious, and Spalding felt that it must have been taken by a print shop worker named Sidney Rigdon, age twenty, whom he suspected of copying his masterpiece. The Rev. John D. Winter would later testify that, in 1822 or 1823, Rigdon confessed to “borrowing” the manuscript and copying it “as a curiosity.”27 However, the truth of this claim has never been established.

Unfortunately, whatever the final form of Spalding’s “Manuscript Found,” it has not survived in the form the publisher would have used for printing. Instead, we have a sketchy outline for an abandoned early draft of the story that gives hints about the great Mound Builder epic Spalding composed and suggests implications.28 The extant novella, “Manuscript Story,” bears only a partial resemblance to the biblically inspired Mound Builder epic described by Spalding’s family and friends. There is, for example, no King James language, no Nephi or Lehi, and no “it came to pass.”29 The text is so obviously unfinished that it cannot have been the manuscript accepted for publication in Pittsburgh. Sentences are incomplete, portions have been scratched out, chapters sometimes trail off mid-thought, and the manuscript has no ending. It is nearly unreadable. But it does have Mound Builders, epic battles, and great carnage.

The story concerns not ancient Jews but rather Christianized Romans who, having been blown off course en route to Britain, find themselves in Ohio. There they encounter the Mound Builders, a fair-skinned people whose culture and philosophy Spalding describes in tedious detail. These Mound Builders are of a cultural level below that of the Romans but of greater material culture than “mere savages,” as he saw Native Americans. They have a highly developed religion and devote great energy to providing every town with large earthworks as fortifications in case of invasion. The most original detail Spalding provides is that the Mound Builders domesticated the wooly mammoth as their beast of burden. (The first woolly mammoth remains had been found in the early eighteenth century.) Two Mound Builder empires, the Sciotans and the Kentucks, go to war over a trivial dispute between their respective emperors, Rambock and Hambock. Riding wooly mammoths, the two empires do battle with uncountable multitudes of soldiers in a clear mirroring of the Iliad, magnified to fill the vastness of the American frontier but without the skill to render the events anything greater than a list of battles and reciprocal truces for the collection of the untold thousands of war dead. The Kentucks even at one point plan a slaughter of the Sciotans on terms similar to the Greeks’ slaughter of the Trojans from within that city’s walls, though without a Trojan Horse (or Sciotan Mammoth) to enliven the dull scene. The manuscript breaks off just before yet another great battle, but the intended ending has by this point become clear: The Mound Builders destroy one another, leaving behind nothing more than their mysterious earthworks.

Matilda Spalding tried and failed one final time, after Solomon Spalding died, to have “Manuscript Found” published. When this failed, she retrieved the manuscript, bundled it with “Manuscript Story,” and placed them in a hair-covered trunk. She took this trunk with her to her brother’s house in Onondaga Hill, New York, and then to Cooperstown upon her remarriage in 1820. In 1828 she and her husband left town, but Matilda left the trunk in the care of her cousin in Otsego County near Cooperstown. At some point, “Manuscript Found” vanished and was never seen again.30 “Manuscript Story” ended up in, of all places, Hawaii, where it would lie hidden until the end of the nineteenth century.31

No matter whether Solomon Spaulding had written one Mound Builder novel or two, his failed attempt at literary greatness was merely the first in an explosion of Mound Builder stories, as others made successful passes across publishers’ desks over the next two decades. New Hampshire poet Sarah J. Hale published a romantic poem in 1823 about Phoenician refugees who set sail for America to become the first Mound Builders, but this poem was only marginally more successful than “Manuscript Found.” After its poor reception, a planned sequel about the fall of the Mound Builders never materialized. Another poet, William Cullen Bryant, found himself contemplating death and brooded on the untold Mound Builder war dead entombed within America’s thousands of mounds. He wrote a pair of poems about the Mound Builders, including “The Prairies,” published in his 1832 Poems. This work described the “mighty mounds” as the work of “a disciplined and prosperous race” older than the Greeks but sadly lost.

The red man came—

The roaming hunter tribes, warlike and fierce,

And the mound-builders vanished from the earth.32

A great number of novels also made use of the Mound Builder theme, perhaps none more spectacularly than twenty-two-year-old Cornelius Matthews’s Atwater-inspired 1839 Behemoth: A Legend of the Mound-Builders, which parallels Spalding in placing the Mound Builders contemporary with wooly mammoths but differs in making the Mound Builders cower in fear at these terrifying mammals. Behemoth, one such monster, threatens the innumerable cities of the Mound Builders, prompting the residents to bind themselves by oath to the monster’s destruction. They fail to secure Behemoth’s extinction until one Mound Builder, Bokulla, kills the beast. Perry Miller, the twentieth-century literary critic, concludes that this novel of the Mound Builders directly influenced Herman Melville to write his own story of a gigantic monster and the men sworn to kill it, Moby-Dick. Several months before Cornelius Matthews’s book was published, Joseph H. Ingraham anonymously published “The Sacred Fire,” a short story in which an antiquarian descends into a mound and finds an immortal old man who relates the Mound Builders’ fate: they were destroyed by a supernatural force when the man, once a priest of the Mound Builders, doused the sacred fire atop the highest mound for love of an Incan princess during a war between the Mound Builders and the Incas. The narrator awakens, and the whole incident is suggested as a dream.

By the 1830s, speculation about the mounds and the Mound Builders, either as fiction or nonfiction, had become a widespread—indeed worldwide—craze. As such works proliferated from the pens of scholars and cranks, novelists and polemicists, there remained one territory not yet conquered: tying the Mound Builders into a religious system America could call her own.
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Mounds Fit for God

In 1834 Doctor Philastus Hurlbut—his parents, to the confusion of all, had named him “Doctor”—began to hear rumors that the marvelous Book of Mormon, the sacred text that only a year before he had pledged his life and soul to defend, was not just a fake and a fraud but an outright plagiarism of a story called “Manuscript Found,” by one Solomon Spalding. The twenty-five-year-old Hurlbut sensed that there was a mystery worth investigating, and he certainly had an axe to grind against the Mormons. The arrogant but charismatic Hurlbut had three years earlier been a Methodist preacher of some renown but found himself expelled from the church in 1831 after what was euphemistically called “unvirtuous conduct with a young lady.”1 Like many a sexually frustrated outcast before him, he moved on to a new church and began anew. He joined the Mormons in 1832 and was baptized in western New York in 1833. He traveled to Ohio, where he began to hear that some small-town villagers felt that the Book of Mormon bore an uncanny resemblance to the work they remembered Solomon Spalding reading aloud twenty years before. Some of these individuals were members of the Jackson family, the owners of some of the old Spalding land. Questions began to develop in Hurlbut’s mind. Could the Book of Mormon be a fraud?

He quickly rose in the ranks of the young Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints and ventured across Ohio and Pennsylvania in search of converts. To the horror of the Mormon leaders, it turned out that Hurlbut’s efforts at persuasion focused unduly on convincing young women to doff their petticoats, and he left in his wake a trail of seduced women and angry husbands and fathers. Later writers strongly implied that not all of these affairs were consensual, but there is no firm evidence of this.2 Instead he was reported to have used “vulgar” language in attempting to persuade various young women to join him in divinely sanctioned matrimony. His favorite pick-up line was telling women that he had had a “revelation” from God that they were meant to have sex with him.3 The Church stripped him of his ordination, but Hurlbut used his considerable charisma to get it restored, only to lose it again after another vulgar liaison was foiled in Thompson, Ohio.

After this, Hurlbut gave his services over to the burgeoning anti-Mormon forces gaining traction in Ohio, and his forceful personality and rhetorical strengths made him a formidable force opposing the Church. Hurlbut called together a committee of anti-Mormon citizens in Kirtland, Ohio, and laid out the suggestion that the Book of Mormon was nothing more than Solomon Spalding’s “Manuscript Found” stolen and rewritten by Sidney Rigdon, now a high-ranking Mormon official. The committee agreed that Hurlbut should travel to New Salem, Ohio, and to the widow Matilda’s home in Massachusetts to gather evidence. From Matilda, he obtained a letter of introduction allowing him to visit her old steamer trunk in Otsego County, New York, in search of “Manuscript Found”—on condition that he return the manuscript after he and the anti-Mormon committee had reviewed it. This he failed to fulfill, passing all the papers along to his publisher, Eber Dudley Howe, who was then writing an anti-Mormon book. Hurlbut was disappointed when he opened the trunk and found amid Spalding’s moldering papers only “Manuscript Story,” the abandoned draft about the Roman visit to Ohio, not the revised “Manuscript Found,” with its Biblical and Mormon overtones.4 At the end of his life, Hurlbut lamented that if only he had found the final text of “Manuscript Found” and could have proved it to be the original of the Book of Mormon, he could have sold it for $3,000—ironically, nearly the same amount as the debt Solomon Spalding had written his novel to pay off all those years before.

Despite the failure of Hurlbut’s quest, questions about the origins of the Book of Mormon and its strange connection to the Mound Builders swirled in the 1820s and 1830s, not least because of the extraordinary story its reputed translator offered as explanation.

And what a story it was. A young treasure hunter of eighteen named Joseph Smith Jr.—usually called Joe—told the astonished townsfolk of Palmyra, New York, that, just as Gabriel had brought to Muhammad the sacred Qur’an, the angel Moroni had visited him and revealed another new doctrine of Jehovah. This testament, he later claimed, explained the Old World origins of the Mound Builders and, more importantly, the works of Christ in America after his glorious resurrection. By most accounts, not many believed him at first.

Smith’s ancestors had been in America for six generations, and a good number of them had been involved in the Salem witch trials of 1692, including one whose wife was an accused witch and another who claimed to have experienced demonic activity at the hands of the accused witch Mary Etsy. Later writers would make much of the connection, but the witchcraft trials were more than a century in the past, and witchcraft had little to do with Smith’s life except as an illustration of the enduring prevalence of belief in folk magic in New England, a belief system Smith would inherit from his parents.

Smith was born in Sharon, Vermont, in 1805, not far from where Solomon Spalding’s cousin Ruben lived. During the years when Solomon was studying at Dartmouth, in the early 1780s, in Hanover, New Hampshire, he would occasionally visit Ruben in Sharon, about an hour’s ride from campus. While it is an interesting coincidence that Spalding, Ethan Smith, and the elder Joseph Smith were all geographically close in the 1780s, there is no evidence that Joseph Sr. ever crossed paths with Spalding.

Instead, around the time Spalding and Caleb Atwater were failing at business in upstate New York, Joseph Sr. found himself in his own failed business in Vermont, a shipping venture meant to export ginseng to China for use as a sex aid. He had sent a shipment of locally grown ginseng off to China, only to have the businessman who accompanied the shipment steal the profits, turning over to Smith only a chest of tea as payment and a sob story about how the trip had “failed.”5 Without the money from the China sale, Joseph Sr. could not keep afloat a debt-ridden store he had recently opened, and he was forced to sell his Vermont farm to pay off his $1,800 debt. Thus, just as Spalding fled to and then from Ohio to escape cascading debt, so too did Smith take his penniless family from one town to another. During these years, young Joseph Jr. caught typhoid fever and suffered terribly from the disease and the frightening surgical intervention meant to cure it: cutting open his leg to chip off pieces of the bone. The boy spent three years, from ages seven to ten, bedridden or on crutches and would forever after walk with a slight limp. When Joseph Jr. finally abandoned the crutches in 1816, it was time for the family to move to Palmyra, a town in western New York State that boasted many ancient mounds and was located quite near a set of mounds left by the Adena culture a thousand years before. As the Smiths moved west to Palmyra, DeWitt Clinton, the governor in Albany, was even then busily compiling the research for his 1817 paper on the region’s mounds.

In Palmyra, the elder Smith and his family practiced a form of Christian folk magic—like many of their neighbors and probably most people who were not part of the cosmopolitan elite in the big eastern cities—and the younger Smith was instructed in various magical arts, including the use of the dowsing rod and the “seer stone.” The elder Smith felt such magical methods could help locate buried treasure, and the younger Smith was as eager as his impecunious father to find such treasure, especially since newspaper reports repeatedly told of great treasures turning up in just such magically directed digs. Smith would take a seer stone (perhaps his chocolate-colored, egg-shaped stone or his favorite white one) and place it in a white stovepipe hat, and then he would place his face over the hat to gather mystical information from the surface of the stone. His father asked him to use the stone to help him and a group of men find money buried by “the ancients” at various locations in western New York and northern Pennsylvania.6 Since Euro-American settlement in the Palmyra area was but twenty-five years old, and the Native Americans were considered primitive “savages,” any reference to the “ancients” and their treasure necessarily presupposed a belief in either Spanish adventurers in the region or a lost Mound Builder race. Supposedly the elder Smith and his friends would from time to time find iron “boxes” in the ground, but these were said to vanish into the earth before they could be opened, and all sorts of supernatural events prevented them from achieving the treasure: strange lights, the appearance of a nine-foot giant, and so on. Such events could not be anything other than a local version of the widespread myth that the Mound Builders had filled their mounds with golden treasure guarded by ghosts or demons, a tale as old as Hernando De Soto and current across the United States among the less-educated classes. Palmyra was set in Mound Builder country, the uppermost point of the great arc of mounds and pyramids that stretched from there down the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers to Mexico. The local newspapers, the Palmyra Register and the Palmyra Herald, and others in the region had published many articles on the Mound Builder controversy, indicating local interest.

At age twelve Joseph Smith Jr. had begun expressing a desire to delve more deeply into religion, and at the age of fourteen he retreated to the woods near Manchester, New York, to pray about which denomination to join. There he had a vision in which he saw God. Although this vision became an article of faith for the Mormons, it is known only from later writings by Smith and others, none earlier than a decade after the fact. The details vary, but the earliest account has a supernatural being tell Smith that he forgives Smith’s sins, while later accounts depict both God and Jesus (never so named) appearing before Smith to tell him that no earthly church presents God’s true message. In other versions, Smith refers instead to one or more “angels.” Smith attempted to tell others of his vision (whatever it may have been that year), but those “who ought to have been my friends” considered him to be “deluded”:

Though I was hated and persecuted for saying that I had seen a vision, yet it was true; and while they were persecuting me, reviling me, and speaking all manner of evil against me falsely for so saying, I was led to say in my heart: Why persecute me for telling the truth? I have actually seen a vision; and who am I that I can withstand God, or why does the world think to make me deny what I have actually seen? For I had seen a vision; I knew it, and I knew that God knew it, and I could not deny it, neither dared I do it; at least I knew that by so doing I would offend God, and come under condemnation.7

This was in 1820 or 1821. The year varies in the telling. Similarly, the written language used for telling the story varied too—sometimes plainspoken English and sometimes a pastiche of the King James Bible, to sound more important and religious. For the next few years, Smith suffered the scorn of those to whom he insisted he had seen angels or God or something unearthly. These apparently included, in an earlier telling of his vision, Methodist religious leaders, whose scorn of a mere boy Smith felt was confirmation of the truth of his vision. Actually Smith had been attending a Methodist training class and apparently earned the ire of the Methodist preachers for uttering scriptural interpretations they considered blasphemous.

One night, sometime after meeting Sidney Rigdon in 1823, Smith was sleeping when a supernatural being invaded his bedroom. Smith originally said only that this figure was an angel, but in 1835 he named the angel Moroni and then in 1838 renamed him Nephi. At the end of the nineteenth century the Mormons declared the name Moroni canonical.8 The angel told Smith that he was to be a prophet and that he had to retrieve “a book deposited, written upon gold plates, giving an account of the former inhabitants of this continent, and the source from whence they sprang.” Buried within an ancient mound beside the book was a breastplate similar to that worn by the high priest of the Jews in ancient times along with two stones he named Urim and Thummim after their biblical counterparts, which were ancient “seer stones”—not unlike the ones used in Smith’s white stovepipe hat—that could be used to magically translate the buried book when worn as lenses in a pair of silver spectacles. Conveniently, the angel warned Smith never to show the book, the stones, or the breastplate to anyone, on pain of death from on high. To drive home the message, the angel returned a few minutes later and repeated the entire speech, adding a vision of the apocalypse this time. Still later the angel appeared a third time and again repeated everything, adding a cautionary note that Smith must not engage in treasure-hunting but seek the book only to glorify God. Moroni, however, must have felt that Smith was a bit of a moron, since he returned a few hours later, after Smith, exhausted from lack of sleep, had passed out during his farm chores. Moroni repeated everything yet again.

The gold plates were hidden in a stone box buried in a natural hill in Manchester four miles outside Palmyra, surprisingly not one of the Adena mounds. But this is a distinction with little difference because the people of Palmyra thought it was a mound. The then-unnamed hill, now called Cumorah after a hill in the Book of Mormon, is a conical drumlin created by the scouring effects of Ice Age glaciers, but in appearance it cannot readily be distinguished from Native American mounds. More than one later observer likened it to an Indian mound, and some writers continue to refer to it as an ancient mound to this day.9 Its appearance in 1823 would have been still closer to the appearance of the Adena mounds since it was then covered in trees and shrubs, obscuring the telltale signs of glacial activity, especially its teardrop footprint. It is the only high ground in the area, oddly jutting up from the flat surrounding plane and the much smaller, rounder hills nearby. At any rate, Joseph Smith believed the Hill Cumorah, as he called it, to be a gigantic burial mound of the Lost Tribes and told his followers as much.10 So his discovery of the gold plates in a putative mound followed the well-worn trope of the treasure buried in a supernatural grave mound. Smith would later invent a Mound Builder myth to fit Hill Cumorah, writing in the Book of Mormon that two Mound Builder tribes had gone to war, and one of them, the Nephites, had been exterminated and buried in the hill in their thousands along with the gold plates on which their history was writ.11 When twentieth-century scientists determined that Cumorah was a natural hill, not artificial, Mormon apologists proposed that a second Cumorah existed elsewhere, a position Smith’s brother William and nineteenth-century church leaders had repeatedly denied.

However, the people of Palmyra did not think much of Smith’s tale, especially its convenient coda that Moroni had forbidden Smith to take the gold plates from Cumorah, obliging him to make annual pilgrimages to the hill for four years (mirroring his four visions of Moroni). At each visit Moroni—nothing if not consistent—would repeat the same message about not touching the plates. In 1827, Smith said, he would be allowed to remove and translate them. Seeing angels did not make Smith immediately wealthy, and he continued to offer his services as a farm laborer and itinerant treasure-seeker as he waited for Moroni’s permission to remove the plates.12 His attitude toward treasure-seeking had apparently changed, and he increasingly came to see it as a type of deception, but he was willing to practice it for money. In 1826 the twenty-year-old Smith (“the Glass-Looker”) was sued in South Bainbridge, New York, by the nephew of one of his treasure-seeking clients under a New York statute that made a misdemeanor of “pretending to tell fortunes, or where lost or stolen goods may be found.”13 The nephew must have felt Smith was trying to fleece his uncle out of money by claiming false psychic power. In court, Smith admitted that he engaged frequently in treasure-hunting but only under pressure from his father and neighbors. In fact, he said, exercising his supernatural gift damaged his health.14

As a result of this charge, Smith would later claim that dark forces continued to “persecute” him as he prepared for the greatest act of his life: translating the golden plates with the help of his beloved seer stones to reveal the true history of ancient America.

Just before midnight on September 21, 1827, Joseph Smith ascended what he thought was the burial mound of Cumorah to retrieve the golden plates and the seer stones from the buried box in which they lay. These the angel told him to keep safe until the angel should call for them, to return them to heaven, conveniently leaving no trace behind. Smith came in the night to be present when September 22 arrived, the day the angel Moroni promised the plates, but also to avoid the prying eyes of his fellow treasure hunters. Smith claimed that “the persecution became more bitter and severe than before, and multitudes were on the alert continually to get them from me if possible.”15 This was not a lie. Smith had unwisely started spreading the story that he had retrieved the gold plates, and some of his former treasure-hunting associates happened to feel aggrieved at Smith because they felt that, as his former partners, they were owed part of the spoils since he had supposedly discovered the treasure in 1823, when they had still been in business. So they thought they would relieve Smith of the plates as payment. One treasure hunter, Sally Chase, would even use her own seer stone to try to divine the location of Smith’s plates. However, Chase either lacked the magical touch, or the plates never existed, since all her psychic divination failed to locate them. Another conjurer was called for from sixty miles distant, but this treasure-seeker also failed to find the plates.16

Smith and his wife departed for Pennsylvania, ostensibly to keep the plates safe. A mob had formed demanding to see the “gold bible,” as they called it. Even some of Smith’s friends and colleagues had started to ask to see the plates, but Smith allowed them only to feel their fifty-pound weight from beneath cloth or within a box. Smith placed the plates in a barrel of beans and headed out of town. In Harmony, Pennsylvania, Smith donned the seer-stone spectacles and began translating the gold plates. The work was hard, and Smith copied their strange characters—which he called “Reformed Egyptian”—onto paper and sent them to experts for verification with the help of Martin Harris, a friend who had received a vision from God urging him to aid in the translation of the plates. The classical scholar Charles Anthon, an expert on Egypt, told Harris—a man he considered a bumpkin—that the papers were nothing but gibberish:

This paper was in fact a singular scrawl. It consisted of all kinds of crooked characters disposed in columns, and had evidently been prepared by some person who had before him at the time a book containing various alphabets. Greek and Hebrew letters, crosses and flourishes, Roman letters inverted or placed sideways, were arranged in perpendicular columns, and the whole ended in a rude delineation of a circle divided into various compartments, decked with various strange marks, and evidently copied after the Mexican Calender [sic] given by [Alexander von] Humboldt [in his Political Essay on the Kingdom of New Spain], but copied in such a way as not to betray the source whence it was derived.17

Anthon was astounded that Harris truly believed that a young man wearing magic spectacles was translating gold plates that Harris was forbidden from seeing. Concerned that Joseph Smith was attempting to defraud Harris out of the money Smith claimed to need to publish his “translation,” Anthon refused to provide a written confirmation of the translation and instead told Harris to seek a magistrate’s help in extricating himself from what he saw as a fraud.

Martin Harris later remembered the incident differently. He agreed that Anthon had identified the characters as mixture of various alphabets, supposedly the most perfect versions of the characters ever recorded, but he claimed that Anthon had certified in writing that Joseph Smith’s preliminary effort at translation was correct but claimed he could not proffer his own translation since Harris would not let him see the original plates, some of which were sealed. “I cannot read a sealed book,” Anthon allegedly said.18 The certification, though, could not be produced because the unbelieving Anthon had supposedly torn it up after learning of an angel’s involvement. Most likely, Anthon had politely conceded that the characters were drawn from actual letters from ancient alphabets, though meaningless, while Harris in his zeal likely interpreted this as more of an endorsement than it was. Whatever happened between the two men, it led Harris to fund a full translation and publication as the Book of Mormon with money raised by mortgaging his farm. Joseph Smith realized that the conversation had fulfilled the prophecy of Isaiah 29:11: “And the vision of all is become unto you as the words of a book that is sealed, which men deliver to one that is learned, saying, Read this, I pray thee: and he saith, I cannot; for it is sealed.” Isaiah had God speak of a metaphorical book, but this detail was of little importance. Harris probably thereafter remodeled his conversation with Anthon to agree more fully with Isaiah, the version canonized by the Mormons as scripture. There is little chance, though, that a scholar as careful as Anthon would ever have declared scrawled copies of a mixture of alphabets the “most perfect” versions of any writing system.

The magic spectacles were a miracle. Not only had they translated the golden plates of Nephi—as they were then known—into English, they also did so in a pastiche of the English used in the King James Bible. According to James Jeffries, who knew Sidney Rigdon in the 1840s, Rigdon bragged that he had shared Solomon Spalding’s purloined manuscript with Joseph Smith, and the pair would read it together on Sundays. “I’ll print it,” Smith had said, and took Rigdon’s copy with him to Palmyra.19 This, some thought, was the reason that the Book of Mormon ended up in King James English, though the most obvious reason was that in 1830 the King James Bible was the word of God for English-speakers, and any text pretending to that dignity needed to follow its model to be taken seriously.

Like the King James Bible, the plates apparently comprised not one narrative but multiple narratives, written by Nephi, Mormon, Moroni, and other figures: sixteen books in total, some complete and others abridgments made by Mormon. The plates told that a group of Jews escaped Jerusalem just before the Babylonian conquest of 586 BCE, escaping to Arabia and then to America by ship. Subsequently they populated the whole of the Americas, eventually dividing into two warring factions, the Nephites and the Lamanites. The former were godly and light-skinned, while the latter worshiped idols and were punished by God with darkened skin—becoming the Native Americans. The state of war was broken only when Jesus Christ appeared in America following his resurrection to establish a peaceable kingdom, though this too broke down into intertribal warfare after a few generations. The Book of Mormon concludes with the works of Mormon himself, a late Nephite who fell in battle after assembling the texts of his tribe, and Moroni (before he became an angel), who finalized the collection and saw to its safe burial in Hill Cumorah after adding two primary codas: first, an account of the extermination of the Nephites at Hill Cumorah in 401 CE and the idolatry of the triumphant Lamanites, and, second, an account of the Jaredites, an even older people who first settled America around 2500 BCE after fleeing the collapse of the Tower of Babel. These Jaredites were said to have a highly advanced civilization of more than two million people, all of whom died just as the Jews arrived around 600 BCE.

Surprisingly, there were very few references to the mounds—the signature achievement of the Mound Builder race, the Nephites—in the Book of Mormon. Later Mormons would argue that this was because the mounds were the burial grounds of the slain Nephites, piled high in their untold millions and covered over with a thin layer of soil. It was best not to question these revelations too critically, for the Book of Mormon made clear that historiography—indeed all scholarship—was unloved by God: “O the wise, and the learned, and the rich, that are puffed up in the pride of their hearts, and all those who preach false doctrines, and all those who commit whoredoms, and pervert the right way of the Lord, wo, wo, wo be unto them, saith the Lord God Almighty, for they shall be thrust down to hell!” (2 Nephi 28:15). Such lines seem tailor-made to enshrine in scripture Joseph Smith’s festering resentment against religious leaders (the Methodists), scholars (Charles Anthon and others), and anyone else who had “persecuted” him in the years since he first reported his vision of the angel.

At the very same time that Joseph Smith first met with the angel Moroni (or Nephi or whomever), Solomon Spalding’s onetime acquaintance, the Congregationalist pastor Ethan Smith (no relation to Joseph), then sixty-one years of age, was readying for publication his View of the Hebrews, a 167-page attempt to prove that the Native Americans were descendants of the Lost Tribes of Israel. The Reverend Smith had once been a shoemaker’s apprentice before training for the ministry at Dartmouth. He had held a number of jobs at various parishes over his life, and, as he wrote his book, he had been pastor of the Presbyterian Church in Poultney, Vermont, for two years. He realized that he did not have many years of active service left, and age had begun taking its toll on his body, though not his mind. He would preach every Sunday (with but three exceptions for illness) from his ordination in 1790 until two weeks before his death in 1849 at the age of eighty-six. It was said that he had memorized the Bible and that when his sight began to fail after the age of eighty, he would merely pantomime reading a passage during his sermons while in fact reciting from memory.

Smith’s View of the Hebrews seemed at first to be a relatively standard history of the Israelites as abstracted from the Old Testament. The first section of the book retold the destruction of Jerusalem, emphasizing the prophecies that foretold this event and the scattering of the tribes that followed. Smith explained his belief that the tribes would be restored to their inheritance in Palestine: if the older prophecies of Jerusalem’s destruction had come to pass, so too must biblical prophecies of the return of the Jews in anticipation of the end of days. For Smith, a Lost Tribe, by Biblical decree (Jeremiah 3:6–25), had to be an outcast people lost to the West since the fall of Jerusalem. Further, since the Apocrypha (books included in the printed editions of Protestant Bibles but not officially part of the canon) explained in 2 Esdras 13:44–45 that the outcast people traveled “a year and a half” to the land of Arsareth somewhere north and east of the Euphrates River, Ethan Smith thought this must therefore be the continent of North America, reached via an eighteen-month trek through Asia and across the Bering Strait. Thus, the Lost Tribes came to America, where they became the Mound Builders and the Native Americans. For proof, Smith drew on alleged similarities between Native languages and Hebrew and customs first suggested by Thomas Thorowgood in 1649, reconfirmed by James Adair’s History of the American Indians in 1775, and heavily promoted in the Jewish Expositor magazine as recently as 1819. This included claims, derived from Adair, that the Native Americans worshipped a chief deity named “Yohewah,” who was identical to YHWH, or Yahweh, the God of the Jews. (Unbeknown to Smith, Yo-He-Wah was merely the Seminole god of curses and pestilence.) The sheer weight of the coincidence between the beliefs and practices of the Native Americans and the ancient Israelites was more “than could rationally have been expected, after the lapse of 2500 years in the savage state,” thus proving the identity of the two groups.20

Smith was hardly the first to suggest this theory; he himself lists a dozen earlier authors on the subject and also notes that the theory had recently been presented at the New-York Historical Society in a lecture on Native American religion by Samuel Farmer Jarvis on December 20, 1819, following up on DeWitt Clinton’s earlier lecture on the Mound Builders. Jarvis had lamented that the Native Americans were fast vanishing, though he and his audience seemed unaware that the “vanishing” of the Native Americans was occurring largely due to the U.S. government’s ongoing war against Native peoples. Jarvis, however, carefully dismantled the Hebrew origins theory, noting that proof by analogy was no proof at all and suggesting instead that the Native Americans were an original branch of the Noachian family, not a late immigration from Israel. Any similarity to the Jews, therefore, was merely due to the fact that Native American religions and Judaism both derived from the primitive faith of Noah and his sons—the worship of Yahweh before the Flood.

Smith almost purposely misunderstands this point and insists that Jarvis favored the Lost Tribes hypothesis; he had read only a review of Jarvis in the North American Review. He concludes his View of the Hebrews by discussing the prophecies of Isaiah and then reiterating all of the coincidental proofs once more as summary, concluding that no other people on Earth so perfectly meet all the criteria expected of living members of the Lost Tribes.

Two years later, in 1825, Ethan Smith published a greatly expanded edition of View of the Hebrews in which he presents a striking bit of legendry that presages in astonishing detail the events that would transpire in Palmyra, New York, in 1829. In the new edition Smith states that a clergyman named Chauncey Cook told him that another clergyman, whose name Cook had forgotten, had related a Native American legend told to him by a third clergyman, the “Rev. Dr. West of Stockbridge” in Massachusetts: “An old Indian informed him that his fathers in this country had not long since hid a book which they had for a long time preserved. But having lost the knowledge of reading it, they concluded it would be of no further use to them; and they buried it with an Indian chief.”21 In support of this, a certain Joseph Merrick is reported in View of the Hebrews to have found in 1815, in a Massachusetts field, a parchment written in Hebrew letters and stained yellow with age. It became known as the Pittsfield Parchment, and it disappeared sometime after being sent to the American Antiquarian Society. It was probably a colonial-era artifact, left behind by Hessian soldiers known to have been in the area during the Revolution or the German prisoners who worked the land in 1812.

Ethan Smith further explains the legendary history of the Israelites in America, whose history Joseph Smith would “reveal” in remarkably similar terms in his translation of the gold plates buried in Hill Cumorah. Ethan Smith wrote: “Israel brought into this new continent a considerable degree of civilization; and the better part of them long laboured to maintain it. But others fell into the hunting and consequently savage state; whose barbarous hordes invaded their more civilized brethren, and eventually annihilated most of them, and all in these northern regions!”22 The civilized tribe’s works included the earthworks and mounds, all the remains of the now-extinct tribe destroyed by the degraded “savages.” The translated text of Joseph Smith similarly revealed two warring tribes, one white and civilized and the other red and wild.

Further, Ethan Smith wrote of a copper breastplate dug from an American mound, an artifact on which were affixed two buttons that exactly resembled Urim and Thummim, ancient Jewish magic stones whose names Joseph Smith used to describe the seer stones buried with the breastplate that he said Moroni had showed him at Hill Cumorah. The text Joseph Smith translated shared with the second edition of Ethan Smith’s View of the Hebrews still other similarities—an account of the destruction of Jerusalem, frequent and almost sole quotation from the prophet Isaiah, and the belief that the United States had a divine mission to convert the lost Jews to Christianity in anticipation of the Second Coming. Ethan Smith had suggested that Quetzalcoatl, then believed to have been a white god, was a mythic figure on the model of Christ; the “translated” gold plates revealed that Christ had visited America after his resurrection to preach to the Lost Tribes. By some accounts there were more than one hundred other similarities between the two texts.23

Despite elaborate and sustained parallels between View of the Hebrews in 1825 and the story Joseph Smith was “translating” in 1827, Joseph Smith maintained assiduously that he had not seen or read View until long after his translation was complete. By utter coincidence, however, the man Smith used in the spring of 1829 to help him produce his translation of the gold plates, twenty-two-year-old Oliver Cowdery, had been born in Poultney, Vermont, in 1806 and had been a congregant at Ethan Smith’s church in the years when View of the Hebrews was being written. Cowdery had arrived in Manchester, New York, in 1829 to teach school. He had lodged at Joseph Smith Sr.’s house, where he learned of the gold plates. He was more educated than Joseph Smith Jr., but he was also a treasure hunter and believer in the power of divining rods and seer stones. Thus primed to believe, Cowdery accepted the gold plates as fact and transcribed the Book of Mormon from Smith’s dictation in less than twelve weeks, after Smith had spent two years struggling with it. Cowdery claimed to have seen the gold texts only in a vision given to him by the angel Moroni.

The people of Palmyra eagerly awaited the results of Smith’s translation of what was by then widely known as the “gold bible.” On August 29, 1829, the Palmyra Freeman declared, sight unseen, that the forthcoming Book of Mormon would be “the greatest piece of superstition that has come to our knowledge.” Nearby publications intimated that the volume was a cunning fraud at best or blasphemous at worst. This situation was made worse by unauthorized excerpts appearing in the Palmyra Reflector for two months in December 1829 and January 1830 until a threatened lawsuit put a stop to it—but not before the pirate publisher, Abner Cole, a former justice of the peace, had rolled up his sleeves and threatened fisticuffs: “Do you want to fight sir?” he asked Joseph Smith. “Do you want to fight? I will publish just what I please. Now, if you want to fight, just come on.”24 Smith did not want to fight and leaned on the law to force the ex-justice’s hand. By the time Cole stopped publishing pirated Smith text, many in Palmyra had organized a boycott and pressured the book’s printer to stop work on the Book of Mormon.

Despite this, the translation went to press in March 1830 as the nearly 600-page Book of Mormon: An Account Written by the Hand of Mormon upon Plates Taken from the Plates of Nephi. According to Smith, even the title was the work of Mormon and the angel Moroni. This did not sit well with the printer, Egbert B. Grandin, who thought the book was a hoax and a fraud—not to mention a risky investment.25 Still, he agreed to print five thousand copies of the book in exchange for a $3,000 security deposit, paid for with money that Smith had told Martin Harris to pay on his behalf, due to a vision he had received from God commanding Harris to part with his worldly wealth to finance publication. Harris took out a mortgage, but his wife left him over what she considered an outrageous action. Grandin’s compositor, John H. Gilbert, was exasperated that the lengthy manuscript had not a lick of punctuation in it from beginning to end, requiring him to spend his evenings inserting every comma and period and apostrophe, not to mention capitalization.26 The magic spectacles apparently translated only words, not the fine points of language. The first copies went on sale at E. B. Grandin’s bookstore and circulating library on March 26, though it took another few months to finish the print run.

Sales were so slow that Grandin lamented that no one wanted the book, and Harris had to sell his farm on April 7, 1831, to pay Grandin’s $3,000 security. But there was a great deal of publicity. The Rochester Daily Advertiser declared it “BLASPHEMY” in its April 2, 1830 edition, calling it “an evidence of fraud, blasphemy, and credulity” resulting from the “hocus pocus” that Joseph Smith exercised over Martin Harris to fleece him of $3,000.” Gradually other papers picked up the story of Palmyra’s blasphemous hoax bible, and, by the summer of 1830, the entire northeastern United States was abuzz with the story.

The only question was: Would anyone believe in Joseph Smith’s revelation?

In far-off Washington, D.C., the religious mutterings of ignorant farmers in the backwoods of New York were of little concern. Official Washington had a much different use for the Mound Builder myth, one that the highest officials in the land considered of paramount importance for securing the country’s future.
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Myth in the Service of Politics

On December 7, 1830, the members of the twenty-first Congress of the United States received a message from the U.S. president, Andrew Jackson, congratulating them on the opening of their second session after a break of seven months. It was the second day of the session, and the House clerk, Matthew St. Clair Clarke, had delivered a message to Samuel Smith, president pro tempore of the Senate, informing him that a quorum of the House of Representatives had assembled and approved a resolution authorizing the House and Senate to join in committee to “wait on the President of the United States, and inform him that . . . Congress are ready to receive any communications he may be pleased to make” on the state of the Union.1 Since the time of Thomas Jefferson, the constitutionally mandated requirement for the president to report to Congress on the state of the Union had been delivered in written form (Jefferson had considered the speeches of Washington and Adams as smacking too much of monarchy), and so they would be for another eighty-three years. This year would be no different.

This day Sen. Felix Grundy of Tennessee, a supporter of Jackson from the president’s home state, traveled as part of the committee down Capitol Hill and along Pennsylvania Avenue to the White House to meet with the president and request a message from him. Jackson replied that he would deliver a message in writing to Congress at one thirty that afternoon. Jackson’s nephew and private secretary, Andrew Jackson Donelson, delivered to the House and Senate the president’s effusive message of praise, and it was entered into the Register of Debates in Congress:

Fellow-Citizens of the Senate and House of Representatives:

The pleasure I have in congratulating you upon your return to your constitutional duties is much heightened by the satisfaction which the condition of our beloved country at this period justly inspires. The beneficent Author of all good has granted to us, during the present year, health, peace, and plenty, and numerous causes for joy in the wonderful success which attends the progress of our free institutions.2

Jackson had good reason to anticipate the happy resumption of Congress; both chambers had a majority of Jacksonian partisans, and the Twenty-First Congress’s first session had made great strides toward enacting major elements of the president’s agenda for his first term of office. The most important of the first session’s accomplishments was the passage of a law authorizing Jackson to remove Native Americans from east of the Mississippi River in the name of progress. Jackson explained to Congress how over the past seven months the Indian Removal Act had already begun the process of improving America:

It gives me pleasure to announce to Congress that the benevolent policy of the Government, steadily pursued for nearly thirty years, in relation to the removal of the Indians beyond the white settlements, is approaching, to a happy consummation. The consequences of a speedy removal will be important to the United States, to individual States, and to the Indians themselves. The pecuniary advantages which it promises to the Government are the least of its recommendations. It puts an end to all possible danger of collision between the authorities of the General and State Governments, on account of the Indians. It will place a dense and civilized population in large tracts of country now occupied by a few savage hunters. By opening the whole territory between Tennessee on the north, and Louisiana on the south, to the settlements of the whites, it will incalculably strengthen the southwestern frontier, and render the adjacent States strong enough to repel future invasion without remote aid. It will relieve the whole State of Mississippi, and the western part of Alabama, of Indian occupancy, and enable those States to advance rapidly in population, wealth, and power. It will separate the Indians from immediate contact with settlements of whites; free them from the power of the States; enable them to pursue happiness in their own way, and under their own rude institutions; will retard the progress of decay, which is lessening their numbers; and perhaps cause them gradually, under the protection of the Government, and through the influence of good counsels, to cast off their savage habits, and become an interesting, civilized, and Christian community. These consequences, some of them so certain, and the rest so probable, make the complete execution of the plan sanctioned by Congress at their last session an object of much solicitude.3

Jackson proclaimed himself a friend of the Native Americans and explained to the House and the Senate that this policy was essential not just to serving the needs of America’s rapidly expanding population but also for presenting a benevolent choice to the Native Americans: to join the United States as equal citizens or to depart to live under their own laws beyond the Mississippi. According to Jackson, the Native Americans willingly signed over their lands and departed for the West, happily accepting the government’s promise of a “comfortable subsistence” in the Indian Territory. Jackson justified the legitimacy and moral rightness of the new law by appealing to the widespread belief in the Mound Builder myth, arguing that the Native Americans’ savage attacks on the lost white race that built the mounds had condemned them to exile and eventual extinction.

Humanity has often wept over the fate of the aborigines of this country; and philanthropy has been long busily employed in devising means to avert it. But its progress has never for a moment been arrested; and, one by one, have many powerful tribes disappeared from the earth. To follow to the tomb the last of his race, and to tread on the graves of extinct nations, excite melancholy reflections. But true philanthropy reconciles the mind to these vicissitudes, as it does to the extinction of one generation to make room for another. In the monuments and fortresses of an unknown people, spread over the extensive regions of the west, we behold the memorials of a once powerful race, which was exterminated, or has disappeared, to make room for the existing savage tribes. Nor is there any thing in this, which, upon a comprehensive view of the general interests of the human race, is to be regretted. Philanthropy could not wish to see this continent restored to the condition in which it was found by our forefathers. What good man would prefer a country covered with forests and ranged by a few thousand savages, to our extensive republic, studded with cities, towns, and prosperous farms; embellished with all the improvements which art can devise, or industry execute; occupied by more than twelve millions of happy people, and filled with all the blessings of liberty, civilization, and religion.4

In short, Jackson argued beneath his liberal rhetoric that, in essence, the Native Americans’ extermination of the lost race of Mound Builders justified the U.S. government visiting the same fate upon them. The Mound Builder myth, in service of politics, had somehow gathered the force of law.

As with so many things, the Indian Removal Act came about in part due to Thomas Jefferson. In 1803 Jefferson had written to both Andrew Jackson and William Henry Harrison to explain his policy toward Native Americans, which he hoped would involve assimilation, the purchasing of Native lands at fair prices, and a peaceable transition to American rule. Jefferson envisioned the removal of entire Native tribes across the Mississippi River, both to free up land for white settlers and to provide Native Americans with a place free from white encroachment where they could practice their culture undisturbed until they either assimilated or died. Jefferson, though, did not make these ideas public, and until the twentieth century they were largely unknown except by those who received private letters from him outlining his ideas.

But even Jefferson himself failed to live up to the high-minded ideals of his policy. In 1813 he would tell the famed scientist Alexander von Humboldt (with whom, during Humboldt’s 1804 White House visit, he almost certainly discussed Mound Builders and the peopling of the Americas) that the increasing violence between European Americans and Native Americans called for a change in policy, the need to “to pursue them to extermination, or drive them to new seats beyond our reach.”5 In 1803 Jefferson agreed to a secretive backroom deal with the State of Georgia to abrogate a longstanding treaty that guaranteed the integrity of those historic Cherokee lands not already in the hands of white settlers. In return, Georgia would accept $1.25 million to surrender its claims to what are now the states of Alabama and Mississippi. This would give Jefferson the power to make territorial arrangements at the federal level, but it came at a heavy price. Known as the Compact of 1802, the agreement obligated the government to take any steps necessary to terminate Cherokee land rights in Georgia. Congress routinely appropriated money to achieve this aim, and throughout the 1810s and 1820s, Congress and the successive presidents sought ways to enforce the compact by any legal means.

Jefferson assumed that the compact meant that the federal government was obligated to purchase Cherokee lands as they were put up for sale.6 His successors instead viewed the compact as an obligation to forcibly obtain Cherokee land, especially during the 1820s when Georgia again began pushing the issue in response to Cherokee efforts to assert sovereignty. The U.S. government was required by the terms of the Trade and Intercourse Acts to purchase Native land only by treaty, and the new Cherokee government refused to negotiate any more treaties. But when the Supreme Court ruled in 1823 that Native Americans could “occupy” lands but not hold title to them, the Cherokees built a capital at New Echota in 1825 and declared it a crime to sell any tribal land to a white person, upon penalty of death. In the Cherokee constitution of 1827, the tribe declared itself sovereign. Georgia made it known that it considered the Cherokees to be tenants on government-owned land. Obviously, the conflicting positions of the Cherokees and the State of Georgia could not be reconciled. One would have to give.

Andrew Jackson thought that the legal maneuvers of the 1820s were absurd. For him, Native Americans could not be coequal sovereign peoples, and he felt duty-bound to enforce the Compact of 1802, ostensibly for the “protection” of Native Americans.7 They were bloodthirsty, “heathen” “savages” whom he had crushed in the Creek War and again in his violent campaign to conquer Spanish Florida for the United States.8 He had razed whole Seminole villages, burning houses by the hundred and leaving in his wake dead and dying Natives. His actions were undertaken with the aid of the Lower Creeks, whom he used as auxiliaries. Nevertheless, he had personally aided in negotiating nine of the eleven treaties signed between Native tribes and the federal government between 1811 and 1824, in which tribes surrendered their lands. Upon assuming the presidency, he addressed the Native Americans as their “father” and referred to them as his “red children,” telling the Creeks, “You and my white children are too near each other to live in harmony and peace.”9

Thomas Jefferson foresaw the consequences of Jackson’s elevation to the presidency. He had watched Jackson’s career from the latter’s brief tenure in the Senate through his martial activities to his failed 1824 bid for the nation’s highest office, in which Jackson won the greatest number of votes but lacked a majority in the Electoral College, allowing the House of Representatives to throw the election to John Quincy Adams. It was after this campaign that Jefferson told friends that popular support for a temperamentally unbalanced Jackson, a man who had displayed no penchant for civil government, only martial adventure, “made him doubt of the duration of the republic.” Jefferson exclaimed with contempt and derision that “one might as well make a sailor of a cock, or a solider of a goose, as a president of Andrew Jackson.”10 Sen. Daniel Webster claimed that Jefferson told him in 1824 that Jackson had no respect for the laws of the United States or the constitution and in fact said “he is a dangerous man.”11

Jefferson did not live to see Jackson win election, dying on July 4, 1826. Jefferson had tried, as best a man of his time could, to treat Native Americans with respect as full members of the human race. But the seeds Jefferson had sown with his best intentions had grown into a wild and uncontrollable vine. His well-intentioned investigation of a Virginia mound had sparked a wild frenzy of myth-making, and now his humane, if severely flawed, suggestion that Native Americans seek peaceful and separate existence beyond the Mississippi was about to become a cudgel in the hands of the “dangerous” Andrew Jackson to destroy what remained of Native American life in the southeastern United States.

Upon taking office in March 1829, the new president made plain his intention to resolve the Indian question. In 1827 the Georgia legislature had asserted on the authority of the 1823 Supreme Court decision Johnson v. M’Intosh that the state owned all of the land within its limits and therefore Native Americans were none but tenants. Georgia further legislated that any effort to prevent a Native American from selling land to Georgia was a high crime, that all laws passed by Native peoples to govern themselves were void, and that no Creek or Cherokee person could be considered a competent witness against a white man in court. It was, in short, a license for racial crime and genocide. The War Department took notice of the situation, and the assembled military men determined that the only real course of action that stood a chance of success was to remove the Cherokees altogether, preferably by enticing them with more and better lands in the West. On September 2, 1829, an agent of the War Department wrote that if the federal government simply allowed the State of Georgia to make and enforce its own harsh laws without federal interference, “you will have no difficulty in obtaining exchange of lands with them.”12 In essence, doing nothing would drive the Cherokees to terms through oppression.

The Cherokees appealed to Jackson to protect them from the state, but Jackson agreed with Georgia and asserted that the federal government had no authority within Georgia’s sovereign borders. He therefore sent word to the Cherokees that their attempt to form a sovereign state in Georgia would not survive his presidency. Citing article 4, section 3, of the U.S. Constitution, Jackson declared that since “no new State shall be formed or erected” within the territory of any other, Native Americans could not legally create sovereign states of their own east of the Mississippi River, where the land had already been apportioned among the several states. “If the General Government is not permitted to tolerate the erection of a confederate State within the territory of one of the members of this Union against her consent, much less could it allow a foreign and independent government to establish itself there.”13 He therefore advised the Native groups that under the Constitution they had but two options. They could either submit to the laws of Georgia and the United States, or they could remove themselves to the other side of the Mississippi forthwith. The former option, he felt, would encourage the Cherokees to adopt the civilizing arts of “the white man,” leading to assimilation or racial extinction—at any rate, a quiet and dignified doom: “Submitting to the laws of the States, and receiving, like other citizens, protection in their persons and property, they will ere long become merged in the mass of our population.”14 The alternative would allow them to continue in their “savagery” until such time as missionaries or government agents could succeed in teaching them civilization, thus, again, securing their assimilation or eventual extinction as they abandoned their traditional culture and gave up their warlike ways. For Andrew Jackson, this choice of faster or slower cultural suicide was the “humanity and justice” of his government.

Nine months after taking office, in his 1829 State of the Union Address to Congress, delivered on December 8, Jackson discussed the Indian question and offered his solution. He summarized his ultimatum to the Cherokees, and he demanded of Congress that they give him the authority to make provisions necessary to secure the removal not just of the Cherokees but also of any and every tribe then living east of the Mississippi, arguing that it was the duty of the federal government to aid every state in the Union to resist the Native American push for sovereignty as an affront to the prerogatives of the many states and of the United States. But this claim that Native peoples posed a deadly threat to government power contrasted uneasily with Jackson’s humanitarian rhetoric about the miserable state of Native peoples:

Our ancestors found them the uncontrolled possessors of these vast regions. By persuasion and force they have been made to retire from river to river and from mountain to mountain, until some of the tribes have become extinct and others have left but remnants to preserve for a while their once terrible names. Surrounded by the whites with their arts of civilization, which by destroying the resources of the savage doom him to weakness and decay, the fate of the Mohegan, the Narragansett, and the Delaware is fast over-taking the Choctaw, the Cherokee, and the Creek. That this fate surely awaits them if they remain within the limits of the States does not admit of a doubt. Humanity and national honor demand that every effort should be made to avert so great a calamity.

Somehow both threatening and vulnerable, powerful and powerless, Native peoples were a cancer on the Republic and doomed to imminent extinction in equal measure. Jackson therefore proposed a solution to resolve the contradictions by essentially eliminating them altogether. His recommendation to Congress became, nearly word for word, the text of the Indian Removal Act:

As a means of effecting this end I suggest for your consideration the propriety of setting apart an ample district west of the Mississippi, and without the limits of any State or Territory now formed, to be guaranteed to the Indian tribes as long as they shall occupy it, each tribe having a distinct control over the portion designated for its use. There they may be secured in the enjoyment of governments of their own choice, subject to no other control from the United States than such as may be necessary to preserve peace on the frontier and between the several tribes.

Within months, Congress responded with the introduction of the Indian Removal Act of 1830, echoing Jackson’s language and amplifying it, appropriating half a million dollars for Indian removal. Supporters of the bill made speeches offering rationales of increasingly hostile intent. A particularly complex argument held that since the king of England had asserted sovereign rights over all of North America and since the many states succeeded him as sovereigns, they could therefore exercise royal prerogatives over the Native Americans. Others, however, simply asserted that since the Cherokees had been allies of Britain during the Revolution, they were therefore a conquered people and could expect to enjoy no rights whatsoever by right of conquest. Further, states’ rights advocates argued that since the states were sovereign, no explanation could be required or requested of Georgia, who should be free to treat its subjects howsoever it wished. In partial contrast, they also argued that the proposed Indian Territory in what is now Oklahoma was especially pleasant and fertile, and no Native American would ever be asked to move except voluntarily. Nevertheless, supporters said, such removal would be enormously profitable by opening up immeasurable eastern lands for white exploitation. Americans could be confident that such lands were wealthy because, it was darkly hinted in the halls of Congress, the obscene wealth of the Cherokee treasury had gone to buy off newspapers and preachers to support the Cherokees against Georgia.

In theory, the Indian Removal Act followed Jefferson’s humane policy, for on the surface it seemed to authorize the president to trade federal land west of the Mississippi River for Native American territory surrendered voluntarily east of the Mississippi. Further, the act seemed to generously promise tribes that acceded to such an exchange that they could continue unmolested: “the United States will forever secure and guaranty to them, and their heirs or successors, the country so exchanged with them.” That was at least until such time as they went “extinct” (following the prevalent racial theory of the era).15 Ominously, the sunny rhetoric also proclaimed it lawful for the president to provide “aid and assistance” in removing Native Americans from their former homes to their new lands in the west and to keep them “protected” from outside incursions through isolating them from one another and from white Americans.

The true intent of the bill was not lost on Congress, and fierce opposition arose in April and May 1830 as the proposed legislation was debated. Sen. Theodore Frelinghuysen of New Jersey blasted the bill’s “seemingly . . . harmless clauses” as a blueprint for forced expulsion of Native Americans and the abrogation of their civil rights. He called it nothing less than a proposal for a campaign of “terror.”16 Several other senators rose to agree, seeing through the kindly language to the darkness beneath. In the House of Representatives, Henry R. Storrs of New York argued that the bill was subterfuge and that it would damage the reputation of the United States abroad, and William Ellsworth of Connecticut denounced the bill as a merely “mercenary” effort by southern states to appropriate Indian land. Rep. Davy Crockett, representing Jackson’s home state, spoke out as well, arguing that history and conscience compelled him to vote in the negative, as did Abraham Lincoln, then a lawyer. Christian missionaries saw the bill as inhumane.

But their opponents were fiercer and more numerous, defending the bill as essential to protect the rights of the states. It passed both houses of Congress and headed to Andrew Jackson’s desk, where the president signed it into law on May 28. Within four months, the government had already begun using the law to pressure Native Americans into leaving the South. In August 1830 Andrew Jackson was in Tennessee to personally oversee the first removal treaty, with the Choctaws, who had formerly controlled much of the young state of Mississippi. The Choctaws stood Jackson up, refusing to travel to Tennessee, but they agreed to meet with the secretary of war, John H. Eaton, in their homeland. The Choctaws were presented with impossible options at a riotous gathering at Dancing Rabbit Creek on September 15, although these were framed as a matter of voluntary choice. They could either stay in their homes and become citizens subject to state laws, or they could move to fifteen million acres of the Indian Territory—the future Oklahoma—and retain their traditional laws, freedom, and culture.

To reach an agreement, the Choctaws and the United States compromised. Most of the Choctaws agreed to move to Oklahoma—tens of thousands of them—as a free nation, surrendering all eleven million acres of their old lands to the United States, but a few thousand were permitted to remain in Mississippi, as citizens of the state and subject to its laws. Those who remained became U.S. citizens, the first significant nonwhite population to do so. More than two hundred Choctaws signed the Treaty of Dancing Rabbit Creek on September 27, and the Senate ratified it in February 1831. The Choctaws packed up and began walking west shortly after, suffering many casualties en route. One of the chiefs of the Choctaws, coining a phrase that would echo down the centuries, called it “a trail of tears and death.” In Washington, Andrew Jackson was equally dispirited but not by death. Instead he was so incensed at the financial costs of Indian removal that he fired all the administrators responsible.

Financial folly was not confined to the bureaucracies of America and their inherent inefficiencies. Across the Atlantic, Edward King, Viscount Kingsborough, an Irish nobleman, squandered his entire inheritance in a futile quest to prove that peoples of the Americas were the Lost Tribes of Israel. All he had to show for his massive investment and a decade of his life were nine folio volumes of his Antiquities of Mexico, published beginning in 1830 and continuing for eight long years. His book held antiquarian interest for its astounding collection of images and plates, but its text ranged toward the bizarre. For example, accepting at face value the claim of Fernando de Alva Ixtlilxochitl, a sixteenth century descendant of Aztec royalty, that the Toltecs had assembled a thousand years earlier a book of wisdom called the Teoamoxtli, Kingsborough declared that not only was this apocryphal volume real but also that it was none other than the Hebrew Bible itself, “for Teo means divine, and amolt is book, and moxtli must mean Moses, therefore the true meaning is, ‘divine book of Moses.’”17 The Mormons puzzled over this, and George Reynolds eventually concluded that should Kingsborough be right, this book must have been a paper duplicate of the “brass plates” Lehi brought to America from Jerusalem.

At the same time that Kingsborough wrote, the British curate John Bathurst Deane—future grandfather of P. G. Wodehouse—produced The Worship of the Serpent, in which he disagreed with the imagined Hebrew origins of Native Americans. Instead he argued that all pagan religions, from Babylon to Mexico, were degraded memories of the Garden of Eden and that, in worshiping serpents, these faiths worshiped the serpent of Eden, the devil. Thus, as the Spanish had darkly suspected centuries earlier, Native Americans were sinners whose faith was a diabolical counterfeit of Christian truth. Deane’s book would, in time, yield the belief that all religion was serpentine in origin but that this, as Hargrave Jennings claimed decades later, was really just penis worship with an animal gloss.

Antiquities of Mexico was so elaborately illustrated and so expensive to produce that its nine volumes sold for a collective £175—an outrageous figure in those days, when the poor were rioting in England for higher wages and vicars were paid but £300 per year. Even among the wealthy, whose incomes could be measured in tens of thousands of pounds, this was not chump change. In the United States, Kingsborough’s arguments were not particularly welcome during the process of Indian removal, but in Europe the lavish books, read largely in libraries, would inspire a new generation of scholars to seek out the antiquities of Mexico, though not farther north. At £175 for a set, Kingsborough did not sell enough copies to make back the costs. He spent so much on hand-painted reproductions of Aztec and Maya hieroglyphs and paintings for his books that he ended up in debtor’s prison, where he died of typhus in 1837.

In London, Mrs. Barbara Anne Simon was so taken with Antiquities of Mexico that she abridged and summarized its first seven volumes (along with those of like-minded earlier writers) in an 1836 volume of her own, The Ten Tribes of Israel: Historically Identified with the Aborigines of the Western Hemisphere, which she published with the hope that it would spread the word about the Hebrew origins of the Native Americans, who were therefore both among God’s elect and also, being Jews, doomed to extinction or conversion. The Conquest, happily, achieved one or both of those aims, preparing the way for Christ’s kingdom to come. In Simon’s form, Kingsborough’s ideas entered into William Fleming’s 1838 Gazetteer of the Old and New Testaments and, in identical language, the widely read 1841 Bible Cyclopedia. Kingsborough, Simon’s main source, had been forgotten, his expensive books sitting unread in the few libraries that could afford their exorbitant cost.

Meanwhile, in America, the Choctaws had settled into their new home, traveling in three great waves of migration, thinner in rank and weary from a nearly impossible trek by foot across Arkansas to the Indian Territory, where they took up residence on the far side of the Arkansas River. Alexis de Tocqueville, the great chronicler of democracy in America, watched as the first wave of Choctaws departed west. Tocqueville was in Memphis and watched as the poor, the old, and the weak tried to get across the Mississippi River toward a promised land that Tocqueville told his mother would never come under the white man’s ax. According to Tocqueville, an American agent accompanied a group of men, women, and children—along with horses and dogs—to book them passage on a steamer. Tocqueville observed a group of sixty or seventy board the Louisville, on which he traveled, on Christmas Day, 1831, attempting to join six or seven thousand Choctaws who had already made the trip:

Here began a scene which, in truth, was something terrible. The Indians advanced mournfully towards the bank: First they put aboard the horses; many, unaccustomed to the forms of civilized life, became frightened and rushed into the Mississippi, from which they could be removed only with difficulty. Then came the men who, according to the ordinary custom, wore nothing but their arms, then women, with their children attached to their backs or wrapped in the blankets they wore. They were also overburdened with loads which contained all their wealth. We finally took on the elderly. There was an old woman of one hundred and ten years. I have never seen a more frightening figure. She was naked, except for a cover that showed through, in a thousand places, the most emaciated body one could conceive. She was escorted by two or three generations of grandchildren. To leave her country at this age to seek her fortune in a foreign land, what misery! Amidst the elders was a girl who had broken her arm a week before; for lack of care her arm froze below the fracture. However, she had to follow the common progress. When all was over, the dogs approached the bank, but they refused to enter the ship and began to send forth fearful screams. It was their masters who brought them aboard by force.

There was, throughout the spectacle, an air of ruin and destruction, something that evoked a final farewell without return; one could not watch without a heavy heart. The Indians were quiet, but somber and taciturn. There was one who knew English, and whom I asked why the Choctaws left their country.—To be free, he replied.—I could never elicit anything else. We will deposit them tomorrow in the wilds of Arkansas. I must admit that it is a singular coincidence that made us come to Memphis to witness the expulsion, we can say the dissolution, of one of the most celebrated and ancient American nations.

But enough of the savages. It is well past time to return to civilized people.18

The U.S. government classified the Choctaws—numbering fifteen thousand—as “semi-civilized” and decided to leave them largely to their own devices, give or take the efforts of missionaries. In 1836 painter George Catlin visited them and watched the Choctaws playing a ball game amid what he called the rich fields of the Arkansas River, a game we would today call a variety of lacrosse. The Choctaws had a legend that they had always been migrants, and this story sustained them through their long and wearying journey. Their mythology said that their tribe had emerged when they had lived in the Far West, where their population had grown so large that their prophets resolved to move all the people east, to a more fertile and prosperous land. Catlin would later write:

The Choctaws a great many winters ago commenced moving from the country where they then lived, which was a great distance to the west of the great river and the mountains of snow, and they were a great many years on their way. A great medicine man led them the whole way, by going before with a red pole, which he stuck in the ground every night where they encamped. This pole was every morning found leaning to the east, and he told them that they must continue to travel to the east until the pole would stand upright in their encampment, and that there the Great Spirit had directed that they should live.19

In those ancient days they found their home when the prophet sank the sacred pole into a prehistoric mound they had found alongside the Nanih Wayah Creek, and it remained upright. This mound is some twenty-five feet tall and rectangular in shape. Archaeology says that it dates from the Middle Woodland period of 1–300 CE. For the Choctaws, it was simply primeval, an impossibly old and sacred piece of earth. In other versions of their mythology, the mound became the site of creation, from which they had emerged from the earth at the start of time. Still another story said that the wandering Choctaws built the mound, depositing within it the bones of sainted ancestors, carried with them from land to land. In 1833, with most of the Choctaws gone from their surrendered homeland, Peter Folsom, a future Choctaw chief, returned from school in Kentucky and stood on Nanih Wayah Mound with his father, who told him the creation story. He remembered it decades later not as sacred truth but as a curiosity, for Folsom became a Christian clergyman and a missionary hired by the Mississippi Baptists to convert those Choctaws who remained in the state as citizens after their compatriots departed.20

In time, the Choctaws made the best of life in the Indian Territory alongside the Cherokees and the Creeks, who were yet to undertake their tragic treks west. In 1857 the Choctaws passed a constitution modeled on that of the United States. They worked the land, and they nearly doubled their numbers in a decade, though not without becoming slaveholders, with five thousand in bondage to a tribe of twenty-five thousand in 1861. As a result, they joined the South in the Civil War before switching sides. Nearly half the population died in the war.

Andrew Jackson wanted the Choctaw removal to serve as a model for Indian removal, but the attempt to apply the same techniques to the Cherokees, whose stubborn defiance of Georgia had set removal into motion, proved that beneath the flowery language the Indian Removal Act was never meant as the peaceful act of humanitarianism it was claimed to be. The State of Georgia, in fact, raised the issue to the level of a constitutional crisis on the back of a drunken dispute between two Cherokees.

As the Indian Removal Act took effect in the summer of 1830, a Cherokee named George “Corn” Tassel got drunk, allegedly on illegal whiskey, at Talking Rock Ford and killed another Cherokee man, whose name is uncertain but is variously given as Sanders or Andrew Fallon.21 The crime occurred in disputed territory on the side of the Chattahoochee River that fell within the Cherokees’ traditional borders but which Georgia had appropriated for Hall County by treaty in 1817. Under the laws of the United States, the Cherokees were sovereign, and the crime ought to have been tried by the Cherokees themselves had that territory been recognized as Cherokee. Nevertheless, Georgia officials took Tassel to the Hall County courthouse, some fifty miles away, and tried him in the autumn of 1830 before a jury of white men and Judge Augustin S. Clayton. Unsurprisingly, the court found him guilty and sentenced him to death by hanging. Lawyers appealed the case to a panel of judges in Milledgeville serving as Georgia’s highest court, including Judge Clayton, claiming that Georgia’s action was unconstitutional since federal treaties recognizing the Cherokees as sovereign superseded state laws claiming they were not. Calling the appeals a “waste of time,” the Georgia court ruled that Georgia had succeeded to Britain’s sovereignty over all of the state, and that was that. Tassel had to die.22 The Cherokees asked their lawyer, William Whit, to appeal the case to the U.S. Supreme Court, and Chief Justice John Marshall issued a writ of error staying the execution pending Supreme Court review. Marshall sent the writ to Gov. George Gilmer and the state legislature, and the governor called an emergency session of the legislature on December 22. In the words of the court, the legislature “promptly resolved, in substance, that the Supreme Court of the United States had no jurisdiction over the subject, and advised the immediate execution of the prisoner, under the sentence of the state court; which accordingly took place.”23

On December 23, the governor signed a set of new laws designed to repress and suppress the Cherokees in all endeavors, stripping them of all their lands and authorizing the governor to use the military to carry out the seizure of all Cherokee land, especially “gold mines,” which were singled out in the law. Georgia also required loyalty oaths from all Cherokees, pledging allegiance to Georgia, and the state demanded that all white persons working with or for the Cherokees first obtain licenses from the state. The governor sent word to the Supreme Court that he would not comply with its order, and he demanded the immediate hanging of George Tassel.

The next morning, Christmas Eve, George Tassel had his hands and feet bound and was placed atop a coffin laid in the back of an oxcart. He rode slowly to his death, a morbid tableau. Five hundred souls—nearly all the townsfolk and hundreds more from the surrounding settlements—gathered at the corner of Main and Grove Streets in what is now Gainesville, Georgia, where the gallows stood. Tassel betrayed no fear, and witnesses later said that he talked calmly with the spectators who came to watch his demise. After the deed was done, some of the Cherokees took his body half a mile away and buried it. In March the Supreme Court dismissed Tassel’s case as moot, the damage having been done.

Undeterred, the Cherokees brought a new case, asking for an injunction to prevent Georgia from enforcing the laws passed in the wake of the Tassel decision. Their lawyer, Whit, argued that the Supreme Court had to take the case immediately as a court of original jurisdiction under its constitutional duty to hear cases arising between a state and foreign nation, the Cherokees claiming to be a foreign nation. Georgia argued the opposite in June 1830, just after the Removal Act was signed, that the Cherokee, lacking organs of government or political organization, were not a state or a nation and therefore could not challenge Georgia’s statutes. Chief Justice Marshall wrote the court’s opinion:

If courts were permitted to indulge their sympathies, a case better calculated to excite them can scarcely be imagined. A people once numerous, powerful, and truly independent, found by our ancestors in the quiet and uncontrolled possession of an ample domain, gradually sinking beneath our superior policy, our arts and our arms, have yielded their lands by successive treaties, each of which contains a solemn guarantee of the residue, until they retain no more of their formerly extensive territory than is deemed necessary to their comfortable subsistence. To preserve this remnant, the present application is made.

Before we can look into the merits of the case, a preliminary inquiry presents itself. Has this court jurisdiction of the cause?24

The court ruled on March 5, 1831, that it would not rule on the merits of the case because the Cherokees, being a dependent people of the United States, were therefore not a sovereign nation and had not standing to bring suit. In the meantime, Andrew Jackson, seeing that the Cherokee intended to use the courts to defy Georgia and the removal program, suspended the federal government’s annuity paid to the Cherokees, arguing that the government should not provide sticks the Cherokees could use to hit him over the head. In short, Jackson wouldn’t pay the Cherokees to sue Georgia. Chief John Ross remained defiant: “Whatever may be the final result of this painful controversy, the Cherokees are prepared to meet it. . . . Should the last dire extremity come, they can and will live and die as freemen.”25

This state of affairs did not last long, for Georgia’s oppressive licensing laws quickly caught in their net seven Christian missionaries who had refused on principle to ask the state’s permission to carry out God’s work. The military arrested the seven, including Samuel A. Worcester, who was found guilty on September 15, 1831, and sentenced to four years of hard labor for the “crime” of “residing in the Cherokee nation without license.” Worcester protested to the Supreme Court that his alleged crime took place in the town of New Echota, to which he had been appointed missionary by no less a body than the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, authorized by the president himself. Therefore, since the Cherokee Nation was, in the eyes of the federal government, a foreign nation, no state crime had occurred. On October 27, Chief Justice Marshall issued a writ of error, and the Supreme Court took the case. Writing for the court, Marshall concluded that the State of Georgia did not have the right to assert political control over Native Americans and that the right of dealing with Native tribes rested entirely with the federal government, as legitimate successor to the rights of the British Crown in the United States. Since Britain did not assert the right to rule the Native peoples but only to deal with them as sovereign groups, it followed that the United States could do no more.

But, moreover, Georgia’s laws defied the clearly defined power of the federal government as laid out in the Constitution, which gives the United States the sole power to conclude treaties:

It is apparent that these laws are repugnant to the treaties with the Cherokee Indians which have been referred to, and to the law of 1802. This repugnance is made so clear by an exhibition of the respective acts, that no force of demonstration can make it more palpable.

By the treaties and laws of the United States, rights are guarantied to the Cherokees, both as it respects their territory and internal polity. By the laws of Georgia these rights are abolished; and not only abolished, but an ignominious punishment is inflicted on the Indians and others; for the exercise of them. The important question then arises, which shall stand, the laws of the United States, or the laws of Georgia? No rule of construction, or subtlety of argument, can evade an answer to this question. The response must be, so far as the punishment of the plaintiff in error is concerned, in favour of the one or the other.26

Marshall laid out a complex theory of tribal sovereignty, describing the “peculiar” status of Native American tribes as possessing some aspects of sovereignty but not the full dignity of a foreign state, setting a precedent for the later development of a theory of Native sovereignty. However, Marshall was keenly aware that Andrew Jackson would not take the ruling well, so his decision was limited in scope only to its application to the facts in the case of Samuel Worcester, whose conviction was overturned. The court ordered that Georgia’s licensing law could not be enforced against those who claimed to act under federal or treaty authority. Marshall, therefore, stopped far short of overturning the laws in toto or halting the removal of the Cherokees. All Marshall required was that Worcester and his fellow missionary, Elizur Butler, be freed.

Nevertheless, Jackson still took the ruling as an affront, and the state of Georgia refused (for a time) to carry out the judicial order. In an April 1832 letter to John Coffee, a close friend, Jackson wrote, “The decision of the Supreme Court has fell still born, and they find it cannot coerce Georgia to yield to its mandate.” So far as President Jackson was concerned, Indian removal would continue unabated, the Supreme Court and sovereignty be damned.
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“Great Mound at Grave Creek.” This engraving shows the appearance of the ancient Native mound at Grave Creek in the nineteenth century, in what is now West Virginia, where the Grave Creek Stone was unearthed. (Library of Congress, LC-USZ62–55969)
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“Illinois, Cahokia Mound, October 16, 1907.” Once the largest Mississippian mound, Monks Mound at Cahokia was covered in trees into the twentieth century. (Library of Congress, LC-USZ62–118522)
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“Andrew Jackson, President of the United States, March 4th 1829.” Engraved from an original drawing by F. Kearny. (Library of Congress, LC-DIG-pga-10989)
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“The Serpent.” Engraving of the Serpent Mound of Ohio, made by Squier and Davis. (Beinecke Rare Book and Manuscript Library, Yale University, A52 030 1)
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Thomas Jefferson. Engraving made in the late eighteenth century. (Library of Congress, LC-DIG-pga-12975)
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The Bat Creek Stone, with its Hebrew inscription, once mistaken for Cherokee. (Photo by Ken Feder)
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“The angel Moroni delivering the plates of the Book of Mormon to Joseph Smith jun.” A nineteenth-century engraving. (Library of Congress, LC-USZ62–3657)
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“Mound Builders Gathering Their Crops.” An 1892 photogravure of a painting by H. N. Cady shows how late Victorians imagined the Mound Builders. (Library of Congress, LC-USZ62–54388)
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“Indian Princess Presenting a Necklace of Pearls to De Soto.” This 1858 engraving by J. W. Orr shows Princess Xualla presenting a pearl necklace to Hernando de Soto at Cofachiqui in South Carolina. (Library of Congress, LC-USZ62–104378)
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Aerial view of Monks Mound at Cahokia. Cleared of trees, its size can be seen. (National Archives, 7719452)
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One of the controversial Davenport, Iowa, tablets bearing an allegedly ancient inscription and two nail holes from its use as a roof tile in a brothel. (Photo by Ken Feder)
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Cast of the inscribed Grave Creek Stone. The original, now lost, was found in 1838 and variously asserted to show Phoenician, Celtic, Hebrew, Etruscan, or other Old World scripts. (Photo by Ken Feder)
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“Cardiff Giant.” Some believed the hoax Cardiff Giant to have been a petrified Caucasian Mound Builder—or a statue of one. (Library of Congress, LC-B2–2781–13)
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Drawing Battle Lines

Was it entirely a coincidence that Indian Removal came about just months after Joseph Smith published the Book of Mormon? After the Mormons packed up in 1830 and left New York for their new home in Kirtland, Ohio—to escape persecution and blasphemy complaints in upstate New York—they could not help but see parallels, in their westward migration, with the forced expulsion of the Native Americans from the southern United States. Situated as the Mormons among the Hopewell mounds of the Ohio Valley, they came to feel that they were sitting amid the funerary wreckage of the great battles of Nephites and Lamanites reported in the Book of Mormon. Surely, the Mormons thought, the piles of old bones Caleb Atwater had removed from these very mounds must have been those of the sainted ancestors themselves, the fallen martyrs of the great war that exterminated the pure white Nephites.

Among the Mormons who would eventually settle for a time in Ohio, few thought it a coincidence, especially not William Wines Phelps, a sometime debtor who burned with the fire of the converted. Born in New Jersey, Phelps had lived in several upstate New York towns before settling into what he imagined would be his career, newspaper publishing. He ran first the Lake Light of Trumansburg before founding the Ontario Phoenix in Canandaigua, a publication devoted to spreading anti-Masonic rumors and conspiracy theories. In the spring of 1830, Phelps had parlayed his anti-Masonic posturing into a serious attempt at the office of New York lieutenant governor; however, his political aspirations gave way to religious furor after he purchased a copy of the newly published Book of Mormon on April 9 and became a convert. In December 1830 he met with Joseph Smith and hailed him as a prophet. In time, the two would work together to “translate” some scraps of papyrus salvaged from an Egyptian mummy, which were said to be the very words of the biblical patriarch Abraham himself.

But that was still five years in the future. In 1831 Phelps discovered a conspiracy against him, one that—like so many moments in early Mormon history—revolved around debt. On April 29 Phelps found himself thrown into jail in Lyons, New York, the work, he later claimed, of a “couple of Presbyterian traders, for a small debt, for the purpose, as I was informed, of ‘keeping me from joining the Mormons.’”1 This was nothing new. Around the same time, twenty-four-year-old Mormon elder Parley Pratt claimed that unspecified charges against him had been cooked up by a conspiracy of anti-Mormon residents and an anti-Mormon judge. Pratt refused to participate in the trial and sang hymns while the court considered his sentence. The two men would find themselves jailed together in Missouri in a few years’ time.

Phelps emerged from jail in 1831 with a flaming passion for Mormonism. He established a print shop in Missouri—the promised land of Zion where God was said to be gathering all the children of Israel—to distribute Mormon texts. That same year he was baptized and witnessed Joseph Smith Jr. reveal the need for plural marriage. Phelps, like the other Mormons, considered the group the heirs of the light-skinned Nephites, cousins to the dark-skinned Lamanites, that is, the Native Americans. Surely the Millennium would soon be at hand, for the actions of the U.S. government were working to fulfill the prophecy of Moses in Deuteronomy 30:3, foreseeing a time when “the Lord thy God will turn thy captivity, and have compassion upon thee, and will return and gather thee from all the nations, whither the Lord thy God hath scattered thee.” For the anti-Masonic activist turned Mormon scribe, biblical prophecies were coming to pass right there in the United States. Two years later, Phelps suffered the oppressive hand of intolerance as an unruly mob attacked his home and business, tearing up Mormon texts and tossing his furniture out the windows and doors. By 1835, he was living in the house of Joseph Smith in Kirtland, Ohio, where he gave $500 toward the construction of a new temple and began writing hymns.

In an 1835 letter to the Latter Day Saints’ Messenger and Advocate, the Mormons’ Kirtland newspaper, Phelps explained that Native removal was part of God’s plan:

The Indians occupy a large portion of the land of America, and, as they are a part of the creation of God, and are a remnant of the children of Israel, they must necessarily hear the gospel, and have a chance to be gathered into the fold of the Lord. Our government has already gathered many of the scattered remnants of tribes, and located them west of the Missouri, to be nationalized and civilized; and feeling, as every saint must, a deep interest in their salvation, I rejoice to see the great work prosper. The Indians are the people of the Lord; they are of the tribes of Israel; the blood of Joseph, with a small mixture of the royal blood of Judah, and the hour is nigh when they will come flocking into the kingdom of God, like doves to their windows; yea, as the book of Mormon foretells—they will soon become a white and delightsome people.2

These were the same words the Mormon hierarchy used to describe the Mormons’ own westward quest for Zion, and they echoed Parley Pratt’s views from a few years earlier. The closing phrase, describing a “white and delightsome” people is no mere bit of rhetoric but quotes directly from 2 Nephi 30:6, in a prophecy of the end times, when all who repent and convert will become as white as the Mound Builders.3 Lest a symbolic interpretation be possible, the book of 3 Nephi made plain in chapter 2, verse 15, that when some Native Americans returned to God’s grace ages ago, “their skin became white like unto the Nephites,” and the same would happen to the Cherokees and the Choctaws and the others soon.

It was this belief that made the Mormons into some of the most active missionaries among the Native Americans of the 1830s. Pratt himself had dropped off a few copies of the Book of Mormon to some Native Americans near Buffalo, New York, in October 1830, writing later that he had “spent the better part of a day . . . instructing them in the knowledge of the record of their forefathers” en route to meeting and converting Sidney Rigdon, who would soon take a leadership position in the church.4 No record exists of what the Buffalo Native Americans thought of the strange white man who spent an afternoon explaining the “true” history of Native Americans to them, in King James English, the very tongue of God.

And as the Mormons rejoiced that the hand of God had pushed the children of Israel westward toward the New Zion, his agent on earth, Andrew Jackson, prepared an ultimatum for the Seminoles of Florida. In 1832 the U.S. government forced the Treaty of Payne’s Landing upon the Seminoles, a treaty the nation’s chiefs repudiated but by which they had agreed to move west of the Mississippi within three years. The U.S. Senate ratified the treaty, and the Seminoles were expected to be gone by 1835. But they refused to go. By February 1834 Jackson had had enough. He sent a letter to the Seminoles, remarkable for its naked revelation of the truth behind the rhetoric of removal:

The tract you have ceded will soon be surveyed and sold, and immediately afterwards will be occupied by a white population. You will soon be in a state of starvation. You will commit depredations upon the property of our citizens. You will be resisted, punished, perhaps killed. . . . If, therefore, you had a right to stay where you now are, still every true friend would advise you to remove. But you have no right to stay, and you must go. I am desirous that you should go peaceably and voluntarily. . . . If you listen to the voice of friendship and truth, you will go quietly and voluntarily. But should you listen to the bad birds that are always flying about you, and refuse to move, I have then directed the commanding officer to remove you by force. This will be done. I pray the Great Spirit, therefore, to incline you to do what is right.5

Within months, the Second Seminole War—the longest of all the Indian Wars and the most expensive for the U.S. military—had begun. Truly, this was God’s work. Popular culture, however, seemed in almost willful denial of the events affecting the Native Americans, and nothing better illustrated the surreal disconnect between the facts on the ground and the castles in the air than one of the most widely read books of 1833, a book that explained in seemingly scholarly detail that the Indians were dark and barbarous interlopers who had vanquished a powerful and magnificent civilization of pure, pale white people.

Josiah Priest was born into neither money nor power nor fame. His father, another Josiah, left Vermont in 1757 for a new life in Unadilla, New York, where he died in 1794. Of the younger Josiah’s early life in Unadilla, where he was born in 1788, little is known before he married Eliza Perry of Lansingburg in 1812. In 1819 Priest and his wife settled in New York’s capital of Albany on the banks of the Hudson, then home to 12,600 people but rapidly expanding, and he began a family that would eventually grow to include ten children, born over nineteen years between 1813 and 1832. Priest first found work as a carriage trimmer, fitting upholstery to seats, and in time he expanded his leatherwork to include the manufacture of saddles and harnesses. But Priest sensed that he had a grander mission in life. With the population of Albany nearly doubling since Priest had arrived, a more cosmopolitan air inspired greater ambitions in its denizens. Besides being a devout Christian, he was also evidently an avid reader, to judge by the books he would cite—and sometimes steal from—in creating his own.

Priest lived in an age when scientific and scholarly expertise was increasingly called into question. As the Monthly Repository had put it, “Who is to decide when learned doctors disagree? Let us now hear what the unenlightened nations have to say on this subject.”6 In an environment where anyone might become an expert merely by assertion, Priest believed that he could make more money as a writer than as a leatherworker, and he took for his subject the grand narrative of history, or at least as much of it as a devout Christian with only a basic education and a virulent racist streak might imagine history to be.

Five years after moving to Albany, Priest arrived at the copyright office for the Northern District of New York on June 2, 1824, and registered a copyright for a book, which he began to write shortly thereafter, completing it in August 1825. Then he published it himself by sending the manuscript to E. and E. Hosford for typesetting and printing. The six-hundred-page compendium of curiosities was titled The Wonders of Nature and Providence Displayed and followed the ancient model set out by Aelian, in his Various Histories, and many later writers: it was less a work of history than an anthology of verbatim excerpts of the most stupendous or sensational anecdotes from other books, arranged around a handful of biblically inspired themes. The original authors, while credited, were largely unaware that their work had been purloined, and Priest was indiscriminate in his borrowings, taking no interest in distinguishing between fact and fraud. He claimed that the stories found in his volume were collected from texts so rare that they were almost never read “by reason of their magnitude and scarcity.”7 But by this he meant that he had mined the libraries of Albany for their facts. The book was intentionally written for readers very much like him: incompletely educated, devout, and utterly convinced of the superiority of Anglo-American civilization over barbarism. The plan of the book was to tie the wonders of nature to God’s revelation, and to that end, starting on page 372, Priest reproduced a lengthy thirty-five-page discussion on the supposed Hebrew origins of the Native Americans from Ethan Smith’s View of the Hebrews, to which Priest added some words of his own to racialize the argument: “If any are still disposed to doubt the doctrine advanced in the preceding remarks, on account of the dark complexion of the savages, [they] will do well to recollect, that a majority of mankind are dark in complexion.”8 He added the Jews were dark and swarthy too, so readers need not doubt Native Americans were really Jews out of misplaced belief in the whiteness of God’s chosen race. He followed this with a chapter asking whether rocks could fall from the sky. It was a brazen theft of words, the more so because Smith was traveling across upstate New York to promote the 1825 second edition of his View of the Hebrews at the very time Priest was copying from it.

New York’s upstate region, for all its vast expanse, was closely connected by bonds of blood and faith. The year after Wonders of Nature went to press, Oliver Cowdery, Smith’s former congregant, migrated from Vermont to New York, venturing westward to Manchester where he would encounter Joseph Smith and “translate” remarkably similar claims from the golden plates of the Book of Mormon. In 1826 Ethan Smith made a stop on his book tour at Palmyra, where Joseph Smith was in residence, and when Cowdery arrived in Manchester not long after, the Manchester Rental Library had in its collections none other than The Wonders of Nature and Providence Explained.

Wonders was a profitable book, and it sold thousands of copies ahead of its printing as Priest solicited support in the form of subscriptions, a common way of paying for the publication of books in that era. Potential readers would pre-purchase a volume by subscribing to it, allowing the author to pay printing costs. The initial printing of Wonders sold well enough that two more printings followed over the next year, the first with the addition of ten illustrations, most of grisly scenes of violence and torture, and both featuring revised and expanded passages from the excerpted authors. While ancient mysteries could be good business, one book was not enough to pay Priest’s mounting bills. With ever larger family to feed, along with a magnificent ego to maintain, Priest needed to build on his success. He had already taken shortcuts by cutting and pasting others’ work into Wonders, and his subsequent efforts demonstrated how far he would go to place financial concerns over authorial responsibility.

Priest’s apocalyptic Wonders matched the revivalist tenor of the times and was published in seven editions in twelve years. Still more profitably, he published a series of inexpensive hagiographies of Revolutionary War figures. To make these pamphlets stand out, he priced them low—as little as twelve and a half cents—and he embellished them with pure fiction. In one case, he added to George Washington’s youth a fanciful romance with an Irish lass. Albany’s Joel Munsell, who printed some of Priest’s work, later called him “the greatest inventor of ancient history and biography of his time.”9 More generous critics declared his short, action-filled historical adventure yarns the forerunners of the dime novel.

The literary life awakened Priest’s interest in a topic that few of his contemporaries thought to record for posterity. To judge by his writing, from his reading he had genuinely become fascinated by the question of the mounds, and the material he borrowed from Ethan Smith had provoked his curiosity about the antiquities of ancient America, which he believed he could use to create a stronger and more profitable sequel to Wonders. To that end, he made a pilgrimage of sorts to western New York and the Ohio Valley to see for himself the earthworks that comprised the remains of a prehistoric civilization. His reasoning was a combination of religious sentiment and burgeoning national pride: “The traits of the ancient nations of the old world are every where shown by the fragments of dilapidated cities, pyramids of stone, and walls of wonderous length; but here are the wrecks of empire, whose beginnings, it would seem, are older than any of these, which are the mounds and works of the west, towering aloft as if their builders were preparing against another flood.”10 Possessed of the racial prejudice of his time, Priest could not imagine that Native Americans—even Jewish ones—could have erected such wonders. Instead he grew evangelical in his faith these wonders had been created by a lost white race whose members had all murdered and sent to their graves by the hated Natives.

Priest returned from his trip with a deep-seated sense of mission to craft for America a founding story. He had read Washington Irving’s hagiographic biography of Christopher Columbus, published in 1828, in which Irving painted Columbus in a romantic light and interspersed facts with freshly minted myths, including the long-lasting lie that Europeans believed the earth to be flat. Priest found Irving’s book plausible but unsatisfying as a starting point for the history of a great nation, for Columbus was far too modern to serve as a legendary ancestor like Brutus of Troy in Britain or Charlemagne in France. What America needed was a great imperial past to mirror its future. If Priest’s semi-fictional hagiographies of Revolutionary soldiers created a heroic origin story for the modern United States, his new book would rewrite the prehistory of America to rival what his contemporary Edgar Allan Poe poetically called “the glory that was Greece and the grandeur that was Rome.” The United States would now be a worthy player on the global stage, an equal with Britain and France and heir to a great ancient empire of its own.

When Priest completed work on his new four-hundred-page tome and registered its copyright on March 21, 1833, it bore the seemingly self-serious title American Antiquities, and Discoveries in the West: Being an Exhibition of the Evidence that an Ancient Population of Partially Civilized Nations, Differing Entirely from Those of the Present Indians, Peopled America Many Centuries before Its discovery by Columbus, and Inquiries into Their Origin, with a Copious Description of Many of Their Stupendous Works, Now in Ruins, with Conjectures Concerning What May Have Become of Them, Compiled from Travels, Authentic Sources, and the Researches of Antiquarian Societies. Priest took out advertisements in newspapers seeking enterprising young men who could help him gain subscribers to pay printing costs:

AGENTS WANTED.—Immediate employment for 4, 8 or 12 months can be given to as many persons as shall apply, who are qualified to solicit subscribers for a certain work to be published in the city of Albany, state of New-York.

The qualifications necessary are merely a common amount of general information; an acquaintance in some degree with the manners of men; capable of complacent and dignified behaviour in all companies, and able to give good personal security for all books wanted to supply subscribers with, or for their return if not disposed of. Josiah Priest, city of Albany11

While we do not know how many men applied, we do know that subscriptions were robust. The controversial and exciting topic must have helped. As the title made plain, Priest had drawn a sharply different conclusion from that of Ethan Smith a decade before. Instead of focusing on Native Americans as the true Jews, Priest made the more sensational claim that the Americas had been home not to one lost empire but to dozens and that a lost race existed before the Flood and participated in the very events of the Bible:

As it respects some of the ancient nations who may have found their way hither, we perceive a strong possibility that not only Asiatic nations, very soon after the flood, but that all along the different eras of time, different races of men, as Polynesians, Malays, Australasians, Phoenicians, Egyptians, Greeks, Romans, Israelites, Tartars, Scandinavians, Danes, Norwegians, Welsh, and Scotch, have colonized different parts of the continent.

We have also attempted to show that America was peopled before the flood[,] that it was the country of Noah, and the place where the ark was erected. The highly interesting subjects of American antiquities, we are inclined to believe, [are] but just commencing to be developed. The immensity of country yet beyond the settlements of men, towards the Pacific, is yet to be explored by cultivation, when other evidences, and wider spread, will come in view, affording, perhaps, more definite conclusion.12

Joseph Smith might have his Book of Mormon, but Josiah Priest would claim an American history grander, stranger, and more complicated than any brought forward on golden plates. It was also a history tarred by a pervasive racism, with Priest arguing that it was scarcely “credible” that Native Americans could have piled dirt into high mounds because such a skill belonged only to the truly civilized. “The modern Indians have ever been known, since the acquaintance of white men with them, to live only in small towns; which refutes the idea of [the mounds] having been made by any other people than such as differed exceedingly from the improvident and indolent native; and must, therefore, have been erected by a people more ancient than the Indian aborigines, or wandering tribes.”13 The static nature of the biblical world, immune to significant change absent an act of God, made it impossible for Priest to imagine that the Native Americans of the 1800s could have been significantly poorer and less organized than those of centuries past, or that encounters with white Europeans might have played a part. No, there must instead have been a lost white race responsible for the ruins of early America.

Priest asked his readers to envision the envy that European antiquarians would feel if America were to stand beside them as possessor of a glorious imperial past.

Place these monuments and secret repositories of the dead, together with the innumerable mounds and monstrous fortifications, which are scattered over America, in England, and on the continent of Europe, how would their virtuosi examine, and their antiquarians fill volumes with their probable histories. How would their fame be conveyed from learned bodies, and through literary volumes, inquiring who were the builders, of what age of the world, whence came they, and their descendants; if any, what has become of them; these would be the themes of constant speculation and inquiry.14

And Priest, by attributing such monuments to Romans and Danes, Phoenicians and Atlanteans, would provide just that history, a glorious past that would make the American Republic coequal with the ancient monarchies of Europe. Among his many claims, Priest adduced that Scandinavians fought a war against Native Americans from earthen fortresses in the Finger Lakes region of central New York State, around the city of Auburn, and that some of the earthworks to the west suggested connection to the lost continent of Atlantis. He arranged his 1833 book American Antiquities and Discoveries in the West so that it moved toward a dramatic climax, the revelation of a lost white race in Kentucky and Georgia that he declared the inventors of gunpowder. In every respect, America was and would always be a white and brilliant empire.

At a superficial level, Priest’s decision to reimagine the Americas as a global crossroads was the inevitable result of his indiscriminate historiography. Borrowing from earlier writers, like Rafinesque and Atwater, and any number of rumors and lies, he simply accepted them all as true and proposed an improbable history whereby thousands of Old World visitors crisscrossed the continent while leaving no record of their actions. But at a deeper level Priest was engaging in the art of mythmaking, placing the United States into the Christian version of the prehistory of the world by creating a framework for relocating biblical events to the territory of the United States, a country located on a continent that somehow had gone unmentioned in the Bible’s infallible history of Divine Providence. In this, American Antiquities mirrored the Book of Mormon.

American Antiquities was also, like Wonders, heavily indebted to its sources, from which were drawn similarly overlong excerpts. The 1833 first edition was largely Priest’s own work, but beginning with the second edition and proceeding through the six printings of fifth editions published between 1835 and 1838, Priest included pirated articles from various scholars, notably Rafinesque, to lend encyclopedic authority to his jumble of antiquarian musings. This did not please Rafinesque. In the years since his feud with Caleb Atwater, things had not gone well for the scientist, and his reduced circumstances did not comport with his image of himself. In 1826, when Priest published his Wonders of Nature, Rafinesque quarreled with the president of Transylvania University, Horace Holley, when he returned from a scientific tour to find that Holley had broken the lock on his university apartment, emptied one of the rooms of its contents, and given it to a student. Rafinesque and Holley, a deep conservative who disapproved of scientific inquiry, had a falling out, and Rafinesque left the university to take up rooms elsewhere in Lexington. Holley soon died of yellow fever, and Transylvania University burned to the ground not long after. Until the end of his life, Rafinesque proclaimed, “I never was deprived of my Professorship and never resigned it!”15 In 1826 Rafinesque departed for Philadelphia, where he took up an appointment as a high school teacher at the Franklin Institute. Although he claimed that the job took up all of his time, he was clearly disappointed, and he spent more and more time traveling across the Northeast, particularly in the region around Albany, where he had made friends with chemistry professor Amos Eaton. His brother and mother both died around this time, and his health had begun to fail. He began traveling even more often and much farther, ostensibly for science and for his health but perhaps more to escape from the life he did not want to lead should he ever settle in one place.

Rafinesque happened to be on a trip through Albany in the summer of 1833 to deliver a lecture on the “Instability of Nature” at the courthouse in Troy at the behest of Eaton, when the second edition of American Antiquities, containing several of Rafinesque’s articles, was delivered to subscribers. Both the first and second edition emerged from the printing press of Hoffman and White at 71 State Street in Albany, bound in sheep’s leather, and, upon obtaining the second edition, the self-important scientist was incensed to see that the book contained his work without his permission. Indeed, reading the book nearly ruined the enjoyment he had climbing a twelve-hundred-foot mountain near Troy that his friends renamed from Bald Mountain to Mount Rafinesque in his honor.16 What hurt most was the fact that Priest’s book was selling so well. Priest would boast that the book sold twenty-two thousand copies in the first thirty months after its publication, a claim he had inscribed in the fifth edition. Rafinesque could not but remember his rivalry with Caleb Atwater more than a decade earlier, and how Atwater had parlayed that into celebrity and success, while Rafinesque had slid into disgrace. With the fiery new controversy over American mounds engendered by the Indian Removal Act, Rafinesque saw in Priest’s piracy as a final chance to regain the high ground and insert himself into the history of America.

A few years earlier, Rafinesque had issued a denunciation of the Ethan Smith’s View of the Hebrews, and by extension Priest’s Wonders of Nature, which made so much use of it. In a blistering August 1829 letter to the Evening Post, Rafinesque had thundered against Smith’s view that the Native Americans were the Ten Lost Tribes of Israel. Three years later, writing in the Atlantic Journal, Rafinesque expanded on the letter, taking stock of a number of books that put forward nearly identical claims, including Ira Hill’s Antiquities of America Explained. He scoffed that Viscount Kingsborough’s expenditure on his Jewish theory of Mexico could have funded a hundred scientific volumes of real American history. He also took aim at Mormonism, expressing amazement that “a new Religion or sect has been founded upon this belief!” and asserting on the authority of science that no Jews lived in ancient America. “It is to me astonishing how in this enlightened age, any such unfounded belief can be sustained; if greater absurdities still did not prevail as yet among a few.”17 Now Rafinesque was shocked to discover that Priest had copied his Atlantic article into American Antiquities with interspersed commentary criticizing every point, making Rafinesque look the fool and implying that the scientist was all but a Satanist looking to “overturn the Scriptures.” This affront to faith, Priest said, “should not be allowed to pass without reproof.”18 Rafinesque recorded only his botanical and scientific adventures in the Albany area and made no mention of Priest in his published travelogue of his journey, but the facts show that four of his articles disappeared from American Antiquities after the book was revised and the type completely reset for the fourth edition, published in 1834. It is likely that the fiery Rafinesque visited Priest and demanded either payment or cessation of publication, but neither man admitted to what had transpired.

Rafinesque, however, was not done with Priest. After a roundabout tour of upstate New York and ten days in New York City, he returned to Philadelphia in September 1833. Rafinesque’s rage had grown, and it apparently remained with him for a long time after. On January 5, 1835, Rafinesque composed a long letter to Priest, which began with a facetious thanks to the author: “I have lately read the Second Edition of your Work on American Antiquities. I ought to be very grateful to you for the handsome manner in which you have mentioned and made use of some of my labors on American history; although I perceive that you have distorted a few of my remarks, to suit your own views.” He spoke of Priest’s arguments as “learned dreams” and pretended to omit the “ridicule and blame” he might heap upon the work.

But the heart of the letter was a challenge that Rafinesque offered, doubtless to secure a measure of publicity for himself on the back of the more successful work that built on his own:

Therefore I offer you a fair chance by wishing to debate with you the matter either privately or in print, or in public, as you may deem best. If you are not afraid to sustain in public the popular theory which you adopt or modify, I tender you my assistance by offering to debate in public with you, any matter relating to American History & Antiquities, &c, before any public audience in Albany, Troy, or Lansingburgh, at any place you may select or procure, and at any time during next summer.19

To “help” Priest to prepare for the debate, he offered a list of forty errors in American Antiquities, on topics ranging from the true location of the Garden of Eden to whether the wooly mammoth boarded Noah’s Ark, whether all black people descended from Ham, and whether the Egyptians had taught mummification to the ancient Andean peoples. Rafinesque likely thought these errors to be matters of science, but far too many—at least twenty-four of the forty errors—revolved around the interpretation of the Bible and the question of whether the Mosaic account of history might correctly be located in the continental United States. Rafinesque denied this last contention but, like Priest, accepted that the words of Moses, “provided we translate them word for word correctly,” were inerrant. In an effort to humiliate Priest, whom he knew to be uneducated, he also demanded that their discourse on biblical truths refer only to the Hebrew text, “because Moses did not speak English to the Jews.”

Evidently satisfied that he had created a spectacle that would lay Priest low, he mailed the letter to the Daily Whig of Troy, only a few miles from Priest’s home in Albany. The publisher, James M. Stevenson, received the letter that week and rushed it into print, placing it in the paper’s January 13 edition. That day Amos Eaton sent a letter of support that appeared in the next day’s paper, reminding Troy residents of the “amusing eccentricity” of Rafinesque’s 1833 Troy lecture and promising education and amusement should the debate occur.

Priest read Rafinesque’s letter eleven days after it was published and composed an immediate response to what he apparently saw as an affront to both his faith and his honor. He did not agree to an unwinnable debate—the entire summer of 1836 was “not compatible with [his] engagements”—but Priest attempted to take the high road, claiming it a great “honor” that no less an authority than Rafinesque had confirmed that at least fifteen facts in his book were true, “a compliment unlooked for,” and which he judged an aid to sales. (He had already sold seventeen thousand copies.) But the tone was only bait to lead the reader to the more biting lines. Priest demanded to know by what right Rafinesque declared him uneducated, “for how do you know what I have or have not read?” And he fell back on the essential unknowability of history, claiming that everyone had the right to one’s own opinion about the past, adding that Rafinesque was wrong to take his book as a factual history, for his aim was not factual accuracy but “to arouse the public attention to the fascinating subject of American Antiquities,” an aim justified entirely by the number of sales such an effort might produce. “I have been compelled to wander widely in the field of conjecture,” he admitted, but he noted that Rafinesque was himself guilty of wild conjecture on all things biblical. He issued a challenge: “If [Rafinesque] knows for certain all the supposed errors in the English edition of the Bible, he should make them public and “acquire to himself the title of benefactor of mankind.” Homing in on Rafinesque’s key error of predicating his criticisms on the Mosaic creation, Priest cleverly concluded his letter by alleging that the whole of American Antiquities was an explication of the Mosaic account of creation, and therefore the only point of true debate was whether Rafinesque would oppose the word of God. He turned the argument back on Rafinesque:

But in my present state of feeling and condition of information, I cannot subscribe to opinions which go to unhinge, and overturn all the foundations to which the morality of the christian world is at present moored, and consent to float up with you into the interminable ocean of, I know not what; based on your better knowledge of the Hebrew which to me appears quite incredible, unless we are to suppose that all ages have agreed to keep up the delusion of the Bible errors, as it now reads, and that you are the only man who is honest and courageous enough to face the immense billows of the popular belief, and also to pour contempt on the talent, the research and the honesty of all other men who have not made these discoveries in the Hebrew Bible with yourself.20

He finished by attacking Rafinesque’s considerable ego, promising that he had no problem with Rafinesque’s attempt to ascertain the truth but took exception to his implication that a mere writer like Priest ought not dare to question his betters, “as if your sentiments are not to be molested.” He declared such thoughts to be unpatriotic—“such illiberality is not the manner of writers in free America, nor of its free press”—alluding in a subtle way to Rafinesque’s European origins, the air of hated foreignness that had followed him for decades.

Rafinesque, who sought to argue facts, once again found himself bested by emotion, rhetoric, and an unscrupulous self-promoter’s facile appeals to nationalism and to faith. The brief affair was a farcical reenactment of the Caleb Atwater feud of decades past, and, in ignominy, Rafinesque withdrew from the debate with Priest. This was the age of Jacksonian democracy, when truth was malleable and decided not by expertise or authority but by emotion and majoritarian belief. It was an age of faith of all kinds and of unreason, and Rafinesque must have looked askance at continued proof that the public had no appetite for truth. The letters of Rafinesque and Priest circulated among other newspapers for months afterward, spreading word of the failed debate across the Northeast and spurring sales of Priest’s book. A few months after Rafinesque’s failed fight for the future of American history, a New York City newspaper, the Sun, published fictional articles purporting to be scientific reports from the United Kingdom of the discovery of a race of winged beings living in idyllic conditions on the moon. The paper’s circulation quintupled, and publications around the country and the public at large escaped in mutual fantasy into a world where the moon and planets were alive with utopian societies not unlike those imagined to have existed at the time of building of the mounds.

The battle was not a total loss for Rafinesque. Priest, for all his bluster, was bluffing. He silently removed two more of Rafinesque’s articles from the fifth edition of American Antiquities, which he sent to Hoffman and White to have reset and printed a few months later. A public feud might be good for sales—some five thousand between the fourth and fifth editions by Priest’s count—but anything that could land Priest in court was not worth the fight. Rafinesque did not want to let Priest’s failure to debate him be the final word in their contentious relationship. He began work on a new pamphlet pointedly titled in reminiscence of Priest’s but less evocative and romantic: The Ancient Monuments of North and South America, which was published in 1838. The volume lays out a précis of Rafinesque’s argument that Asia, not America, was the origin of both humanity and the Native races, and it seems likely that the contents were adapted from the remarks he had planned to deliver in a debate with Priest since it answers well to the forty points of Rafinesque’s criticism, absent the biblical material. More directly, in the pamphlet he alludes to the “egregious mistakes” and the “dreams and false hypotheses” of certain “writers or historians.” Lest there be any doubt as to whom he meant, he attacked Priest by name, alongside the Irish explorer Juan Galindo, then in the process of discovering that the Maya ruins of Central America were the work of the Maya, not the Egyptians:

Meantime Josiah Priest, in his compilation on American antiquities, has boldly asserted that Noah’s ark rested in America, (whereabout?) and that he had three sons, one white, one red and one black! (what was the color of their wives?) from whom are descended the three races of mankind, who colonized the whole earth, leaving, however, neither white nor black in America. The glaring incongruity, of these bold assertions, or of the indefinite origin of Galindo are equally palpable; but nevertheless it is not improbable that they will find now and hereafter other advocates, since the absurd Jewish origin of all the Americans has still many believers.21

Rafinesque concluded with a reminder that the real work of science is “often uninteresting” when compared to historical fantasy but that it is more important. Such thought might well have carried more weight had Rafinesque not used the pamphlet to advocate for a contrasting but equally fantastic hypothesis that a global Celtic culture had, not long after the Flood, erected great works around the world, including in America, and formed the oldest layer of civilization, and that this civilization’s Asian branch connected it to the Americas: “Then it is evident that the American Monuments are similar to the oldest and earliest of the Eastern Continent, or the modern ones that are yet built there on the primitive models.”22 Despite Rafinesque’s posturing as a man outraged at the misuse of history, he was not unwilling to bend facts to fit his fantasies. Rafinesque had but two more years to live, but this would not be his final foray into the critical question of American prehistory, nor would it be the final controversy.

Josiah Priest retired from the discussion of American antiquities following his dispute with Rafinesque. Thereafter he turned his attention to writing sensationalized books and pamphlets that made the subtext of American Antiquities explicit. If Antiquities was a subtle argument for white American hegemony by extolling Old World connections to the land, his later work lost its subtly on the matter of race. Pamphlets spoke of the viciousness of Native Americans, whose atrocities in the various Indian wars he chronicled in lurid detail. Another book made a biblical case for slavery and claimed that the black race was inherently deserving of servitude on account of God having placed the curse of blackened skin upon their ancestor, Ham, the son of Noah and author of all iniquity.

While Priest was never consistent in his view of the past, accepting any claim that was interesting and served his agenda, he maintained a steadfast consistency in his belief in three things: Christianity, the U.S. Republic, and the superiority of the white race. But, as though in mockery of the fame he sought in life as an author, in death he slipped into obscurity and was all but forgotten. When Joel Munsell of Albany, who had printed some of Priest’s works, inquired of Priest’s son J. Addison Priest in 1876 for details of his father’s passing, the younger Priest replied that his father had died in April 1851 but that no one, not even for the official record of his death, had bothered to record the exact day of the month, nor could anyone by that time remember.

While Rafinesque and Priest squabbled, the church that had come to embrace the mystery of the Mound Builders was not unaware of the dispute and its implications for Mormonism. The elders of the church understood that American Antiquities could serve as a secular testament to the accuracy of the Book of Mormon, but they hesitated to give a full-throated endorsement to the popular volume, particularly at a time when they were making enemies of traditional Christians like Priest because of their insistence that they were in direct contact with their ancestors, the Mormon saints. During the years when Priest published the five editions of American Antiquities, Joseph Smith had moved the center of his operation westward in 1831, to Missouri and to Kirtland, Ohio, where tensions with non-Mormon residents grew year by year, especially as the faith’s gleaming white temple rose in the small city and came to dominate its cultural life. At the opening of the temple on Sunday, March 27, 1836, around nine hundred people gathered within. The choir sang “The Spirit of God,” and Joseph Smith offered a prayer: “And let thy house be filled, as with a rushing mighty wind, with thy glory.”23 Some of those in attendance claimed to see angels materialize through the temple windows to take seats among the church leaders.

That evening, as celebrations continued with four hundred church leaders, the assembled men claimed that a mighty wind had blown onto them. Smith wrote that “many began to speak in tongues and prophesy; others saw glorious visions; and I beheld the Temple was filled with angels, which fact I declared to the congregation.” Over the next week, church leaders announced that they had been visited by Jesus, Elias, Elijah, and Moses and that they had heard the voice of God almighty himself. “Moses appeared before us,” Smith wrote, “and committed unto us the keys of the gathering of Israel from the four parts of the earth, and the leading of the Ten Tribes from the land of the north.”24 Here, at the moment of the church’s first triumph, in the presence of Moses himself, the uncertain claim that America played host to the remnants of the Lost Tribes of Israel colored the supernatural festivities.

Joseph Smith could not turn down a ready source of evidence of the armies of ancient Jews that his golden plates and Moses himself had said once roamed America. In the years after publication of the fifth edition of American Antiquities, Smith read the book. Although he left no detailed record of his thoughts about it, a passage in American Antiquities about a supposed “catacomb” of mummies in Kentucky must have caught his eye.25 Taken by Priest verbatim from Thomas Ashe’s travelogue of his 1806 passage through America, it became, with little alteration, part of Smith’s article on a “catacomb of mummies” published nine years later in the Mormon newspaper Times and Seasons.26 It would be, however, Smith’s only direct acknowledgement of Priest. A long unsigned comparison of American Antiquities with the Book of Mormon in the same paper a few months earlier suggests a reason: “I will here remark, that the Book of Mormon was published in A.D. 1830, and the American Antiquities, by Josiah Priest, was not published untill A.D. 1833, three years after.”27 Church leaders were sensitive to any accusation that the Book of Mormon might have modern antecedents and wished to preempt the growing rumors that Priest, not Moroni, had truly inscribed divine truths onto the golden plates of Smith’s imagination.

The defensiveness was not unwarranted, for Smith’s church had received its share of bad press over the origins of the Book of Mormon. In Kirtland, anti-Mormon sentiment was rising, and a committee of anti-Mormon citizens heard testimony that the Book of Mormon was a plagiarism of Solomon Spalding’s “Manuscript Found.” More threatening still, anti-Masonic newspaper editor Eber Dudley Howe of Painesville, Ohio, had developed a profound antipathy to the Mormon faith. Howe was distressed to find that his wife, sister, and niece had all converted to the new religion, and, skeptical of all religious matters, he endeavored to learn about its origins, which he planned to describe and expose in a book, one he took pains to insist would be fair. As he told Joseph Smith’s father-in-law, “the design is to present facts, and these well authenticated, and beyond dispute.”28 His high-minded declaration contrasted with the finished product, which trafficked in petty insults, such as denouncing Joseph Smith as an “impostor” and describing the Book of Mormon as the “meanest” and most boring text in English. “It must have been written by an atheist, to make an experiment upon the human understanding and credulity,” Howe said.29 Even in the heavily Mormon parts of Ohio, Howe had little trouble finding subscribers to commit money to the future publication.

Howe had already begun the book when, around the start of January 1834, he met with Doctor Philastus Hurlbut, who was that year undergoing his crisis of faith and who had plans for a book of his own. The two men agreed that Howe would publish Hurlbut’s findings in the forthcoming book, to supplement Howe’s newspaper reports that would form the heart of the volume. When Hurlbut returned with what he believed to be evidence that the Book of Mormon had been plagiarized from Spalding, Howe gathered a collection of affidavits and allegations and placed them into a volume titled, with creative spelling, Mormonism Unvailed, which sold for eighteen and three-quarters cents apiece, against the Book of Mormon’s steeper cost. Reaction was swift. Mormons in Ohio were outraged. Oliver Cowdery published an editorial condemning Hurlbut, who had been arrested for threatening Smith’s life. Cowdery mocked Hurlbut for his parents’ deceptive choice of first name and warned readers not to be “deceived.”30

Unvailed actually pulled its punches, despite opening with a thunderous declaration comparing Mormonism to the deceptions of the Devil: “The Supreme being has had as little agency in the prosperity of Mormonism, as in the grossest works of Satan.”31 R. E. Woodbury, a relative of Hurlbut’s wife, recalled decades later that when the book went to print, rumors of its contents had so inflamed the Mormon faithful that they had threatened Hurlbut and the printers with death. After just sixty copies of the book had been printed on Howe’s own press, the plates of set type for the book were thrown over and destroyed so that the book could not be reprinted. Howe later admitted, however, that W. W. Phelps, a fellow anti-Masonic publisher who had met Joseph Smith and recognized him as a prophet, had come to him and attempted to persuade him to tone down the book’s extremes. Smith himself paid an unusual visit to Howe not long after, and, according to his journal, left Howe to call on his banker before returning to the retired newspaperman’s home, leading some to speculate that Smith simply purchased the print run of the book to suppress its damaging claims.32 Later writers noted that Howe seemed to have come into a great deal of money, and anti-Mormon activists found it odd that the movement’s most important text had no advertising campaign to generate sales. Howe had advertised the book exactly three times, with small notices in the back pages of his own newspaper in the fall of 1834. After what seems to be his acceptance of Smith’s bribe, Howe never wrote another word about Mormonism, declining to reprint Mormonism Unvailed and settling into a long retirement. He neglected even to bind the printed sheets of the unsold copies of Mormonism Unvailed. When his wife died decades later, he gave up his skepticism and became a devotee of Spiritualism, hoping to contact her in the great beyond.

None of it mattered. Word of the book’s claims had already entered newspapers by the early months of 1834. Palmyra’s Wayne Sentinel carried a notice that Hurlbut was about to reveal that “the original manuscript of the Book of Mormon was written some thirty years since, by a respectable clergyman, now deceased. It was designed to be published as a romance, but the author died soon after it was written; and hence the plan failed.”33 Papers across the country, and a number of magazines, reprinted the notice over the coming months, including the Botanic Watchman of Albany, New York, where Josiah Priest was in residence and likely came across the news that summer. The controversy over the Book of Mormon made a brief appearance in the final edition of American Antiquities, in which Priest cited Rafinesque’s partial criticism of the Book of Mormon in the Atlantic Journal and then added his own. Rafinesque had not read the Book of Mormon, but Priest had: “This work is ridiculous enough, it is true; as the whole book of Mormon bears the stamp of folly, and is a poor attempt at an imitation of the Old Testament Scriptures.”34 Finally there was one area where Priest and Rafinesque agreed.

In an effort to defend the sanctity of the holy text, the recently widowed Mormon apostle Parley P. Pratt submitted to a debate with Origen Bacheler, a rationalist Christian whom the Mormons denounced as “a man of no character, no principle, no talent.”35 The debate took place in New York in 1837 when the papers teemed with anti-Mormon speculation and accounts of Spalding’s “Manuscript Found.” That same year Joseph Smith found himself in court, accused by a man named Grandison Newell of plotting his murder after Newell had won a thousand-dollar judgment against Smith in a property dispute, though the attempted murder charges could not be proved. Pratt was an early convert to Mormonism. Only twenty-three when the Book of Mormon saw print, he had read a copy while visiting family near Palmyra and joined the church in September 1830. He rose quickly through the church’s ranks, traveling between the Mormon communities of Missouri and Ohio and joining the upper echelons of the church’s leadership as a member of the Quorum of the Twelve Apostles. In 1836 he began missionary work in Canada, and he spent 1837 seeking converts in New York City, an endeavor that was not very successful until freethinkers invited him to lecture at Tammany Hall. He was in New York because he had fallen out with Joseph Smith when the Kirtland bank failed in the Panic of 1837, and Smith had demanded payment from Pratt for a parcel of land. In New York, Pratt held a public discussion in defense of the new religion with Bacheler, who would soon embark on an anti-Mormon speaking tour, regaling audiences with evidence of Smith’s plagiarism and sharing with the audience details of Solomon Spalding’s “Manuscript Found,” typically for twenty-five cents per ticket.

After Pratt published a polemic to promote Mormonism—titled A Voice of Warning, it quickly sold out its four-thousand-copy print run—Bacheler publicly challenged Pratt to prove his miraculous claims about the divine origin of the golden plates, fully expecting Pratt to beat a hasty retreat. To his surprise, Pratt accepted his offer of a public debate, which took place in evening sessions for eight successive nights. “Prove your Book in any way whatever,” Bacheler told Pratt in establishing the ground rules the first night, “whether by itself, or by positive testimony, or by scripture. Prove your Book if you can, by any kind, or by all kinds, of evidence you please. And on my part, I shall disprove it in any way I please.”36 During this period, Bacheler followed the evidence of Mormonism Unvailed, telling those assembled to hear the debate that Joseph Smith and Sydney Rigdon had together fabricated Mormonism from Spalding’s unpublished manuscript. “Smith being an unscrupulous genius, having read the manuscript, declared it to be the greatest production of the age, and immediately communicated to Rigdon the idea of converting Spalding’s novel into a bible or book of faith for a new church,” the audience heard him say, according to a later summary.37

Bacheler’s speeches went over well. Four decades later, an attendee still recalled that Bacheler had proved his case “beyond a doubt.” On the fourth night, Pratt became fed up with Bacheler’s attacks, accused him of substituting ridicule for argument, and threatened to quit the discussion. Bacheler and a raucous audience talked him into staying for two more evening sessions, but he did so on the condition that the argument turn from the Book of Mormon to physical and historical evidence for the Mormon view of history. On the sixth night, Pratt objected again to Bacheler’s efforts to impugn the integrity of the witnesses to the golden plates, and Pratt now insisted that he had never agreed to let Bacheler attack the evidence for the Book of Mormon’s authenticity. He left the debate, and Bacheler finished the final two nights of the engagement alone. For his part, Pratt must have considered the debate to be a debacle. In his autobiography, he omitted any mention of his tangle with Bacheler, only obliquely noting, “Of all the places in which the English language is spoken, I found the City of New York to be the most difficult as to access to the minds or attention of the people.”38 He claimed that the Holy Spirit had manifested to him in New York and that he had experienced unnamed miracles that he would not put to paper. He left New York the following spring for Louisiana. In 1857, the legal husband of his twelfth wife killed him in a dispute over marital rights and child custody.

Bacheler, for his part, turned his half of the debate into a short book, Mormonism Exposed, Internally and Externally, which he published in 1838. The book rehearsed the Spalding story and announced that the author brought the sordid story to light only to protect the public from being duped by mountebanks that he called “the most vile, the most impudent, the most impious knot of charlatans and cheats.” This was, he said, a public service. “I feel that it would not be a work of supererogation, briefly to expose some of the defects and absurdities of the book under consideration, and to display in bold relief the characters of the miscreants who are battening on the ignorance and credulity of those upon whom they can successfully play off this imposture.”39 The popularity of this criticism of Mormonism led the new owners of Howe’s publishing house, L. L. Rice and Philander Winchester, to bind the already-printed sheets of Mormonism Unvailed and reissue the book in 1840, to the ire of Mormons. But when the book came out, the Mormons were largely gone from their corner of Ohio. A series of disasters had pushed them west, into Illinois, where their story would take a different turn. But what never changed was their conviction that the antiquities of America were the remains of the ancient Jews who once ruled where the Mormons were destined to reign as their heirs and successors.
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Mapping the Mounds

In the early months of 1840 the former governor of Massachusetts Edward Everett, a member of the Whig Party, departed the United States to tour Europe with his family and to nurse the sting of an election defeat by the narrowest of margins. Everett’s opponent in November had secured by one vote the majority of the votes cast, then required to win a gubernatorial election, and one fewer vote would have thrown the election to the legislature, where Everett’s fellow Whigs would have named him to another term. The Whig-dominated state legislature investigated the election outcome in January 1840, but they found no irregularities, and the results stood. Everett was devastated, but he declined to contest the election, preferring an honorable defeat to an ignominious partisan victory. Besides, Everett had hopes for higher government service should his party prevail in the federal elections in the fall of 1840, and to that end he began working quietly to burnish the reputation of the Whigs’ candidate, William Henry Harrison, the favorite of Everett’s close friend Daniel Webster. He did so by praising Harrison’s recent scientific discourse on the Aztec origin of the Mound Builders, given to the Ohio Historical Society and published as a pamphlet in 1838. Identified as the author only decades later, Everett published his praise anonymously in the North American Review that July.1 In doing so, he deceptively disguised a political purpose beneath the neutral language of the antiquarian:

We have no doubt, that [readers] will be generally interested in learning the views of one, whose long official connexion with the Indian tribes, in peace and in war, and whose familiarity with the topography of the region in question, give to his opinions the authority of observation and experience, as far as they are applicable to the matter in hand. It is a source of real satisfaction, and affords relief under the disgust with which a well-regulated mind contemplates the ferocity of our party contests, to find an individual, situated like the author of this essay, devoting a portion of his time and his pen to the calm consideration of a subject, whose interest is purely historical. There are certainly but few individuals, whose life, from early youth, has been passed in the arduous active service of the field, and in maturer years amidst the labors and cares of high and responsible official station, who could sustain with more credit a discussion like that contained in the pages under review.2

But was there a historical question more fraught with political import than that of who built the ancient monuments of the West? As Everett wrote honeyed words praising his partisan compatriot, the current president, Martin Van Buren, was prosecuting the wars against the Indians that his predecessor Andrew Jackson had begun. Everett was well aware of this and of the horrific violence and death visited on those who opposed the U.S. government’s plan for Indian removal, but he was nevertheless content to pretend that deporting the southern tribes across the Mississippi—that the land was once the province of a lost white race—was a matter not of ideology or policy or propaganda but a harmless antiquarian pursuit.

Everett might have been a Whig and ideologically opposed to everything Van Buren, Jackson, and the Democrats represented, but on one issue he and his opponents shared the same overriding belief. The mounds, he said, were testimony to a lost race that preceded the usurpers who squatted on this ancient people’s land. “At the present day,” he wrote, “there is not known to be any tribe of the native population of the continent possessed of the numbers, to say nothing of the skill, implied in the construction of these extensive and remarkable works.”3 His dim view of Native history was all the more surprising since Everett was familiar with the works of Jefferson and had recently read “Synopsis of the Indian Tribes,” by Democratic treasury secretary and minister to France and Britain Albert Gallatin, published two years before Harrison’s pamphlet. Gallatin, who devoted much of his later life to ethnographic studies of Native Americans, proposed that the mounds were the work of Native peoples from farther west than Ohio. “There is nothing in their construction, nor in the remnants which they contain, indicative of a much more advanced state of civilization than that of the present inhabitants,” Gallatin wrote. “It is not necessary to refute the opinion of those who would ascribe these works to European emigrants. There is nothing in them, which may not have been performed by a savage people.”4 Gallatin believed, based on then-prevailing notions of cultural progress, that only an agricultural people could build mounds but that the Natives of Ohio were hunter-gatherers and could therefore be of no relation because “retrograde” movement lower down the ladder of progress was unlikely. Neither Everett nor Gallatin could imagine, however, that the evidence they differently interpreted for an ancient and more populous people represented proof of the damage that colonization had done to Native populations, now too small to sustain the ancient ways of life. Willfully blind, both imagined continental migrations as though wishing away the guilt for what the policies of their parties and the inexorable westward push of white Americans had wrought.

Everett opposed Gallatin’s conclusions about the skill needed to erect earthen mounds, and he also advocated for the theory of the degeneracy of Native Americans, for reasons partisan as much as antiquarian, and after Harrison’s election Everett would come to the fore, taking over Gallatin’s former office as the U.S. minister to the Court of St. James, America’s ambassador to Britain. Eventually Everett, who fully endorsed Harrison’s opinions about Aztec Mound Builders, became the U.S. secretary of state under Millard Fillmore and a U.S. senator from Massachusetts.

In time, however, and in part through his work compiling a taxonomy of Native languages that Thomas Jefferson had long ago attempted but never concluded, Gallatin would recognize what had been obvious half a century earlier: that Native American tribes were related to one another and that their common ancestor came from Asia deep in the past. In the 1840s, in direct contrast to the removal policies of the U.S. government, Gallatin supported assimilation and as president of the newly formed American Ethnological Society sought to bring Native Americans into mainstream Euro-American culture, even to the point of calling for an end to cash payments to displaced Natives in order to force them into the U.S. economy. If not correct, Gallatin’s views were more scientific than those of Everett and bucked the ideology of his own party. Under both Jackson and Van Buren, the Democratic Party had demonized Native Americans and endorsed the myth of a lost race who were the rightful owners of the land to which white European Americans were the heirs.

The man Everett praised, William Henry Harrison, responded to his failed campaign for the presidency in 1836 as one of two Whig candidates (and as the anti-Masonic candidate) by retiring to private life in Ohio. His long years of service to the United States as a military man, a U.S. representative, a senator, and an ambassador had left him without much by way of savings. He had once turned the corn his North Bend farm grew into whiskey, but he had closed his distillery and gave up its profits because he had come to view alcohol as a sin. The illustrious man took a job as the clerk of courts for Hamilton County to make ends meet, and he scratched out a meager living from his agricultural surplus and the payments he received from an 1836 biography of himself, written in anticipation of his presidential campaign, to which he had contributed material.

In the autumn of 1837, the defeated candidate appeared before the Historical and Philosophical Society of Ohio, situated in Columbus, to give a speech on the Native peoples of the state. The society was but six years old, and even at this early date there was concern among its members for the future of the organization, concerns that would not be assuaged when the Panic of 1837 and the difficult economy that followed in its wake sent membership spiraling downward and the society into a decade of decline before its removal to Cincinnati. Because these forces were only just becoming evident that fall, the regular meeting went on as scheduled, with Harrison serving as a distinguished speaker to lend authority to the proceedings. The speech took the form of a historical inquiry, but its greater purpose lingered just beneath the surface. All of the interested men who gathered in the society’s hall would have known that Harrison had nearly three decades earlier made his name defeating the powerful Shawnee leader Tecumseh, crushing Native resistance to the colonization of Ohio. His actions contributed to the outbreak of the War of 1812, when rumor spread that the British had backed Tecumseh against Harrison. The audience would also have remembered that Harrison had spent the war years fighting the British-backed Shawnees, eventually leading U.S. forces to the second-greatest victory of the war, at the Battle of the Thames, where Tecumseh fell. With plenipotentiary power from the United States, Harrison had negotiated the subsequent peace treaties with tribes including the Miami, Kickapoo, Delaware (Lenape), Shawnee, Chippewa, and Seneca peoples that had the effect of depriving the Native peoples of most of their Ohio lands. All must have recognized that it was in the interest of the State of Ohio and of the United States to argue that these warlike tribes were latecomers to a land formerly occupied by a lost race, its legitimate, and conveniently dead, owners.

Such thoughts were clearly on Harrison’s mind when he spoke. He told the assembled group that he worried that the new fad for Gothic novels and other fiction was destroying patriotism by turning minds from history. He reminded his audience that a half century earlier, just before he first came to Ohio, “there was not a Christian inhabitant within the bounds which now compose the State of Ohio.” He also recalled to the assembled guests that when he first passed through the state as young military officer in the 1790s, he saw the remains of ancient mounds, “indubitable evidences that centuries had passed away” since the “numerous and laborious” ancient inhabitants had been “forced to flee before a new swarm,” the Native American then occupying the land.5 The implication could hardly have been clearer. The hero who drove the Shawnees and their allies to capitulation had cast these enemies as interlopers, usurpers who held no rights to the land and whose conquest and capitulation was restitution for the iniquity they had visited on the imagined ancient Mound Builder race. Harrison correctly expected his audience to consider this arrogant political revisionism to be dispassionate history.

Harrison must have had an inkling that his history of the mounds was little more than political expediency wrapped in the language of science. “I have persuaded myself that I have gleaned from them, also, some interesting facts of their history,” he told the audience, before confessing that these gleanings were speculation heaped atop the conclusion of Baron Alexander von Humboldt that the Aztecs of Mexico originated in what is now Wisconsin and that of the Right Reverend Bishop James Madison of Virginia that “these Astecks are one and the same people with those who once inhabited the Valley of Ohio.” Humboldt, the famed Prussian polymath, had published a series of works on the geography, anthropology, and ecology of the Americas, and they were considered the definitive guide to the Americas in the first decades of the nineteenth century. Humboldt, convinced of his own genius, believed that he could derive the history of the Aztecs, a people then believed by many to be the descendants of an ancient white race, from the myth they told that they had come to Mexico from a land called Aztlán in the north. “It is almost certain,” he wrote in 1810, “that we must look for the first country of the Mexican nations, Aztlan, Huehuetlapallan, and Amequemecan, at least North of the 42d degree of latitude.” Humboldt placed the Aztec homeland near the Great Lakes despite the fact that the painted images he used to identify it included a palm tree, which he noted “certainly does not indicate a northern region.”6 Instead of accepting the obvious—that Aztlán was a mythic mirror of northwestern Mexico—Humboldt preferred to argue that the Aztec artist knew not his own history, at least not half so well as Humboldt. So proud was Humboldt of his conclusion that he gave the Aztecs their name, in honor of the mythical Aztechah people of Aztlán, replacing their own self-identification as the Mexica.

The idea attained popularity when Josiah Priest included a mangled quotation from Humboldt in his American Antiquities and compared it to the accounts levied by Indian agent William Walker, in an 1823 pamphlet by Frederick Falley, that the Wyandots, a Huron people then living in Michigan and Ontario, remembered being driven from their lands by savage hordes that passed through en route to the south. The Wyandot territory, Priest said, “we suppose is the very country of Aztalan,” inhabited once by the Aztecs, who were of “Tartar” or even “Hebrew” origin.7 So pregnant with possibility was this identification that when a new set of Middle Mississippian earthworks were discovered in Jefferson County, Wisconsin, on Halloween 1836 and hastily surveyed by a judge from Milwaukee, Nathaniel F. Hyer, the following January, Hyer gave the impressive mounds the name “Aztalan” because he believed, on Humboldt’s authority, that he had found the very homeland of the (white) Aztecs, and he published an account of the discovery in the region’s only newspaper, the Milwaukee Advertiser, in the first weeks of 1837. The paper printed his map of the site on February 25, only a few months before Harrison spoke in Ohio.

Within weeks, a group of settlers had made their way to the newly discovered site, and they took up residence. The wife of settler B. B. Chambers was a particularly notorious figure. Upset that her husband had made friends with local Native Americans and lazed away the day drinking firewater with them in the home she shared with him, she stopped up the chimney of the marital cabin and smoked out the entire drunken lot and refused to let them back in until her husband had given up alcohol.8 Life was hard in Wisconsin. One settler reported spending three weeks subsisting on nothing but the fish he could pull from a river. Hyer tried to have part of what he called “the ancient city” preserved for educational purposes, with a vocational school to be built amid the ruins. Another settler laid claim to the same land and built a cabin, which Hyer and his allies destroyed, leading to a protracted battle over the land in court in Milwaukee. “We are determined to preserve these ruins from being ruined,” Hyer had written, even as he made plans to build a school atop them.

This greatly excited Edward Everett, who both believed in the Aztec connection and saw the Wisconsin Aztalan mounds as support for Harrison’s sound judgment. Several months after Hyer published his findings, Everett received a copy of the Milwaukee Advertiser that had been shipped eastward, and he was duly shocked to learn that the site would be sold and destroyed. Despite never before having sought to preserve a mound site, Everett was moved—not least by the myth of a lost white race. In 1838, the year that Harrison’s discourse circulated as a printed pamphlet from the press of the Cincinnati Enquirer, Everett made a plea to President Van Buren, begging him to halt the sale of Aztalan for settlement. When the public remained indifferent to the conservation effort, Van Buren refused, for the most ironic of reasons. He correctly believed the Aztalan earthworks to have been built by Native Americans and not a lost white race, and therefore he considered them utterly and wholly without merit. He declined to halt their sale to a settler family for $22, upon the conclusion of which the new settlers proceeded to ransack the mounds and level as many as they could to make for better farmland. The destruction continued for decades. In the early 1880s a professor named J. D. Butler discovered that the German immigrant who then owned the site was still plowing it up and pulling out artifacts.9 The area did not receive government protection until 1912.

In 1839 a poet, Charles A. Alexander, took inspiration from the controversy to create a romantic but didactic poem about the Aztecs’ departure from Aztalan, noting that “recent accounts of ‘an antiquarian wonder’ of this kind have reached us from the State of Michigan.”10 He might not have been clear about the facts, but he knew one thing: America’s mounds had been built by a lost white race superior to the Native Americans. But it was Josiah Priest whose shadow hung darkest over the poem, for Alexander took pains to make Aztalan an analogue of Atlantis, explicitly likening it to the lost continent, destroyed by geological upheaval rather than invasion. Aztalan, Alexander fancifully imagined, was a city of mythic grandeur:

There, with frequent dome and tower,

Princely hall and beauty’s bower,

Once a stately city stood,

Mistress of the solitude.11

The people of Aztalan, Alexander said, were civilized, gentle, and at one with nature. A rosy and romantic vision, to be sure, but also a pointed comment on the bloody Second Seminole War and the mass removal of Native peoples from the southeastern United States that had then reached a terrible climax. For Alexander, like so many Americans, the violence and inferiority of Native Americans was a fact of nature, and the mythic white Aztecs justified a continued belief that the “savages” were not truly American natives. The myth of the southward migration of the Aztecs also seemed tailor-made as precedent for America’s southward push into Mexico, where white settlers from the United States had recently seized control of the province of Texas. It was unlikely by mere chance that writers like John Frost and Bantz Mayer spoke of ancient migrations from the north in their coverage of the Mexican War. “The recent war between the United States and Mexico has awakened in the people of the former country a degree of interest in the history and condition of the latter, which it never possessed before,” Frost wrote after the Mexican-American War of 1846–1848.12 These writers would cater to that interest with myths about the origins of ancient Mexico and the fictitious stories of an invasion that gave rise to its culture.

All of the high-minded speculation about the noble race whose birthright America would gloriously restore could not paper over the horrors that the government of Andrew Jackson and his successor, Martin Van Buren, carried out. Jackson’s removal of the Choctaws in 1831 served as the model for more forced relocations to come. The Muskogees (Creeks) accepted relocation west of the Mississippi and were taken westward in 1834; the Chickasaws were removed in 1837. The Muskogees did not go quietly. They had signed a treaty dividing their territory into individual allotments, which they could surrender to receive cash payments to move west or live on as taxable U.S. citizens. After land speculators tried to defraud them of their Alabama lands in 1836, violence resulted, prompting the U.S. government to use military force to expel the Muskogees. The Seminoles continued their resistance against forced removal, and their war against the United States outlasted Jackson’s term of office, and Van Buren’s and Harrison’s too. The war carried on until 1842, at a cost of some $20 million to the U.S. Treasury and more than 1,466 American lives. No one counted the number of Seminoles killed, nor did those at the War Department much care. The U.S. military could not defeat the Seminoles, and rumors spread in Washington that military leaders purposely prolonged the war to secure lucrative military contracts and positions. Eventually the government bribed the Seminole chiefs to move west, giving Native warriors and leaders payments between $30 and $5,000 each to relocate. Congress passed the Armed Occupation Act of 1842, giving white settlers 160 acres of free land in the former Seminole territory so long as the settlers were prepared to defend it from any remaining Natives.

The largest and most tragic of all the removals was that of the Cherokees, four thousand of whom died on a long and dangerous forced march from the southeastern United States to the Indian Territory, today’s Oklahoma. This long march became known in Cherokee as Nu na da ul tsun yi (“the place where they cried”), their version of the name first used for the Choctaw removal of 1831: Trail of Tears. The events leading to the Cherokees’ removal were distressingly familiar. After Andrew Jackson’s defiance of the Supreme Court’s ruling that Georgia could not impose its laws on the Cherokees, tensions between white settlers and the Cherokees rose to unsustainable levels, and the state government had begun holding lotteries to parcel out the Cherokee lands that they thought would soon be freed by removal. In the Cherokee capital of New Echota, divisions arose between those who hoped to cut a deal with the United States before settlers stripped them of their lands without compensation and those who opposed removal under any terms. Principal Chief John Ross canceled the Cherokee election of 1832 and moved against those who would cut a deal, particularly Major Ridge and his son John. The Ridges broke away from the New Echota government and formed their own, claiming to represent the Cherokees with their minority of followers, known as the Treaty Party. The Treaty Party made a deal with the United States on December 29, 1835, known as the Treaty of New Echota, to the horror of Ross, who wrote in protest to Congress, begging them in the name of Christian virtue and the shared values of liberty and justice:

We are denationalized; we are disfranchised. We are deprived of membership in the human family! We have neither land nor home, nor resting place that can be called our own. And this is effected by the provisions of a compact which assumes the venerated, the sacred appellation of treaty. We are overwhelmed! Our hearts are sickened, our utterance is paralyzed, when we reflect on the condition in which we are placed, by the audacious practices of unprincipled men, who have managed their stratagems with so much dexterity as to impose on the Government of the United States, in the face of our earnest, solemn, and reiterated protestations.13

By the Treaty of New Echota, the minority party of the Cherokees agreed to surrender all of the nation’s lands east of the Mississippi River and to accept removal to the Indian Territory. In exchange, the United States promised $5 million in compensation, to be divided equally among all members of the Cherokee Nation, half a million more dollars to fund education for Cherokee youth, permanent title to Indian Territory lands equal in scale to those surrendered, and compensation for any property that had to be abandoned in the removal. President Jackson agreed to the terms with one exception. He drew a line through the clause that would have allowed any Cherokees who so desired to remain in their homes as citizens of their state of residence. All Cherokees, he felt, must be removed. With that change, the treaty went to the Senate, where it won ratification by a single vote, over the objections of Ross and the sixteen thousand Cherokees unrepresented by the Treaty Party who signed his 1838 petition begging the Senate to reject the illegitimate treaty. By this time, Van Buren had become president, and he was, if anything, more insistent on Indian removal than Jackson. He rejected Ross’s entreaties and delivered an order to Gen. Winfield Scott to plan for the immediate forced removal of all Cherokee who would not voluntarily leave their homes. Even white Americans were outraged by the government’s deceptive actions, and Ralph Waldo Emerson spoke for many when he protested the irregular nature of the treaty to Van Buren (“in the name of God, sir”) but also when he claimed that “red men” would suffer “the doom of eternal inferiority” if they would not accept “the inventions and customs of the Caucasian race.”14

The political elites in the East spoke of a lost white race and rationalized their actions as fair recompense for the Natives’ bloodthirsty overthrow of this vanished people. But before leaving their homes for the last time, the Cherokees opposed to the treaty passed a resolution in council on August 1, 1838, reaffirming that “the title of the Cherokee people to their lands is the most ancient, pure, and absolute known to man; its date is beyond the reach of human record; its validity confirmed and illustrated by possession and enjoyment, antecedent to all pretense of claim by any other portion of the human race.”15 In this the Cherokees seem to have intentionally echoed Andrew Jackson’s State of the Union Address referencing the myth of the Mound Builders, but the tenor of the times conspired against them. Although they alluded to the Mound Builder myth to dispute it, the convenient myth lived on, and Cherokees’ assertion of ancestral rights dissolved in the myth’s caustic brew.

Removal commenced in stages. Voluntary removal came first, and those who accepted removal left in 1837 and 1838, totaling around ten thousand individuals. The involuntary phase that followed was much harsher. When the May 23, 1838, deadline for voluntary removal west of the Mississippi passed, seven thousand U.S. Army and state militia soldiers began the process of forcibly removing those who remained. New Echota experienced days of terror as young and old, male and female, were herded at gunpoint into concentration camps to be removed from their homes and taken to the strange land far beyond the reaches to which most had ever traveled. The soldiers themselves found the work distasteful and even immoral. “We had no choice in the matter,” one later wrote.

Cherokees were sent West by the boatload along the Tennessee, Ohio, Mississippi, and Arkansas Rivers, and conditions were horrible. Only 489 of the 800 Cherokees on the first steamboat arrived at their destination in Oklahoma. The third boat experienced 70 deaths. The attrition rate shocked General Scott, who ordered a halt to the use of boats. As Scott and Chief Ross devised a plan to remove the remaining Cherokees by wagon train, hundreds died in a concentration camp of illnesses like dysentery. Finally thirteen trains of wagons, each train carrying between five hundred and fifteen hundred people, departed for points west along an unforgiving route that took them more than two thousand miles across the frozen late autumn and early winter terrain, subject to blizzards and icy temperatures, the ravages of pneumonia, and the dangers of traveling through untamed land. The able-bodied had to walk, while the elderly and the sick rode with the food and blankets in wagons provided by the government. Many sickened, and many died. Speaking a century afterward, Rachel Dodge remembered her grandmother’s account of the Trail of Tears: “When they would get too sick to walk or ride, they were put in the wagons and taken along until they died.” Lillian Anderson similarly recalled what a great-aunt had told her about that horrific time:

Aunt Chin Deanawash was my grandmother’s sister and she came from Georgia on the Trail of Tears. Her husband died shortly after they got out of Georgia and left her to battle her way through with three small children, one who could not walk. Aunt Chin tied the little one on her back with an old shawl, she took one child in her arms and led the other by the hand; the two larger children died before they had gone so very far and the little one died and Aunt Chin took a broken case knife and dug a grave and buried the little body by the side of the Trail of Tears.16

Four thousand graves marked the Trail of Tears.

When William Henry Harrison gave his remarks to the Philosophical and Historical Society in 1837, he delivered a full-throated defense of the study of history. “If I truly estimate the value of knowledge of history, gentlemen, by the citizens of a Republic,” he said, “you will unite with me in deploring the existence of any circumstance which would have a tendency to supercede or lessen the attention which was once paid to it in our seminaries of learning.”17 But it was exactly in the “seminaries” of learning where history faced its greatest challenge. The popular press had long since given itself over to the idea of a lost race that had built the ancient mounds, and clerics of every stripe similarly gave divine sanction to the belief. High officials in the major parties, including presidents, secretaries of state, and congressmen, all advocated the idea and turned it from popular folklore to federal policy. Some who spoke in the name of science and scholarship were not inclined to agree. When in 1834 George Bancroft, then thirty-four, published the first great textbook of the history of the United States, he made no mention of lost races or lost tribes or ancient European settlers. Indeed, in one edition, Bancroft declared all of the mounds to be nothing but natural features worn by time and water. Charles Augustus Goodrich’s textbook of the preceding decade had gone so far as to describe the Native Americans correctly as the first and indigenous people of America and as descendants of Asians. But when Egbert Guernsey, a newly minted doctor from the University of the City of New York, published his History of the United States of America, Designed for Schools in 1847, when he was but twenty-four, the textbook opened by repeating the title of Josiah Priest’s American Antiquities as the title for its first chapter. In it Guernsey borrowed heavily, sometimes almost verbatim, from Priest’s dubious collection of evidence and declared in triumph:

Here are skeletons of strange forms, unknown to the Indians; preserved bodies, fortifications, immense mounds and tumuli, which, from their number, obscurity of origin and magnitude, are to be ranked among the wonders of ancient things. It remains for America to tell the story of her antiquities—to arouse her virtuosi and antiquarians to the search; for here, beyond a doubt, are traits of nations coeval with ancient, and probably with the oldest works of man, this side the flood.18

The ancient inhabitants of America, Guernsey said, were likely antediluvians from the biblical age of giants, succeeded after the Flood by Egyptians and later joined by people from Wales and Scandinavia, and under no circumstances could wild and “savage” Native Americans have been responsible for the ancient wonders of the American homeland. Advertisements for this book ran in teaching publications like the Ohio School Journal. Guernsey’s book quickly became a standard school text, and it would be used for decades. “I should prefer it, as a text-book for recitations, to any other History of the United States with which I am acquainted,” said the distinguished head of New York’s exclusive Abbott Institute for young women, the Rev. John Abbott. Charles Wingate, the principal of the English and Classical School in New York, specifically singled out “the introductory chapter on American Antiquities, containing much that is both new and interesting on a subject that in most of our histories is neglected” to justify discarding all of his school’s other textbooks in favor of this one.19 Something had changed.

Ephraim George Squier felt those changes coming of age in the 1830s, as did many other young men of his time. Squier was born on June 17, 1821, in Bethlehem, New York, to a minister father and an immigrant German mother. He was a romantic from the first, idealizing his youth as a lost paradise, even while still a very young man. Fate seemed to have marked him for a career in engineering, or at least that was his plan for life when he was fifteen and sixteen years old. But the same Panic of 1837 that had wrought so much damage also claimed Squier’s chance to enter the engineering field, so he spent his final teenage years studying literature and journalism instead. He lived in Albany in the years when Josiah Priest was active, living not far from Priest while he worked on the New York State Mechanic in 1841 and 1842. Somewhere around this time Squier purchased an 1838 printing of Priest’s American Antiquities, which he would keep in his library for the rest of his life, alongside more serious works of prehistory. He read too the opinions of Caleb Atwater and Constantine Rafinesque, and from these books he began to formulate a deep, abiding interest the mystery of the Mound Builders, even as he became a dedicated—indeed, colleagues said, “inflexible”—supporter of Harrison’s Whig Party, a loyalty he maintained after Harrison died just one month into office in 1841 straight through the 1844 election.

Squier’s father urged him to give up his dreams of being a writer and to instead take up a practical and respectable occupation, teaching. His editors, however, recognized in him a talented storyteller. Squier, in a flush of youthful exuberance, defied his father’s wishes. He departed Albany in 1843 for Hartford, Connecticut, where, with the recommendation of famed editor Horace Greely of the New York Tribune, he secured a position writing for the Hartford Journal, the city’s official Whig publication, earning just enough to pay his room and board. Squier loved his life in Connecticut, where he found himself a rising star in the Whig Party. During the 1844 election campaign, Squier organized for Henry Clay and devoted his heart, mind, and soul to the election of the Kentucky senator. To help his hero, Squier wrote vehement essays against the “unscrupulous” Democrats and denounced less vehement advocates in his own party as “antiquated” in their politeness. When his fellow Whigs objected, Squier angrily attacked them too: “If the lash has at last reached the quick, let it be plied with renewed vigor.”20 But Clay’s loss left Squier devastated and looking for new opportunities, even beyond the bounds of his beloved adopted home. His Whig Party connections brought him his choice of two editorial positions, one with a paper in Baltimore and the other with one in Ohio. Since Squier was violently opposed to slavery, then legal in Maryland, he chose Ohio. Squier again uprooted himself and set out for Chillicothe, Ohio, in the spring of 1845.

It was in these years that Squier would have become familiar not just with the Mound Builder myth popularized in Priest’s American Antiquities but also with the growing controversy over Scandinavian influence in ancient America. In the 1820s a Danish antiquarian, Carl Christian Rafn, then in his early thirties, struck upon the idea that the mysterious Vinland where the Icelandic sagas said the Norse had sailed before the year 1000 and where they had established a vanished colony was actually North America. His insight would prove prescient, and in the 1960s archaeological discoveries at L’anse-aux-Meadows in Newfoundland would demonstrate the correctness of his conclusion. But Rafn lived before knowledge of climate change, and he had no way of knowing that the medieval climate had been warmer than the frigid Little Ice Age into which he had been born. Therefore, he took his insight too far, and in his enthusiasm he sought any evidence he might use to prove that Scandinavians had colonized America as far south as the Long Island Sound, wrongly thinking that the grapes—the vin in Vinland—recorded in the sagas could not have grown farther north than New England. To that end, he proposed that the cacophony of Native American petroglyphs on a forty-ton boulder on the Taunton River in Massachusetts known as the Dighton Rock were really Norse runes. He put together his argument in a massive tome written in academic Latin in 1837, Antiquitates Americanae, a scholarly reaction to Priest’s American Antiquities. Some of the evidence he provided—the literary analysis of the old sagas—was sound, but more of it was rank speculation, particularly his efforts to interpret Native American petroglyphs as Norse runes.

Despite the ponderous nature of the book and its heavy Latin text, the American newspapers ate it up and popularized it across New England with excited reviews that quickly had Yankees tramping about the countryside in search of evidence of Viking colonies. A doctor named Thomas H. Webb wrote a giddy letter to Rafn asking whether an old stone windmill built in Newport in the seventeenth century by Rhode Island governor Benedict Arnold might actually be the remains of a Viking church. Rafn studied a fanciful drawing made by Frederick Catherwood, and Rafn duly obliged by writing a supplement to his Latin text, published in 1839 and in English translation in 1841, declaring the windmill “a monastery founded in Vinland by the ancient Northmen.”21 Henry Wadsworth Longfellow, taken by the tale Rafn spun, wrote a poem, “Skeleton in Armor,” in honor of the Norse he thought had built the windmill. Later in the century, the Norwegian nationalist and violinist Ole Bull erected a statue of Leif Erikson in Boston in honor of Vinland, and the scientist Eben Norton Horsford, who invented baking powder, convinced many that his home on the Charles River stood atop Leif’s settlement in Vinland. A white supremacist, he explicitly hoped to give credit for the discovery of America to a northern European instead of a Latin Catholic, Columbus. As New England’s complexion changed with the arrival of more immigrants from Ireland and especially from the Latin countries of southern Europe, white Protestants took comfort in imagining themselves heirs to a great Viking colony. The Vikings had become a totem, a powerfully white set of symbolic ancestors for a changing America racked with concern about Native Americans, immigrants, and slaves.22 It was inevitable that the enthusiasm for Viking ancestors would lead to claims that at least some of the mounds of America were the tombs of Viking warriors.

These ideas, so prominent in the New England of the 1840s, filled Squier’s head as he headed to Ohio, where he would see for himself the mounds he had read about in Priest and Atwater. Squier had also read the work of Samuel George Morton, a physician who had become a professor of anatomy at the Pennsylvania Medical College in 1839 and had published a study on the skulls of the Mound Builders that argued against the prevailing myth of a lost race. Morton, like many men of his time, pursued scientific ends from flawed premises, producing studies that amassed enormous numbers of observable facts in service of biased or baseless conclusions. In Morton’s case, his firmly held conviction that the races of humanity were separate species rather than variations of a single creation earned him a prominent place in the pantheon of antebellum ethnology and his informal title, “father of scientific racism.” Morton, for example, committed himself to the flawed pseudoscience of phrenology. Under its obsessive focus on cranial size and shape, he correlated racial superiority to skull size and concluded, to no one’s surprise, that white people had the largest skulls and greatest brains (and “the highest intellectual endowments”), while Asians were sneaky and Africans had both the smallest skulls and the dullest minds. He believed that there was too little time for Africans’ distinctly “Negro” racial type to have developed after Noah’s Ark landed, and therefore white people were the favored race described in the Bible, and all others were separate and inferior creations. In his 1839 masterpiece of scientific racism, Crania Americana, which Squier owned in a first edition, Morton proudly announced, “There is a singular harmony between the mental character of the Indian, and his cranial developments as explained by Phrenology.”23 According to Morton, Native Americans were “averse to cultivation, and slow in acquiring knowledge; restless, resentful, and fond of war.”24

Nevertheless, Morton’s racism did drive him to make a contribution to science, for he took it upon himself to determine, though examination of skulls from ancient American mounds, “whether the American aborigines, of all epochs, have belonged to one Race, or to a plurality of Races.”25 Morton collected reports of skulls and bones dug out of mounds from across the Americas, and he personally obtained nine ancient Native skulls that he could measure in detail at his leisure. His results ought to have given pause to all those, like Squier, who had become enamored of the Mound Builder myth:

If I may judge from the nine adult mound skulls now in my possession, and sufficiently perfect for measurement, the people whom they represent were one and the same with the American race, and probably of the Toltecan branch. Thus, the mean internal capacity of these heads is but eighty-one cubic inches, or a little more than the mean of the American race, while the facial angle does not exceed the average of that people, or seventy-five degrees. These facts, together with an inspection of many of the long bones found in the mounds, satisfy me that the constructors were neither a gigantic race as asserted by some writers, nor a diminutive people as averred by others; but of the ordinary stature of the American Indians. The preceding data are to me also conclusive evidence that the occupants of the mounds were not Mongols, nor Hindoos, nor Jews.26

Reviewers, however, seized on Morton’s mention of the “Toltecan” branch of the American race in order to discredit his results. The ironically named Christian Review exhibited little Christian charity in challenging Morton’s idea that the Toltecs were Native Americans, and it noted that Morton himself referred at times to a lost ancient race that might have built the fabulous ruins of South America. “It is obvious that they upset the views expressed by the author completely; and that the facts they contain suggest totally different views.”27 The reviewer for the North American Review seized upon the same facts to throw a lifeline to the lost white race, telling readers, “We are not apt to attribute a high degree of mental capacity to the heads of an anti-Caucasian formation.”28 Therefore the review rejected the idea that Native people could have been responsible for anything resembling civilization. No, there had to be a lost race, preferably one with at least some Caucasian ancestry. Even the Phrenological Journal had difficulty accepting Morton’s conclusions. Its review admitted that Morton’s science was beyond dispute, but the reviewer was distressed by the difficulty of explaining the “anomaly, of a superior brain in an inferior skull” represented by the difference between Natives’ racial inferiority and their architectural accomplishments.29 The writer suggested that the Toltecan peoples had used head-binding to make their skulls larger in order to improve their creativity and brain power. All involved, however, took comfort in the conclusion that, no matter how much credence they afforded Morton’s race science, even the strictest reading of Morton still placed responsibility for the mounds on the peoples of Mexico and not the direct ancestors of the warlike Natives currently being deported to the west. They were still inferior.

The thought leaders of the day took from Morton what they wanted—scientific racism—and left behind what they could not accept. While these years found the Aztec or Toltec hypothesis in the ascendant, the growing antipathy to Natives in the wake of Indian removal would render even this compromise position unsatisfactory to those looking for a whiter past. Works like Morton’s were easily overshadowed by more sensational fare from more prominent men. Thomas Jefferson’s treasury secretary, Albert Gallatin, Swiss by birth, devoted his retirement to the study of Native Americans and published in 1836 A Synopsis of the Indians within the United States East of the Rocky Mountains and in the British and Russian Possessions in North America, in which he admitted that nothing about the mounds suggested any greater level of civilization than the Native Americans possessed. Gallatin nevertheless concluded—albeit by admitted conjecture—that a separate and superior race was responsible, perhaps the white ancestors of the Mexicans.

As Squier also knew, a few writers had even denied that the mounds were the work of humans at all, putting them down to natural formations created by Noah’s flood or later flooding. Squier also read the most fantastical of all the books on the Mound Builders published in those years, John Ranking’s Historical Researches on the Conquest of Peru, Mexico, Bogota, Natchez, and Talomeco, in the Thirteenth Century, Accompanied by Elephants. Published in London in 1827, Ranking’s text astonished readers with a bizarre hypothesis that the Mongol conquerors of China had crossed the Pacific Ocean into the Americas and imposed Chinese culture onto Mexico, using a battle phalanx of elephants, by which the remains of mammoths and mastodons might be explained. Ranking’s entire theory hinged on a mistake of translation, because the first English translator of Garcilaso de la Vega’s Royal Commentaries of the Inca (1609) mistakenly used the word “junk”—a Chinese ship—instead of “reed boat” to describe the transport vessels of a legendary group of giants that in myth invaded ancient Peru.30 Ignorant of Spanish, Ranking let his imagination run away with him. The Asiatic Journal expressed the scientific consensus of his work quite ably in 1831: “We can only express our utter astonishment that a person capable of appreciating the nature of evidence of any kind, could have ever imposed upon himself so far as to imagine he had adduced one single fact in support of his theory.”31

These were the sorts of books that occupied Squier’s free hours in 1845 during the year he spent as the editor of the Scioto Gazette, the Whig newspaper in Chillicothe. Squier found the editorial burden of the paper to be much reduced from his former workload in Connecticut, and he applied his ample free time to exploring the mounds of Ohio and reading about them. The ancient ruins appealed to his romantic nature, and his head swam with visions of the great and vanished peoples who must have lived among these constructions, but he was horrified to find that few in Chillicothe shared his passion. “The people don’t seem to care a damn for them,” he wrote to a friend back in Albany, “and what with the plow, and grading turnpikes, and making bricks, they are fast passing away!” Yet Squier himself was not immune from destructive urges. He dug into a mound known as Clark’s Work on Paint Creek and pulled out materials enclosed within. “Here I found some wonderful carvings more perfect and more bewildering than any I ever before heard of! It is strange how these things have been overlooked!” Ominously, though he had been among the mounds for only a few months, he had already reached a startling conclusion, drawn from Josiah Priest and the other books he had so eagerly consumed, that they were the work of a lost race “long anterior to our present race of Indians.” This thought excited him greatly, he told his friend: “I dream of the old works by night and I think of them by day.”32

Slowly he developed a plan to document all of the surviving works of the lost race before they vanished forever, and the plan would be shepherded to partial fruition by a friend Squier met in Ohio, Edwin Hamilton Davis, an eminent physician ten years his senior, who had long since succumbed to the mania for the Mound Builders and had even taken to calling himself a “moundologist” among his group of Ohio antiquarian friends. When he had graduated from Kenyon College in 1833, he had given a commencement address on the “Antiquities of Ohio” and spoken of the Mound Builders. He also shared with Squier the desire to protect what remained of the ancient earthworks from destruction or at least to document what he could of the “masterpieces of the lost race.” To that end, Davis had already joined with Charles Whittlesey in 1836, while still a medical student, to begin mapping the Newark Earthworks for Ohio’s Geological Survey of the State, a survey whose mound mapping concluded in 1838. In one of the odd harmonies of history, Davis had come to his work studying mounds due to the encouragement of Daniel Webster, who was both a member of the American Antiquarian Society and a leading Whig politician. Webster visited Kenyon in 1833, and Davis later recalled that during their meeting Webster convinced him to make a record of the Mound Builders’ remains. History harmonized again when Davis graduated from medical school in Cincinnati and moved to Chillicothe to set up practice, seven years before Whig politics would send Squier to the same city. Less than a year after Squier arrived in Chillicothe, he and Davis had hit it off and were busy engaging in antiquarian pursuits together. The older Davis considered Squier a friend but also an assistant, seeing himself as the senior partner, mentor, and guide.33 Squier, however, considered theirs a partnership of equals, and in time this small difference in perception led to a falling out that would destroy their partnership.

For two full years, from the spring of 1845 to the spring of 1847, Squier and Davis devoted themselves to mapping and excavating as many mounds as they were able to visit, employing a team to help them in this monumental task. Nearly two hundred mounds fell before their spades, and one hundred earthworks achieved immortality through their mapping, including many that did not survive the century. By the time they had finished, their efforts produced the largest archaeological collection of Native artifacts in private hands. Davis provided the money for their work, drawing on his lucrative medical practice, while Squier did most of the laborious fieldwork, joined by Davis when the demands of doctoring allowed. The money, however, would not last forever, and in short order the pair found themselves in need of cash if they were to expand their efforts outside the Ohio Valley. With grand ambitions to survey the whole of the Mississippi Valley, Squier visited the learned societies of the East, sharing the first stage of his research and requesting funding for more. He brought a traveling presentation with him, complete with drawings, maps, and more than one hundred artifacts. His first presentation, at the home of Albert Gallatin, took two evenings to deliver, surprising American Ethnological Society members with its thoroughness and strongly suggesting from the complexity of mound burials that the Mound Builders were a race distinct from the Native Americans.34 The American Ethnological Society offered kind words but no money, though Squier’s reports and drawings had “excited deep interest and surprise in all who saw them; and the Society immediately took measures to encourage further investigation, and secure the publication, under its own auspices, of the important results already obtained.”35 The American Antiquarian Society hesitantly suggested it might provide funding but gave no guarantees. Squier was particularly annoyed because Davis had written to remind him to ensure that Davis’s name appeared on any request to the Antiquarians, with whom he had previously been in contact about their joint research, lest they “think there was some collision or competition otherwise.”36 It was another small crack in the pair’s partnership. At the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, Squier spoke before an audience that included Edward Everett, who was impressed enough with Squier’s research that he would later help Squier secure a diplomatic appointment. Squier also appealed to Benjamin Silliman, the editor of the American Journal of Science and Arts, who had taken Caleb Atwater’s side in the dispute between Atwater and Constantine Rafinesque, firing Rafinesque and starting him down his path toward Mound Builder mythologizing. Silliman brought Squier before the faculty of Yale University on July 7, 1846—three days after the nation celebrated seventy years of independence—and the reception was rapturous. The university faculty endorsed Squier’s efforts to map the lost race’s mounds and even made Squier an honorary member of the Yale faculty. He was one month past his twenty-fifth birthday.

Back in Chillicothe, Davis seethed that Squier had received so warm a reception. He wrote a terse letter demanding that he receive more of the credit. Speaking of himself in the third person, he wrote, “Meet [sic] out to him equal credit and a due share of the honors, etc.” He also warned the younger man that his efforts to blanket the entire country with requests for money would be counterproductive. “My God! You might as well expect information from the moon by addressing the man there, as to get anything of value from most correspondents.”37 Despite Davis’s petulant umbrage, he was correct, and Squier found it challenging to attract funding for his proposed multiyear survey of Mississippi Valley mounds. But he soldiered on, writing summaries of the work done to that point, for two scholarly journals, and returning to Ohio in late 1846 to begin the next phase of mound mapping. As 1847 dawned, Squier seems to have felt his political ambitions flare up again, perhaps due to an internal dispute in the Whig Party over African American rights (he was for them), for he limited his mound work and resigned his newspaper position to serve as the clerk of the Ohio House of Representatives, at the urging of friends in the Whig Party. In the spring of 1847, Squier found himself burning the candle at both ends, mapping mounds and clerking, and earning reproach from his father, who worried that Squier, who lacked funding, was frittering away what little money he had.

To make matters worse, Squier and Davis had acquired a rival in Montroville Wilson Dickeson, who had opened around two hundred mounds in the southern United States. Dickeson had attracted the attention of Samuel George Morton, who wanted to acquire skulls to prove a connection to the Toltecans and had applied for funding from the same organizations as Squier and Davis. Dickeson also had an advantage over his rivals: he could open mounds more quickly and at lower cost because he had slaves to do the work, much to Squier’s and Davis’s disgust. Dickeson professed admiration for Squier and Davis, particularly for the careful way they had attempted to explore mounds scientifically, documenting their excavations following the best standards of the day. Squier and Davis thought Dickeson to be sloppy and too loose in his excavations, closer to treasure-hunting than archaeology.

This situation came to a head in the spring of 1847, when George Perkins Marsh of the American Ethnological Society came to Squier and Davis with a proposal. While the Ethnological Society might not be willing to fund their work, Marsh said, he noted that he had been named a regent of the newly established Smithsonian Institution, founded less than a year earlier. The Smithsonian’s massive endowment of 104,960 gold sovereigns, plus a decade of interest—some half a million dollars at the time—yielded more than $30,000 in annual interest income for the Smithsonian that was ripe for funding worthwhile projects. Marsh suggested that if Squier and Davis submitted their research to the secretary of the Smithsonian, Joseph Henry, he would likely agree to publish their work in full, with the best quality printing, and reward them with substantial royalties on sales of the volume—“a better honorarium for your labors than you can hope for in any other way,” he wrote.38 He was right but not in the way anyone thought.

Squier and Davis had been collecting their observations in manuscript form for months, and by the time they wrote to Henry with their proposal they had a substantial book to show him. Henry was enthusiastic about the project since, as the Smithsonian’s board of regents would later report to the U.S. Senate, this was a “branch of knowledge” that was then “occupying the attention of a large class of minds.”39 He immediately referred it to a committee composed of members of the American Ethnological Society for review. Since that body had already endorsed Squier and Davis—though not with their money—they were happy to recommend that the Smithsonian publish Squier and Davis’s work. Squier spent the spring of 1847, while the Ohio legislature was out of session, deep in writing, composing nearly the whole of the manuscript himself (he would always call it “my book”), and he and Davis sent the manuscript to Washington on May 15, 1847. Henry passed it on to the American Ethnological Society on June 2, and it went to the review committee two days later. Not long after, Albert Gallatin reported back that Squier and Davis had outstripped Caleb Atwater’s reports of the mounds in astonishing ways. Gallatin frowned on Atwater’s work in comparison with Squier and Davis because “many mistakes have been discovered in it, and it is very incomplete, and in no degree to be compared to the extensive researches of the gentlemen above mentioned. What has particularly recommended their labors to me is their love of truth.”40 Samuel George Morton endorsed the manuscript—and got Squier to agree to send him a genuine Mound Builder skull to measure—as did the American Ethnological Society as whole, and the society congratulated the Smithsonian, saying, “[We] cannot but rejoice that an opportunity is thus afforded to that noble institution of opening its high career, by fostering scientific research into the interesting problems connected with the Ante-Columbian history and Ancient Monuments of our own country.”

The U.S. government—technically an institution created by bequest and overseen by the government, as Henry frequently reminded lawmakers—and the greatest men of science were in agreement in endorsing a work on Mound Builders by believers in a lost race. Together they turned the Mound Builder question into the first publication of the new Smithsonian and thus the first and guiding problem for the government’s new institution tasked by law with promoting knowledge. The Smithsonian accepted the manuscript for publication before month’s end, as the first volume of the Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge series, but it took almost a year of editing before it went to press. It was dedicated to Gallatin, in honor of his patriotism and scientific acumen. It was ironic that the Whig Squier, a believer in a lost race (albeit shifting his views in light of Morton’s racial ideas), praised the Democrat Gallatin, who held very different views. But the irony was superseded by the book itself, proof in print that the effort to find a way to understand the mounds that excluded the Native Americans then inhabiting the same lands where the mounds stood crossed lines of party and ideology.

But the American Antiquarian Society still refused to give Squier and Davis any money when they returned to ask for financial help on the strength of their book. Squier spent the summer of 1847 in New York supervising the printing of his masterpiece—which would be titled Ancient Monuments of the Mississippi Valley: Comprising the Results of Extensive Original Surveys and Explorations by E. G. Squier, A.M., and E. H. Davis, M.D.—and overseeing the engraving of its maps and illustrations.

The volume was monumental in scope but somewhat limited in its conclusions. Across nineteen chapters and more than three hundred pages, complete with forty-eight plates, many depicting multiple mound sites, the elaborate folio documented America’s mounds in depth and detail never before seen in a scholarly publication. Living in an age before technology made it possible to date the mounds, Squier and Davis could only classify them typologically, not chronologically, describing mounds tall and short, round and geometric, and describing earthworks and enclosures in a bewildering array of shapes. Even without an understanding of the succession of cultures that had built them, Squier was able to distinguish distinct cultural groupings geographically—those in the South tended to be larger than those in the North, and cones were favored in the North, while rectangular-base pyramids predominated the closer to Mexico one traveled. However, he wrongly concluded from the architectural similarities of the mounds and the general visual similarity of Adena, Hopewell, and Mississippian art styles that all of the mounds were the work of the same culture, over a relatively short period of time, rather than the work of many cultures over centuries. He described many of the mounds and enclosures in numbing detail, and, taken collectively, these descriptions of structures, burials, and artifacts overwhelm the reader with their scope.

Squier made sure to remind readers that his research project was no lark but a conservation effort, one that he implied needed a goodly infusion of cash:

The operations of the elements, the shifting channels of the streams, the levelling hand of public improvement, and most efficient of all, the slow but constant encroachments of agriculture, are fast destroying these monuments of ancient labor, breaking in upon their symmetry and obliterating their outlines. Thousands have already disappeared, or retain but slight and doubtful traces of their former proportions. Such an examination is, however, too great an undertaking for private enterprise to attempt. It must be left to local explorers, to learned associations, or to the Government.41

Beneath the neutral language of science, Squier had made a powerful case that these antiquities were what the scholars of an earlier generation had hoped them to be—magnificent remains equal to the wonders of the Old World. Under the direction of Henry, who ordered “theorizing” to be cut from the text, Squier was careful to keep his analysis as neutral as he was able, tending toward description over analysis and rarely straying beyond the established views of the great men of the day. He relied, for example, on Morton’s Crania Americana to classify the skulls taken from the mounds as Native American, and, rather than draw conclusions about who the Mound Builders were, he suggested in the book’s final chapter, “With the facts presented in the foregoing chapters before him, the reader will be able to deduce his own conclusions, as to the probable character and condition of the ancient population of the Mississippi valley.”42 However, Squier allowed himself room to present his own evolving views of the Mound Builders, views that had shifted from a belief in a lost white race to Morton’s view that the Toltecan subrace of Native Americans had once occupied the land where the current Native American tribes now squatted:

We may venture to suggest that the facts thus far collected point to a connection more or less intimate between the race of the mounds and the semi-civilized nations which formerly had their seats among the sierras of Mexico, upon the plains of Central America and Peru, and who erected the imposing structures which from their number, vastness, and mysterious significance, invest the central portions of the continent with an interest not less absorbing than that which attaches to the valley of the Nile. These nations alone, of all those found in possession of the continent by the European discoverers, were essentially stationary and agricultural in their habits,—conditions indispensable to large population, to fixedness of institutions, and to any considerable advance in the economical or ennobling arts. That the mound-builders, although perhaps in a less degree, were also stationary and agricultural, clearly appears from a variety of facts and circumstances, most of which will no doubt recur to the mind of the reader, but which will bear recapitulation here.43

Squier even quoted William Henry Harrison, reinforcing the impression that the Mound Builders’ Mexican connections were the general consensus of the great men of the day. If anyone involved noticed that a growing interest in the “Mexican” connection to the American mounds reached the peak of its popularity in the same years that President Polk led the United States into a war with Mexico that resulted in bringing half of that country within the boundaries of the United States, such thoughts seem not to have made it into print. Few seemed to find it anything but coincidental that America’s elites now supported a vision of the past that held ancient Mexico to be nothing more than an offshoot of the prehistoric cultures occupying the lands of the future United States. This vision of history seemed to demand reunification, which the Mexican Cession would partly remedy.

But Squier also recognized that the facts he had uncovered, particularly the widespread use of raw materials from across the continent in mounds all across the Mississippi Valley, suggested a wide trade network rather than Harrison’s and Morton’s theory of a forced migration to Mexico. But Squier did not press the issue, leaving it for future research. Instead he concluded by reaffirming that the Mound Builders were a separate race from the Native Americans of the time, “the extinct race, whose name is lost to tradition itself, and whose very existence is left to the sole and silent attestation of the rude but often imposing monuments which throng the valleys of the West.”44 In the end, he could not bring himself to connect the mounds to the people who lived on the continent when Europeans came, the same people the U.S. government was fighting against and deporting across the Mississippi River.

The publication of Ancient Monuments of the Mississippi Valley was an epochal event for the Mound Builder myth, for this massive scientific treatise gave the weight of science and of the United States to the effort to find the “true” builders of the ancient mounds. However, it took time for scholars and charlatans alike to digest the weighty but dry tome and to find ways to mine its data for patterns that could be marshaled to support virtually any claim. Josiah C. Nott, a scientific racist who achieved prominence by arguing that slavery was the scientifically ideal condition of the African, read Squier and Davis and concluded that a lost race of Mound Builders, of a different type than the Native Americans of the nineteenth century, had once created an advanced civilization, complete with complex government, stretching from Mexico to the Great Lakes—and that this civilization dated back three or four thousand years before Christ. But in comparison to earlier and more sensational works on the subject of mounds, Squier’s and Davis’s book attracted far less notice, and it received almost no newspaper or magazine coverage. That was because the Smithsonian chose to pay Squier and Davis with 250 copies of their book instead of with cash, and the institution donated the remaining 750 copies of the initial print run to scholarly societies, meaning that Squier and Davis received no money, to their consternation. Squier considered a lawsuit for breach of contract but decided against it. The upshot was that with nothing for sale, newspapers and magazines had no reason to write about the book, and most did not. It would take years for Squier’s work to seep into public consciousness, primarily through later scholarly citations.

Throughout the publication process, Davis had been, by turns, upset and outraged. He grew angry that the eastern elites referred to the work as Squier’s—though Squier wrote it—and demanded his fair share of credit. Worse, a pamphlet promoting the work described Davis as merely Squier’s “associate.” “I can’t conceive,” Davis wrote to Squier, “that you desire to appropriate the whole credit of the work,” and he threatened that their friendship would end unless he received equal honors.45 Squier, for his part, denied having anything to do with how the scientists labeled his work. “I suggested nothing, asked nothing, knew nothing about it,” he replied, and he acidly added to the preface to Ancient Monuments that while he had written the work and done the majority of the archaeological labor, Davis’s contribution had merely been to inquire into natural science. “He has also sustained the larger proportion of the expenses attending these explorations, and devoted considerable time to the restoration and arrangement of the relics recovered from the mounds,” Squier added, reducing Davis’s role to that of a dilettante.46 Squier told Henry that he would withdraw the whole work if that line failed to appear in the book.

The dispute between the two men dragged on, with mutual recriminations that left their friends and colleagues upset and exhausted. Other explorers whose surveys and research Squier had requested permission to include in the book were also concerned that Squier had not given them proper credit, and when John W. Erwin found his name left out of the promotional pamphlet, he published a letter in an Ohio newspaper blaming Squier for stealing other people’s work or at least failing to credit them in type large enough to avoid the “aid of good glasses.”47 Henry and other Smithsonian officials were horrified at the bad press and demanded that something be done. Enough complained about their own credit that Henry delayed publication of the book until the issue had been settled and credit fully made in the manuscript. Squier bristled at having his integrity questioned, but, as with the other outrages he suffered, he accepted the result.

With his partnership with Davis dead, his literary ambitions unprofitable, and his grand plans for surveying the mounds bankrupted, Squier accepted the help of Edward Everett to become a diplomatic official serving in Central America, and he left the country for greener pastures—and new regions whose ruins he could inspect firsthand. It was just as well. Those who followed in Squier’s wake were much less scrupulous about their Mound Builder research.
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Giants in the Earth

At the end of September 1848 a Whig congressman from Illinois named Abraham Lincoln, then nearing the age of forty and in the waning days of his self-imposed single term in the House of Representatives, traveled between Boston and Chicago in the months after the successful end of the Mexican War and before the upcoming federal election that November. Sometime between September 25 and 30—no one knows the exact day—Lincoln found himself at Niagara Falls as he made his way to Buffalo to board a ship for the next leg of his journey, across Lake Erie, to reach the Windy City. The falls were already a major attraction, one that thousands of tourists had made the long and arduous trek across upstate New York to visit, facilitated by the Erie Canal, which had opened in 1825, and the state’s growing rail network. However, when confronted with this geological wonder and the awesome power of its mighty waters, Lincoln was unimpressed.

“By what mysterious power is it that millions and millions, are drawn from all parts of the world, to gaze upon Niagara Falls?” he wrote in an unfinished reminiscence that he began putting to paper on the boat from Buffalo shortly afterward. “There is no mystery about the thing itself. Every effect is just such as any inteligent [sic] man knowing the causes, would anticipate, without [seeing] it.”1 But if the hydraulic details of the falls meant little to the practically minded Lincoln, the geological history embodied in the falls did move him to contemplate what he understood to be the deepest layers of time:

It calls up the indefinite past. When Columbus first sought this continent—when Christ suffered on the cross—when Moses led Israel through the Red-Sea—nay, even, when Adam first came from the hand of his Maker—then as now, Niagara was roaring here. The eyes of that species of extinct giants, whose bones fill the mounds of America, have gazed on Niagara, as ours do now. Co[n]temporary with the whole race of men, and older than the first man, Niagara is strong, and fresh to-day as ten thousand years ago. The Mammoth and Mastadon—now so long dead, that fragments of their monstrous bones, alone testify, that they ever lived, have gazed on Niagara.2

When faced with the specter of eternity, Lincoln reached for the oldest material known to him, and that included the myth of the Mound Builders. But Lincoln’s view of the Mound Builders was not the one shared by the scholarly elite along the East Coast. His was the popular view of the everyday American, conditioned by King James Bible to think of humans of the past as that race of giants that menaced the antediluvian world, and conditioned by unscrupulous preachers, lecturers, and ink-stained hacks to imagine America’s mounds as the resting place of gigantic sons of the fallen angels. Whether he gleaned the idea from magazines or Mormons or somewhere else, Lincoln’s casual reference to the mounds illustrates the degree to which the myth of the Mound Builders had spread and penetrated, to the point where it had become part of the mental furniture of everyday Americans.

When E. G Squier’s masterpiece went to press in 1848, it marked a turning point because it had given the imprimatur of America’s scientific and scholarly elite to a popular belief. But this was in many respects a formality, for the popular press, the speakers on the lecture circuit, and especially the country’s preachers had much earlier revised the ancient history of America into an epic originating in Noah’s Flood. To that end, newspapers were filled with reports about the fantastic beasts like the wooly mammoth that must have roamed before the Flood and still wilder claims of “proof” that the United States had once housed an antediluvian race of giants, as recorded in the sixth chapter of Genesis. “In exhuming of late the remains of so many wonderfully large animals unknown to the present age, it has been supposed that the ancient race of men must have been correspondingly large,” one newspaper wrote in 1845. “At length we have something to sustain the doctrine.”3 The proof? A skeleton of a giant eighteen feet long had been unearthed sixty feet below the surface near Franklin, Tennessee, and taken to professors of medicine in Nashville, who declared it the remains of a gigantic human of ancient vintage. The Western Weekly Review in Franklin informed its readers that there was no doubt of the giant’s provenance:

No doubt rests in the minds of any who have seen or examined them, that these bones belong to the genus homo. All the larger and characteristic bones are entire, and the skull, arms and thigh bones, knee pans, shoulder sockets and collar bones remove all skepticism as to their humanity. The whole skeleton, we are informed, is about 18 feet high, and must have stood full 19 feet “in his stockings” (if he wore any.). The bones of the thigh and leg measure 6 feet 6 inches, so that our friend, “the General,” could have marched erect, in full military costume, between the giant’s legs.4

The man who dug up the bones did the only sensible thing. He sold shares in them to speculators in the hope of making a profit from their display. One speculator confided that an offer of $50,000 had come in for proof positive of biblical giants in America but that the small group of owners had held out for more. To help generate publicity for the find, they took the bones to the Tennessee Capitol, where they went on display in the house chamber that December—with a special act of the legislature to exempt it from the standard fifty-dollar exhibition tax—before the mounted bones and wood and plaster improvements to them were sent to New Orleans as part of a publicity tour.5

Wherever it was displayed, crowds gathered to see the giant, and lawyers, doctors, and clergy endorsed it as a surviving relic of Bible times, but when a medical doctor named William D. Carpenter went to see the display in late December 1845 or early January 1846, he was dismayed to find that the so-called giant was nothing more than the skeleton of an immature mastodon. “The person who had it for exhibition was honest, I believe,” Carpenter recorded shortly after seeing the exhibit, “in his convictions as to its being the remains of a man, having been confirmed in them by numerous physicians, whose certificates he had in his possession; and having asked and received my opinion, he determined to box it up, never to be exhibited again as the remains of a human being.”6 The incident was, in miniature, the story of how the will to believe perverted science and fact in the name of money and faith.

The effort to find biblical proofs in America was never limited to searching for the Hebrew origins of Native Americans. Cotton Mather, the great Puritan minister, believed in giants in the United States, and he and Massachusetts governor John Dudley exchanged letters about a massive mastodon tooth found at Albany in 1706, which the two men wrongly believed came from “a human body, for whom the flood only could prepare a funeral.”7 But it was probably no coincidence that their conversation first saw publication in 1846, when giants and Mound Builders vied to provide better evidence of America’s biblical heritage. The controversy over the Book of Mormon had awakened in the United States a zeal to make manifest the country’s colonial promise to be the city upon a hill—a phrase derived from Jesus’s Sermon on the Mount and applied to America by Massachusetts governor John Winthrop—the new Zion or the new Jerusalem. The very ground would be made to give up proof of God’s plan. So thoroughly had this idea soaked into the national consciousness that when the painter George Catlin traveled to the West to study and paint the Native people there, people he thought would soon go extinct before the inevitable forces of progress, he interpreted what he saw through a biblical lens. Encountering headgear with horns among the Mandan in the 1830s, he likened it to the Jewish shofar, a ceremonial ram’s horn. “I am irresistibly led to believe,” he recorded in a letter composed in a Mandan village, “that this custom is now practiced amongst those tribes very nearly as it was among the Jews; and that it has been, like many other customs . . . , handed down and preserved with very little innovation from that ancient people.”8

All across America it seemed that a madness was spreading, an urge to find favor with the divine. Josiah Priest followed his efforts to connect ancient America to Noah’s Flood with a volume on the fallen angels who fathered the giants and the “proof” that Satan actively conspired against everyday Americans. In upstate New York, a preacher named William Miller proclaimed in 1833 that Jesus Christ would return to Earth in ten years’ time. His prophecy became a national movement, with its own apocalyptic newspaper, Signs of the Times, and almost fifty more publications. The failure of the Millerite prophecy for Jesus’s return on October 22, 1844, became known as the Great Disappointment. Followers across the country had sold or given away their possessions and waited in vain. Also in upstate New York, at Hydesville, two sisters, Kate and Margaret Fox, ages twelve and fifteen, announced in 1848 that they had started to hear the rapping sound of spirits from beyond the wall of death, and they traveled to Rochester, where in 1849 they proclaimed themselves mediums and began communicating with the dead. Their fame soon spread across the state and the country, and over the next two decades the number of mediums talking with the dead—the self-proclaimed Spiritualists—grew exponentially. One self-proclaimed psychic medium, Emma Hardinge Britten, traveled from England to America, and in the summer of 1859 a certain clairvoyant Dr. Fowler of Columbus, Ohio, became possessed of an “Elementary Spirit” that spoke through him in tongues and announced in English that it wanted Fowler and Britten to hold a séance at the Newark Earthworks, by moonlight, to commune with the spirits of the “unknown” Mound Builders, to prove that they were prehistoric members of the brotherhood of Freemasons, a fraternity the entity wrongly considered to have primeval origins.9 But nothing came of it because a major fire disrupted their plans. Séances were all the rage in those days, from the crowned heads of Europe to the White House, where during the Civil War Mary Todd Lincoln, the wife of President Abraham Lincoln, held them to speak with the dead, much to the practical president’s dismay. It would be sixty years from the first rapping sounds before Margaret Fox confessed to Harry Houdini that the whole thing had started as a prank and hoax.

Only long after the great national horror that was the Civil War had come and gone would observers be able to look back and see in the flowering of unreason the seeds of the coming destruction. Before the horror, however, there was only the attempt to reckon with God or at least the lesser gods of history.

A whiff of fraud hung over so many of these efforts because so many of them approached the fantastical in an era when truth, lies, and entertainment merged seamlessly into what showman P. T. Barnum, operating from his American Museum in New York City, happily called humbugs—faux-scientific amusements that aimed to blur the distinctions between fact and fantasy, like Barnum’s own fake taxidermy Feejee Mermaid or his ersatz exhibits of exotic cultures. Barnum sought the support of dubiously credentialed dilettantes and self-deluded believers out of their depth to give spurious authority to his fanciful amusement. “Science is the pursuit of pure truth, and the systematizing of it. In such an employment as that, one might reasonably hope to find all things done in honesty and sincerity,” Barnum once wrote. “Not at all, my ardent and inquiring friends, there is a scientific humbug just as large as any other. . . . It would almost seem as if human delusions became more unreasoning and abject in proportion as their subject is of greater importance.”10

Perhaps no fraud better exemplified the cross-currents affecting American science in the years leading up to the Civil War than the final act of Constantine Rafinesque’s short, unhappy life: the saga of the Walam Olum. In the middle 1830s Rafinesque tried his hand at the banking sector, working as an actuary, and developing elaborate plans for philanthropic banking institutions. These plans failed to earn him profits, and in 1836 he accused several Philadelphia banks of stealing their business model from him. “Thus my sole reward is to be despoiled of my beneficial attempts to be useful,” he wrote.11 He lamented too that he had trouble finding employment as an educator because schools preferred to hire younger and cheaper teachers. “Whatever be my future fate and field of exertions,” he said, “I shall not have lived in vain.”12 His repeated failures had embittered him, and he was throwing out ideas in rapid succession in a desperate attempt to find success. He openly appealed for wealthy men to fund a utopian scheme based on scientific farming techniques, and he offered to invent ways to create incombustible ships. Though these ideas generated no interest, in an attempt to resuscitate his reputation he conceived a mighty project, a history of the Americas in ten or twelve volumes, which he hoped would supplement the income he planned to receive from the sale of his rare book collection and a minor trade he had begun in plants and mineral specimens. He was feeling in better spirits despite the setbacks because his health had rebounded from earlier years when he had feared he might die of consumption. But little did he know that already the stomach cancer that would take his life had begun growing inside him, perhaps the result of the carcinogenic herbs he had been using to self-medicate his illnesses.13

The idea for his history of the Americas had been growing in his mind for several years—since 1818 by his own account. Around the time that Rafinesque first encountered Joseph Smith’s incredible tale of uncovering golden plates and translating them to reveal an ancient migration of Jews to America, Rafinesque hatched a dark plan to beat all of his detractors and rivals at their own game. “All the histories of America are mere fragments or dreams,” Rafinesque declared to the decade-old Société de Géographie in Paris before grandly declaring that he and he alone could produce the only true and complete history of the Western Hemisphere. “You will also find many things which were never told or were very improperly presented,” he said of what would be the most original of histories.14 First, however, he would need to creatively fill in the gaps with a dramatic “discovery” of his own to rival the golden plates of Mormon. Those things that were “never told” had never been spoken because, until Rafinesque put pen to paper, they had never existed. “It is time to improve history,” Rafinesque wrote in the preface to the first volume of The American Nations, and he must have smiled to know that few of his readers would recognize the double meaning.

Over the years, Rafinesque had gradually allowed the darkening scientific climate around him to color his own views of the peopling of the Americas. He had long held that Native Americans were one people, united in a common descent from Asia, but to this self-evidently correct view he had gradually come to add increasingly unpleasant beliefs that mirrored those of men who had defeated him in intellectual arguments. From Caleb Atwater, for example, he now endorsed the idea of a lost ancient race, and, echoing Josiah Priest, he placed it in Atlantis, the original homeland of the Toltecs, which he saw as synonymous with the North American continent:

It has always appeared probable to me that most of the ancient colonies to America, must have come there by the nearest and most direct way; the same nearly followed again by Columbus in 1492: either from north Africa or south Europe. This becomes still more probable if there were formerly a land or large islands in the Atlantic Ocean; of which we have ample proofs. Nearly all the nations from Florida and Mexico to Chili, appear to have reached America from the east, through the tropical islands or Antilles; but the ancestors of these emigrating tribes, dwelt once in Asia, which appears the cradle of mankind.15

But it was from Joseph Smith’s account of the discovery of the Book of Mormon that Rafinesque would make his most audacious borrowing. Rafinesque had long considered the Mormon story to be patently ridiculous, but he was taken by the idea of an ancient book that could reveal the primeval past of the Americas. He, however, would require a volume with a more plausible provenance. To that end, he recalled the more than two hundred signs and pictographs he had collected from Native tribes ranging from the Osages to the Chippewas. By far the greatest number, seventy-four, had come from the Lenape people of the eastern United States, whose territory stretched from Delaware to the Hudson Valley in New York. Rafinesque realized that he had enough material to plausibly assemble a Lenape “book” composed of these symbols engraved on pieces of cedar bark, which he produced in manuscript form in 1833. He would also follow Joseph Smith in making the original conveniently vanish. He claimed, implausibly, to have lost the bark pages sometime after the book American Nations went to print and scholars began asking to see them.

The Lenape people offered Rafinesque another advantage. The missionary John Heckewelder had lived among the Lenapes before retiring to Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, in the 1810s, near where Rafinesque was in residence in Philadelphia. In the latter city Heckewelder lectured on the subject of the Lenapes in the 1820s and published books on the same. He recorded that according to a Lenape migration myth they had once lived in the far west of the American continent before deciding, as a group, to travel eastward to the Atlantic for a reason they would not share with him. Before they could take possession of the land, they had first to deal with the people they found living there, a tribe of giants called the Talligeu or Talligewi, who had built great forts. A great war occurred between the two groups, until the Lenapes had killed or driven off all the giants. Rafinesque saw in this story a framework he could adapt and enhance to provide spurious evidence to support his beliefs about the peopling of the Americas—and also to take a principled stand against Indian removal. As though to confess to his crime, Rafinesque cited Heckewelder by name in The American Nations.

To give his developing story the air of plausibility, Rafinesque would explain how he had come into possession of red-painted bark pages bearing the story of the Lenape by crediting a “late Dr. Ward of Indiana” who was said to have given him the engraved bark and then conveniently died. He alleged that a further “Fragment” in translation (no original was claimed), this one discussing Indian removal, came to him from a certain John Burns, but its late date and modern content made it less important. In developing his story, Rafinesque drafted an explanation and wrote it neatly at the bottom of the title page of the 1833 manuscript titled “Wallam-Olum”: “This Mpt. & the wooden original was [sic] procured in 1822 in Kentucky—but was inexplicable till a deep study of the Linapi enabled me to translate them with explanations. (Dr. Ward).”16 Rafinesque polished the text into a more refined form for his 1836 American Nations, though the details had shifted: “These actual Olum were at first obtained in 1820, as a reward for a medical cure, deemed a curiosity; and were unexplicable. In 1822 were obtained from another individual the songs annexed thereto in the original language; but no one could be found by me able to translate them. I had therefore to learn the language since, by the help of Zeisberger, Heckewelder and a manuscript dictionary, on purpose to translate them, which I only accomplished in 1833.”17 As the story developed, Rafinesque shifted from claiming knowledge of the bark pages to asserting that he had had them in his possession. In the nineteenth century, no one was able to identify Dr. Ward, and in the twentieth century arguments were made for John Russell Ward, who was not from Indiana, and for Malthus A. Ward, who was not dead. But the more likely answer is that “the late Dr. Ward” never existed at all, though probably named for a Kentucky friend Rafinesque had long known.

Rafinesque wrote out the English version of his “translation” before matching it to Lenape words and then to his own hybrid catalog of symbols, which he back-formed into the pictographic record he pretended to have transcribed from the nonexistent bark sheets. When ethnologist and archaeologist Daniel G. Brinton reviewed Rafinesque’s work half a century later to make a new translation from Rafinesque’s manuscript copy of the bark symbols, he concluded that the text was too sophisticated for Rafinesque to have assembled from a dictionary, and contained errors of translation that proved Rafinesque did not write the characters—though he failed to consider that Rafinesque had misunderstood what he copied and made the errors in going backward to Lenape. More than a century later, the most comprehensive analysis ever undertaken would reveal that Rafinesque used books like Heckewelder’s to develop a rough and rude version of Lenape in which to render his text. Since he was self-taught, his Lenape was full of mistakes. Even the title of the manuscript, “Wallam Olum,” frequently translated as “The Red Score,” was a mistake, broken fragments of words taken from Wallamâning (“the place where paint is”) and Olumapies, the name of a chief that Rafinesque wrongly thought meant “bundler of sticks” because of a typo in Heckewelder’s book.18 For the pictographs, he used some genuine Lenape glyphs from his collection, and he supplemented them with characters modified from Egyptian, Chinese, and Mexican writing systems—all the better to connect the Lenapes to the ancient central Asian culture he believed had given rise to the high culture of the Old and New Worlds. It must have appeared to him to be a fine joke, since Joseph Smith had claimed his own Book of Mormon was written in “Reformed Egyptian” and required magic glasses to translate. Once again, Rafinesque had mirrored the magic while rendering it more plausibly scientific.

The story Rafinesque told in “Wallam Olum,” supposedly from the pen of a Lenape named Lekhibit, was a clear reflection of the Mound Builder controversies of the time. He began with the Lenape migration legend as recorded by Heckewelder and modified it in important but telling ways. The narrative is told over a series of chants or songs, beginning with a creation story with Christian echoes, especially in the actions of an evil serpent whose scheming results in a great flood, which only a few people survive. Rafinesque also added color from the then-current belief that the Toltecs were the first race of the Americas, for he places the action of creation at Tula, the Toltec capital. After the flood, which is clearly meant to be Noah’s Flood, Rafinesque sends the Lenapes across the frozen subarctic waste and over the Bering Strait to reach America: “Having all agreed, the northerlings and easterlings, went over the water of the frozen sea to possess that land.” To ensure that there was no confusion about his meaning, Rafinesque helpfully added a note that the line referred to “the passage to America over the ice.”19 As the Lenapes moved ever eastward, through a succession of chiefs whose reigns are briefly described in succession, they encountered a preexisting tribe, the Talligewi, whom they exterminated in order to seize their land. “Much was there possessed by them, and much spoiling and killing of the Talegas.”

Rafinesque’s hoax was elegant in its simplicity, since it took previously published myths and merely enhanced them by seeding in evidence in support of Rafinesque’s preferred scientific conclusions—for example, that the Native Americans had crossed into America from Asia via the Bering Strait—and putting them in a new form, a written epic, that reframed perceptions of Native Americans as uncultured, illiterate “savages.” However, because the hoax was subtle, it also was largely ignored. American Nations was not a best-seller, and the era’s leading expert on the Lenape language, Peter Stephen Du Ponceau, pointedly refused to discuss the Walam Olum, effectively freezing it out of scholarly discussion until his death in 1844. By then, however, Constantine Rafinesque was beyond caring. He died of stomach cancer in 1840, his grand history of the Americas unfinished, and his reputation in tatters. His bones were interred in a joint grave, stacked above and below other bodies for a century, until Transylvania University decided to make right its ancient slight and move his bones to his old haunt in 1924.

Rafinesque’s effort to fabricate evidence in support of the Bering Sea hypothesis for the peopling of the Americas might have been a forgotten footnote were it not for none other than Ephraim Squier, who lamented that Rafinesque had made no “decided impression in any department of research.” Squier followed up his monumental 1848 work on the mounds by delivering a speech that June to the New-York Historical Society based on Rafinesque’s work, specifically the Walam Olum, which Squier had read in Rafinesque’s handwritten manuscript copy. When he came across American Nations in late 1848, he was horrified by its bizarre mixture of “facts and fancies” and worried that its incoherence would cast doubt on the Walam Olum, which Squier believed to be a genuine Native text. This was an especially pressing concern because Squier had gone to the trouble of showing a copy of the manuscript to George Copway, an Ojibwe ethnographer and missionary, who despite not being a Lenape nevertheless declared without hesitation that the text was authentic, and Squier had spent weeks retranslating the entire Walam Olum as literally as possible for the benefit of the New-York Historical Society.

Squier considered Rafinesque “deficient in that scope of mind joined to critical powers,” and he felt comfortable ignoring Rafinesque’s analysis and conclusions. Squier’s views on Native Americans had continued to evolve, and he had become more adamant in his belief that the first Americans had nothing to do with Europe or the Near East. He dismissed out of hand the claims that biblical figures had wandered the Americas, and he informed his historical society audience that he was reconsidering the Native race and the “rank which it is entitled to hold in the scale of human development.” Exposure to the ancient works and Morton’s cranial studies had made it harder to denigrate Native achievements. But in order to convince his audience of the worthiness of Native Americans—a tall order in the wake of removal and the Indian Wars—he argued that Native American mythology had “an absolute identity,” akin to the primitive mythologies of the Old World. The Walam Olum, he declared, had an “important bearing upon many interesting questions connected with the history of our aboriginal nations.”20 He might just as well have pointed out the political implications of accepting the Walam Olum in place of the theory of the lost white race. However, Squier himself recognized that the references to the frozen sea were similar to the scientific theory of the Bering Strait crossing, thus saying “that it throws suspicion upon the entire record.” He dismissed this objection, however, with appeal to an Ojibwe legend of migrating through a land of eternal winter, for if another tribe had a similar story, then the Walam Olum was more likely authentic. But Squier had selectively edited the account given by Sir Alexander Mackenzie in the 1790s to omit the fact that the story was describing the Canadian subarctic, around the Coppermine River, and the people in question were Chipewyan. Squier quietly changed “Chepewyans” (i.e., Chipewyans) to “Chippeway” (i.e., Chippewas or Ojibwe people) and thereby moved the story a thousand miles south. The clarity of Mackenzie’s geographic description makes an accidental misspelling unlikely. Squier seemed to want to will the Walam Olum into authenticity.21

With the publication of Squier’s speech in a Whig journal the following February, the Walam Olum began its rise to prominence. The great scholar Henry Schoolcraft, a onetime government agent from Guilderland, New York, near Albany, overseeing Michigan’s Native peoples, had made his name popularizing information about the Ojibwe people provided to him by his Ojibwe wife, Jane Johnston (Bamewawagezhikaquay), who had died a few years earlier. Having remarried, to a slaveholder and outspoken racist who opposed all mixed-race marriages, he consequently began to bend his views toward his new wife’s beliefs, to the alienation of his mixed-race children from his first marriage. Schoolcraft read Squier’s speech and immediately wrote him a letter on February 16, to lament that such an important document had been in the hands of Rafinesque, “who spoiled, historically and scientifically, every thing he touched.”22 Schoolcraft told Squier that he was “impressed” by how closely the Walam Olum resembled genuine Algonquin traditions and the system of picture writing he had himself observed. But even in his excitement, he said, he was troubled that several of the symbols were unknown in any other context, and he felt that even if the text were authentic, it bore too great an influence from Christianity to be a genuine historical record, whatever its cultural value. Although he hinted strongly that Rafinesque might have shaped the resulting text himself, he decided that it was most likely the work of Christianized Natives adapting their mythology in light of United Brethren missionizing.

Despite Schoolcraft’s concerns, the Walam Olum benefited from Squier’s reputation as well as his choice to bring it forward at a political moment when the peopling of the Americas held weight as regarded Manifest Destiny, the Mexican Cession, and the colonization of western North America. Born of noble but flawed intentions, it became a counterweight to equally dramatic but less respectful frauds over the forty years it took for the hoax to gain widespread acceptance. By the turn of the twentieth century, even some among the Delaware people themselves had come to embrace it. Richard Calmit Adams, a Delaware historian, in 1906 declared the Walam Olum “a most interesting and instructive legend . . . a most ingenious work.”23 His words, however, could be read two ways.

At the same time that Rafinesque pushed his imposture onto the scientific world and George Catlin thought he found traces of Judaism among the Mandans, the excavation of an Adena mound along the Ohio River at Grave Creek in Virginia (now West Virginia) caused a sensation. It raised questions of Old World influence in ancient America, questions that resonated with the controversy over Mormonism and with the arguments surrounding U.S. government dealings with Native Americans. In March 1838, Abelard B. Tomlinson, the owner of the property on which the Grave Creek Mound stood, finally ended his grandfather’s decades-old policy of leaving the mound untouched and paid more than $2,500 to excavate the mound with an eye toward making it a cutaway secured by brick walls so that tourists could see both the outside and the interior while leaving the majority of the site intact. He obtained the money from James W. Clemens, a local physician, who had taken out loans to fund the dig, and he eventually did open his mound museum, with a rotunda at its base to display the artifacts extracted from within. The haphazardly constructed rotunda leaked not just water from the ceiling onto the arranged artifacts but also a disgusting white mass of ancient animal and human fat from the burials above. Tomlinson placed the artifacts in a jumbled mass, lit by candles in the darkness, presided over by a large Native skeleton tacked up against one of the walls. The effect was singularly morbid. The excavation was scientifically important, since it was the first accurate accounting of an Adena wooden tomb burial, but that fact was not what the public would remember.

Clemens, as it happened, was a believer in the “lost white race” theory of the mounds, and he had come to resent the growing body of evidence that suggested a direct connection between the mounds and Native Americans, whose removal from east of the Mississippi River was then in full swing. Anything that would show that the Natives were actually interlopers would help to further the government’s genocidal agenda, and Clemens was happy to oblige. He had been born in Washington County, Pennsylvania, in 1795 and spent his life moving between Pennsylvania and Virginia in an era when the border was poorly defined. He graduated from Washington College in 1816 and the University of Pennsylvania in 1824, and he spent time selling drugs until the business went bust in 1827. Taking up residence in Wheeling, then in Virginia, he turned his attention entirely to medicine, where he quickly developed a reputation as a voracious scholar, ravenously consuming every scholarly journal and book he could. He also was known for his chemistry talents and his mechanical skills, manufacturing his own medical supplies when they were difficult to import from the East. Clemens was a devoted Whig who celebrated William Henry Harrison’s election and met with Daniel Webster.24

Clemens was a schemer, however, and he anticipated that the money he had invested in the mound excavation would be repaid with the discovery of the fabulous treasures of the Mound Builders. He fully expected to discover gold and jewels and the wonders of the ancients, and he had begun selling shares in the excavation to investors, who would be repaid from the sale of the artifacts looted from within. He was at first excited when, seventy-seven feet down, Tomlinson found a skeleton wearing copper rings and surrounded by thousands of worthless disks and beads made from shell. Surely something great lay below. Clemens’s heart dropped when Tomlinson dug through dozens more feet of earth, a hundred feet into the mound, down into the wood-lined tomb and reported back that he had found “two human skeletons, one of which had no ornaments; the other was surrounded by six hundred and fifty ivory beads, and an ivory ornament six inches long.”25 The discovery of ten more skeletons followed, but no treasure.

Clemens would take neither the loss of money nor the failure of his beliefs lying down. He wanted his money back, yes, but he also hoped to make a name as a great contributor to antiquarian science. His ideology and his skill combined to give him an inspired idea. Sometime before June 9, 1838, Clemens obtained a small disk of white sandstone just under two inches across and began to inscribe the stone with twenty-three unusual characters. He wanted to give it a mysterious, ancient, Old World flavor—but not one so obvious as to call into question its authenticity. To that end, he used his deep experience with scholarly literature to find the right texts. He worked from a book published in 1752, Ensayo sobre los alphabetos de las letras desconocidas (“An Essay on the Alphabets of Unknown Letters”) by Luis José Velázquez de Velasco, Marqués de Valdeflores, which depicted the various alphabets used on the Iberian Peninsula across history. Leafing through the book, he copied interesting symbols, often in the order they appeared in the text, and reproduced some of the small transcription errors that the marquis had made.26 Characters from Phoenician and Etruscan alphabets mixed promiscuously with the remnants of other syllabaries in use in ancient Spain. Together they were nonsense—but suggestive nonsense. Clemens hoped that they would be intriguing enough to recoup some of his losses. With his knowledge of chemistry, he knew how to age the cuts artificially to make them look old and weathered.

No one knows exactly how Clemens planted his stone. He might have sneaked into the dig sight on the night of June 8 and buried it, or he might have kept it in his coat pocket and let it slip for Tomlinson to find. However it occurred, Tomlinson retrieved the stone on June 9 but said nothing about it for quite a while, only announcing its discovery in the Cincinnati Chronicle in February 1839. Tomlinson took credit for the discovery, but one of his workers, Peter Catlett, claimed more plausibly that he had made the discovery, and several witnesses agreed. It took several years for scholars to begin to take notice of what had become known as the Grave Creek Stone or, more grandly, the Grave Creek Tablet. Shortly after manufacturing the discovery of the stone, Clemens had sent notice of it to S. G. Morton, then writing his Crania Americana, telling him of the “curiously inscribed or hieroglyphic stone” and begging for “some scientific person” such as Morton to examine it and publicize it. But Morton took no interest in the stone and, to Clemens’s disgust, copied Clemens’s account of the mound excavation into his book but removed mention of the stone. Clemens’s son, Sherrard, would later claim that his father forever felt that Morton had purposely omitted mention of the stone from his monumental volume because it would have undermined his argument against a lost white race.27 Clemens had kept the stone in the hope of sending it to Morton, but after suffering this disappointment he returned it to Tomlinson, who placed it in his underground museum in a haphazard heap of other artifacts.

Things moved slowly in those days, and scholarly attention to the stone awaited Henry Schoolcraft’s return to the United States from a sojourn in Britain, where he had been elected to the British Association for the Advancement of Science, not long after he had cofounded the American Ethnological Society. Schoolcraft examined a drawing of the stone from the Chronicle and was immediately overtaken by enthusiasm he had not felt for the Walam Olum. He suspected that the stone was written in a form of Celtic, but, unsure, he sent drawings of the stone to Europe’s leading experts, who returned a bewildering variety of opinions. Carl Christian Rafn said they were Celtiberic runes from ancient Spain, but another expert denied the resemblance (though Iberian scripts had inspired the forgery). The great French archaeologist Edme-François Jomard studied the characters intently for weeks and declared them Libyan, but one of his colleagues disagreed and attributed them to the Numidians. In 1857 the scholar and future Bibliothèque Nationale librarian Moïse Schwab felt confident enough to translate the tablet: “The Chief of Emigration who reached these places (or this island) has fixed these statutes forever.”28 Unfortunately, the drawing that Schoolcraft fawned over turned out to be inaccurate, as he discovered firsthand.

In 1843 Schoolcraft visited Grave Creek himself to see the stone and was dismayed by the dark, cluttered museum and its leaky ceiling. After the museum attendant allowed Schoolcraft to take the stone to his hotel to make a wax cast, Schoolcraft became more excited. He published his conclusions in the first number of the Transactions of the American Ethnological Society in 1845, and he could not contain his enthusiasm for what he saw as the first alphabet—rather than hieroglyphic system—ever found in the Americas. The discovery, he said, would “open a new mode of ethnological inquiry, which, it may not be too much to say, elevates the history of the MOUND PERIOD to a branch of literature.”29 Yet the literary value of ancient American productions was exactly the controversy on which the Walam Olum hinged. The contrast between Schoolcraft’s skepticism of the Walam Olum’s value and his rapture over the potential for a Celtic influence on America could not be starker.

Ephraim Squier did not fail to notice this challenge to his own support for the Walam Olum. Squier recognized that the Grave Creek Stone threatened his own view that the mounds were the work of Native Americans. He quickly rejected the theory of Celtic origin of the Grave Creek Stone as a ridiculous fiction, and he identified several reasons to suspect a hoax. Particularly, he mistakenly believed that Morton’s copy of Clemens’s report made no mention of the stone and therefore suggested that it had been carved a year after the excavation. “Until it is better authenticated,” he wrote in his 1847 book on the mounds of the Mississippi Valley, excerpted the next year in the American Ethnological Society journal, “it should be entirely excluded from a place among the antiquities of our country.” He also scoffed at Schoolcraft and Rafn, who imagined that it was

quite feasible, by a single effort of the imagination, to transport a sturdy Celt across a trackless ocean, through a wilderness infested by savages and wild beasts, and upon the banks of the Ohio invest him with a chieftaincy among the mound-builders; who, it is also easy to suppose, in memory of so renowned an adventurer, reared over his remains a huge earth structure,—a mode of sepulture eminently congenial to an individual accustomed to similar practices in his native land!30

Schoolcraft was not amused by the aspersions cast on his integrity and judgment, and he fumed that Squier had attacked him in the society’s journal. Although the two men seemed to patch up their differences in 1847, four years later the wound was still raw, and Schoolcraft, with petty vengeance, began to refer to Squier’s Ancient Monuments as the work of “Dr. E. H. Davis, assisted by Mr. Squier.” He also tried to use his influence to cut Squier off from Smithsonian patronage. Squier, deeply angry, chose not to respond and instead turned his attention to his new pet subject, penis worship, producing a book on the subject in 1851, published at his own expense. This turned out, oddly enough, to be the last straw. Schoolcraft could not stand that Squier had decided in that book to reject the Noachian genealogy of humankind and to see Native Americans as an independent race, not an offshoot of Noah’s sons. It was an affront to everything Schoolcraft stood for. The break was irreparable. Squier, though, could not devote all his attention to Schoolcraft, for he was also involved in a debate with a Prussian scholar named Adolph Zestermann about Norse influence in America. Squier denied Norse colonization, and he lambasted Zestermann for using his Ancient Monuments to try to prove that the Norse built America’s mounds. Schoolcraft read of the controversy, and in 1854 he condemned Squier again in print in his Historical and Statistical Information, if not by name, then by declaring his ideas insupportable. The two men entered into a permanent breach.

Eventually, though, the ground shifting beneath Squier’s feet undid his skeptical stance. The change came in stages. It started, perhaps, with his embrace of a rather obvious hoax. In 1820 or 1821, a local man in Pompey, New York, had carved into a small stone an image of a snake in a tree and the words “Leo de Lon VI 1520 X” to see what might happen, and in 1846 Schoolcraft declared it evidence that one of Ponce de Léon’s men had reached New York in the sixth year of the reign of Pope Leo X. Squier quietly agreed that it was a “genuine remnant of antiquity.”31 At a meeting of the American Ethnological Society in New York in February 1858, Squier listened attentively to a presentation on the Grave Creek Stone by a rival mound investigator, the antiquarian Wills DeHass, a physician from the Ohio Valley who had acquired the stone after Tomlinson’s museum closed in 1844. DeHass systematically rebutted Squier’s objections, producing Clemens’s original manuscript to show that the stone had been documented from the day it was discovered. Squier’s case, he said, was groundless. Witnesses reported that Squier was shocked and visibly upset. DeHass must have crowed in triumph when he noted that Squier “took back all of his objections, moving in conclusion a vote of thanks for the contribution.”32 Squier now accepted that the stone was genuine, and for a time he retreated from the field of battle, leaving mound investigations to the believers in a lost white race. For several year after, he would investigate mostly Mexican antiquities. Squier’s erstwhile friend E. H. Davis watched the unfolding drama with amusement, and he wrote to Schoolcraft and DeHass to express his glee at Squier’s humiliation. Davis even purchased the Grave Creek Stone, perhaps in part as a souvenir of revenge, and was the last person known to have had it in his possession. The stone disappeared, leaving only four casts made from it.

The archaeology of ancient America was coming unmoored from reality, though this was unseen and unrecognized by leading thinkers. It had moved from disagreements over the interpretation of evidence to hardening ideologies marked by competing hoaxes that only opponents could recognize were untrue. The skies were unsettled, and, as Edward Bulwer-Lytton famously wrote, it would be “a dark and stormy night.”

What seemed at first to be a parallel hoax occurred in Cincinnati, where a stone bearing what seemed to be an Egyptian cartouche emerged from a nearby mound in 1842. Skeptics alleged that a young man had carved it in a local marble shop and buried it atop the mound the night before he discovered it. The young man then showed it to professor John Locke of the Ohio Geological Survey who took one look at it and laughed. “I would advise you,” he said, “before you attempt to palm this off as a piece of antiquity, to carefully brush from the excavations in the stone the fine grains of sand formed by the cutting instrument.”33 Nevertheless, some scholars, including Scottish-Canadian archaeologist Daniel Wilson, embraced the stone as evidence of Mound Builder writing. Ephraim Squier dissented. But instead of calling it a hoax, the chastened Squier suggested it was a stamp for decorating cloth rather than a literary tablet. Three decades would pass before Robert Clarke demonstrated that the object was neither an Egyptian cartouche nor modern fraud. It was instead an Adena tablet of the first millennium BCE, carved in bas relief, perhaps used as a stamp for decorating textiles or pottery. Such an object, however, did not fit the hardening lines of belief in the 1840s.

Yet another controversy was playing out at the same time in Kinderhook, Illinois, where a merchant named Robert Wiley claimed that he had dreamed of great treasure. He then dug into a mound outside the village, within which, on April 23, 1843, he and ten workmen said they found six copper plates inscribed with unreadable characters resembling Chinese. He sent these plates to Joseph Smith in the Mormon-run town of Nauvoo, where the Mormons had fled to escape conflict in Missouri, in order to have them translated, but what he neglected to tell Smith was that he and two other men, one of whom was a blacksmith, had forged the plates themselves in order expose Smith’s dubious claim to have mastered the imaginary languages of ancient America. The characters were roughly inspired by an inscription on a Chinese tea chest. Upon receipt of the copper plates, Smith ordered his private secretary, William Clayton, to bring him a Hebrew dictionary, and he set to work translating what he believed, or pretended to believe, was a genuine ancient text. By May 1 he had deciphered part of the nonsense text. Clayton recorded, “[Smith] has translated a portion and says they contain the history of the person with whom they were found and he was a descendant of Ham through the loins of Pharaoh king of Egypt, and that he received his kingdom from the ruler of heaven and earth.”34

Although Wiley and his coconspirators waited for Smith to make a public fool of himself, nothing happened. Smith lost interest in the copper plates and declined to speak of them publicly. Instead the edition of the Mormon newspaper Times and Seasons issued the very same day Smith “translated” the plates announced that the great ruins of ancient Mexico were proof not just of the great knowledge and culture of ancient Americans but also verification of the Book of Mormon’s account of a great Hebraic civilization on the continent.35 The copper plates were not necessary for Smith’s propaganda purposes, and therefore he chose not to use them in favor of better (if not more convincing) evidence. The forgers returned home and said nothing of their forgery until 1879. Nevertheless, Ephraim Squier took notice of the plates within weeks of their discovery and immediately recognized their phoniness. He posited an important question for Schoolcraft: if those plates were so obviously a fraud, why did he and others presume the Grave Creek Stone to be genuine? There was no good answer.

A few months later, in June 1844, Joseph Smith was dead. He had incited his followers to destroy yet another press, this one belonging to the Nauvoo Expositor, a paper that had declared him a false prophet and attacked his newly declared doctrine of polygamy. Dissident members of the Mormon church who disagreed with polygamy used the force of law—backed by the state militia and the Illinois governor—to jail Smith for taking multiple wives, and he soon found himself charged in Carthage with treason. An armed anti-Mormon mob stormed the jail and shot Smith repeatedly until he was dead. His followers called him a martyr.

The Walam Olum and its dark mirrors were not quite audacious enough to capture the public imagination, just the scholarly one. If William Pidgeon recognized this, the archaeologist and antiquarian never said. But he would do the scholars one better, crafting from whole cloth not just an explanation for the ancient mounds but also an ostensibly Native American source to give spurious credibility to his fantasy in a way that would appeal to the public as nothing since Josiah Priest’s American Antiquities had. Pidgeon was an itinerant trader who claimed to have spent years excavating more than one hundred mounds—by his own admission, to the disapproval of Native peoples, who considered it grave desecration. In 1852 he entered in the ledgers of the U.S. Copyright Office his plans for a book that would uncover the secret history of America’s mounds and place them in their correct relationship to the Native Americans, whom he declared, audaciously for his day, “the successors of the mound-builders, either more or less remotely.” The key word was “more.” He imagined Native Americans as a hybrid race partly descended from Mound Builders and partly from invading warlike hordes. Unlike Rafinesque’s allusions and hints, Pidgeon would use the brashness of a P. T. Barnum to create a humbug worthy of public attention. It took him six years to complete the book on which he would make a fortune from sales across three printings.

Pidgeon would have known that the mounds had become a subject of both fascination and entertainment. From 1837 to 1844, Montroville Dickeson had traveled the country with a fantastically painted cyclorama of 2,500 square feet (though he falsely inflated the measurement to 15,000 square feet in his advertisements) displaying the great mounds of the Mississippi Valley, with scenes showing African American slaves at Dickeson’s direction cutting open a mound to reveal the skeletons and pottery within. Pidgeon might even have looked in awe at how many Americans were happy to pay twenty-five cents—a princely sum—to view such entertainments.

To that end, Pidgeon developed a story of his own to serve as quasi-historical entertainment. He told his readers that in the spring of 1840, while traveling from the Scioto Valley near the Circleville Earthworks in Ohio, he had met an elderly Native chief by the name of De-Coo-Dah in Wisconsin, and this learned man was well-versed in the history of the mounds. He lamented that white men destroyed mounds as quickly as they were revealed. “But why does not the white man leave the record of the earth where it belongs?” De-Coo-Dah was said to have asked. “Most of white men,” Pidgeon supposedly replied, “care but little about things that are not directly connected with their real or imagined pecuniary interest.”36 It might have been a confession of his own hopes for a best-seller. According to Pidgeon, De-Coo-Dah had proceeded to tell him that he, Pidgeon, was the only good white man and would be the first to hear the ancient truth. He informed Pidgeon of the mounds’ true history and their use as a secret set of coded symbols, and he bid Pidgeon swear to keep this truth as a “sacred trust.” This “truth” Pidgeon promptly published in an affordable edition for the profane to enjoy.

Pidgeon’s argument was an odd mixture of different strands of Mound Builder claims. He stated quite plainly his belief that the mounds were not connected to the present tribes of Native Americans, declaring it self-evident that they were far older, older indeed than Egypt’s pyramids. He endorsed the idea that the Scandinavians had occupied the northeastern United States and built its barrows and earthworks. And he happily copied from Josiah Priest, sometimes nearly verbatim, all manner of material about Greeks and Romans and Phoenicians in America, especially the problematic claim for Egyptian mummies in Kentucky that had also captured Joseph Smith’s fancy. Yet at the same time he sought to invest Native Americans—whom he considered lazy and inferior as a race—with a romantic light. Like most of his contemporaries, he believed that the Native Americans were dying out and would soon be extinct, leaving whites the natural and historically justified successor as ruler of the Americas.

According to De-Coo-Dah, the mounds were not the fortifications and evidence of ancient warfare that Mormons and lost race believers alike had claimed them to be. Pidgeon had De-Coo-Dah declare that ancient tradition made them the site of wedding ceremonies and festivals. The Newark Earthworks—where, not long after, psychics sought to contact prehistoric Freemasons—were here reduced to a sacred city for priestly contemplation. To give De-Coo-Dah access to ancient secrets, he could not be a Native American, of the usurping race of “savages,” yet since the Mound Builders were all dead in an epochal flood that had ravaged America, he had to be a Native. To resolve the contradiction, Pidgeon made De-Coo-Dah a scion of the extinct “Elk nation,” “claiming descent from those ancient Americans, the mound builders,” and asserting that De-Coo-Dah’s family was part of a secret cult of priests that had maintained the Mound Builders’ sacred traditions for thousands of years.37 He imagined that there had been a succession of peoples in America, two races of Mound Builders, one Danish and one seemingly Toltec, who had warred with one another, followed by a long period of miscegenation whereby the admixture of Mound Builder and Native blood destroyed the pure genius of the ancient race. The echoes of Mormon theology were clear.

Traditions of De-Coo-Dah was first published in 1852 and failed to sell, so Pidgeon garnered publicity by offering it to the Smithsonian to publish alongside Squier’s work. The Smithsonian categorically rejected the book, but Horace Thayer’s publishing house in New York saw this as a selling point: anything opposed by scientists held great value for the unwashed masses, who were increasingly seen as the arbiters of truth. Thayer published the book in 1853 and reprinted it in 1858, and it became a best-seller, reaching readers across the country. Despite its massive sales, it failed to attract support from professional archaeologists and historians for almost two decades, until the shifting sands of scholarly belief had eroded the last major walls of skepticism surrounding the Mound Builder myth.

The next year, in 1859, another hoax made use of similar materials, and its documentation was likewise attributed to a Native American, but the setting was farther west, in the vast territory between the Mississippi and California that was gradually succeeding the Mississippi Valley as the American frontier. An uneducated but intelligent man of middle age—never identified—pretending to be a Texas Ranger, a U.S. solider, and a former captive of the Comanches named Nelson Lee, had arrived in Albany, New York, on November 10, 1858, telling tall tales to the delight of those he encountered. He met with Mayor Eli Perry and soon after that began to dictate his memoirs of three years as a captive. It took only a few weeks of that to produce a book of more than two hundred pages, filled with sensational but implausible exploits. Its editor had massaged its ungrammatical rambling into a serviceable prose. In the midst of the exploits is Lee’s claim that a Comanche chief named Rolling Thunder told him a story about an ancient fallen race of white giants and predicted that the Americans would fall to the same ignominious fate:

This is the legend of the Comanches, as he related it: Innumerable moons ago, a race of white men, ten feet high, and far more rich and powerful than any white people now living, here inhabited a large range of country, extending from the rising to the setting sun. Their fortifications crowned the summits of the mountains, protecting their populous cities situated in the intervening valleys. They excelled every other nation which was flourished, either before or since, in all manner of cunning handicraft—were brave and warlike—ruling over the land they had wrested from its ancient possessors with a high and haughty hand. Compared with them the palefaces of the present day were pygmies, in both art and arms. They drove the Indians from their homes, putting them to the sword, and occupying the valleys in which their fathers had dwelt before them since the world began. At length, in the height of their power and glory, when they remembered justice and mercy no more and became proud and lifted up, the Great Spirit descended from above, sweeping them with fire and deluge from the face of the earth. The mounds we had seen on the tablelands were the remnants of their fortresses, and the crumbling ruins that surrounded us all that remained of a mighty city.

In like manner, continued . . . Rolling Thunder, the day will surely come when the present white race, which is driving the Indians before it, and despoiling them of their inheritance, and which, in the confidence of its strength, has become arrogant and boastful and forgotten God, will be swept from existence. For the Great Spirit is just—and as certainly as the rivers flow downward towards the salt sea, or the sun rises in the morning and sets at night, so certainly will He yet restore the land of their fathers to the red man, when the days of his affliction are passed.38

The man posing as Lee told his readers that he found it difficult to disagree with Rolling Thunder, since it was patently impossible that an inferior people such as the Comanches could have knowledge of architecture or the arts. Few readers, and fewer scholars of the era, seemed to recognize that Lee’s hoax, like those of Pidgeon, Clemens, and Rafinesque, shared an underlying theme: the question of to whom the lands of North America legitimately belonged. Lost beneath the details of personal arguments, fanciful exploits, and sensational claims, white Americans’ concern about being the legitimate possessors of the lands on which they lived had grown into a mania.

That mania would manifest in a bizarre and growing fascination with a lost race of white giants. It was no longer enough for the Mound Builders to have been a culturally great race. With increasing evidence from ethnologists like Schoolcraft and travelers like Catlin that Native Americans had sophisticated cultures—and, if the Walam Olum could be trusted, literary and poetic ones as well—there was little to differentiate them from the Mound Builder race or from white Americans. Therefore, the Mound Builders now needed to be physically superior, not just mentally advanced, to warrant their imaginary but exalted position at the root of American history. As ethnologists reported the myths and legends of the Native peoples of America, they found stories of giants from ancient times, stories that seemed to support the myth that the Mound Builders were physically robust. Various reports of skeletons of extraordinary heights began to emerge from those who dug into America’s mounds. In 1848, for example, Augustus Mitchell excavated a skeleton seven feet tall in a Florida mound.

While such measurements were typically the result of errors due to mistaken methods of measurement, they captured the imagination of a public in search of a heroic past, especially when they could read of them for a penny. The rise of the inexpensive, sensational newspapers known as the penny press and the explosion of literacy that led the United States to one of the world’s highest literacy rates—89 percent for whites in 1870—had made newspaper reports more influential and essential than anything produced by scholars in far-off universities or cloistered behind the doors of learned societies. Steadily, inexorably, the newspapers began to fill with reports—many hoaxes, others exaggerated from threadbare facts—that Mound Builders were physical giants, possessed of bodies of amazing height. In 1856 the Burlington, Iowa, State Gazette announced the discovery of the remains of eight-foot-tall Mound Builders beneath a new building the governor had commissioned. In several locations, including at Delphi near the upstate New York town of Cardiff, similarly large bones were attributed to giants.

Showman P. T. Barnum saw clearly the desire to find proof of biblical giants in the ancient works of America, and he also saw a terrific chance for profit with a hoax of his own. “I had a skeleton prepared from various bones,” Barnum told the Fairfield County Agricultural Fair in 1854. “It was to have been made 18 feet high; it was to have been buried a year in Ohio, and then dug up by accident, so that the public might learn there were giants of old. The price I was to pay the person who proposed to put the skeleton together was to have been $225.”39 The plan failed to come to fruition, but the idea remained. Fifteen years later it would reemerge on the other side of the apocalyptic Civil War, in whose wake giants, lost white races, and assorted other farcical fantasies achieved a moment of apotheosis.
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The Mound Builders and Manifest Destiny

Early on the chilly morning of October 16, 1869, a farmer from the village of Cardiff in the town of Lafayette in Onondaga County, New York, and two hired men, Gideon Emmons and Henry Nichols, Civil War veterans, began to dig a well. Their labor did not last long. Upon reaching the depth of three feet, one of the workmen struck what he assumed to be a rock and called for the other to fetch an ax to break it up. While waiting for the ax, he dug around the rock a bit more and realized that he was looking at the petrified shape of a human foot. “I declare,” he exclaimed, “some old Indian has been buried here!”1 Together Emmons and Nichols worked to lay bare the body, and within a few hours they had unearthed a stone colossus, measuring ten feet three inches from head to toe, and if the body represented by the partially bent figure stood upright, he would have measured ten feet eight inches in height. The massive figure weighed nearly three thousand pounds.

The farmer, one Stub Newell, viewed the petrified corpse, told Nichols and Emmons that he was sore annoyed that this astonishing body had emerged from his land, and suggested that the pair cover the body with earth and tell no one what they had seen. He worried, he said, because his property had been the site of a suspected murder, and perhaps the body of the murdered man would exact supernatural vengeance. As Nichols and Emmons disregarded this and shared the amazing news with Newell’s neighbors, they had no way of knowing that this was exactly what Newell wanted and that everything was moving according to plan. Crowds started to gather, first from Cardiff, then from nearby Syracuse, and soon from much farther afield. “It is a great event in our lives to behold it,” a visitor was supposed to have told the local newspaper, “worth coming hundreds of miles for this alone.”2 The Syracuse Daily Standard estimated that a third of the city was talking of the giant within a day of its discovery. Members of the Onondaga Nation arrived to view the body, wondering if it could be the remains of an ancient prophet, as many had come to believe, who foretold the coming of the white man. But after viewing the stone man’s decidedly European features, they pronounced their verdict. “No Injun,” one was said to have said, but another offered a perhaps barbed comment that it could be Cain’s brother Abel, the first murder victim. Then they went home.3

But what neither the workmen nor the neighbors nor the newspapers knew was that Newell had carefully planned the entire “discovery” with his relative, George Hull, a six foot two tobacconist and small-time con artist from Binghamton.4 Hull harbored disappointment from several failed business deals that he felt should have nabbed him hundreds of thousands of dollars in profits, and he had engaged in insurance fraud in a bid to save his failing tobacco business. More than a year before, in 1867, Hull, a self-described atheist, had attended a Methodist revival meeting in Ackley, Iowa, where he had traveled to track down the merchandise from a failed cigar sale. The meeting was held by a preacher, Henry B. Turk, who had afterward visited Hull’s sister for a free dinner—he was the kind of man who talked big about loaves and fishes but didn’t care much for feeding the five hundred if he wasn’t one of them. There Turk and Hull had gotten into an argument about how literally to take Genesis 6:4, which describes “giants in the earth” in the days before the Flood, the children of the sons of God and the daughters of men. “Yes,” Turk said, “I believe there were giants. I don’t know how big, but the Bible says that Og’s bedstead was nine cubits long and four cubits broad: that would be sixteen feet, five inches by seven feet, four inches. I suppose that he was fifteen or sixteen feet.”5 Ten years after Charles Darwin had published On the Origin of Species, scientific and religious figures were locked into a terrible battle over the implications of the theory of evolution, and Hull’s debate with Turk, which extended into an hours-long dispute on every miracle and mystery of the Bible, was an outgrowth of the unease over the role of God in a world where evolution called into question the Creation. There was little doubt that this unease would spill over into questions about who the most ancient Americans had been.

Listening to Turk argue that every word of the Bible should be taken literally, Hull stewed. Three decades later he would recall, in somewhat flattering detail:

At midnight we went to bed, and I lay wide awake wondering why people would believe those remarkable stories in the Bible about giants, when suddenly I thought of making a stone giant and passing it off as a petrified man. I returned to Binghamton and sold out my business; went to Wisconsin, where the idea continued to haunt me, and went back to New York State with my family, and finally returned to Iowa. But I didn’t go near my folks at Ackley.

After a while I found a suitable kind of stone near Port [Fort] Dodge, on the riverbank. It was a gray stone, somewhat resembling gypsum, with dark-colored bluish streaks, which afterward passed for veins of a human body. I found a mass of this rock cropping out about 160 feet from the river, and bought an acre of this land. Then I went to work with a force of men, and in three weeks I had a block ready to take away. It was about 11 feet 4 inches in length, 3 feet 6 inches wide, and over 2 feet thick. This I transported by land to the nearest railroad station, Boone, 45 miles distant. The removal to the station occupied three weeks and cost over $200. It was no small job transporting this ponderous mass over prairie roads, fords, and weak bridges. . . .
 
Onondaga Hollow is near Tully, a station thirteen miles from Syracuse. It is a marked depression in the ground, and there is a hill on each side. Geologists say it was at one time a lake, and many petrified fish and reptiles have been found there. In this hollow is situated the cross-roads hamlet called Cardiff, and I had determined it was just the place to bury the giant. There lived there a relative named “Stub” Newell, whom I took into my confidence, first swearing him to secrecy. Union Station was sixty miles away. We took the giant in his big box across to Cardiff, arriving at Newell’s farm at midnight in a pouring rain. We put the box back of the barn and covered it with hay and straw, and two weeks later we went back and buried the image in a grave five feet deep. The interment took place at dead of night, and we had to transport and erect for the purpose a huge derrick. Indeed, it was no small job to remove all trace of the midnight burial.6

Hull let the giant sit in its grave for fifty weeks, leaving Newell with instructions for when and how to arrange for its “discovery.” In the wake of its disinterment, Newell quickly monetized the giant, raking in $7,000 in admissions fees to see it and offers of tens of thousands of dollars to buy the giant. But Newell had trouble keeping a secret and confessed the hoax to many friends and acquaintances, spoiling the imposture early. Decades later, Hull was still mad at Newell for this, but he did make $23,000 as his share of the giant when it was sold to a consortium of local businessmen, a good return on the $3,000 he had spent making and transporting it. Even P. T. Barnum was impressed. He offered the owners tens of thousands of dollars to rent the giant for three months. They refused, and Barnum undercut them by carving his own copy and exhibiting it as though it were the real thing, without ever quite saying so. More people of the time would see the copy than the original, leading one of the original’s new owners, David Hannum, to supposedly remark, “There’s a sucker born every minute.” Posterity would make Barnum steal that too.

But before Barnum’s involvement, the great men of American science made a pilgrimage to see the giant when it was still unknown whether it was statue or preserved biblical remnant. The geologist John F. Boynton of Syracuse—a former Mormon who was once one of Joseph Smith’s closest officials before losing faith in the prophet—recognized it at once as a statue, one depicting a Caucasian. He examined it by sniffing and licking it, and he suggested that Jesuits had carved it in colonial days to impress the Natives. The state geologist, James Hall, examined the body and similarly found it to be a statue, as did geologist Henry A. Ward. Paleontologist Othniel C. Marsh concurred and declared the statue a “humbug.”

Yet these voices failed to cut through the frenzy in the media—ten thousand copies of a pamphlet collecting newspaper articles on the subject sold that month—or staunch the growing craze for biblical and sensational antiquities in America. Newspapers led the charge, especially those in New York City and Chicago that fed stories to smaller papers, speculating that the giant was an antediluvian. The New York Daily Tribune placed the giant on its front page, turning a local curiosity into a national obsession. The papers gave as much credence to the views of the public as to those of scholars, and they gave greater weight to preachers than to paleontologists, creating a false equivalency between fact and fantasy. One preacher asked plaintively, “Is it not strange that any human being, after seeing this wonderfully preserved figure, can deny the evidence of his senses, and refuse to believe, what is so evidently the fact, that we have here a fossilized human being, perhaps one of the giants mentioned in Scripture?”7 So powerful were the voices of newspapers and preachers and peddlers shouting that a genuine giant had been found that some visitors looked at the rough-hewn statue and imagined it so lifelike that they could not tell whether it was dead or alive.

Faith and belief changed what people saw—and remembered. One woman swore that the giant’s ghost had appeared to her years earlier. A Spiritualist known as the Rev. Chauncey Barnes held a séance to learn about the giant. According to newspaper accounts of the séance, the giant was a member of the lost white race of Mound Builders. Barnes’s Native spirit guide “talked of when this valley was a part of the great waters; of the red man inhabiting the high lands way back; of the coming of a race, of pale-faces a thousand years ago, &c., and that the Cardiff Giant was one of that race, and a petrified human body.”8 Even those who accepted that it was a statue speculated that it had been the work of white Egyptians, pallid Vikings—any ancient Caucasian group of power and destiny.

Although the controversy over the Cardiff Giant lasted only two months before Hull confessed the hoax, it revealed a shattering fault at the heart of American science. Learned opinions were falling before faith and the demands of a public that wanted a grander, more romantic, and decidedly whiter past for America. The Rev. Samuel Calthorp, a Universalist minister who saw in the sculpture a dying Viking, spoke for them all in praising its evocation of Caucasian majesty: “If you had objected that there was too much mind shining through the features, the sculptor might have answered that the closed eyes saw in prophetic vision that men of his race would one day rule where he had lain down to die.”9 Dozens of newspaper articles joined in the conclusion, many calling the giant the greatest work of the white Mound Builders. And these racist voices, louder than all others, would dominate.

The Civil War had been a catastrophe almost too big to comprehend, and its legacy helped to reshape the mania for ancient white colonizers that reached its zenith in the Gilded Age that followed. Six hundred thousand men had died in a war that left an unsettled country grappling with issues of race and challenges to ingrained notions of white supremacy. Vast tracts of land had been destroyed and the economy shattered. And the war had unleashed challenges to American power. The French had briefly occupied Mexico and installed an Austrian archduke as emperor. Britain turned to its colonies to supply cotton, dealing a further blow to the southern economy. West of the Mississippi, the withdrawal of federal troops to fight the war emboldened Natives in their escalating wars against the ongoing colonization of the frontier. Successive waves of Catholic immigrants from Germany and Ireland called into question whose land America was to be. After an influx of former slaves into the ranks of the citizenry, the question of which racial, cultural, and religious group would hold power reached fever pitch. With state militias chasing Native Americans onto shrinking reservations, the Ku Klux Klan riding through the night, and lynch mobs enforcing severe social restrictions on interracial and intercultural contact, America’s new generation of educated elites, who had grown up on Josiah Priest and Traditions of De-Coo-Dah, were only too eager to help craft a national myth in service of an imagined ideal.

Within months of the Cardiff Giant’s exposure as a hoax, reports of more giants began to fill the newspapers—a combination of hoaxes, misidentified mammoth bones, and tall tales. In West Hickory, Pennsylvania, two men claimed to have found the bones of an eighteen-foot biblical giant, dressed in Assyrian armor, twelve feet under a mound, which they had been destroying to make way for the construction of a derrick. In Arkansas, skeletons eight feet or more in height emerged from mounds around Barfield Point, verified by a local doctor. Near Garysburg, North Carolina, skeletons nine feet long came out of the ground with teeth filed into stilettos—cannibal giants. At the Old Stone Fort in Tennessee, an entire cave filled with giant skeletons emerged, with jaws big enough to fit over a normal person’s face. The same occurred near Green Bay, Wisconsin, where railway workers laying track dug giant bones from a mound, bones big enough to be those of a horse. In Louisville, Kentucky, several young men claimed to have spent three days lost in a cave after being frightened into flight by the discovery of three nine-foot-tall skeletons. “The three genuine nine-foot men of Kentucky must have belonged to a race that is now entirely extinct,” the New York Times dryly noted, “and hence it would be a matter of great interest if we could learn who and what they were.”10

America’s men of science did not immediately embrace the popular enthusiasm for giants. Indeed, as Baron von Humboldt noted, American scientists had spoken of the “short, thick skeletons of the mounds” up until that point. Most were nevertheless willing to join in the general spirit of restoring the antebellum world by remaking America into a continent that had been dominated by light-skinned people from time immemorial. There was a sense that the verities of the Old World were being lost, that things were spinning out of control, and a that new narrative was needed to bring history back within the bounds of propriety. Even Humboldt, the great European scientist, cast his lot with the Americans, arguing that some Native Americans most closely related to the Mound Builders had been “born white” before the sun burned them a ruddy copper color.11

Darwin’s book had been shock enough, but shortly after the Cardiff Giant hoax came another attack on ancient truths. A thirty-two-year-old printer with a passion for Assyriology assembled fragments of a cuneiform tablet in the British Museum and discovered that it gave an independent but uncomfortably similar version of the myth of Noah’s Flood from the perspective of Babylonian culture. George Smith delivered his translation to the Society of Biblical Archaeology in 1872, the audience including Prime Minister William Gladstone, and his translation shocked the world. Smith told the assembled men that what he had found would cast the Book of Genesis in a new light. At first it was taken to be proof that the heathens had also remembered Noah’s works, but in short order unease grew when scholars began to suspect that the Mesopotamian version of the story—with its strange gods and unfamiliar characters—was a thousand years older than the oldest traces of the Noah story. Could the Bible itself be derivative?

History seemed to be coming unmoored from biblical truth, and, with the decline of the authority of scripture and the new truths daily emerging from the earth, scholars and those with pretensions to scholarship began to feel free to indulge in their most imaginative and romantic reconstructions of history. In 1872 John S. Phené of the Royal Geographical Society declared that Loch Nell in Scotland held a close copy of the Great Serpent Mound of Ohio, an effigy mound in the shape of a snake. In reality it was a natural glacial formation. In 1875 Princeton-educated folklorist Charles G. Leland declared that a passage in the medieval Chinese Liang Shu, describing a mythical land called Fusang, actually referred to the Pacific coast of North America, and that the Chinese had colonized ancient America. That same year, British Museum geographer Richard Henry Major published a translation of a Renaissance hoax claiming to be an account of the voyage of two Venetian brothers, Nicolò and Antonio Zeno, to Greenland in 1394, where they met a foreign prince named Zichmni from an unknown subarctic island called Frisland and heard stories of more distant lands. Major argued in a long essay published by the distinguished Hakluyt Society that “Zichmni” was a corrupt rendering of Henry I Sinclair, Earl of Orkney, a minor medieval Scottish noble and vassal of the Norse crown, whom Major credited with sending an expedition to the old Viking colonies in Canada. The Scots, therefore, knew of America a century before Columbus, Major said, and were entirely deserving of the honor because Italians had a “tendency to a certain amount of hyperbole,” though he conceded that the Latin race had a particular sneaky “genius.”12

In 1877 the Ohio State Archaeological Society appointed a special commission of A. A. E. Taylor, M. C. Reid, and the Rev. J. B. MacLean to evaluate the Grave Creek Stone’s authenticity. MacLean “did not hesitate to pronounce its authenticity as incontestable.” M. C. Reid dissented. He read a paper before the Ohio State Historical Society on September 25, 1878, considering how easy it would be to have faked the Grave Creek Stone. He asked a teacher, a schoolgirl, a druggist, and a professor to create twenty random inscribed characters just to see what they came up with. Their results bore strong resemblances to the Grave Creek inscription and to ancient alphabets, due, Reid said, to the fact that there are only so many ways to engrave straight lines. In fact, the random characters resembled a hodgepodge of ancient alphabets as much as they did the Grave Creek Stone. “I am compelled to conclude,” he told the society, “that there is nothing in the form of the characters of the latter which require us to decide that they are old, that they are alphabetical, or if alphabetical that they are derived from any known alphabet.”13 He conceded, though, that the question of the stone’s antiquity remained unanswered, even if its inscription was demonstrably nonsense. Taylor concurred with Reid, but the debate remained unsettled. Nevertheless, the publicity surrounding the Grave Creek Stone kept inspiring new hoaxes. Stone tablets seeming to depict mammoths and described with unknown writing emerged from a mound near Davenport, Iowa, in 1877. They were widely accepted in scholarly literature for a decade as proof of the Mound Builders’ alphabetic prowess, even though they were nothing but crudely etched slate roof tiles from a nearby brothel. Pipes in the form of elephants, faked by the same hand, spent several decades as “proof” that the Mound Builders lived alongside mastodons.

But in terms of sheer power and influence, the rehabilitation of Traditions of De-Coo-Dah transformed scholarly opinions on the role of the Mound Builders. This was due almost entirely to the endorsement of the great ethnologist Hubert Howe Bancroft, a poorly educated bookseller whose steely determination turned him into a scholar and saw him elected in 1875 as a member of the American Antiquarian Society. That same year, he announced that he believed Traditions of De-Coo-Dah to be an accurate account of ancient times.

Bancroft had been born in Ohio in 1832, and he had grown up among the mounds and earthworks when the Mormon controversy and the works of Josiah Priest had dominated the national view of America’s ancient history. But his parents were of liberal persuasion and inculcated in him a profound respect for the basic humanity of all races. They opened their three-story sandstone home to the Underground Railroad, and young Bancroft saw firsthand the desperation of African slaves to gain freedom. Bancroft’s father was present in 1860 when the onetime Licking County surveyor David Wyrick pulled a stone from a mound at Newark bearing Hebrew characters. Another stone emerged at nearby Jacksontown, Ohio, secreted in a wooden box. These so-called Holy Stones included a “decalogue stone,” bearing an anachronistic version of the Ten Commandments surrounding a figure of Moses, and a keystone inscribed with Hebrew and symbols similar to ones used by Freemasons. While the stones seemed custom-made to reinforce the popular view that the Mound Builders were a Lost Tribe of Israel—indeed Wyrick declared them proof that the Mound Builders were members of the Lost Tribes—skepticism was still strong in the years before the Civil War. Jewish scholar Dr. Albert Geiger, writing in the New York Times and noting their many anachronisms and errors of Hebrew, declared the rocks to be the “bungling work of an unskilled stone mason.”14 The stones, though finding some true believers, particularly among the clergy, were dismissed as a hoax by almost all the scholarly world, including members of the American Ethnological Society who corresponded with the impoverished Wyrick. In those days that counted for enough that the story faded from public interest for a century, until the revival of interest in lost white races in the late twentieth century. From his father’s report, Bancroft, who had moved to the Far West, developed a healthy skepticism for any supposed Old World artifact buried in a mound. That would not, however, translate into skepticism regarding the idea of a lost white race.

As a youth of just twenty, Bancroft had traveled to San Francisco to become a bookseller and a publisher, and in that capacity he accumulated one of the country’s greatest private libraries, numbering in the tens of thousands of volumes. By the time he moved the collection to a fireproof building in 1881, he counted forty-five thousand books, manuscripts, and maps in his collection, including many firsthand accounts collected from settlers and politicians by Bancroft and his associates. After the Civil War, Bancroft gave up bookselling and devoted himself to mining his library for historical research, which he would publish as a thirty-nine-volume comprehensive history of the U.S. West Coast from the dawn of time to the present. The first volumes began to appear in 1875 under the modest title of The Works of Hubert Howe Bancroft, and they would eventually be published by his just as modestly named The History Company. The series began with the Native nations of the West and proceeded to the history of Central America and Mexico before covering that of the western United States. These volumes proved invaluable in their translation and popularization of all manner of rare and valuable documents otherwise unavailable to the general public. In some cases, they remain today the only English translations of source works.

But little did anyone know that Bancroft was hiding a secret. Bancroft had publicly declared his efforts to be monumental: “I say, then, without unpardonable boasting, that in my opinion there never in the history of literature was performed so consummate a feat as the gathering, abstracting, and arranging of the material for this History of the Pacific States.”15 Yet he was, in fact, not the author of his own works. Instead he had secretly hired a team of assistants—by his own account, twenty writer-researchers and some six hundred library workers over thirty years—to draft his books, and he provided a final polish to the language of each volume and contributed some chapters as needed. Or, as he put it, his assistants were charged with “the study and reduction of certain minor sections of the history which I employed in my writing after more or less condensation and change”—to spare Bancroft the “drudgery” of research and analysis.16 At least that is the story he told in his memoirs in 1891. In a letter to his assistants in 1878, he was more direct, since he was speaking privately: “When all the material I have is gone over and notes taken according to the general plan, I shall give one person one thing or one part to write, and another person another part.”17 His deception ought not to have been hard to see through. The books were filled with translations of documents in languages Bancroft did not speak. One contemporary estimate found that the thirty-nine-volume set would have taken one man one hundred years to research and write on his own.18 But it took ten years for scholars and journalists to uncover this truth, by which time Bancroft had become known as the “American Macaulay” after the famed British historian Thomas Macaulay.

In 1875 Bancroft published the fourth volume of his subseries Native Races, entitled Antiquities, which described and analyzed the physical remains of the ancient inhabitants of the Americas. Despite eventually compiling five volumes on them—he had written but 270 of the five volumes’ 4,000 pages—he had no love of Native people. “I did not fancy them, I would gladly have avoided them. I was no archaeologist, ethnologist, or antiquary, and I had no desire to become such.”19 Nevertheless, for completeness, near the end of the book Bancroft chose to expand his discussion beyond the Pacific Coast to look at the remains of the Mound Builders. The man who would become known as a great ethnologist and historian endorsed the lost race theory, identifying the Mound Builders from Louisiana to New York as a race separate from the present Native Americans. “The Mound-builders,” he wrote, “were of one race, living under one grand system of institutions.”20 In an offhand reference of monumental consequence, the book cited William Pidgeon as a great authority on the mounds, equal to Ephraim Squier—the same Pidgeon who had created the words of De-Coo-Dah from whole cloth. The fourth volume of Native Races said that the evidence best supported the 1840s consensus that Toltecs or Aztecs were the Mound Builders, but it also suggested that, whoever they were, the Mound Builders made an annual pilgrimage to Michigan to mine copper, for the Native peoples of that region could not possibly have dug copper from the ground.

Bancroft’s writer for this volume, Henry Lebbeus Oak, a thirty-one-year-old Dartmouth graduate and public-school principal who had taken a position managing Bancroft’s library, spent several pages explaining that the Mound Builders’ civilization was not advanced in the modern sense, nor did they have more than rude structures and limited architectural skills. After remarking on their low development, he nevertheless said that in his mind the Mound Builders were wholly unrelated to modern Native Americans. The incongruity reflected the assumption of the era that Native people were by turns too lazy and too violent for even the modest achievements of the Mound Builders, but it stood especially stark in contrast to the Native achievements Bancroft—or rather Oak—had spent seven hundred pages chronicling. The failure was one of methodology, for Bancroft and his men were essentially uncritical copyists of what they called “the best authorities,” and it was from Pidgeon and Atwater and Squier that old views of a lost race gained new life.

Four years later, in 1879, Alban Jasper Conant, a friend of Abraham Lincoln, an accomplished painter, and a distinguished archaeologist and anthropologist, published Foot-prints of Vanished Races in the Mississippi Valley, analyzing the ancient mounds and speculating about their origins and use. It was almost inevitable that a member of the Sociétié Ethnographique of Paris and the Anthropological Society of Washington and the curator of the University of Missouri would draw his understanding of the mounds from the ersatz Traditions of De-Coo-Dah, citing Pidgeon’s patched-together legendry as a genuine account of ancient times. Slowly, by degrees, fakery and fraud were infecting scholarship.

The myth showed up more and more in elementary and high school textbooks, which increasingly reflected the popular view that America had always been a land of Europeans. In 1876, the year of America’s centennial, John Jacob Anderson’s grammar school textbook on the history of the United States informed the nation’s youth that there were many competing theories for the peopling of the Americas. “According to one of these theories, America received its first inhabitants from eastern Asia, by way of Behring’s Straits; while other and more probable statements are, that vessels were at various times wafted by the trade-winds across the Atlantic Ocean from the Old World, and that thus people of different races being accidentally carried to the other continent, settled there, and founded the different nations which inhabited it at the time of its discovery by Columbus.”21 George Payn Quackenbos’s American history primer from 1871 did Anderson one better. He copied from Josiah Priest and told students that the first Americans came from ancient Egypt and that their mummies had been found in the West. These first Americans had been forced from Egypt in the time of the “Shepherd Kings” (who had moved to Egypt from India) and wended their way through Asia before arriving in America where they had “erected the mounds and ancient works whose remains are still visible in the valley of the Mississippi” before reaching Mexico and becoming the Aztecs. Native Americans, Quackenbos said, were a separate and inferior race to these great white Egyptian adventurers.22 Students across America were being primed from earliest youth to believe racist lies.

The scholarly arguments over the Mound Builders might have seemed irrelevant and playing little role in the explosive growth of the United States in the Gilded Age. But these arguments both informed and echoed an argument taking place in the corridors of American power, particularly in the wake of the Great Sioux War of 1876, symbolized by the disastrous Battle of the Little Bighorn. For generations, schoolchildren were taught about the heroism of George Armstrong Custer, who led his men into battle against “savages” and lost his life in their attack. While this myth became part of the romance of the West, it hid dark complexities beneath its simplistic morality play of good and evil as white Americans and Native Americans came into conflict over the control of a shrinking region of the American frontier.

Since the 1850s white American settlers and European immigrants had been pushing ever farther westward, spurred on by policies like the 1862 Homestead Act that provided free western land to settlers willing to live on a plot for five years, and Custer himself noted in 1874 that the vast center of the country, which he had known in his youth as the “Great American Desert,” had been transformed to the point where he no longer recognized it, a desert no longer. But the press of colonization created problems. Andrew Jackson and his successors had marked the Great American Desert as the new home for the Native nations pushed out of the East, and in the vast central territory the influx of new peoples had disrupted the Native cultures of the Great Plains. Further, the new push of white settlers had utterly upended traditional ways of life, leading to skirmishes, raids, counterraids, and battles between settlers, federal troops, and Native tribes. In 1865 a congressional committee attempted to find a solution to the violence, producing a report titled Condition of the Indian Tribes in 1867 that recommended a plan to make peace with Native peoples by resettling them even farther west on reservations, while seizing midwestern lands for white settlers. This might have led to an uneasy if unfair peace, but the discovery of gold made things much worse.

In the 1860s the United States and the Sioux entered into a treaty in keeping with the government’s plan. Since the Black Hills of the Dakota Territory were an unforgiving land poor in resources, white settlers considered it a fitting area to concede to the Sioux—a name for the Dakota, Lakota, and Nakota peoples—for a homeland. In the 1868 Treaty of Fort Laramie the Sioux agreed to live in the Black Hills, a sacred territory, in exchange for American promises that the Great Sioux Reservation would be their territory—theirs alone. The new equilibrium lasted only months before the discovery of gold in the Black Hills led a coalition of greedy settlers, local politicians, and newspapermen to pressure the federal government to violate the treaty guarantees and to send the cavalry to help white miners enter Sioux territory to search for gold. In 1874 the Seventh Cavalry, under Custer, entered Sioux territory to confirm the presence of gold. That done and made public, prospectors soon overran the territory. Delegations headed by Sioux leaders Spotted Tail, Red Cloud, and Lone Horn headed to Washington to ask the government to enforce the 1868 treaty, but Congress and the Ulysses S. Grant administration instead offered them a new treaty, paying them a total of $25,000 and requiring the Sioux to move to the Indian Territory in present-day Oklahoma. The Sioux leaders refused. “If it is such a good country, you ought to send the white men now in our country there and let us alone,” Spotted Tail replied.23

The Americans felt they could deal in a high-handed way with the Native Americans because they would not long be part of the American landscape. In the prevailing white opinion of the time, the “inferior races” had to inevitably yield to the superior, and thus the red to the white. The Mound Builder myth had informed this belief, providing spurious proof that races could, should, and did yield to each new invader, and therefore extinction was the preordained response to white incursions. The congressional report on the condition of Native Americans even quoted Brig. Gen. James H. Carleton’s testimony that Native Americans would soon die out. His reasoning included a mixture of biblical fundamentalism and modern evolutionary theory, combining the mysteries of Ice Age extinction with God’s salvific plan. “He wills that one race of men—as in races of lower animals—shall disappear off the face of the earth and give place to another race, and so on, in the great cycle traced out by Himself, which may be seen, but has reasons too deep to be fathomed by us. The races of the mammoths and mastodons, and the great sloths, came and passed away: the red man of America is passing away!”24 Such views were prevalent in the U.S. Army, and it was perhaps unsurprising that lost race beliefs were prevalent to. Lieutenant Colonel Custer, in a memoir published in 1874 but serialized two years earlier, concurred that Native peoples would inevitably die out before white civilization. But he also summarized the many arguments for Phoenician, Hebrew, Persian, Mesopotamian, African, or Aztec origins for the Native Americans. He did not endorse a specific theory but instead tended toward the view of Josiah Priest, arguing that “numerous evidences and various authorities go to prove that prior to the discovery of America by Columbus a series of voyages had been made from the old to the new continent,” and therefore various Native peoples might have differing Old World ancestors.25 He was fairly certain that at least some were descendants of the Lost Tribes, on the strength of superficial religious similarities that had been a staple of lost race theories for centuries. But he attributed the mounds and monuments of America to a different source, Scandinavians, whom he believed had colonized much of the eastern United States: “At the same time the discoveries in the Western States and territories of mounds containing human bones, earthen vessels, and weapons whose form and structure prove that their original owners belonged to a different people from any with which we are acquainted at the present day, should be received as evidence strongly confirmatory of the early migrations claimed to have been made by the Scandinavians and other nations.”26 Custer, like most men of his time, and like most in the army, could freely entertain such beliefs because they were current in the literature of the day, endorsed by scholars, and entirely in agreement with their deep racism. Custer said that he considered Native Americans, whatever their origin, to be taciturn, mendacious, vengeful, and animalistic. He had full knowledge that he and his fellow soldiers were carrying out a violent war predicated on government mendacity and racial vengeance.

During the spring of 1876, when Lakota people had gathered at Rosebud Creek in Montana to celebrate the most important religious ceremony of the year, the Sun Dance, the federal government had launched a campaign to force the Lakotas and the Cheyennes back within the borders of their reservations. On June 5, the Lakota spiritual leader Sitting Bull had a vision in which he saw U.S. soldiers descending into the Lakota encampment like grasshoppers from the sky. American forces attacked Rosebud on June 17, and in the aftermath Custer ended up at the Little Bighorn River on June 24. There fighting lasted for the next two days, and the Lakotas won an important and massive victory. Of Custer’s 700 hundred men, 268 died in the battle and six more in the following days from their wounds. Custer was among the dead.

The battle may have been a triumph for the Lakotas, but it was the beginning of the end of the Indian Wars. U.S. officials rededicated efforts to eradicate Native resistance, and, with overwhelming force, federal troops crushed Native warriors. The United States forced the Sioux to cede the Black Hills under threat of having their food supply cut off. Worse was to come, as the U.S. government had decided that Native Americans, as a dying race, should be assimilated into Euro-American society and no longer treated as separate and sovereign nations. “The Indian owns no telegraph, employs no press reporter, and his side of the story is unknown to the people,” Episcopal bishop Henry Whipple wrote in November 1880. Whipple lamented that “the American people have accepted as truth the teaching that the Indians were a degraded, brutal race of savages, whom it was the will of God should perish at the approach of civilization.” Whipple laid the blame squarely on the highest officials of the federal government, who promoted bad laws, racist policies, and propaganda in the name of profit. He told a story about the way U.S. policy corrupted everyone it touched. In Alaska, when it still belonged to Russia, the tsar’s mother had given a jewel-studded copy of the Gospels to a local church, where it sat on open display for seventy years. The American official in charge of receiving Alaska from Russia after its purchase warned a priest to remove the book lest the Indians steal it. The priest refused, noting that for seven decades it had sat in God’s house unmolested. “The country became ours,” Whipple said, “and the next day the Gospel was stolen.”27

The poet Helen Hunt Jackson was even more forceful in her condemnation of the federal government. After hearing Chief Standing Bear of the Poncas recount in a lecture the horrors of being removed from Nebraska to the Indian Territory, Jackson wrote a book, A Century of Dishonor, in 1881 documenting America’s broken treaties and unconscionable treatment of Native Americans. In it, Jackson quoted Julius H. Seelye, a former congressman and the president of Amherst College, recommending that the government undertake a program to “civilize” the Native Americans: “It will be admitted now on every hand that the only solution of the Indian problem involves the entire change of these people from a savage to a civilized life.”28 Seelye endorsed a specific program of reform that would create lasting peace with Native peoples, embracing a similar proposal that was put forward in Congress in the House Committee on Indian Affairs:

If the results thus indicated shall gradually come to pass, the property now owned by the tribes should be ultimately divided and held in severalty by the individual members of the tribes. Such a division should not be immediately made, and, when made, it should be with great care and faithfulness; but the Indian himself should, as soon as may be, feel both the incentives and the restraints which an individual ownership of property is fitted to excite, and the Government, which is his guardian, having educated him for this ownership, should endow him with it. But until the Indian becomes as able as is the average white man to manage his property for himself, the Government should manage it for him, no matter whether he be willing or unwilling to have this done.29

Although A Century of Dishonor forcefully advocated for better treatment of Native Americans, it did so within a worldview limited by decades of policy and propaganda and the unspoken assumption that the culture, manners, and mores of white Americans were superior. In the House of Representatives, a group of congressmen led by Russell Errett declared that the proposed new Indian policy was basically racist, even as they agreed that Native Americans had to inevitably die out before the “stronger” civilization of the “Anglo-Saxon character.”

The real aim of this bill is to get at the Indian lands and open them up to settlement. The provisions for the apparent benefit of the Indian are but the pretext to get at his lands and occupy them. With that accomplished, we have securely paved the way for the extermination of the Indian races upon this part of the continent. If this were done in the name of Greed, it would be bad enough; but to do it in the name of Humanity, and under the cloak of an ardent desire to promote the Indian’s welfare by making him like ourselves, whether he will or not, is infinitely worse. Of all the attempts to encroach upon the Indian, this attempt to manufacture him into a white man by act of Congress and the grace of the Secretary of the Interior is the baldest, the boldest, and the most unjustifiable.30

With the debate turning sour in the House committee, Jackson tried to influence events. She had her book bound in red leather with gold lettering and an embossed quotation about blood-stained hands, and she sent a copy to every member of Congress. The proposal to break up Native lands captured the imagination of sixty-five-year-old Republican senator Henry L. Dawes of Massachusetts. Dawes had been involved in the congressional debate and had read Jackson’s book with interest. He had been moved by a petition in support of Native American welfare from America’s clergy that had been inspired by Century of Dishonor. In January 1881 Dawes presented the petition in the Senate and had it entered into the Congressional Record. He did the same the following year, when a petition inspired by Jackson and Whipple garnered one hundred thousand signatures. In 1884 Dawes traveled west to investigate how Native nations organized their lands, with an eye toward evaluating whether Seelye’s proposal would provide a solution, for within Dawes two contradictory instincts battled. He felt humanitarian compassion for individual Native persons, who suffered from the flawed policies of the United States, but he also believed firmly that the only way to save the individual was to transform Native cultures, destroying all that seemed incompatible with American capitalism, individualism, and personal liberty. Dawes was possessed of great personal virtue, frequently criticizing his own party for its faults, and his acquaintances often remarked on his good nature, his love of justice, and his spotless private life; but he also had a tendency to see his own virtue as an ideal to which others should strive. A deep believer in Yankee self-sufficiency, he argued that Native people should achieve the same level of independence from government support that he and his fellow New Englanders enjoyed.

To that end, Dawes authored consequential legislation that would decimate Native cultures in ways even the Indian Wars and Indian removal had not. The first piece of legislation was the Dawes Act of 1887, which declared that tribal lands could no longer be held communally. Instead, every Native household, beside those exempted by treaty, would receive a specific allotment of land: 160 acres for a family, 80 for an individual adult, and 40 for an orphaned child. Any land beyond these allotments held by the tribes would be sold on the open market, including to white Americans. Later amendments would force any Native receiving a land allotment outside of the Indian Territory to accept U.S. citizenship or lose title to the land. The process was ripe for corruption. Senator Dawes recognized the problems almost immediately and was chastened and saddened by the ill use to which his reforms had been put. In 1889, just two years after the Dawes Act passed, he told an Interior Department conference on “Indian affairs” how he felt.

It would not be practicable to have one law apply to the white man and one to those of Indian blood in a State. It would cause more friction than any device which could be invented. We supposed it would be fair to trust to each State that each would make a reasonable and fair law so far as the Indian is concerned, such as would apply to every white person. Anyway, we thought we had better trust to the States as to what should be necessary twenty-five years hence.

I do not see any way but to trust to the fair dealing of the white man with the Indian alike under the Constitution of the United States. But I am so oppressed with the idea that has gone abroad in the administration of this law that all that was to be done was to take the Indians as fast as possible and set them off in squares like a checker-board, putting this one here and that one there, and then go off and say, we have done all that was needful, that I begin to feel that under such an administration the last end of the Indian would be worse than his first.31

Dawes retired from the Senate in 1893, unable to convince state governments or the federal government to act fairly, honorably, and in the best interests of Native Americans. Within fifty years, ninety million acres fell out of Native control as a result of the corrupt administration of the Dawes Act, with the surplus sold off to settlers and corporations, transformed into parks, or given to the military. Many Natives received allotments far from their relations, straining social networks. Amendments to the law would break up tribal governments and redefine Native families to force them to conform to the nuclear, patriarchal model of white Americans. The effects were devastating to the social fabric of many tribes, tearing apart centuries-old traditions and redefining gender roles. The act left tribes across the United States poorer and weaker.

The Dawes Act coincided with a second reform movement aimed at assimilation and the eradication of Native identity. With Dawes’s “humanitarian” support, the U.S. government required that all Native children had to be educated according to white American standards, ostensibly for the children’s benefit, and the government subsidized missionary schools and operated some its own through the Bureau of Indian Affairs. So important was this “scheme of public education” that at an 1889 conference attended by Dawes, the Interior Department concluded that “the welfare of the Indians, the peace and prosperity of the white people, and the honor of the nation are all at stake.”32 The model was that used by Richard Henry Pratt, a military officer who in the late 1870s had attempted to educate Native children until they could become fully assimilated. “A great general has said that the only good Indian is a dead one,” Pratt said in an 1892 speech. “In a sense, I agree with the sentiment, but only in this: that all the Indian there is in the race should be dead. Kill the Indian in him and save the man.”33 If Dawes tried to save the individual with land, Pratt would try to do it with books. Native children were removed by force from their homes, sent to distant boarding schools, and isolated from their families with the goal of killing Native cultures. Across the more than one hundred boarding schools operating in the 1880s, thousands of Native children had their traditional clothing taken away and long hair shorn, were given new “American” names, sometimes at random, and were forbidden from speaking their native languages and even from singing traditional songs. In mission schools, they were made to profess Christianity. While attendance was technically voluntary, every Native parent knew what would happen if they refused a summons to send their sons and daughters to the schools.

Life at the boarding schools was miserable. Overcrowded and rife with disease and malnutrition, they were also regimented like military camps or prisons. One student, Zitkala-Sa, remembered a decade later how the whole school had to perform every activity in unison, with a bell to announce each step. To eat a meal, a bell would signal students to pull out their chairs, another to sit, another to lift their utensils, and so on until the meal finished. The process was made worse by the fact she could not speak English and thus could barely understand what was happening. “The constant clash of harsh noises,” she wrote, “with an undercurrent of many voices murmuring an unknown tongue, made a bedlam within which I was securely tied. And though my spirit tore itself in struggling for its lost freedom, all was useless.”34 Abuses of every kind were rampant, and children lived in terror.

And what did these children learn about themselves? The textbooks of the 1880s tell two competing stories. The more sober of them repeated the more recent lie, that Native people were ignorant “wild men,” few in number, violent, and “presenting human society under its simplest and most inartificial forms.”35 The more extreme story borrowed even at this late date whole lists of false facts from Josiah Priest and speculated wildly about Phoenicians, Lost Tribes, and the lost race of the Mound Builders. The ninth edition of the Encyclopaedia Britannica published from 1875 to 1889 ratified these beliefs, replacing the correct description of America’s mounds as the work of ancient Native Americans with a new article suggesting that they were the work of a lost race more advanced than any Native American. Of the Native Americans, the encyclopedia, repeating earlier editions, told its readers that perhaps they were a wholly different species, independently evolved in North America, though it allowed that they might have been so long in America that they were related to the most ancient Old World humans. The encyclopedia drew on U.S. government reports to conclude that Native Americans would soon be extinct as they were declining in number by around 1 percent each year. “For the most part,” new lines added for the ninth edition reported, “the Indians have vanished away and left scarcely a trace of their presence behind them.”36 America, the esteemed work implied, would belong entirely to whites.

It would take decades for the full extent of the damage caused by the policies and practices of the 1880s to become public knowledge. When Henry L. Dawes died in 1903, the Christian Work and the Evangelist eulogized him as a great man and said, “His name will be honored so long as a red man lives to tell the legends of his tribe and point to what civilization, with all its wrongs, has done for his people.”37 It would, however, fall to another member of Congress to complete the long process of turning the ancient history of America into a total fantasy.
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The Mounds, Mexico, and Atlantis

In the early summer of 1880, former U.S. congressman Ignatius Donnelly of Minnesota received from the House of Representatives the results of the hearing he had demanded after contesting the 1878 election of the man who had defeated him in his bid to return to Congress after a decade away. Donnelly had charged the Republican incumbent, lumber baron William D. Washburn, with bribery, intimidating voters, and arranging for illegal ballots to be counted to secure his election. Donnelly asked the House to void the election results, and the report of June 16, 1880, was vindication—temporarily. The majority of the House Committee on Elections agreed that Washburn had indeed purchased votes for anywhere between one and five dollars per vote and that Minnesota officials had engaged in corrupt election practices. The committee’s majority concluded that Donnelly was entitled to take Washburn’s place as congressman from Minnesota’s Third Congressional District. But before the full House could take up the issue, an anonymous letter to the chairman of the Committee on Elections was made public, offering $5,000 if he would turn against Donnelly and help Washburn keep his seat. An investigation discovered that it had been written secretly by one of Donnelly’s friends in an effort to suggest that Washburn would bribe the committee. Donnelly suffered yet another humiliation, and the House rejected him.

The former lieutenant governor of Minnesota and former congressman was embittered by the failure of his effort to return to Congress, and he decided to leave political life, a decision that would last until another failed congressional campaign in 1884. As he had done in the past and would do in the future after a defeat, he returned to his home in Nininger, Minnesota, to nurse his wounds and devote time to literary pursuits. Donnelly had been born in Philadelphia in 1831, the son of Irish immigrants and the pupil of the city’s exceptional Quaker schools. He rose to become a lawyer, and moved westward, to Minnesota, where he made a fortune in land speculation. “Here I am, but twenty-six years old, and I have already acquired a large fortune. What shall I do to occupy myself for the rest of my life?”1 But it all collapsed around him in the panic of 1857. The resulting losses he suffered convinced him to enter politics, and he rose within a few years to become the youngest member of the House of Representatives, in which capacity he worked for progressive causes, such as the abolition of slavery, and happily enriched himself by serving the interests of the railroads, reaping thousands of dollars in stock in exchange for his support. “I hold $10,000 of stock of the Lake Superior and Miss. R. R. Co., which was presented to me, without solicitation on my part, by the company, as some slight recognition of very important and valuable services rendered by me to the Company,” he wrote to a friend in the winter of 1870. His later accusations of bribery against Washburn were a difference only in degree. Donnelly lost his bid for reelection when he crossed Rep. Elihu Washburne of Illinois, the brother of William D. Washburn (despite the spelling difference), over a bill to turn over public lands to the railroads. Donnelly viciously attacked Washburne in a blistering speech to the House, but his intemperate language became a campaign issue that resulted in his loss of the Republican nomination and his leaving the party.

After that loss Donnelly remade himself again as a champion of the people, standing “between the few who seek to grasp all power and wealth, and the many who seek to preserve their rights as American citizens and freemen.”2 But with his failures having come full circle with another Washburn having vanquished him, he found himself out of work and in debt, telling supporters he could not even afford to bribe anyone. His farm was failing, and the sheriff was at his door serving summonses. It was in this vein, as a champion of the weak and the downtrodden and as a self-identified member of them, that in the harsh winter of 1880, while largely confined to his rambling farmhouse awaiting the House’s final decision, Donnelly began to take an interest in the philosophical dialogues of Plato known as Timaeus and Critias, which explained the history of the decline and fall of the fictitious land of Atlantis, occupied by a wealthy elite whose corruption undid them, for “to those who had no eye to see the true happiness,” Plato wrote, “they appeared glorious and blessed at the very time when they were full of avarice and unrighteous power.”3 Mark Twain and Charles Dudley Warner had said the same of America in The Gilded Age (1873), and the echoes across time could not but impress themselves on Donnelly. “There is nothing improbable in this narrative,” Donnelly would later write of Plato’s tale of cultural decay.4

Donnelly prided himself on having the ability to remember any piece of information he read, and, like Hubert Howe Bancroft, he had one of America’s largest private libraries. Not only did he collect books by the hundred, he also gathered and bound pamphlets by the thousand to keep every scrap of information at hand. But Donnelly was the opposite of Bancroft in almost every respect. He worked alone rather than with a team, and he favored a one-sided polemic over a fair-minded evaluation of facts. Donnelly’s was an unfocused intellect, prone to seeing conspiracies and connections where none existed. He would, for example, come to believe that there was a hidden code in the plays of William Shakespeare planted there by Francis Bacon, the plays’ true author. During his period of idleness after the 1878 election loss, Donnelly decided that Plato’s allegorical story of Atlantis was not only historical but that he himself, without leaving his home in Nininger, could demonstrate conclusively the influence of Atlantis around the world and in the United States of America.

From his wide, if not deep reading, Donnelly became familiar with recent European efforts to rehabilitate the reputation of Atlantis, a continent long considered to be fictional since no ancient account or record of it independent of Plato existed anywhere in the world, and since the Spanish had failed to prove that Mexico had been the fabled land, as they had first suspected during the Age of Exploration. In 1821 the Marquis de Fortia d’Urban presented to the Asiatic Society a French translation of a supposed ancient manuscript giving an independent account of life in Atlantis allegedly composed by the otherwise unknown Eumalos of Cyrene. The text was a hoax, cobbled together from fragments of Greek histories and contemporary philosophy, while identifying Malta as Atlantis, but it was treated with great seriousness by French scholars. In the 1860s, continental scholars like Franz Unger and Paul Gaffarel advocated for a real Atlantis connecting Europe and the Americas. In 1872 the great French geologist Louis Figuier added a new section to the fourth edition of his popular science book La terre et les mers (Earth and Sea) arguing that the Atlantis story was actually a distorted memory of the volcanic destruction of a Greek island such as Santorini, which had recently suffered a massive eruption in 1866.

The next year, in 1873, a French cleric recently returned from Mexico, Charles-Étienne Brasseur de Bourbourg, made the most fantastic claim for the reality of Atlantis in many a year. The Socièté d’Ethnographie in Paris had taken note of reports coming out of Mesopotamia that recently unearthed cuneiform tablets discussed exceeding ancient material, older than any known, supposedly dating back twelve thousand years. The society charged Brasseur de Bourbourg with determining whether the antiquities of Mesoamerica—the ruins of the Toltecs, Aztecs, Maya, and their predecessors—were younger or older than those of the Old World. Brasseur de Bourbourg had spent much of the preceding decade arguing for the existence of Atlantis and in 1862 had suggested that all ancient cultures descended from those of central America, the true Atlantis. In 1866 he had reinforced the claim in a book about Maya architecture that was deceptively illustrated by Jean-Frédéric Waldeck to emphasize supposed classical and European echoes in Maya aesthetics. Brasseur de Bourbourg’s 1868 book Quatre lettres sur le Méxique made an elaborate case for what he imagined to be a series of parallels between the Maya and the ancient Egyptians that proved both cultures to have descended from an Atlantean original. Alexander von Humboldt and other worthies had long dismissed such similarities as coincidences born of the inevitable progress of civilization, but now they were to be seen as something else entirely.

In his 1873 report to the ethnographic society, the final article he would write before his premature death in Nice in 1874, Brasseur de Bourbourg announced that not only had he discovered the key to unlocking the manuscripts of the ancient Mexicans but also that they lent support to the idea that both the Americas and the Old World had been civilized by refugees from Atlantis around 10,000 BCE, the exact time Plato had indicated for the fall of Atlantis:

Their main purpose, however, is the history of disasters that led in turn to the formation of the lands which the Atlantic has swallowed up within it, and the gradual destruction of these same lands. The surveys which have taken place at various times in the Atlantic, the diverse flora of the two continents observed by naturalists, besides a host of other geological circumstances, have sufficiently put beyond doubt the existence of Atlantis, long ago celebrated under some poetic veils by Plato, so it is pointless to search here for still more evidence.

He told the worthies in Paris that after he had translated the “History of the Suns” from the Aztec Codex Chimalpopoca, he had discovered that it was a perfect scientific account of the geological changes that occurred after the fall of Atlantis. “They had observed the causes of sedimentary deposits of the seabed and land and had a detailed law of water movement; they also knew both equatorial currents, which shape all the others,” he said, attributing astonishing insight to lines that said little more, as he rendered them, than “this is the teaching (or revelation) of the histories that they fantasized (which) anciently occurred with the distribution of land, each rock which has been carried forth since the beginning (through elevation) of the uprisings (expansions).” Brasseur de Bourbourg had fooled himself twice, firstly in imagining that he could read the Codex Chimpalpopoca clearly (he conceded only that “one or two typos may have slipped through”), and secondly in failing to recognize that he had imposed his own contemporary scientific knowledge and his own classical biases onto the text. In reality, the text merely indicated that the Aztecs believed that at the dawn of time land came into being and grew in size.

To cap off his decade of speculative history, Brasseur de Bourbourg finished with an astonishingly audacious claim, that Atlantis had sunk because the earth had fallen off its axis: “Although I have not yet fully and thoroughly reviewed the History of the Suns, I thought I saw that the disasters were caused each time by a shift in the axis of the world, upsetting the polar ice caps and reversing the order of the seasons.”5 The text, of course, said no such thing. However, in the United States, Hubert Howe Bancroft’s team of writers were happy to use Brasseur de Bourbourg’s work in The Native Races, though not without an explicit caveat that the French writer was “rapt away from the truth by excess of enthusiasm” and had invented an Atlantis theory from “distorted fancy.”6 Less scrupulous writers began to rely on his work in academic and popular articles alike, even over the objection of classical scholars like Benjamin Jowett and historians like Justin Winsor who correctly asserted that Plato’s story was merely a myth.

One of the men who read Brasseur de Bourbourg’s work and was inspired by it was the Franco-American photographer Augustus Le Plongeon, whose first book Donnelly consumed with vigor. Le Plongeon was a man who traveled the world and passed from one career to the next in a peripatetic search for meaning. At various times he was an apprentice medical doctor, a photographer, an archaeologist, and more. He began to develop a love of ancient history when he joined Ephraim Squier on several expeditions to the Inca ruins in Peru in the 1860s, when Squier served as U.S. commissioner to that country. He was to photograph ancient monuments that Squier was studying, and while Squier maintained that these ruins had to be the work of Native peoples, Le Plongeon was busy reading the new writings by Brasseur de Bourbourg and agreed that the high cultures of the Americas had to be related to Atlantis, through which they had commerce with the Old World. Naturally, as was Squier’s habit, conflict arose. Despite eight years working together in the 1860s, Le Plongeon had a falling out with Squier, who he felt had cheated him when several photographic negatives disappeared only to turn up as illustrations in Squier’s Peru: Incidents of Travel and Explorations in the Land of the Incas in 1877. But by this time, Le Plongeon had moved to Mexico and busied himself hunting for Egyptian, Hindu, and Atlantean influences. He had delivered a paper on the same to the American Geographical Society in New York in 1873 and informed the society that he intended to collect evidence to prove Brasseur de Bourbourg’s thesis.

Le Plongeon’s frequent articles about his adventures in Mexico were wildly popular among U.S. magazine readers of the 1870s. But by the time Le Plongeon composed his first book, Vestiges of the Mayas, in 1881, archaeologists were gradually awakening to the fact that the Maya were a far younger culture than ancient Egypt, which would rule out an Atlantean origin. But Le Plongeon refused to accept the growing consensus, taking at face value mythical dates on Maya monuments stretching back thousands of years into the past. From this he spun an elaborate fantasy in which the Maya were intimately connected to the Chaldeans, the Hindus, and the Egyptians whom they inspired. In his mature fantasizing, the Yucatan had become the cradle of civilization and the mother of Atlantis, through which civilization had spread to the Old World. Borrowing from Brasseur de Bourbourg’s purported—and erroneous—translations of Maya hieroglyphs, he claimed that a queen named Moo had ruled over the Maya and was the model for the Egyptian goddess Isis. He attributed the Great Sphinx to her, asserting that it was monument to her dead husband Coh, the prototype of Osiris.

But the final piece that convinced Donnelly to launch an effort to prove the reality of Atlantis was a report in thirty-year-old John Thomas Short’s 1880 book The North Americans of Antiquity, which had recently been published and had fallen into his hands. Short explicitly identified the book as an effort to bolster “national pride” by examining American prehistory, acknowledged the debt he owed to Hubert Bancroft and Henry Oak, and presented the long history of scholars imagining repeated incursion from many Old World countries, though he did not endorse these views himself. But the book’s eleventh chapter was devoted to a systematic evaluation of the evidence for Atlantis and for transatlantic migrations of people from the Old World to the New. In evaluating Brasseur de Bourbourg’s ideas and those of Augustus Le Plongeon, Short wrote: “Until recently the mere expression of belief in the former existence of an Atlantic continent has been the signal for criticism, and has called forth the smile of pity, if not of contempt. Such, however, is no longer true, since scientific investigation, consisting chiefly in deep-sea soundings and the study of the fauna and flora of the opposite shores of the Atlantic, call for the respectful attention of all who are interested in the ancient history of this continent.”7

Short came down cautiously on the side of a connection between the Atlantic coasts of both hemispheres, though without the need for Atlantis to facilitate it; but it was from this discussion that Donnelly would borrow not just the idea for his most important book but also the main lines of evidence and the primary sources that he would use to construct the book he would title Atlantis: The Antediluvian World. So closely would he follow Short in expanding Short’s analysis into a volume of nearly five hundred pages that in places he would fail to fully acknowledge borrowings from Short, which would simply flow into his own text.

And what a text! Donnelly’s Atlantis was the longest and most sustained discussion of Atlantis in the English language from the moment of its publication. Across its pages Donnelly assembled a massive bibliography of commentary from the scholars of his day hinting at connections between the Old World and the New, and he explained them with recourse to the island of Atlantis, which he placed in the middle of the Atlantic Ocean, on the recently discovered Mid-Atlantic Ridge, a geological feature that he wrongly believed had been above the ocean’s surface during the Ice Age. On this grand island Donnelly did Plato one better. He noticed correctly that the final lines of Plato’s Critias, describing the fall of Atlantis after the corruption of the Atlanteans had stirred the wrath of Zeus, closely paralleled the conditions of ancient Earth described in the sixth chapter of Genesis when the giants—the “Nephilim”—and primitive humanity had stirred the wrath of God with their corruption, resulting in the Flood. Donnelly did not know that this was because both narratives had (directly or indirectly) taken an older Near Eastern flood myth—the ancestor of the one that George Smith had uncovered—for their model. Therefore, he sought to prove that Atlantis was really the primeval paradise from before the Flood, the antediluvian world remembered as Eden, the Elysian Fields, Asgard, and other paradises. The kings of Atlantis, Donnelly claimed, were no less than the inspiration for the gods of antiquity, elevated to divinity by time and memory. Their technology and their skills—from architecture to metallurgy—were the gifts of Atlantis to ancient civilizations from Egypt to the Yucatan.

But there was a darker side to Donnelly’s vision of Atlantis, for he was a man of his time, an age of scientific racism and racial science. He believed that “Atlantis was the original seat of the Aryan or Indo-European family of nations, as well as of the Semitic peoples.”8 The civilizers who taught the high arts of culture to the rest of the world were therefore white men like himself, standing up for civilization just as Donnelly imagined he had done and would do again as a congressman. Atlantis was populated by Aryans and Jews—God’s chosen people—but pointedly “not intended to include the true negro races, or the Chinese, the Japanese, the Finns or Lapps, the Australians, or the American red men.”9 These were separate and inferior creations for him, not part of the Noachian family of Atlantis.

Although Donnelly took for his canvas the whole of the world, he paid special attention to the United States, which he carefully tried to tie in to his elaborate system of Atlantean colonization. He imagined that Atlantis had ruled an empire centered around the great river valleys of antiquity. “Those parts of America over which it ruled were, as we will show hereafter, Central America, Peru, and the Valley of the Mississippi, occupied by the ‘Mound Builders.’”10 He summarized claims about Mound Builders from the great authorities of the preceding half century, including Ephraim Squier, and it was from them that he extracted every reference to a separate Mound Builder race and their supposed advancements over Native Americans. The mounds, he concluded, were akin to Mexican and Egyptian pyramids, all reflections of prototypes from the lost Atlantis. He added that many Native Americans were actually the descendants of white Atlanteans but that the biblical Adam and the ancient Egyptians were also red like the rest of the Native Americans—the “red men” were the warrior caste defined by “the ancient Aryan writings” of India. “When science is able to disabuse itself of the Mortonian theory that the aborigines of America are all red men and all belong to one race,” he said in reference to Samuel Morton’s Crania Americana, “we may hope that the confluence upon the continent of widely different races from different countries may come to be recognized and intelligently studied. There can be no doubt that red, white, black, and yellow men have united to form the original population of America.”11 He placed this contact in the period of the European Stone and Bronze Ages.

Donnelly adduced eight proofs that the Mound Builders were the sons of Atlantis. The first seven of which would be widely cited and repeated:

1. Their race identity with the nations of Central America who possessed Flood legends, and whose traditions all point to an eastern, over-sea origin; while the many evidences of their race identity with the ancient Peruvians indicate that they were part of one great movement of the human race, extending from the Andes to Lake Superior, and, as I believe, from Atlantis to India.

2. The similarity of their civilization, and their works of stone and bronze, with the civilization of the Bronze Age in Europe.

3. The presence of great truncated mounds, kindred to the pyramids of Central America, Mexico, Egypt, and India.

4. The representation of tropical animals, which point to an intercourse with the regions around the Gulf of Mexico, where the Atlanteans were colonized.

5. The fact that the settlements of the Mound Builders were confined to the valley of the Mississippi, and were apparently densest at those points where a population advancing up that stream would first reach high, healthy, and fertile lands.

6. The hostile nations which attacked them came from the north; and when the Mound Builders could no longer hold the country, or when Atlantis sunk in the sea, they retreated in the direction whence they came, and fell back upon their kindred races in Central America, as the Roman troops in Gaul and Britain drew southward upon the destruction of Rome.

7. The Natchez Indians, who are supposed to have descended from the Mound Builders, kept a perpetual fire burning before an altar, watched by old men who were a sort of priesthood, as in Europe.12

The eighth point referenced the slate roof tiles from Davenport, Iowa, that even serious scholars wrongly believed pointed toward a Mound Builder alphabet. As paleontologist W. B. Scott would note not long afterward, “grave doubts” surrounded the authenticity of these artifacts, but it would be several more years before the Smithsonian’s Cyrus Thomas would prove them fake.

Donnelly concluded his book by describing what he viewed as humankind’s inevitable and continuing decline from a perfect Atlantis to the corruption of modern America. “The farther we go back in time toward the era of Atlantis, the more the evidences multiply that we are approaching the presence of a great, wise, civilized race,” he wrote.13 The implication was clear: the America of 1882 was fallen from a past perfection, just as the civilizations of the past were but corrupt echoes of great Atlantis. But if Donnelly’s own investigations could give us, as he titled his final chapter, “Atlantis reconstructed,” then certainly America could be rebuilt more efficiently and effectively than was done after the Civil War. Donnelly’s use of the word “reconstruction” was surely no coincidence. Although modern politics were never mentioned in Atlantis, the rhyme between Donnelly’s historiography and his politics surely resonated with his readers. The warning was implicit but unmissable: America had to reform to avoid the fate of Atlantis.

When he had finished writing the book, Donnelly imagined that it would change the world. Published by Harper & Brothers in New York, its cover featuring a gold embossed image of Poseidon, and within days of completion Donnelly sent copies to the great men of the era, with the hope that they would endorse his volume as world-changing. One copy went to Charles Darwin, who gently tried to tell Donnelly that he had no faith in his claims:

March 2d, 1882

Dear Sir

I am much obliged to you for your kindness in having sent me a copy of your “Atlantis.”

I shall read the book with interest, though I must confess in a very sceptical spirit.—

Dear Sir

Yours faithfully

Charles Darwin14

The British prime minister, William Gladstone, who received a copy of Atlantis at the same time, was less skeptical. In a letter to Donnelly the next week he wrote: “I thank you very much for your Atlantis, a copy of which you have been so kind as to present to me. Though much pressed by public affairs, I have contrived to read already an appreciable portion of it, with an interest which makes me very desirous to go through the whole. I may not be able to accept all your propositions, but I am much disposed to believe in an Atlantis.”15 Gladstone went on to offer Donnelly advice for additional evidence he might use to prove that memories of historical events were accurately retained from the Ice Age. “I could have uttered a war-whoop of exultation,” Donnelly later recalled about his excitement at receiving the letter.16

It was a celebrity endorsement like no other: the head of government of the world’s greatest empire had virtually confessed to a belief in Atlantis. Donnelly realized the marketing potential, and a copy of Gladstone’s letter showed up in advertisements for Atlantis, in literary notices and reviews, and reprinted in Harper’s Weekly and Harper’s Bazaar, both owned by the book’s publisher. Donnelly also went on a lecture tour to promote the book, and the marketing strategy worked. The Chicago Times devoted an article of several columns to analyzing Donnelly’s arguments. Other papers soon followed suit with positive reviews that the declared the book “fascinating,” “interesting,” and “ingenious.” The public started to buy copies, and sales increased from month to month and then year to year. Newspapers reported “extraordinary sales” both at home and in England. Harper & Brothers ran through twelve thousand copies in two years, and rumor had it that they had added an extra shift at their printers to meet the demand. When the Krakatoa volcano erupted spectacularly in 1883, some papers credited Donnelly with anticipating the event in his account of Atlantis.17

The popular reception of Donnelly’s work contrasted markedly with most of the scientific community. The journal Nature was particularly withering in its condemnation of Atlantis, making reference to mathematician Augustus De Morgan’s Budget of Paradoxes, a book about scientists who pursued new ideas, or paradoxes, contrary to mainstream beliefs:

Our only reason for noticing this curious book is that the names of writers of authority which constantly appear in its pages may lead some readers astray. But the author, while quoting them, has neither assimilated their method nor understood the bearing of their facts. In spite of the patient labour bestowed upon the work, and the numerous illustrations with which it is adorned, it is merely another contribution to that mass of paradoxical literature which awaits the “Budget” of a second De Morgan.18

But the scientific condemnation was not universal. The greatest American geologist of the era, Alexander Winchell of the University of Michigan, published a glowing review of Atlantis, overcome by Donnelly’s claims about similar cultural practices on both sides of the Atlantic. “The most plausible solution of all the phenomena,” he wrote in the Dial, “is the admission of an antediluvian and highly civilized people living in Atlantis. . . . There can no longer be any formidable doubt that the ‘fable of Atlantis’ is founded in fact.”19 Harper seized on this and used the review to bolster the book’s scientific reputation. Donnelly followed up Atlantis the next year with a sequel, Ragnarok: The Age of Fire and Gravel, arguing from a superficial understanding of geology that a comet had hit the earth in the Ice Age and devastated the advanced high civilization of the time, an event remembered in myths of global conflagration that ended a golden age. Winchell, chastened by criticism of his positive notice of Atlantis and finally able to recognize Donnelly’s flawed approach when it encroached on his own subject of expertise, wrote in the Dial that Donnelly’s “brilliant literary production will command the interest of general readers, and the admiration and respect, if not the universal credence, of the conservative and the scientific.”20 He meant this phrase to insult both Ragnarok and Atlantis as “science romanticized,” a series of “[neither] learned, nor original” anecdotes strung together for the “unlearned” by a “jolly joker or a genial crank.” But clever excerpting in advertisements by Harper convinced the public that Winchell had endorsed Donnelly again. He would be forced to revisit the subject in 1887 in a clearer and more forceful condemnation of Donnelly’s geology.

It was almost inevitable that Donnelly’s Atlantis and Ragnarok would seep into scholarly discourse on subjects as wide-ranging as ancient history, geology, architecture, linguistics, and even circumcision. Washington, D.C., doctor Edwin L. Morgan cited Donnelly in an academic journal to argue for the last practice in Atlantis.21

Donnelly had his imitators and rivals, some more successful than others, who followed him in mixing myth, legend, and the unsettled opinions of prior generations of scientists to create unusual and extreme reconstructions of the past. The most unexpected was the president of Boston University, William F. Warren, who did Donnelly one better in 1885 and alleged that the entire human race came from the Garden of Eden at the North Pole, which Noah’s Flood had sunk. The most successful was Helena Petrovna Blavatsky, a gruff, portly Russian émigré who took up residence in the United States and became involved in the Spiritualist movement. Blavatsky had traveled the world and told an unbelievable story about having discovered ancient tablets in Tibet that only she could translate, the oldest writings in the world. She and several colleagues founded the Theosophical Society in 1875 to promote her peculiar blend of Eastern mysticism and Western esotericism, and in 1877 she delivered her first major work, Isis Unveiled, written while in residence at the home of a professor of English at Cornell University in Ithaca, New York. The book was a pastiche of occult literature, positing that a prehistoric wisdom religion underlay all ancient faiths. Blavatsky had struck on a similar theme to the one Donnelly would adopt, identifying the people of Atlantis with the characters of the sixth chapter of Genesis and arguing that the sons of God had birthed a corrupt race that became “wicked magicians” wiped out by Noah’s Flood. She also identified the Mound Builders of America as the giants of Genesis, based on newspaper accounts of giant bones.

But her discussion of Atlantis and the Mound Builders was superficial and constrained by the limited source material available to her. The arrival of Donnelly’s Atlantis revolutionized her approach to ancient history. By the time she crafted her masterpiece of mumbo jumbo, The Secret Doctrine (1888), she could rely on a public that now believed in Atlantis. The semi-scientific evidence collected by Donnelly provided spurious support to Blavatsky’s new history of the world in which many prehistoric continents rose and fell, each bearing a different ancient race, many in contact with extraterrestrial beings from the Moon or Venus. Blavatsky called Donnelly’s Atlantis “that wonderful volume” and made ample use of its speculations on Atlantis, writing that “it is only quite lately, and after Donnelly’s book had been published several years, that the theory has had a greater chance than ever of becoming an accepted fact.”22 Powerful and famous men like Thomas Edison, William Butler Yeats, H. Rider Haggard, Arthur Conan Doyle, William James, and Carl Jung either joined the Theosophical Society or studied its works, and as a result they learned not just of the lost Atlantis but the idea that America’s mounds were the work of biblical giants, who in the Secret Doctrine Blavatsky explicitly named as Aryan, born in Atlantis and more evolved than the more primitive “Semitic” race. Although she did not associate Aryanism with white skin, her successors would not be so cautious, particularly in Europe and in the antisemitic circles of Germany and Austria.

Blavatsky was not the only Spiritualist to become entranced by the Mound Builders. J. M. Peebles had served on the Indian Peace Commission established by Congress to end the Indian Wars, and the former Universalist minister gave up his faith to become first a Spiritualist and then a Theosophist. Inspired by both the scholarly and Spiritualist applications of the Mound Builder myth, he embarked on a journey around the world to try to determine who the Mound Builders were, what relation they bore to the ancient Mexicans, and how both related to Egypt and India. Almon B. French, a onetime member of the Ohio House of Representatives, believed that his mother and sister were mediums, and he had been fascinated with Spiritualism since childhood. He became known for his research into the Mound Builders, and upon his retirement he spent the 1880s and 1890s lecturing about psychics and mounds across the Midwest. Emma F. Jay Bullene, a colleague of Emma Hardinge, claimed to be in contact with the ancient inhabitants of North America and eventually wrote a book of her channeled revelations.

Helena Blavatsky had woven together many strands from popular culture into a spiritual tapestry in which an imaginary past gave meaning to an unsatisfying present, and she was not alone. Newspapers of the era filled up with a different sort of synthesis, one in which biblical truths, racist hopes, antiquarian interests, and Mound Builder myths joined. In the late 1870s and the 1880s an explosion of stories reported of the bones of biblical giants emerging from American mounds, though they remained the usual mix of hoaxes, incorrectly measured human remains, and misunderstood mammoth bones. “And, indeed, discoveries are frequently made, which lead people interested in the matter of prehistoric America to believe that a race of mankind, superior in size, strength, and intelligence to the common red man of the forest, flourished not only along the coasts East and South, but right here in southern Ohio,” the Stevens Point (WI) Daily Journal reported.23 The New York Times credulously reported in 1891 that a mammoth skull unearthed in Massachusetts was the remains of a Cyclops from Greek mythology, having mistaken the nasal opening for a gigantic eye socket.24 In Ohio that year, two men excavating mounds at the Hopewell Farm to present their findings at the upcoming World’s Fair in Chicago claimed to have found the bones of a giant encased in a full suit of copper armor and wearing a necklace of bear teeth. The newspapers said that two men, the Smithsonian’s Warren K. Morehead and a member of the U.S. Board of Indian Commissioners who excavated the mound, had declared the giant the “King of the Mound Builders.” Whether they had really said this did not really matter to the newspapermen or to their readers, nor did the exposure of hoaxes. In 1885 the St. Louis Evening Chronicle claimed that the remains of a “remote but advanced civilization” built by giants had been uncovered beneath the town of Moberly, Missouri. The “subterranean city” was possessed, the paper said, of many wonders, great buildings of cyclopean masonry, and fantastic artifacts.25 Newspapers across the country then reprinted the report. But when the New York papers telegraphed for pictures, the story fell apart, and retractions soon followed. The townsfolk of Moberly were thrilled with the publicity, but the owner of the property where the ancient city was supposed to be buried was much less amused. He tacked up a sign to keep the hordes away. “No burryied sity lunaticks aloud on these premises,” it read.26

The stories of giants and lost white races and monsters in the nation’s newspapers were lies, meant for entertainment in unserious times. “In time of peace, newspaper hoaxes are of the mild type,—inoffensive affairs, which please the fancy of the reader, or justify the employment of capital letters in three-line headings,” the longtime New York Times journalist Augustus Maverick wrote in an 1870 biography of Henry Jarvis Raymond, cofounder of the Times. “Of this class are the stories of wild men prowling in the woods, of sea-serpents disporting in the placid waters of remote lakes, of marvellous discoveries of hidden treasures, or of revelations of ancient relics,—all of which may be taken with grains of salt.”27 But few heeded his warning because the public, politicians, preachers, and professors all wanted to be believe. And believe they did.

Skeptical scholars had little ground for opposing the Spiritualists, occultists, and Atlantis believers because their own theories about the past had long been only softened versions of the same. How could a professor argue against Theosophy while also hunting white Mound Builders? But the devil’s bargain that scholars had made with fantasy in the name of remaking America as an eternal white homeland could not be maintained forever. In time, the tension between scholarship’s demand for truth and ideology’s desire to maintain lies would become unsustainable. The fraudulent Traditions of De-Coo-Dah provides an instructive example of how the marriage of fantasy and history might be undone. For decades, one archaeologist, antiquarian, or historian after another had borrowed from William Pidgeon uncritically, sometimes copying from authors who copied from him. Ellen Russell Emerson used De-Coo-Dah as the basis for her Indian Myths of 1884, and the Marquis de Nadaillac based his discussion in Prehistoric America that same year on diagrams drawn by Pidgeon. Among the occultists and fantasists, acceptance was even more widespread, and grand visions of the past stood atop Pidgeon’s words. But in the fall of 1884, Theodore H. Lewis, a man not yet thirty, took notice of these books and began to be troubled by the fact that no one seemed ever to have thought to travel around Wisconsin and check to see if Pidgeon’s “very queer” book had reported true facts. He was disturbed that author after author in recent years had begun to cite De-Coo-Dah, even though all of the learned men at the time of its publication had rejected the book as worthless. It seemed to Lewis that, for many scholars, the copying of old material had let a critical error slip through, which “becomes to the world at large an established fact.”28

Lewis sought to retrace Pidgeon’s steps and survey the mounds that he and De-Coo-Dah had ostensibly seen, spoken of, and related to secret codes and Mound Builder myths. What Lewis found surprised even him. He took for his first survey a massive mound supposedly in the shape of a tortoise surrounded by an enormous earthen necropolis and religious center. He discovered that Pidgeon’s drawings bore little resemblance to reality, distorting shapes, misreporting sizes, and imagining many extra mounds for which there was no trace. As he surveyed other mound groups in Minnesota, Wisconsin, and Iowa described in the book, the same problems emerged. The distortions and fabrications were so significant and repeated over so many mounds that accident or error seemed impossible. Lewis hinted that the acquaintances of Pidgeon that he interviewed considered Pidgeon to be a fraud. “The result of all my researches in this respect,” he wrote in the American Journal of Archaeology, “is to convince me that the Elk nation and its last prophet De-coo-dah are modern myths, which have never had any objective existence; and that, consequently, the ancient history in the volume is of no more account than that of the Lost Tribes or Book of Mormon.”29 Fellow archaeologists blanched and stopped using Pidgeon’s work.

This revelation was a small ripple in a sea of Mound Builder myths, but it presaged a massive wave that would soon overturn the myth’s unstable scholarship. The sea-change occurred when the Smithsonian removed lost race believer Wills DeHass from its renewed effort to survey America’s mounds and replaced him with a skeptic, Cyrus Thomas.
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A Pyrrhic Victory

In the winter of 1889 John W. Emmert of the Bureau of Ethnology, a decade-old division of the Smithsonian charged with documenting the Native cultures of the United States, stood at the confluence of Bat Creek and the Little Tennessee River, a few miles from Morganton, Tennessee, and imagined that this place would save the job he had only recently won back after calling in every favor he was owed. This location was home to three burial mounds of hard red clay, which, to the best of anyone’s knowledge, had never been opened. Emmert recognized that upon digging into the mounds, armed with the authority of the Smithsonian Institution, any discovery he made would attract scientific attention. If that discovery should happen to prove that the Lost Tribes of Israel had colonized Tennessee, that would be even better. To that end, he had a plan.

A few years earlier, in 1883, Emmert had been a forty-two-year-old Confederate Civil War veteran from Tennessee with a war wound that limited his use of one leg. He almost certainly helped perpetuate an enormous fraud on Harvard’s prestigious Peabody Museum and his boss, the famed archaeologist Frederic Ward Putnam, who had hired him as a field assistant for the 1883 season. He was not a professional archaeologist, but like most field assistants at the time he received rough training in the field for specific excavation tasks. At excavations in a small cave in Sullivan County, Tennessee, Emmert announced that he had uncovered a stunning sequence of artifacts that perfectly captured the full succession of Native cultures, from the Ice Age to the present. Although the completeness of the collection of artifacts was wildly improbable and never duplicated anywhere else, no one questioned the discovery. In truth, the grouping of artifacts had been fabricated, designed to appeal to the assumptions and biases of those working on the site. It would take decades before the fraudulent nature of the discovery came to light. Emmert had gotten away with an audacious imposture. Or perhaps not. Putnam never indicated that he suspected anything amiss with Emmert, but he declined to extend his employment for a second field season. Emmert bounced back and joined the Smithsonian as a temporary employee only weeks after being let go. In 1885 he was promoted to full-time assistant at the Bureau of Ethnology, but he was fired two years later because he had developed a drinking problem. In 1888 he appealed to President Grover Cleveland and Sen. Isham Harris of Tennessee for help. Harris intervened, and Emmert was hired back in 1889, despite objections from high-ranking Smithsonian officials.1

As the years passed and Emmert’s love of alcohol came to dominate his life and imperil his job again, a more spectacular hoax entered his mind. If he could find an artifact to confirm an important claim about history, perhaps he could save his job as a bureau assistant, despite his alcohol abuse. He seemed eager to find something that would prove to his boss, Cyrus Thomas, that the ancestors of the Cherokees had built the mounds, since that was Thomas’s preferred explanation. “I certainly agree with you that the Cherokees were Mound Builders,” he wrote to Thomas just before starting work on one of the three mounds near Morganton. “In fact, there is not a doubt in my mind about it.”2 Emmert acquired a small slab of siltstone, dark brown in color and rich in iron oxide. One face of the slab was quite flat and rather smooth. Into this stone he would carve, or possibly have someone else carve, a brief inscription in Hebrew characters, in order to falsely establish that the mounds had been visited by the Lost Tribes of Israel. Emmert was aware that the great authorities of a century earlier had identified the ancestors of the Cherokee as Jews and that these claims continued in the present. A few years earlier, for example, Daniel Sabin Buttrick had published The Antiquities of the Cherokees, in which he quoted a Cherokee man as believing the tribe to have Jewish ancestry. “The old people used to speak the name ‘Jews,’ as in the Yowa hymn,” Thomas Nutsawi said, “but nothing further is known of them.”3 Emmert was incompletely educated and possibly thought that an ancient Hebrew inscription would connect the mounds to the ancestral Cherokees.4 He did not read or write Hebrew, but he had read enough in books old and new to know that the Hebrew used by the Jews of modern times was not the same as the writing of the ancient Hebrews of the deep past.

To create his inscription he turned to a reference book easily at hand, Robert Macoy’s General History, Cyclopedia, and Dictionary of Freemasonry, published in 1868, likely because he believed the Masons’ fictitious claims to have preserved a true record of ancient biblical wisdom from the times of Enoch and Solomon. Under the entry for “Holiness to the Lord,” he found an illustration of “ancient characters” that the book said were the very same inscribed on the plate worn on the head of the high priest of Yahweh in Exodus 39:30.5 Emmert could not know that the illustration was an artist’s impression of an inscription on a Jewish coin from the time of the first revolt against Rome, containing some errors made from ignorance of Paleo-Hebrew. He copied the characters as best he could, but he likely started carving from the left side of the slab, perhaps unaware that Hebrew reads from right to left. He might have carved the rightmost characters before the central ones to keep his carving aligned. However it happened, he ran out of room and truncated the phrase by a letter. The individual characters were crudely rendered, either out of inexperience or an effort to make them look ancient. Once finished, Emmert likely washed the stone with acid or chemicals to erase any evidence of fresh cut marks and to age the stone. Perhaps to test how well his forgery worked, he likely purposely scratched the finished fake to compare a fresh cut to his artificially aged ones.

When Emmert dug deep into the smallest of the three mounds, labeled Mound 3, just five feet high and twenty-eight in diameter, and through the hard clay and the roots of an old tree cut down on it years earlier, he put his plan into action. Emmert carefully documented what he found: nine skeletons laid out in a layer of wet soil on the original ground surface. He labeled each of the skeletons by number, and beneath the skull and mandible of Burial 1, he recorded the grave goods: two copper bracelets, a small fossil, a copper bead, a bone tool, and some pieces of wood stained green by contact with the copper. But Emmert worked alone, and he took no photographs. His documentation was only in writing, and some of the artifacts, like the bracelets—later found to be brass, not copper—were modern pieces he added to make the grave seem more important. That made it easy for him to add something else that was not present: the engraved stone, which he now claimed had been found partially wedged under the back of the skull of Burial 1. “The engraved stone was lying partially under the skull,” Emmert wrote to Thomas, his boss, in March 1889. “I punched it with my steel rod on the rough side in probing before I reached the skeletons.”6 Emmert sent the stone to Thomas in Washington.

Thomas received the stone and did not know what to make of it. The director of the Division of Mound Exploration at the Smithsonian was not familiar with Hebrew. He held the stone in and turned it one way and then the other. He settled on orienting it with the top of Emmert’s inscription at the bottom, the direction that made the characters look most familiar to him. “Some of the characters,” he decided, “if not all, are letters of the Cherokee alphabet.” This created a dilemma. The Cherokee syllabary, the written form of the Cherokee language, had only been created by Sequoyah, known in English as George Guess, in 1820. “As the presence of the stone in the mound cannot be attributed to an intrusive burial,” he wrote, “it is evident that the mound must have been built since 1820, that Mr. Guess was not the author of the Cherokee alphabet, or that the stone is a fraud.” He would share these thoughts soon in his 1890 book The Cherokees in Pre-Columbian Times. The question clearly disturbed him, since he had taken the unusual step of sending a higher-ranking Bureau of Ethnology agent to Tennessee to check Emmert’s claims as best as was possible. According to the reports Thomas received, the mound seemed quite old, and the origin of the Cherokee syllabary was well-established. “But this is a question which has no bearing on the present discussion,” he decided, and he abandoned the question, with the implication of fraud.7

Thomas had an accession number and identification tags affixed to the Bat Creek Stone and placed it into storage, where it sat, forgotten, for six decades, until modern believers in Old World contact with ancient America rediscovered it and believed the hoax. Emmert must have been saddened by the failure of his hoax to produce the desired result. His disappointments multiplied when Thomas fired Emmert, who never worked in archaeology again. Later researchers reviewing his work found suggestions of still more fraud in some of his other digs.

Emmert had been hired by the Smithsonian as part of a nationwide survey of nearly two thousand American mounds, conducted under the auspices of the Bureau of Ethnology and its Division of Mound Exploration. The idea for a complete survey of American mounds had grown out of the work that Squier and Davis had done in the 1840s, and the piecemeal studies of other mound groups that trickled in over the next decade. But there were two factors that had prevented the Smithsonian from completing such an awesome task. The first was the Civil War. The coming of the war ended any effort to explore American mounds for several years. The second was the opposition of the Smithsonian’s first secretary, Joseph Henry, who served from 1846 to 1878. Henry, a physicist, was never interested in mounds, despite the fact that the Smithsonian’s first publication was devoted to them, as were many afterward. He grudgingly pursued mound research out of duty and public interest but was never committed to it. Congress, however, was much more enthusiastic about searching for a lost white race, and as soon as the war was over, in 1866, it appropriated money “for a systematic exploration of mounds and ancient remains in certain locations,” with a target of beginning the survey the following year.8 But Henry directed the endeavor in less archaeological directions, prioritizing the exploration of mounds of seashells on the Atlantic coast and conducting most of the surveying by mail. Henry sent out instructions to locals on the right way to excavate a mound and received written reports and selected artifacts back. In 1876 Henry told Congress of the artifacts that had been collected, “with the intention of having descriptions and discussions of them published in the Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge,” but this never rose to the level of the survey Congress intended.9 The concurrent effort of the American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS) to survey the mounds similarly amounted to nothing when the decade-long project fizzled into a short and inconclusive 1869 report.

Henry died in 1878, and with him the impediments to a full survey of American mounds receded—but only gradually. Congress created the Bureau of Ethnology the next year to transfer all of the Interior Department’s Native American artifacts to the Smithsonian, and the bureau’s first director, John Wesley Powell, seized the initiative to turn it into a powerful force for American scientific exploration of anthropological, archaeological, and ethnographic questions. Powell was a dynamic character, a former major in the Union army who had lost an arm at Shiloh and had grown up with a sketchy formal education but a boundless interest in the mounds of the Ohio Valley where he had lived. Under the influence of the scholarly and popular writers of the 1840s and 1850s, Powell grew up believing in a lost race of Mound Builders. Just before the Civil War, in his mid-twenties, Powell had dug into some Illinois mounds to see what was inside, but what he found was Native in nature. “Thus a suspicion arose as to the correctness of the prevailing opinion,” he would later recall.10 The epic journey of exploration he made down the Colorado River following the war captured the public imagination and helped him secure a post as the head of the U.S. Geologic Survey in 1881 in addition to his appointment in 1879 to head the Bureau of Ethnology at the Smithsonian. Powell, however, had a greater interest in Native languages and culture than mounds, born of his steadfast belief that Native Americans were equal to white people in humanity and dignity and that white Americans had inflicted “cruel and inexcusable” wrongs on Natives. He purposely neglected Congress’s efforts to goad the Smithsonian into studying the mounds. He preferred, he said, “extant tribes rather than prehistoric antiquities.”11

In the first years of the bureau, the driving force behind the Smithsonian’s renewed mound research was Wills DeHass, the advocate of the Grave Creek Stone and believer in a lost race of Mound Builders. De Hass, who had been involved with the AAAS mound survey a decade earlier, lobbied Congress to appropriate money specifically to survey every mound in the United States, to find proof of the lost race, and with his advocacy Congress budgeted $5,000 for the purpose. Or, rather, the original bill read before the House on February 24, 1881, directed money for ethnological research into “North American Indians.” Rep. J. Warren Keifer of Ohio, who would in a few days become Speaker of the House, objected after the bill had been read out by the clerk of the House. He proposed an amendment requiring that $5,000 of the $25,000 appropriation “be expended in continuing archaeological investigations relating to mound-builders, and prehistoric mounds.” As he explained, this would finally override the “feeble” efforts at mound surveys due to insufficient funding in the past. This caused a bit of consternation in the House. Rep. James H. Blount, a Democrat from Georgia, opposed the amendment on the grounds that the investigation would be “useless” and said that Powell might well choose to do it on his own. But Keifer spoke eloquently about the importance of exploring the remains of the lost race:

Of such importance are they regarded in England and France that those countries are sending here scientific bodies of men to investigate our mounds, these evidences of prehistoric races. They are devoting hundreds of thousands of dollars to do the very thing that we ought to have done long ago. This small sum of money can be used very advantageously during the coming summer in making surveys and investigations, and finally completing a work that has already been commenced that is of very great importance.12

It seemed clear that the powerful incoming Speaker of the House was a believer in the lost race of the Mound Builders. Powell put on a good show, flattering the prejudices of Congress and the grandees of American antiquarianism, even as he privately expressed shock that Congress would so directly interfere in the bureau’s ethnological mission to require it to include archaeology. Officially Powell planned to deliver what Congress wanted, a scientific survey to explore the mounds and determine who built them. He feinted toward the lost race theory, suggesting at first merely that “some, at least,” of the mounds were constructed by Native Americans, after Europeans arrived, and he explained that he undertook the effort with reluctance, acceding to the wishes of the government. To that end he specifically chose lost race advocate DeHass to lead the newly formed Mound Exploration Division, both because DeHass had lobbied for it in Congress and because DeHass was one of Powell’s greatest critics and rivals. The appointment of his enemy effectively insulated Powell from further congressional interference. But behind the scenes Powell saw more clearly than the politicians and the older generation of professors who fantasized about finding a lost white race. As he later wrote,

It is difficult to exaggerate the prevalence of this romantic fallacy, or the force with which the hypothetic “lost races” had taken possession of the imaginations of men. For more than a century the ghosts of a vanished nation have ambuscaded in the vast solitudes of the continent, and the forest-covered mounds have been usually regarded as the mysterious sepulchers of its kings and nobles. It was an alluring conjecture that a powerful people, superior to the Indians, once occupied the valley of the Ohio and the Appalachian ranges, their empire stretching from Hudson bay to the Gulf, with its flanks on the western prairies and the eastern ocean; a people with a confederated government, a chief ruler, a great central capital, a highly developed religion, with homes and husbandry and advanced textile, fictile, and ductile arts, with a language, perhaps with letters, all swept away before an invasion of copper-hued Huns from some unknown region of the earth, prior to the landing of Columbus. These hypothetic semicivilized autochthons, imagined to have been thus rudely exterminated or expelled, have been variously identified by ethnologists with the ancestors of the Aztecs or the Toltecs, the Mayas, the Colhuas, the Chichimecs, or the Pueblos, who have left no sign of their existence save the rude and feeble fortifications into which they fled from their foes, and the silent and obscure elevations in which their nobles found interment.13

If Congress required a report on the mounds of the lost race, Powell would give them something better: a report demolishing the lost race hypothesis. He specifically lamented that the Mound Builder myth had gained worldwide credibility because Squier and Davis had “published under the powerful authority of the Smithsonian Institution.”14 He therefore decided that the bureau would answer once and for all the nagging question: “Were the mounds built by the Indians?” He began planning how to do so. The first step was to rid himself of DeHass, but the exact sequence of events that led DeHass to resign remains unclear. His replacement, Cyrus Thomas, would accuse him of failing to develop plans to carry out the will of Congress, but this seems to have been an exaggeration. Powell, for his part, informed Congress that DeHass had not completed enough work in the first year of the survey, failed to deliver promised artifact collections, and lacked the ability to carry out a systematic survey. He chose not to tell Congress that he and DeHass had argued over the question of a lost race and that he had refused to let DeHass hunt for evidence of one when plainly none would be forthcoming. He hinted at this only obliquely, lamenting, “Those who have hitherto conducted the researches have betrayed a predetermination to find something inexplicable on the simple hypothesis of a continuous Indian population, and were swept by blind zeal into serious errors even when they were not imposed upon by frauds and forgeries.”15 He accused DeHass of accepting frauds as fact—likely a reference to the Grave Creek Tablet—and he felt DeHass was too busy looking for a lost race to conduct good science.

Powell took it upon himself to organize a dedicated Mound Exploration Division for a systematic mound survey based on scientific inquiry rather than lost race romanticism. DeHass was out and a new leader brought in. Powell’s most important question that he would charge the new head of the division with answering was this: “Who were the mound-builders?”16 Cyrus Thomas, Powell would note, was an open-minded inquirer and was already of the mind that the Native peoples were the responsible party. When asked who built the mounds, he gave the right answer. “We answer unhesitatingly, Indians—the ancestors of some, perhaps of several of the tribes of modern or historic times,” Thomas wrote a few years later.17

Thomas was an unusual choice to head such a massive and important project. He had been born in 1825 in northeastern Tennessee, where he had acquired a spotty education, apprenticed for a time as a doctor, and eventually became a lawyer in Illinois and a schoolteacher after that. He was an Evangelical preacher for a time, and he and Powell were both members of the Illinois Natural History Society in the years before the Civil War. After earning a doctorate in the natural sciences, Thomas worked as an entomologist, served as professor at the Southern Illinois Normal University, where he occasionally socialized with Powell, and left that job to become the Illinois state entomologist. At the age of fifty-seven, he had had enough careers for two lifetimes, but he accepted one more. Powell may have chosen Thomas because both men had a relationship with Sen. John A. “Black Jack” Logan of Illinois. Logan had been Powell’s commanding officer during the war and was a close friend of the new secretary of the Smithsonian, Spencer Fullerton Baird. He was also the brother of Thomas’s first wife.18 However it happened, an entomologist became America’s most important archaeologist and the head of the country’s largest-ever archaeological survey.

Once in charge of the Mound Exploration Division, Thomas faced a seemingly Sisyphean task. The sheer number of mounds in the United States made it impossible to survey them all, especially with the limitations of the congressional appropriation. The problems multiplied, he realized, when attempting to deal with the wholesale destruction of the extant mounds, both to level the ground for agriculture and at the hands of relic hunters who made good money trading in the artifacts of the supposed lost race. The residents of Charleston, Missouri, for example, looted enough pottery from mounds to generate thousands of dollars in income from 1879 to 1880, until they ran out of collectable ceramics to unearth and sell to eastern collectors and museums. At one point, two dozen men, women, and children at a time would be at work in a field hunting for pottery. “Opportunities for acquiring clear insight into the character and methods of mound-building and into the purpose of their builders, are rapidly diminishing,” Thomas lamented.19

He therefore adopted a compromise methodology, sampling mounds at locations across the country but exploring each mound selected for investigation with the greatest care and thoroughness allowed by the rapidly developing techniques of modern archaeology. Each mound would be thoroughly described and its dimensions measured. Investigators would dig into one at regular intervals and record the strata within and the location of any and all materials found inside, with both horizontal and vertical coordinates marked so that the original location of any object could be reconstructed. It was perhaps ironic that Thomas’s preferred method of excavation and recording of data was nearly identical to that of Thomas Jefferson a century earlier, for the same purpose, and with the same results.

The Mound Exploration Division’s survey work took five years to complete, and another five years passed in analyzing and understanding what the investigation of two thousand American mounds and forty thousand artifacts had uncovered. Three more years would pass before Powell and Thomas published the final report in 1894, in the Twelfth Annual Report of the Bureau of Ethnology, covering the 1890–91 fiscal year. The Report on the Mound Explorations of the Bureau of Ethnology ran more than seven hundred pages—massive, but shorter than past annual reports—and systematically destroyed every argument that believers in the Mound Builder myth had assembled over the preceding century. The conclusion, simply stated, was electrifying: “The links directly connecting the Indians and mound-builders are so numerous and well established that archeologists are justified in accepting the theory that they are one and the same people.”20

Throughout the process, Thomas was under no illusions about what he expected to find, nor did he fail to understand the paramount importance that the elimination of romantic lost race theories held for the scientific study of Native Americans—and, one might add, the social and political relations with them as well:

The most important question to be settled is, “Were the mounds built by the Indians?” If a careful examination and study of the antiquities should result in deciding it satisfactorily in the affirmative, then the questions relating to the objects and uses of these ancient works would be merged into the study of the customs and arts of the Indians. There would then be no more blind groping by archeologists for the thread to lead them out of the mysterious labyrinth. The chain which links together the historic and prehistoric ages of our continent would be complete; the thousand and one wild theories and romances would be permanently disposed of; and the relations of all the lines of investigation to one another being known, they would aid in the solution of many of the problems which hitherto have seemed involved in complete obscurity. Should the result of the examination give a decided negative answer to the question, one broad field would be closed and investigation limited in the future to other lines. In either case a great step toward the ultimate solution of the problem would be taken and the investigations restricted within comparatively narrow limits.

Thomas had good reason to want to see the mound question settled, particularly with the elimination of the lost race myth. For every scientist like Sir John Lubbock or W. H. Dahl who had come around to understanding the mounds to be the work of Native peoples, it seemed that several more still believed, or wanted to believe, in a lost white race of Mound Builders. As Powell’s Canadian counterpart, David Boyle of the Canadian Institute Museum, would put it around the same time, “It is probable that the majority of those who entertain so much reverence for the mound builders, and corresponding regret for their disappearance, will die in the faith, and indeed it seems a pity to deprive them of what yields so much comfort.”21

Thomas was keenly aware that the learned men of his day were busily promoting unusual or absurd myths about mounds. He and Powell had taken special note of Short’s North Americans of Antiquity, which had inspired Ignatius Donnelly, and its claim of a Toltec origin for the Mound Builders, a claim also made by J. P. MacLean in his popular volume The Mound Builders in 1879 and John D. Baldwin in his Ancient America in 1872. Sir John William Dawson, perhaps the greatest mind at McGill University, accepted Rafinesque’s Walam Olum hoax wholesale. He attributed America’s mounds to the Talligewi of myth and declared them a lost race. Frederic Ward Putnam of Harvard’s Peabody Museum, the great rival of the Smithsonian, had visited the Great Serpent Mound in Ohio in 1890, and, to the dismay of those like Thomas who understood the mounds to be Native works, wrote at length of his newfound conviction that the massive snake-shaped construction had been influenced by ancient Celts from Scotland and the glacial deposit at Loch Nell that he wrongly believed was a Scottish serpent mound. “If the serpent of Scotland is the symbol of an ancient faith, surely that of Ohio is the same,” he declared in 1890.22 He even identified these wandering Celts as the “brachycephali,” a reference to one of two Native American skull shapes, which he thought represented two distinct migrations to America, one from Europe. The saving grace was that Putnam’s enthusiasm for his “Celtic” mound led to its preservation and restoration. Not long before, an anonymous author who was probably the occultist Hargrave Jennings had declared the serpent mound evidence of an Aztec penis-worship cult that had connections to Ohio, and had asserted that both the Aztecs and the Ohio Mound Builders were connected to Asian snake cults. “We feel justified in ascribing to the emblematic Serpent and Egg of Ohio a significance radically the same with that which was assigned to the analogous compound symbol among the primitive nations of the East,” he wrote in the privately circulated Ophiolatreia. What Jennings neglected to tell his readers was that he had copied his analysis verbatim from none other than Ephraim Squier’s four-decade-old book on penis worship.23 Another of his major sources was William Pidgeon’s infamous De-Coo-Dah hoax.

Such outrages were not confined to the Mound Builder question. As the quadricentennial of Columbus’s arrival in America approached in 1892, it seemed to set off an explosion of competing claims to undermine the Genoese explorer’s primacy as the first European to reach the New World. The Geographic Society of California published a special bulletin including a paper by Thomas Crawford Johnston asserting that the first Old World people to reach America were the Phoenicians, and that they were the ancestors of the Aztecs and thus of the Mound Builders. His evidence was the same as Donnelly had given for Atlantis—presumed similarities of language, architecture, and religion. But there were also serious—and correct—claims for European presence in America, albeit claims that could not yet be proved. A number of important men argued that the Norse were the first to reach America, including John Fiske, the philosopher whose monumental two-volume Discovery of America was published in 1892 in conjunction with the Columbus quadricentennial. In the book’s second chapter, which ran a hundred pages, Fiske made a sustained case for pre-Columbian voyages to America by the Norse, though he denied that any colonies were founded. He supported his views with reference to Henry I Sinclair, Earl of Orkney, on the strength of the hoaxed Zeno narrative and map, an account he believed represented “a description of North America, and of no other country accessible by an Atlantic voyage.”24 He could not entirely dismiss the possibility of a hoax, however. Although Fiske took great pains to explain that these voyages, even if proved, represented no true discovery of America because they produced no sustained contact, no intercultural trade, and no increase in geographic knowledge, his readers saw it differently and imagined that a major work of history had endorsed the idea that northern Europeans—the whitest of white people—had discovered America long before the despised southern Europeans, whom many suspected of being racially inferior.

Another advocate of Norse voyages was Daniel Wilson, the onetime advocate of the Grave Creek Stone. Over the years, his attitude toward the Mound Builder myth had started to change. In 1876 he condemned the Grave Creek Stone with criticism later seen as an important turning point in the scholarly rejection of the fake artifact. On May 28, 1886, Wilson delivered a full-throated refutation of Ignatius Donnelly’s Atlantis before the Royal Society of Canada. He systematically argued against the sunken continent’s existence and demanded that advocates produce genuine Old World artifacts from an undisturbed New World context to prove a connection. “Until such evidence is forthcoming,” he told the learned society, “the legendary Atlantis must remain a myth, and pre-Columbian America be still credited with a self-achieved progress”—a quiet repudiation of his own long-ago conclusions.25 Such wise words sounded like a fair-minded assessment of facts, but there was a more self-serving theme beneath them. Wilson repeatedly emphasized that the Norse had landed in Canada, as proved by the Icelandic sagas, and this therefore meant that Canada—not the Mississippi Valley, Ohio Valley, or any land touched by Columbus—took pride of place as the first point of European contact in America. As though to drive home the point, when his papers were collected after his death in August 1892, a revised version of his Atlantis essay he had prepared in his final days to mark the Columbus quadricentennial appeared immediately before a long exposition on the reality of the Norse Vinland and Viking colonies in Canada.

The interest in Norse voyages to America provided a counterpoint to the World’s Columbian Exposition of 1893, the world’s fair held in Chicago to celebrate the four hundredth anniversary of Columbus’s first transatlantic voyage. At the fair, displays explaining the supposed history of the Mound Builders appeared side by side with ethnographic displays of Native American cultures and claims for Viking colonization of America. Fascination with northern European claims to primacy in American exploration reached a fever pitch when Norwegian shipbuilders created a replica medieval Norse ship, dubbed the Viking, and sailed it across the ocean and through the Great Lakes to Chicago, where it went on display at the exposition, to great acclaim. A bronze copy of the statue of Leif Erikson in Boston, marking the imagined site of Vinland, joined it. A twelfth printing of Ignatius Donnelly’s Ragnarok went on sale in Chicago for $2.00, timed to be available to fairgoers at the city’s many book dealers. Donnelly himself had been in Chicago the year before when he lost a lawsuit his publisher brought against him, seeking the return of the $4,000 advance it had paid him against the royalties for his book on the secret code in Shakespeare’s plays. The public, it seemed, was less interested in Donnelly than in ancient mysteries, and the book was a failure.26

More insight into the meaning behind the effort to find a higher-quality of American discoverer can be gained from claims made for Henry Sinclair’s medieval “discovery” of America. The Sinclair family has a long and distinguished, if minor, history among European aristocracies, tracing its ancestry back to the Vikings who became the Normans of France and England. The American branch of the family celebrated their heritage through an organization called the De Sancto Claro Society, after the family’s Latin name. One of its officers, Mary Whitney Emerson, wrote that Europeans had discovered America six times before Columbus and asserted that all of those voyagers were in some way members of the extended Sinclair family. To counter the celebration of Columbus, she and the society invited Scottish genealogist Thomas Sinclair to travel from the United Kingdom to Chicago to speak about their glorious heritage and the claim that Henry Sinclair was the true European discoverer of America. At a July 1893 meeting of the De Santo Claro Society, during the Chicago exposition, Sinclair offered a fiery speech that unintentionally laid bare the motivations for recasting the history of America in a Teutonic and Aryan image.

Thomas Sinclair began by asserting dramatically that Henry Sinclair—in his mind Henry II, son of the more commonly cited Henry I—was both a representative of the best of Europe and the true discoverer of America. “In a very true sense Henry as a civilised man, in the modern sense of civilisation, was the one and only discoverer of America; historians of the future [are] bound to come to this conclusion by all the canons of criticism,” he told his distant family, whom he called Caithnessmen after their ancestral Scottish home, to a rapturous reception.27 He praised John Fiske and Richard Henry Major and rhapsodized that the Sinclair claim to have discovered America now had “complete acceptance.” But after outlining the life and times of Henry in detail, Sinclair reached his dark conclusion. He made reference to the debate then stirring in America over immigration and the question of whether southern Europeans, particularly Italians, should be welcomed into America if they would dilute the Anglo-Saxon, Teutonic, and Nordic elements of America’s racial makeup.

As he spoke, a mass migration of Italians had begun that would see four million Italians migrate to America between 1880 and 1915. Their arrival caused racial tension in the United States. They faced intense discrimination, which not infrequently rose to violence, including the lynching of Italians by Anglo-Americans. On March 14, 1891, a mob in New Orleans lynched eleven Italian Americans who were accused of murdering the city’s police chief, one of the largest mass lynching events in U.S. history. Teddy Roosevelt privately called the murders “rather a good thing.”28 The New York Times declared the Italian immigrant to be a “pest without mitigation,” whom every white citizen should wish to see lynched.29 The white residents of Louisiana elected a leader of the lynch mob governor, and as governor John M. Parker said that Italians were “just a little worse than the Negro, being if anything filthier in [their] habits, lawless, and treacherous.”30 They were, in short, not white, and they were often conflated with Hispanic residents who had been absorbed into the United States when it took over Mexican territory, since both were seen as “Latin” peoples and both were derogatorily and offensively called dagos, after the common Spanish name Diego.

Thomas Sinclair believed that replacing Columbus with Henry Sinclair would send a clear message that Italians and Hispanics were not welcome in white America:

But to some of the brightest minds of America the burning question has of late been whether the Latin or Saxon race is to have the supremacy of their country; the intense activity of Roman Catholicism contrasted with the apathy of Protestantism giving philosophers and statesmen pause as to the near results, notwithstanding the power of science and reason. The glorification of Columbus in the discovery centenary of 1892 was an aid towards the threatened Spanish or Latin domination; and Scandinavian energy has been in movement, especially at the Chicago Exhibition of 1893, to counteract the southern tide, by ascribing the discovery of America to Norsemen of the Teuton stock, including, as principal factors, the English and the Dutch. Caithnessmen, especially of Canada and the United States, have the strongest personal interest in such a gigantic Armageddon contest of blood and belief, if it is to be early fact. That the ancestor of many of them . . . is the principal figure to oppose to the renowned Italian Christopher, makes Prince Henry Sinclair II. of as much present as past relation, not only to district, but to the widest of the world’s movements; parochialism not the note of the northern vikings, roving now for property, knowledge, and rule as of yore.31

Few speakers of the era would be so blunt in casting the stakes in such apocalyptic or racist terms, and fewer would so openly admit that the purpose of revising American history was to establish legal and moral title to the land in the name of northern Europeans, the people believed under the doctrine of scientific racism to be the most superior of all races and subraces. Sinclair’s indiscrete speech captured a particular moment, a final cri de coeur for all of the many elites who had spent centuries in desperate effort to remake the American continent as the once and future home of white people. He said what the presidents and preachers, the archaeologists and the occultists, the congressman and the cranks could not or would not put into such plain language.

In many ways, it was the darkness before the dawn.

The breaking of the dawn was slow in coming, but the skies were lightening. T. H. Lewis’s attack on Pidgeon’s Traditions of De-Coo-Dah had hit its mark. In 1890 the announcement of a fabulous new discovery of pre-Columbian Old World relics, this time in Michigan, earned heavy opprobrium from the scholarly world. In October that year, James O. Scotford, a Michigan sign painter, claimed that he had found a cup or a casket—he told different stories—in a small mound in Montcalm County, and this object, he said, was covered in strange hieroglyphs. By spring he had pulled out a seemingly endless array of such artifacts—seventy-five inscribed tablets, several disks, and a few more small caskets—from an area four miles across, each object close to the surface, never more than one to four feet belowground. They were covered in a pastiche of ancient languages and Near Eastern artistic motifs, copied from illustrated plates in an encyclopedia. Scotford formed a “syndicate” of investors who worked to publicize the find, sending photographs to the great archaeologists of the day, including Frederic Putnam at the Peabody Museum. Professor Alfred Emerson of Lake Forest College in Illinois received one set of photographs and was unimpressed by the rank amateur forgery he saw. He ventured to Michigan to see the objects firsthand, and this only reconfirmed his impression:

The articles were bad enough in the photograph; an examination proved them to be humbugs of the first water. They were all of unbaked clay, and decorated with bogus hieroglyphics in which cuneiform characters appeared at intervals. These were all stamped. By way of economizing labor the characters were turned upside down sometimes, or laid sideways. On the back of one piece the same character was represented whole lines at a time. There were incumbent lions on some lids of the caskets. Of these one or two had no tail. I told one of the gentlemen that a primitive artist would never make such an omission. He said that the Society had found the same fault, and that afterward pieces with good tails had been found. On opening one casket we found that the lid had been dried on a machine-sawed board. I was in the woods one day and helped open a real sepulchral mound. The “pottery” was found in mounds of a different sort, very low; but the natives, day laborers and ex-lumberman, declare that they are essentially different from “turnouts.”32

In the fall of 1891, Scotford tried again to find an academic to endorse his deception. He brought a sampling of his forgeries to classical archaeologist Francis W. Kelsey of the University of Michigan, who immediately identified the fraud. The inscriptions were a random assortment of out-of-context Near Eastern characters, and the clay, unbaked, was so fresh it dissolved in water. Kelsey reported his findings locally in a newspaper and nationally in the Nation magazine in January 1892. This quick and public debunking put an end to the Michigan relics for fifteen years, until the public had forgotten about them and Scotford could return with grander and more biblical fake relics, fakes that archaeologists again denounced. Even a scientist from the Church of Latter-day Saints, which was built upon the claim of Near Eastern colonies in ancient America, declared these to be forgeries (though one Mormon elder endorsed them). None of this stopped gullible collectors from paying good money for Scotford’s ersatz antiquities.

“So long as human nature remains the same, . . . no hoax will be too preposterous to be without a following,” Kelsey sadly concluded after witnessing the unbelievable popularity of the Michigan relics in the face of nearly universal scholarly condemnation.332 This disconnect between popular belief and scholarly conclusion would presage the incomplete triumph of Cyrus Thomas’s great report on the Mound Builders in 1894.

But even among believers in impossible ideas, there was at least a grudging respect for the scholarship Thomas hoped that his mound survey would represent. Exaggerated and absurd reports of giant skeletons seven, eight, nine feet tall or taller continued to fill the country’s newspapers, at a growing pace. Many of these reports ended with the refrain that “all the relics were carefully packed and sent to the Smithsonian Institution,” though the Smithsonian never produced a report on giants. In reality, the newsmen played on the growing prestige of the Smithsonian and sometimes exaggerated real efforts by the Bureau of Ethnology, and its Mound Exploration Division, to collect the skeletons of ancient Native Americans. All told, U.S. museums collected nearly half a million Native skeletons in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The Smithsonian did indeed ask the excavators of graves and mounds to ship bones to the institution. New boxes of bones arrived daily in the 1880s and 1890s, until the museum held thirty-five thousand skeletons, of which eighteen thousand were Native American.34 They were not, however, the bones of giants. Once at the Smithsonian, the “giants” were reexamined and accurately measured. Most turned out to be incorrectly measured Native skeletons; others were reclassified as mammoths, mastodons, and other Ice Age fauna.35

Such was the state of ancient American history when Thomas began writing his dryly titled Report on the Mound Explorations of the Bureau of Ethnology ten years after work on the mound survey had begun. The production of the report took three years, from 1891 to 1894, and the concurrent set of artifact descriptions and drawings to be produced by William H. Holmes had to wait yet another decade to see print. In the years leading up to the report’s release, the Bureau of Ethnology had published a number of shorter papers attacking aspects of the Mound Builder myth, identifying errors and hoaxes in earlier accounts. Similarly, Thomas began his report by explaining the faults in Squier and Davis’s earlier work, Ancient Monuments, and explaining that the Smithsonian’s first publication was of no true value in archaeology. His report would scientifically evaluate the construction of the mounds, tumuli, enclosures, embankments, and other earthworks without preconceived notion nor ideology. The majority of the report, to that end, comprised, like Ancient Monuments, hundreds of pages of detailed descriptions of various mounds and the objects found within them. To this, unlike Squier and Davis, Thomas added evidence to support the similarity of mound-building cultures to those of Native Americans, and he answered objections about the supposedly primitive and worthless nature of Native culture with evidence, from unimpeachable sources, that Native people had extensive agriculture before Europeans disrupted their societies and could easily have supported the population needed for mound construction.

Detail piled upon detail: over five hundred pages of mound descriptions and dozens more pages of historical accounts of Native groups who built mounds in full view of European observers. The repeated conclusion that the material remains were indistinguishable from those of known Native American provenance became all but insuperable. Thomas admitted that “some” archaeologists doubted that enough data could ever be gathered to prove Native Americans built the mounds, but he drily noted that the full extent of the bureau’s work was not known to those doubters. He conceded that it was beyond the power of any one man or any organization to determine the origin of every single mound in the United States, but the general conclusion could not be clearer. No evidence existed anywhere in America to suggest builders other than Native Americans. As though to shame those who held the opposite view, those Thomas accused of an ideological bias, he listed at great length all of the many scholars and scientists who had endorsed Native builders in the past two decades: F. M. Force in 1873, C. C. Baldwin in 1874, D. G. Brinton and P. R. Hoy in 1881, Lucien Carr in 1883, W. H. Dall in 1885, Nathaniel Shaler in 1886, and a half-dozen more papers and books. “These recent papers,” he wrote, “may justly be considered the commencement of a rediscussion of this question, in which the Indian, after a long exclusion, will be readmitted as a possible factor in the problem.”36 Thomas’s report, far from unique, was a culmination that gave the imprimatur of government-sponsored institutional science to a specific and resurgent faction of the scholarly world that, for the first time in many decades, also happened be the one to support the scientifically correct conclusion.

Thomas also included negative evidence in the form of a lengthy debunking of the Davenport tablets, whose obvious forgery he reported with seeming glee. He refuted every claim made for them, with minute detail, even though their falsity was obvious to all but the truest of believers—specifically, the members of the Davenport Academy of Natural Sciences who advocated for them. By exploring the hoax so closely and calling out the “large portion of our archeologists” who sought false evidence of a lost race in vain, Thomas made a more important point: science requires real evidence, not ideological posturing, to achieve worthwhile results. “A consideration of all the facts,” Thomas wrote of the inscribed tablets, “leads us, inevitably, to the conclusion that these relics are frauds: that is, that they are modern productions made to deceive.”37 The implied conclusion was that all such alleged Old World tablets were similarly frauds. He said that not one genuine Old World inscription had ever been found in an unimpeachable archaeological context in the United States.

The report concluded with a plain observation. Almost every archaeologist in America agreed that the high cultures of the desert Southwest, Mexico, Central America, and South America were the work of the ancestors of the Native people of those regions. Why would they argue otherwise for the ancient works of the Mississippi watershed?

In the time between the commencement of Thomas’s work and its conclusion, America had changed. The Indian Wars came to a close, and on December 29, 1890, the Seventh Cavalry massacred a band of Lakotas at Wounded Knee Creek in the new state of South Dakota. In the months leading up to the massacre, a new religious practice had swept Native groups—the Ghost Dance. A Northern Paiute named Wovoka preached that the ritual could bring the spirits of the dead into the world of the living, and, when they joined the battle, the living and the dead could drive the white man from Native lands. The Lakotas embraced the Ghost Dance when the U.S. government broke their treaty obligations and divided the Sioux reservation, breaking up their lands and requiring them to farm and send their children to boarding schools, in keeping with the policies enacted under the Dawes Act. Resistance movements broke out across the Plains and the Badlands. Sitting Bull died on December 15 in an exchange with the U.S. Army when they arrested him for failing to suppress the Ghost Dance.

On December 29, a group under the leadership of Spotted Elk made camp, and the cavalry rode into their group and demanded that the Lakotas surrender their weapons. The soldiers were on edge when they saw one of the Lakotas performing a Ghost Dance. In the confusion, an old Lakota man’s rifle fired by mistake, and the soldiers started shooting. When the chaos ended, somewhere between 150 and 300 Lakotas and more than two dozen U.S. soldiers were dead. Congress voted its Medal of Honor to twenty of the men of the Seventh Cavalry for their role in the massacre. Much of the American public was happy to see the Natives dead. L. Frank Baum, soon to be the author of The Wonderful Wizard of Oz, opined that the army needed to finish the job and “wipe these untamed and untamable creatures from the face of the earth.”38

The Wounded Knee outrage marked an end point, symbolically if in no other way. The Lakota medicine man Black Elk, recalling these events in 1932, summarized it well:

I did not know then how much was ended. When I look back now from this high hill of my old age, I can still see the butchered women and children lying heaped and scattered all along the crooked gulch as plain as when I saw them with eyes young. And I can see that something else died there in the bloody mud, and was buried in the blizzard. A people’s dream died there. It was a beautiful dream . . . the nation’s hoop is broken and scattered. There is no center any longer, and the sacred tree is dead.39

Although scattered conflicts would continue, the Indian Wars were over. Native Americans had lost, becoming politically disempowered and effectively disarmed for the first time in the country’s life. By the World’s Columbian Exposition, Native Americans were no longer a threat to the United States or its white citizens. They had become, essentially, decoration, an ethnographic curiosity, the subject of Wild West shows, scientific lectures, and museum exhibits.

As devastating as this outcome was for Native people, their defeat also sounded the death-knell for the Mound Builder myth. Cyrus Thomas’s great report received immediate acceptance from most archaeologists and many historians, and within a decade it had taken its place as a cornerstone of American archaeology and a touchstone of science. It did so, however, because the ideology that demanded a Mound Builder myth had fallen into abeyance. No longer was a lost white race needed as a hedge against the power or the claims of Native Americans. No longer did an imaginary history have to serve as justification for immoral and unconscionable acts. Scientists accepted Thomas’s conclusions because they no longer impacted the fait accompli of the closing of the frontier. The truth—always known, if not always accepted—was no longer a threat to political or social demands, and it therefore could join polite society.

The change, somehow unnoticed by most observers at the time, seemed to come like a thief in the night, washing over science gradually, by degrees, between 1890 and 1920. So subtly but completely did it replace the older view that, by the time of the First World War, the best historians and archaeologists wrote of the Mound Builder myth as if it had been a fever dream of a forgotten generation, even though many men who believed in it were still alive. The question of the Mound Builders now seemed utterly irrelevant, replaced with new concerns about how otherwise to understand the many successive cultures of pre-Columbian America. With the Smithsonian withdrawing from mound exploration, the interest of archaeologists shifted to the West and to new questions. Important work was still done on the mounds, particularly in Ohio, in the early twentieth century, but the efforts now had another purpose. In December 1913 the head of the American Anthropological Association, Roland B. Dixon, outlined the problems still facing American archaeology, chief among them the question of mounds. “We must admit here,” he said, “the presence of the remains of a number of different cultures.”40 It was the beginning of the transition to modern archaeology and a modern understanding of American prehistory.

At the International Congress of Americanists held in Paris in October 1890, Europe’s greatest meeting of scholars studying ancient America, the polemical French historian Eugène Beauvois presented—“for the seventh time,” an exasperated correspondent noted—his claim that the Irish had colonized ancient Mexico and civilized it with Christianity.41 The conference also contained presentations from men like Désiré Charnay, who claimed that Mexican antiquities were the work of Southeast Asians, and a paper about the Chinese myth of Fusang as America. But by 1897, when Beauvois published yet another paper claiming that the Irish had civilized ancient Mexico, something had changed. Beauvois was particularly obvious in his underlying motives, writing that he would attribute Mexican culture to Europeans—Norse or Irish—no matter what. “With either alternative, the source will always be European,” he declared in triumph.42 But his paper, which would have raised but few eyebrows twenty years earlier, appeared now to be a ridiculous boondoggle—“an article of doubtful value,” the Journal of American Folk-Lore sneered.43 Beauvois continued publishing, eventually claiming in 1902 that the Knights Templar of France had colonized the New World after their suppression in Europe, but it was clear that he was growing angry that his colleagues no longer accepted his views. “No true scholar will disdainfully reject our conclusions, under the sole pretext that they are unlikely and that it was impossible for the Templars to found a sustainable state in America without the knowledge of fourteenth and fifteenth century Europeans,” he said.44 But while continental writers, particularly those of a racist bent, listened, American scholars steadfastly ignored him.

Similarly, the many other claims for Old World colonies in the New World were washed out of the academy in a sea of rapid debunking in the generation after 1890. In 1892 librarian Fred W. Lucas published a brilliantly argued volume on the Zeno narrative, picking apart Richard Henry Major’s argument point by point and demonstrating how the Renaissance hoax’s author, Nicolò Zeno the Younger, had assembled it from a crude pastiche of a handful of contemporary books, particularly Olaus Magnus’s description of Iceland. Despite vicious opposition from advocates of Norse colonization of America like B. F. De Costa, Lucas’s view came to prevail among the educated class. Claims of Egyptians in America also fell to the wayside, as did arguments for Atlantis. In a few years, the Smithsonian would hire Aleš Hrdlička to curate its physical anthropology collection, and he repeatedly made a persuasive case that there had never been a lost race of giants. And when the New York Herald falsely claimed in 1903 that an ancient Mexican city full of elephants killed by Noah’s Flood had been found, experts in the field recognized it as a bastardization of an article from the Mexican National Museum’s Bulletin identifying a claimed body of a “giant” as the bones of a mastodon.45 Few experts supported banker Samuel Hubbard’s wild claim in 1896 that a Native informant had told him the year before of a prehistoric petrified giant’s remains in the Grand Canyon. “It had always seemed reasonable to me that the prehistoric, primeval hunting savages should have been of large stature,” he said.46 So little did experts think of this that it took three decades for the Smithsonian to bother visiting the site to determine that the “body” was nothing but rocks.

Surveying these developments and the banishment of the Grave Creek Stone, the Newark Holy Stones, the Davenport tablets, the Michigan relics, and all manner of similar hoaxes from the prehistory of America, Cyrus Thomas felt a sense of triumph. “Stones bearing inscriptions in Hebrew or other Old World characters have at last been banished from the list of prehistoric relics,” Thomas proudly declared in 1898. He did, however, express some dismay that a recent book, likely Stephen D. Peet’s The Mound Builders: Their Works and Their Relics (1892), which fully endorsed the idea that the mounds were the work of Native Americans, was “flawed to some extent” because the author accepted hoaxes and errors as facts. “Mounds and ancient works are described and figured which do not and never did exist; and articles are represented which are modern reproductions.”47 Peet had accurately dismissed many of the Davenport tablets as fakes, but he accepted the Davenport elephant pipe forgeries as true and as proof that the mounds dated back to the Ice Age.

Unfortunately, as Peet’s Mound Builders suggested, Thomas’s triumph would remain incomplete. His work, locked away in a government report, was largely unseen outside of the highest levels of scholarship. It would not receive glowing reviews in the national journals, nor would Thomas follow Donnelly around America on the lecture circuit. Popular articles about the lost race of the Mound Builders and ancient European explorers in America continued apace. In 1900, when Peter De Roo wrote his lengthy popular study of the History of America before Columbus, filled with claims of various European incursions into North America in deep antiquity, he discussed the lost race of the Mound Builders from the books of the 1870s and 1880s without reference to Thomas, whose work he seems neither to have read nor to have known. The newspapers continued to report discoveries of the bones of the lost race of white mound-building giants. The new giants were now said to be ten, eleven, or more feet tall. So frequent were these reports—despite the complete lack of bones to support them—that it had become commonplace to read straight-faced reports in papers like the Sunday Oregonian of “a lost race unknown to men of this day” who inhabited America “long before the redskins came”48 At the Smithsonian, Aleš Hrdlička watched in bafflement. In 1910 he reclassified and rearranged the entire physical anthropology collection and found not a single giant.

The modern view of the mounds put on a good show at the Pan-American Exposition in Buffalo in 1901, the first World’s Fair in America since the World’s Columbian Exposition nearly a decade earlier. In the southeast portion of the expo grounds, ethnology curator Arthur Lincoln Benedict worked with the Bureau of Ethnology to erect model mounds to show their construction. A large, ringed mound and a sample burial chamber covered in clay and bark proclaimed the work of ancient Native Americans to millions of visitors. A copy of the Serpent Mound of Ohio and one shaped like an eagle were intended to complete the landscape, but the Serpent Mound model had to be destroyed (but not before official guidebooks printed its wonders) because it was found to be inaccurate, and the eagle mound was never finished and eroded away over the exposition’s first months. The official guidebook to the exposition was agnostic about the mounds’ origins, however, referring to them as “Indian Mounds” but also calling their authors “Mound Builders” and implying that they were of one distinct race. The wording reflected the tension between popular understanding and the facts the Smithsonian provided. Less cautious were the exhibits from the states, which were still enamored of the Mound Builder myth. In the ethnology building, the Ohio State Archaeological and Historical Society provided an exhibit devoted to the Mound Builders as a race, and Dr. H. E. Twitchell offered another on the building’s balcony contrasting the “Mound Builders” with the “Indians.”49 All told, there were five different exhibits devoted to the mystery of the Mound Builders.

Still less cautious were the occultists, who openly rejected the conclusions of science and promoted an increasingly extreme view of history. Helena Blavatsky had died in 1891 amid a raft of claims that her books were collections of plagiarisms, fraudulent psychic powers exposed, but Theosophy lived on and only grew more popular after her death. W. Scott-Elliott, a theosophical writer, proposed that Atlantis had been home to flying machines and wondrous technologies, powered by vril, a magical substance that existed only in a science fiction novel by Edward Bulwer-Lytton. To “prove” his case, he cited the myth of the Mound Builders and the allegation that the Great Serpent Mound of Ohio had a duplicate in Scotland. By 1904 Scott-Elliott had expanded on hints in Blavatsky’s texts to claim that the Aryan race who had built both the mounds and the ancient wonders of the world had been taught the fine art of civilization by “divine beings from Venus,” which Annie Besant would revise further to have these Venusians arrive on Earth in fiery chariots, anticipating flying saucers. The Christian Theosophist Franklin Ellsworth Parker took this still further and alleged that Blavatsky’s fabricated Book of Dzyan, falsely referenced as an ancient text in The Secret Doctrine, was written on Jupiter before being delivered to Earth.

But the public learned less from archaeologists or occultists than from popular writers, and it was in the realm of fiction that the lost white race lingered on, an angry echo playing to the prejudices of a country where whiteness and full membership in the human race were still largely synonymous. In the early years of the twentieth century, eugenicists argued that America could be improved by controlling who could reproduce and by limiting or eliminating immigration by “inferior races” of insufficiently Aryan extraction. It was also the time of Jim Crow, when miscegenation could result in lynching. Fiction of the era celebrated the racism of the time with romantic fantasies that attributed ancient wonders to someone—anyone—other than Native peoples or those with black or brown skin. In 1895 Garrett P. Serviss wrote a novel sending Thomas Edison to Mars, where he learned that Egypt’s great wonders were really the work of Martians. A dozen or more novels fictionalized Donnelly’s Atlantis and presented a world where white Atlanteans held great wisdom and high technology. In 1904 Waldo H. Dunn published a novel titled The Vanished Empire: A Tale of the Mound Builders, which not only endorsed the lost race theory but carried an introduction from American Universalist minister and archaeologist John Patterson MacLean, an opponent of evolutionary theory and a believer in the lost race hypothesis. MacLean lamented that “the study of American archaeology has not been of popular interest,” and he complained that his own book on the subject—the “most accurate,” he said—had failed to sell. But, more tellingly, he added that “the lover of history is not governed by the cold facts he reads in the words of his favorite chronicler.” MacLean openly called for a romantic approach to archaeology. “History has been popularized, but archaeology has not yet attained unto that rank. I wish it were otherwise. I see no future in this direction unless it is touched by the hand of romance.”50 It was as much of a confession of the real motives of the lost race believers as anything.

Perhaps the era’s last great Mound Builder novel was Anona of the Moundbuilders, published in Wheeling, West Virginia, in 1920 from the joint pens of J. Clarence Marple, who had spent three decades reading books about the lost race of Mound Builders, and Albert N. Dennis, who devoted three years of intensive study to the subject seemingly without discovering any of the modern archaeological views one might expect a reasonable walk through a well-stocked library to return. Instead the novel harked back to the worst ideas of the nineteenth century, now remade for the Jim Crow era. The book described “fair-skinned,” eight-foot-tall, blond, blue-eyed Mound Builders under attack from “black savages” erupting from the South, a telling choice of words symbolizing the shifting mythic meaning of the Mound Builder story, now used against miscegenation and to foment racial panic. So obvious did Marple and Dennis make this allegory that they opened the book by bluntly stating that the “black savages” intended to kill all the white men of the Mound Builder race in order to rape and carry off their “tall, symmetrical, fair-skinned female beauties” as sexual prizes.51 Subtle it was not, and, more astonishing, its publisher advertised Anona as “educational.”

In his foreword to the novel, Dennis offered a stunning paragraph that simultaneously underscored the utter failure of America’s educated class to deliver facts to the public and highlighted the deep desire to seek myths where facts fail to satisfy: “The Moundbuilders, as a race of people and as a study, are very interesting. However, they have been woefully neglected in fiction and accurate history concerning this once great race is rather scarce and difficult to obtain. Even our greatest museums offer but little definite information on the subject.”52 In his lament, Dennis accidentally wrote the epitaph for the myth of the Mound Builders. Thirty years before, the effort to find a lost white race of early Americans had been on the tip of every tongue and the subject of government interest and intense media coverage, but by the time of Anona, the very idea of a Mound Builder “race” had become the stuff of romance, fantasy, and racist nostalgia. A fiction that once governed U.S. policy and contributed to the deaths of thousands and the destruction of nations had become nothing more than entertainment, shelved alongside Zane Grey’s The Man of the Forest and Frederick Jackson Turner’s Pulitzer Prize–winning Frontier in American History, newly released in 1921, which grew out of an essay first read before the American Historical Society in at the Chicago World’s Fair in 1893. Collecting essays written over the subsequent decades, Turner’s book as he last formed it examined the forces that governed America’s relationship to the frontier as the United States grew steadily west over the course of its history. Turner dismissed the entire Mound Builder controversy, and the mounds themselves, in passing, across just three sentences on two pages. The new school textbooks of the 1920s, put out by major houses like Macmillan and Lippincott, made no mention of the mounds and little reference to the Native Americans. This important and foundational struggle at the heart of American culture during the age of expansion was now alien to American history, a forgotten chapter, thereafter the province of entertainers, extremists, and cranks.


Conclusion

The Priests of Science

At the end of 1929 the romance writer Zealia Bishop of Oklahoma contacted the horror fiction writer H. P. Lovecraft and asked him to ghostwrite a horror story for her. Lovecraft had worked with her to revise and rewrite an earlier horror story from notes and fragments, and she was quite pleased with the results, no matter how little of her own work remained in it. Now she asked Lovecraft to create for her a complete story based on two short sentences: “There is an Indian mound near here, which is haunted by a headless ghost. Sometimes it is a woman.” Bishop had been inspired by a mound of earth near Hydro, Oklahoma, known as the Ghost Mound, which local folklore said was haunted. Unbeknown to Bishop, Ghost Mound was actually a natural formation that had long been mistaken for a Native American earthwork since there were real Native mounds in the area.

Lovecraft, in far-off Providence, Rhode Island, read her request and was unimpressed. “I decided at once that such a thing would be insufferably tame & flat,” he wrote. “Accordingly I am having the mound turn out to be the gateway of a primordial & forgotten subterranean world—the home of a fearsomely ancient & decadent race cut off from the outer earth since the prehistoric sinking of fabulous Atlantis.”1 There would be also space aliens.

The resulting novella ran for twenty-five thousand words and pretended to the be relation of an anonymous ethnologist studying the Native peoples of Oklahoma. “I had gone into Oklahoma to track down and correlate one of the many ghost tales which were current among the white settlers, but which had strong Indian corroboration, and—I felt sure—an ultimate Indian source,” the narrator relates. He frames his travels in terms of deep time, noting that archaeology has extended the history of America back farther and farther, to perhaps 18,000 BCE, and he speaks of the possibility of still older occupations, “of a piece with the persistent legends of rich hidden cities and buried races” that every ethnologist knew.2 Upon examining the mound, the narrator discovers a cylinder buried there four centuries earlier by Pánfilo de Zamacona y Nuñez. He had descended into the mound and discovered a vast underground world populated by space aliens who had given rise to humanity in the most ancient of days and now lived under the ground, sustained by hordes of horrifying slaves made from mutilated corpses. The sadistic aliens were in the last stages of degeneration, having lived in isolation for too long. The mechanics of the remainder of the plot are unimportant, but suffice it to say that the narrator discovers that Zamacona’s narrative was not entirely fictitious.

H. P. Lovecraft was a brilliant writer but a terrible racist who longed for an imaginary “pure” colonial past, and “The Mound” embodies the clashing forces of past and present, as humanism and racism fight to navigate the rapidly changing scientific world of the middle twentieth century. Lovecraft reached back to the old myths of the nineteenth century to give his stories a sense of depth and history. He once said that a good story was constructed like a convincing hoax, and, to that end, drawing on real anthropology, ethnography, and archaeology—especially the outdated, disproved material of the preceding generation—gave an uncanny air of verisimilitude for the most outrageous of fantasies. But in this novella, Lovecraft also played out his great fear that white American civilization would decay and fall before the corrupting power of nonwhite immigrants and the racial impurity created by miscegenation. “All told, I think the modern American is pretty well on his guard, at last, against racial and cultural mongrelism,” he wrote in a January 1931 letter. “There will be much deterioration, but the Nordic has a fighting chance of coming out on top in the end.”3 Lovecraft’s appeal to the Mound Builder myth echoed his major fears—the corruption and destruction of the white race, the loss of culture, and the tenuous grip that any culture exercises over its people and territory.

Although Lovecraft’s novella was not published during his life, first appearing in the pulp fiction magazine Weird Tales three years after his 1937 death, the racial panic and nostalgia for an imagined period of American greatness that his story reflected became a toxic swamp in which the desiccated remains of nineteenth-century mythologies would attempt a partial resurrection. Cyrus Thomas’s report concluding that America’s mounds were the work of the ancestors of living Native Americans convinced many scientists in his day and nearly all within a generation. But that change in scientific views was not accompanied by a change in popular attitudes. Instead it resulted in a fissure emerging between scientists and the public. Similar fissures emerged in the same era as a result of Darwin’s evolutionary theory challenging popular religious narratives, Freud’s unleashing of his groundbreaking (if dubious) theory of psychoanalysis, and new technologies upending traditional ways of life.

In each case, those whose ideologies were challenged by the advance of science reacted by rejecting science. This was the period when creationism and biblical fundamentalism spread with a burning intensity to stand against evolution. The Scopes Monkey Trial of 1925 was a symbol of a broad popular and religious rejection of uncomfortable science, a manifestation of the instinct to retreat from scientific discovery when it challenged comforting tenets of faith. But this instinct was not entirely regressive. This was also the era of eugenics, when the best of American science told citizens that some were unworthy of reproduction and that many would be better off dead. The great men of science classified Americans by intelligence and race and used the force of government to impose a “scientific” set of criteria to sterilize those deemed inferior. The popular rejection of the dark side of misapplied science could serve noble ends.

But, in general, the myth of the lost white race served primarily as fodder for some of the darkest and most disturbing undercurrents of Western culture. In Europe, far right groups watched how America suppressed its minority populations, and they refined the techniques. Hitler was a massive fan of Westerns and spoke approvingly of how America had “gunned down the millions of redskins to a few hundred thousand.”4 The Nazis modeled their genocidal tactics on the taming of the West, and Lebensraum (living space) on Manifest Destiny. Elements of the Nazi government embraced Donnelly’s Atlantis and Blavatsky’s Aryanism and wove these extreme views into a fictitious view of history meant to support German supremacism. In the mid-twentieth century, George Adamski and his allies folded Theosophy’s Venusians and their Aryan allies into the burgeoning UFO movement, and, not long after, European and American authors alike found new ways to revise Donnelly’s Atlantis theories in light of Lovecraft’s fictitious space aliens, Theosophy’s Venusians, and the so-called UFO “mystery” in order to attribute the ruins of ancient America to space aliens mistaken for gods, without whom the impossible science of piling dirt into large mounds could not have arisen.

In the mid-twentieth century, however, these ideas seemed so alien to science, middlebrow culture, and the mainstream media that they were effectively isolated from the majority of Americans. In the 1950s and early 1960s, the irrational and the fantastic stood at the edge of a society that outwardly embraced science and reason and seemed focused on outer space and the future, not the darker parts of its past. When the science fiction author Robert Silverberg told the story of the controversy over the lost race in his nonfiction book The Mound Builders of Ancient America: The Archaeology of a Myth (1968), he presented the story as a triumph for science and for an America in which the truth inevitably, if slowly, overtook fantasy and became universally accepted. He reached the story of Cyrus Thomas halfway through the volume and devoted the second half of the book to the explosion of archaeological interest in pre-Columbian Native peoples in the postwar decades, trusting that his audience cared more about real Native Americans than the people who might have darker designs for lost race myths.

“It is difficult to comprehend now the intensity of the interest those mounds provoked a century of more ago, or to grasp the deeper motives that led so many to believe that they were the work of superior beings hidden in the mists of time,” he wrote. “Archaeologists today smile at the fancies of yesteryear.”5 To a man of science during the scientific and technological explosion of the postwar boom years it might well have been impossible to comprehend those fancies, but at the very same time Silverberg’s book was published by the New York Graphic Society, a former Nazi turned book editor in Germany revised a manuscript by a Swiss hotelier named Erich von Däniken who would soon go on trial for embezzlement. That book, published in 1968 as Chariots of the Gods?, drew on the burgeoning UFO movement and, indirectly, on H. P. Lovecraft and Theosophy, to propose that superior beings from the mists of time—ancient astronauts from other planets—had built the wonders that archaeology attributed to Native peoples. The book sold tens of millions of copies, and when adapted for U.S. television as In Search of Ancient Astronauts on January 5, 1973, with Twilight Zone creator Rod Serling as narrator, it introduced twenty-eight million Americans watching NBC to what Silverberg considered inconceivable. Worse, within forty-eight hours of broadcast, the book’s U.S. publisher sold 250,000 new copies of Chariots.6 Hundreds of copycat books soon flooded bookstores, and similar documentaries aired on national television and played in theaters. The craze for ancient astronauts and ancient mysteries burned with the holy fire of the religious revival of the 1820s and 1830s, and it arose alongside postmodernism, the academic philosophy that challenged the authority of science as a way of knowing.

Two decades later, when archaeologist Stephen Williams surveyed the Mound Builder myth for his Fantastic Archaeology: The Wild Side of North American Prehistory (1991), a book on fantasy themes in American archaeology, he too saw Thomas’s debunking of the Mound Builder myth as a settled issue, asserting that “it for all intents and purposes shut the door from a scientific standpoint on the Moundbuilder question.”7 So settled did he see the controversy that he devoted only a few paragraphs to the Smithsonian’s efforts to close the question. He treated the fantastic theme in archaeology with bemused contempt and, like Silverberg, ended his book with the actual archaeology of ancient America, as though to say that the truth inevitably triumphs over the seductive lie. Shortly after Williams wrote Fantastic Archaeology, NBC aired two documentaries, The Mystery of the Sphinx (1993) and The Mysterious Origins of Man (1996), that advocated against conventional history and for lost ancient civilizations, inaugurating another wave of popular fantasy about history. The success of these specials convinced cable channels like Discovery and the Arts & Entertainment network to invest in similar programming, which A&E eventually passed on to the new network its parent company had launched in 1995, the History Channel.

But in these same years it was the Smithsonian itself that became the focus for the dark impulse of conspiracy and the darker shadow of racism. In 1981 Raiders of the Lost Ark depicted the Ark of the Covenant being locked away in a government warehouse, and writers who formerly had praised the Smithsonian turned on it. David Hatcher Childress, a self-published writer and self-described “real-life Indiana Jones,” decided that the Smithsonian was an institutional villain thwarting his self-appointed quest to discover the truth about ancient America, a truth that in the late 1980s he firmly believed involved the lost white race, as described in Victorian books and articles. “To those who investigate allegations of archaeological cover-ups,” Childress wrote in an article in his self-published World Explorer newsletter in 1993, “there are disturbing indications that the most important archaeological institute in the United States, the Smithsonian Institute, an independent federal agency, has been actively suppressing some of the most interesting and important archaeological discoveries made in the Americas.”8 He cited John Wesley Powell as the founder of a conspiracy and Cyrus Thomas as its agent, declaring both men complicit in covering up the existence of a lost white race. His article might have remained obscure if not for the revival of interest in fringe history, thanks in large measure to Mystery of the Sphinx, at exactly the same time.

As part of his report, Childress gathered every scrap of complaint he could find about the Smithsonian, even though the stories were either demonstrably untrue or utterly unproveable. From Ivan T. Sanderson he borrowed allegations that the Smithsonian made the skulls of giants disappear, even though he misunderstood the skulls’ true (and normal) measurements. From John H. Tierney he tried to resurrect a hoax from 1932 alleging that thirty-two thousand ceramic statues from Mexico were genuine relics of a lost civilization that lived (and had sex) with dinosaurs. The Smithsonian had tested them and found them to be modern fakes. Childress claimed to have heard a “researcher” recall hearing secondhand from yet another unnamed source that the Smithsonian had dumped an entire barge full of pre-Columbian artifacts of the lost race into the Potomac River to keep the public from learning the truth. He finished by alleging that the Smithsonian was lying when it said it had no record of a 1909 excavation of an Egyptian-Tibetan tomb in the Grand Canyon, a story reported only in a hoax article in a local Arizona newspaper.

Childress’s article found favor with David Icke, a British conspiracy theorist who made use of traditional antisemitic material such as the Protocols of the Elders of Zion to promote claims about space aliens and Reptilians. He repeated many of Childress’s claims in The Biggest Secret in 1993. While a craze for lost white race theories arose in the wake of best-sellers like journalist Graham Hancock’s Fingerprints of the Gods (1995), which was basically an uncredited rewrite of Donnelly’s Atlantis, right down to the civilizing “white” men who taught Native Americans how to be cultured, the Smithsonian conspiracy theory percolated among the fringes of alternative history for years until Childress’s article began circulating on the early internet. Ross Hamilton resurrected it in 2001 with his online article “Holocaust of Giants: The Great Smithsonian Cover-Up.” Soon Christian creationists, who already opposed the Smithsonian’s recognition of evolution, began to accuse the museum of suppressing thousands of skeletons of a lost race of white giants. The Native American author Vine Deloria Jr. attempted to reverse centuries of misusing such theories to harm Native peoples by actively embracing claims of transoceanic contact between the Old World and New and recasting the contact on more equal terms. He told Hamilton that he had come to believe that Raiders of the Lost Ark accurately reflected the way the Smithsonian falsified and suppressed the true history of the world. It was not without irony that Raiders of the Lost Ark had itself been partly inspired by Erich von Däniken.9

The so-called Great Smithsonian Cover-Up found its way into the pages of books by the former head of the National Socialist White People’s Party, Frank Joseph (formerly Frank Collin), who had once gone to the Supreme Court for the right to march Nazis through a Jewish suburb of Chicago. Joseph had remade himself as an Atlantis advocate after his release from prison following a conviction for child molestation, and he subtly but forcefully advocated for a lost white race that once ruled ancient America. The Smithsonian conspiracy was also popular among evangelical Christian “investigators” like giant-hunters L. A. Marzulli and Steve Quayle, who used distrust of government and academic elites as a selling point for a confounding array of giant-themed merchandise. But nowhere did the conspiracy find firmer footing than in the exploding world of twenty-first-century cable television, where networks like the History Channel, the Travel Channel, and the Science Channel spread Childress’s claims and expanded on them with the confidence born of unevidenced assertion. I myself have dissuaded more than one TV producer from adding another entry into the canon of false Smithsonian claims when they asked me to appear on such shows to describe the nonexistent conspiracy.

The surprise success of Ancient Aliens (2009–present) on the History Channel, a program which criticized me by name in its first broadcast in 2009, brought fringe history programming to the fore. Ancient Aliens, which employed Childress as an “expert” on space aliens, repeated the claim frequently across its decade-long run, and the History Channel devoted an entire series, Search for the Lost Giants (2014), to the supposed conspiracy to suppress the truth about giant white mound builders. The network’s spinoff channel H2 let its show America Unearthed (2012–2015) engage in attacks on the Smithsonian and let its host, geologist Scott F. Wolter, indulge for three seasons in expounding on an baroque set of interlaced conspiracies about non-Native colonization of the ancient Americas drawn from two centuries of erroneous claims and ideological ideas, including hunts for Aztecs, Phoenicians, Romans, Lost Tribes, Freemasons, and even the lost white race of Mound Builders. Wolter suggested that the Mound Builders could have been Scottish, basing this claim on the same mistakes that Putnam accepted in the late 1800s and Noah Webster nearly a century before that. But above all, America Unearthed advocated for Henry Sinclair and the Knights Templar as the true discoverers of America and founders of the Euro-American democratic culture of today. Wolter spent an entire episode alleging the Bat Creek Stone to be a genuine Jewish antiquity, prompting an extraordinary response from the Smithsonian, which had cooperated with filming and had allowed Wolter to examine the stone. The Institution called the stone “an obvious fraud” and added: “Along with other known fraudulent artifacts, we retain it in our collections as part of the cultural history of archaeological frauds, which were quite popular in the second half of the 19th century.”10 The program developed a rabid fan base, leading to its revival on the Travel Channel in 2019. Its fans included a contingent of white nationalists who discussed episodes on forums like Stormfront and a network of like-minded radio programs. It was in this stew of secondary appropriation of history programs for white nationalist causes that a second Smithsonian controversy merged seamlessly into the first.

Beginning at the turn of the millennium, Smithsonian anthropologist Dennis J. Stanford, along with Bruce Bradley, resurrected the old idea that the first Americans came from Europe, harking back to Noah Webster’s idea that the first Americans hugged the icy North Atlantic islands to reach the New World from Europe by boat. They gave a modern sheen to a version of the hypothesis first put forward in the 1930s by archaeologist Frank Hibben. As Stanford and Bradley told it, the famous fluted Clovis stone points of the Paleo-Indians, made around twelve thousand years ago, were derived from a Spanish model brought over when the Solutreans allegedly migrated westward to America from Europe twenty thousand years ago. The men could not explain a gap of five thousand or more years between the older Solutrean and younger Paleo-Indian cultures nor how the Solutreans traveled with no known boats, but their hypothesis galvanized white nationalists and other racists, who immediately recognized it as a close relative of the nineteenth-century ideas about a lost white race that had been replaced by “savage” Asian immigrants. Stanford even appeared on America Unearthed in 2014 to discuss the possibility that “Europeans” were the true first Americans, and he appeared in a 2018 CBC and Smithsonian Channel documentary on the Solutrean hypothesis that received vicious condemnation from Canadian scientists, not least because the scientists thought that the CBC failed to adequately address white nationalist support for the idea and to account for the sociocultural impact of advocating for European first Americans.

A white nationalist named Kyle Bristow, singled out by the Southern Poverty Law Center for his extremist views, which had been gained, he said, from a reading of Ann Coulter’s Treason, self-published a novel in 2010 titled White Apocalypse in which a noble race of white Solutreans in America were executed by invading hordes of “Beringians,” the derogatory white nationalist term for Native Americans who crossed the Bering Strait.11 He dedicated the book to “the real Native Americans,” who were for him white people. The book earned praise from Bill Roper of White Resistance and Kevin Alfred Storm of National Vanguard. In 2009 the Right Perspective podcast host known as Frank from Queens—famous for his calls to New York talk radio and whom New York magazine once labeled “racist”—created “World Solutrean Day” as a white nationalist holiday and placed it on Hitler’s April 20 birthday.12 Either Frank or someone posting on his behalf offered a summation drawn directly from the dark past of the Mound Builder lost race myth to promote his annual World Solutrean Day broadcast:

Please tune into The Right Perspective on the week of April 20 for World Solutrean Day! Please, tell your children that Our Great White Solutrean Ancestors settled this land and were destroyed! Ours were a peaceful people, who welcomed the Beringians in peace, and were paid back in DEATH! They left little trace, because they honoured nature and lived lightly on the land. Their great cities were organic entities that blended with nature, not against it! They had no word for WAR, but were a kind, peaceful, gentle, loving people. Our elders teach us this, and you must teach others! One People, One Culture, One Race!13

Later Frank began handing out a Solutrean Man of the Year award to the researcher he felt did the most to provide evidence that white people colonized America in ancient times. In 2014 he bestowed this award on Scott Wolter, who appeared on his program to promote America Unearthed. “That’s a high honor, and I sure appreciate it,” Wolter said on the broadcast when Frank announced the award.14 The History Channel soon signed Wolter for a second TV series, which received condemnation from UNESCO.15 Wolter took to other radio programs to call for a congressional investigation into the Smithsonian’s alleged suppression of pre-Columbian European colonization of America: “The seriousness of this situation, in my opinion, demands a Congressional investigation since the Smithsonian receives government funding. The tax-payers of this country, and indeed the world, deserve better given the Smithsonian’s perceived reputation of competency,” he wrote in his blog.16 Congress did not heed Wolter’s call but held a hearing a few months later in which a member of the House of Representatives asked a panel of scientists to provide opinions on Ancient Aliens, a show that attributed America’s ancient wonders to space aliens.17

The History Channel, alongside cable competitors such as the Travel Channel, the Science Channel, and others, continue to frequently air so-called documentaries alleging pre-Columbian white colonization of the ancient Americas, the involvement of space aliens in human history, and similarly extreme and unlikely claims. These have included lavish programs about Atlantis, an archaeology series hosted by movie star Megan Fox that claimed Native Americans are half-human hybrids, and a revival of In Search Of, a program originally spun off from Rod Serling’s In Search of Ancient Astronauts documentary. “History Channel and other purveyors of popular histories play a vital role in stimulating and nourishing Americans’ interest in the past,” the head of the American Historical Association, James Grossman, said in 2015, after receiving funding from the network for the AHA’s annual conference of historians. “This is a good thing.”18 The History Channel’s executive vice president for programming, Eli Lehrer, said in 2017 that the network programmed shows about space aliens, the Knights Templar, lost white races, and similar claims because “the subject of the unexplained is absolutely something that resonates with our audience.”19

But what did “the unexplained” actually mean? It meant, at heart, a rejection of science, social progress, and equality. It meant casting doubt on the real history of America to cater to the prejudices of a demographic most likely to watch these channels—older white men. The underlying message of history-themed popular television about ancient America is glaringly obvious, just as the popular books on the subject made their own prejudices plain more than a century before. But the producers of such shows, the networks that have aired them, and the audiences that have consumed them entered into a tacit conspiracy to pretend that they were merely seeking answers to the unexplained—just as their Victorian forebears had done—even though the answer they sought was itself darkly telling. In the shadowy corners of the internet, the coy cover given to expressions of white American anxiety about who had the right to control America was stripped away. In discussion forums as diverse as those of white nationalists and popular authors alike, the fodder provided by cable TV and an industry of publishers catering to believers in lost races and space aliens provoked endless debate over “Beringians,” giants, the Smithsonian, and who had the most legitimate claim to being true Americans. The rightful owners, it should go without saying without saying, were in large measure imagined as white.20

Cyrus Thomas’s great work, which was meant to set right the course of history and dissipate the myths and lies that had preceded it, had now become evidence of a conspiracy, led by the Smithsonian, to suppress the greatness, the grandeur, and the glory of the real Americans—the white race of ancient America—and therefore that very majesty of the United States itself. In a country where anxieties about social stagnation, terrorism, diversity, and immigration had created racial and cultural tensions, the work of the dissenters from historical reality was all too effective. The Victorians, however poorly, had struggled to discover truth, and Thomas had hoped to settle the question once and for all. Little could the stolid thinkers of the nineteenth century or the optimistic advocates of science in the twentieth imagine that in the twenty-first century their work would face an ancient challenge from a resurrected myth. In 2018 a Chapman University survey found that 57 percent of Americans believed that an ancient advanced civilization such as Atlantis really existed, and 41 percent believed that space aliens intervened in the human past.21

When Silverberg and Williams spoke of fantastic visions of history with bemusement, they did so because in their time unusual ideas about history seemed amusing, not dangerous, the province of cranks, not the powerful. To that end, their books did not fully engage with the dark consequences of false historical narratives. Today the myth of the lost white race does not possess the force of the U.S. government’s power and writ as it did in the early 1800s, but the constellation of ideas that support it commands something just as strong: a widespread and growing credence among a demographic that distrusts government and academic institutions, fears social change, and exercises consequential political power. Ideas have the power to shape how people interact, think about major issues, and vote. Thus it is imperative to know where and how bad ideas like that of the “lost white race” emerged in order to understand why they are wrong and remain dangerous.
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